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SCRUTINY OF TIE REVASED SURINJAM
" AND PENSION LISTS.

No. 1108 or 1855.
Poviticar DepArRTMENT.

From Captain T. A. Cowrkr, r
Inam Col.nmissioner Northean Division,

To II. L. AnxpErson, Esq.,
Secretary to Government, Bombay.

Dated Poonu, 29tk Oclober 18355

Sm,—l have the honour to submit for the
CQ)]SX(]LI"lthIl of Government the result of the
Ser utiny, in sq far ag it has as yet proceeded, of
the Revised Surinjam and Pension Lists.

2. In lis letter No. 174, dated the N3th of
Jannary 1852 «*the “Inam Commissioner, Mr.
Hurt, clearly showed three villages, deseribed in

the Revised Lists as the hereditary Surinjam,-
of -thie Kuddum Banday , family, to have been,
most improperly®entered assuch ; and, ine, con-
cluding this report, Mr. Hart stated,—

“I am informed that there arc’ some cascs
connected with the revised Surinjam -lists in
which erfors and oversights have occurred of
even a graver nature than those noficed®in the
casc of the Kuddum Banday family.”+ °

] . .. .. .
3. Government, on lecelvmg this mformatwu,
issued the following instructions®, .

“ I am at fthe same time desu'cd tol urluest * Paragraph 4 of Chict

th Secrctary's letter No.
at you will repoyt ip det'ful, in sepdratd ktte‘}“’ 4175, dated the 24th
at your convenience, upon cach of t]).: cases in  Septewher 1852

- L] - ]
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*r Paragraphs 1 & 2 of
Chief Scerctary’s letter

2

the revised Surinjam hsts with reference to

whiclN you state in your last paragraph that

you hhve been informed errors and oversights

of even a graver naturc than - the one now
. [ . . ’9 .
« brought to notice exist.

o . t

4. On the Ist of the following month Govern-

ment degired the Inam Commissioner walso to
. test the accuracy of the Revised Lisgs of Pensions

supplemental to the Surinjam Lists above refer--
red to. The Government order is below . trar-
scribed® :— ‘

‘ As you have in your letter No. 952, deted

No. 4219, of the 15t~ the 21st August last, given Government reason

October 1852,

1o belicve that the revised Surinjam lists sub-
mitted to Government by Mr. Brown, late
Agent for Sirdars in the Dcccan, under date
the 26th October 1847, contain many grave
crrors affecting the interests of Goevernment,
the Right Honorable the Governor in Council
. considers it possible that similar errors inpy
have heen committed in the*iists subsequently
prepared by that gentloman (supplemental to
the above) of pensions granted by the British
Government in commutationt of  Suriijams
held previous and subsequent to the  ydar
1751. T
«92. I'am, therefore, desired to transmit to
yox in original the whole of the proceedings
connccted withethese supplemental lists, and to
request that you will e good enough, at your
carly convenicnce, to test their accuracy and
repgrt the result to Government.””

o5, °I wiJl now proceed to describe each of the
entries ! the Revised Surinjam Lists which have
bgen found to be 'materia‘lly crrouneous, lettering
cath case in the margin of this report, and  afford-
ipg in"gn Appendix a list of the correspondence
regardihg #_ which is on the records of Govern-
ment.
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G.* To render intelligible the abstract I am
about to give of cach case, I must cxpdain the
principles according to which the [Ibnorable
Court of Divectors decided that.the continuance
of Deccan Slfrinjnms should be regulated, and ig
confortity to which the Revised Lists were pro-
fessedly framed. Those principles were,—

(] L]
Ist.—That all Surinjams granted prior to

A. 0. 1751, or held in commutation for any-
« thipg so granted, should be consideved heredi-

tary” ¢

. 2nd.=-That all Surinjams granted between

A.D. 1751 and 1796 should be continued to

the holder at the introduction of British rule,

*and for one generation further, with a pension
of half the net proceeds of the Surinjam to the

e third generation.
3rd.—That all Surinjams granted after a. .
1796,—that is to say all Surinjams granted by
« o the last Peshwa, Bajee Rao,—should be conti;
nued to the Lolder at the introduction of dritish
rule, after his death a pensiontof half the net
proceeds being granted to the next generation.

7:" The first Tase requiring notice is that of the
K&ddam Banday family,* to which allusion has
alregdy been made.|  Here three villages, of the,

* Apj)cudi( A.

f Paragraph 2 of this

L~ ; Aler
estimated value of upwards of Rs. ®3,300, were. 17 o

found entered ‘in the Surinjam lists as grants
made béfore 4. v, 1751, held as the breaking out
of the war with the Peshwa, and, thercfore, con-
tinuable hereditarily ; whercas these villeges had
been resunfed by the Peshwa long befyre the
breaking out of the war ; had remained so Yesup-
ed up to the close of the Peshwa’s rule; <and*had
at the introduction of the British Government
been restored,.as an act of grace, for the lifetme
only of the then incumbents ; added to="which,
the tenure on which they had been Leld swas not
Sarinjam, and, motcover, not one of them had
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been granted on any tenurc at all until ‘after
A p. 1751

8. Ohe extraordinary feature in this case was
that the Agent for Sirdars, Mr. W’arden had;
dfter erroneously entering them in his Surinjam
Lists of 1844, correctly and clearly dedcribed
their condition, and every circumstance connected
with them, in a report submitted to Governmcnt
on the 26th of July of the followm ycar ; and
yet, with this last letter on record, the v.i,ltlages
were again entered in the Revised Liste, and
cntered under circumstances of greatly aggra-
vated error.

9. Even with the Inam Commissioner’s clear
report beforc him, the Agent, Mr. Brown, at-
tempted to uphold the double mistake which had
been committed. 'The real state of the case was,
however, fully cxposed by the Inam Commis-
sioner, whose last report on the subject led to the
cxpunction of the villages from- the Suumam
Lists, under the orders of Government, approvod
of by the Hororable Court,of Directors in the
followdng terms :— . o

“ From a comparison of Mr. Hart’s reports

on this subject with those of Mr. Brown;’ it

» would seem that although the four willrges
claimed by the Kuddum Bandav family “were
knewn not to hgve been in their possession
previous to 1751, three of these villages were,
ncvertheless, by somg copstruction which we
cannot understand, considered to have formed
an integral ‘ part’ of a large Surinjam held
pricrr to that date, and were, therefore, inserted
in Class I. of the revised lists as hcredltd.ry
Since, however,*the large Surinjam in question
“«consisted solely of a portion of. the Mokassa
Uniu}s of the Purgunas of Nundoorbar and
Sooltanpoor, it could not pOSSlbly include any
villaggs. ~“The villages in question were not
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part of this Surinjam, but were granted one

in 1752, the two others in 1762, and then not

in commutation of any previous Surinjam.

The four villages, moreover, had been confis-

cated by the Peshwa on the grouhd of rebels

lion® before the breaking out of the war. The
family had, therefore, no claim to be again
put in possession of them after the conquest.

In consuferat,lon however, of their former rank

and lmportance, and their distressed circum-

stances, the vxllatrcs were rostored to them on

llfe termure ; but the insertion in Class 1. was

altoo'ether erroneous, and reflects discredit on

the manner in which the lists were prepared ;
*nor can we exempt Mr. Brown’s most un-

satisfactory letter of explanation, dated 11th
, October 1851, from similar censure.”

10. The next case is that of Moreshwur Dixit
Munohur,* whose Surinjam, valued at about
Rs *830 per annum, was declared hereditary b
the ITonorable Ceart,on grounds described o them
as srrecml but’ Wll]Gh in reality had never existed.
The error.whioch was committed is clearly pointed
out.in the Honetable Court’s order (below tran-
scribed), dirccting the expunction of the holding
from the list of lleledltary Surinjams : —

! We consented to recognise the Surm)am.
of Moreshwir Dixit as hepeditary (althowgh of
later ‘date . than 1751) on the distinct statc-
ment by Mr. Wardep and by Mr! Brown that
the Sunud contained words of inheritance.
From Captain Cowper’s letter dated 21st
September 1852, and Mr. Warden’s lettcr of
exp]anatlon dated 9th December Jd852, it
appears there were no exprass words of inherit-
ance, and .that the view which Mr. Warden
took of the case depended on a disputatle and
disputed intcrpretation of the word, * Néhemee,’
stated by Mr. Warden himself td be literally

* Appeadix B.
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1 Appendix *D.
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<
equivalent to ‘consfantly’ or ‘regularly.” “Con-
sidering this circumstance, and also that the

Surinjam is a mere Palkee allowance, we arc

qulte satisfied that it ought not to be heredi-
: tary.” ¢

11.  The Surinjam of Trimbukjee Rajay’ Bhos-
ley,* of the cstimated annual value of Rs- 1,497,
was deseribed in the Revised Lists as a grant
made before a.p. 1751, and as one proved by
the Peshwals records to have existed in the, time
of the Sattara Rajas; the fact being that«it was
ncither granted nor held before a. p. 1751, por
for twenty-six ycars afterwards; and all this
bejng correctly recorded in Mr. Elphinstone’s
Lists of 1819, and in'those subsequently preparéd
by the Agent for Sirdars in 1834.

12, Government, on being wmade acquainted
with the foregoing facts, pointed out to the Inam
Commissioner that the last holder of the Surin-
]'1m having died without malc issue, orderss fol
its reswmption had heen issued ou the 9th March
1852.  Governmient, lm\\evu deemed it advis-
able ta forward to the Agent for Sirdars a copy
of the Tnam Commissiouer’s communication, in
order that there shonld be a record in his (the
Agent’s) office of the erroncous nature of the jn-
fm mation continued in the Revised burﬁjam
Tists ef 1841 and ]84/ relative tosthis grant.

13.  The Suri ml.nn of Chimmajce V.ltul Poorun-
dhuree,| entered in the Revised Lists as an here-
ditary hplding, consisted of tWo portions, situated,
one in the Deccan, and the other in Nimar : the
crronedis nature of the entry regarding the Ni-
mareportion; of the estimated value of Rs. 3,000,
was feported to Government in tke following
tetps 1 — .

«Lhe ITonorable Court secm to have'passed
“this *glecision on the erroneous information
afforded to"them in the *refised lists, that ¢ by
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an oversight, this portion of the Surmpm was
retained by Government when the remainder’
was resiored to the present Surinjamdat in a. v.
* 1840,—Sunuds and Chor Chittees are in the
posscssmn of this person’ ;
fromi’ the above portion of the Surinjam having

whereas, so fai

been -retained by Government through any

oversight, its restoration had been fully dis-
cusscd on the Agent’s rcpresentation in 1841,
«ang. had been decisively negatived by the

Government of India,

Wthll

deeision  had

bgen c8mmunicated to the Agent for Sirdars

on the 7th October
Sceretary’s letter No. 2775.”

[ ]
14.

1841,

in the Political

The entry regarding the Deccan portion of

this Surinjam turned out, on inquiry, to be cven
mgore crroneous than the one described in the
preceding -paragraph, and it became apparent
that the most barcfaced fraud must have been

goynitted in the Agent’s

Office, resulting in the

entry of a portion of $he Deccan Surinjam,®of the
annudl _value of nearly Rs. 1,400, as a grant

made before 1751, when,

granted until aftér that period.

v 35,

in reality, it whs not

No orders® have as yet been received from

Government in regard to cither the Nimar or the«
Dececan portion of this Surinjam.

16.

The Sufinjam of Bujeajce bin Huntmunt

Rao Bhandwulkur,| of the aunual value of
Rs. 480, was entered in the Revised Lists asa grant
made before a. p. 1751, and without any*further
It was left to be inferrgd that
the Surinjam had been held from the date pof
grant up to the breaking out of the war with’the

remark whatever.

Peshwa.

17. Such,-however, was very, far from bei‘hg
the case, as willsbe scen from the follow"mg ex-
tract] from a report submitted to Government on

the subject : —

* Government have,
under date the 9th May
1356, resolved that the
Nimar Su njam shonld
be finally  disposed of
under th - orders of the
Ilonorabic  Court of
Directors, and that the
portion of the Decean
Strinjam granted after
A b, 1751, which ought
neverto have been enter-
cd as hereditary, should
now he transfcnul to
the Class to wlich it
belongs, and treated ac-
cordinglys

1T Appendix F.

1 Paragraphs 12 and
130f the Assistant Inam
Commissioner (,aptmn
Cowper’8 Report, No.
200, of the 27th of
Octobe' 1853.



~Peshwa.

-

* Since {(l:cenigd( bm
ar hs 11 & e-
%:)wmchbed) of titeir
polmml despatch No.
27, dated the 12th D‘v-
cember 1866 : —

“11. The question
wlnchhas agisen respect-
ing this Surinjam, and
which you have referred
to us for our generalin-
structxons, is the follow-
ing,—whether the title
of a family we found in®
povessnon, and who
werein possession in or
{:revmus to 1751, is to

e affected by interme-
diate resumptions by the
You are of
opinion that it should
not, provided that theréd
has been a considerable
length of possession
betweenthe two periods.
You must, however, be
aware that the course
which you thus regom-
mended is at variance
with that which we have
ordinarily pursucd, and
that as we do not restore
(unless on very special
grounds) possessions of
which families had been
deprived previously to
our rule, so, also, when
such possession, after
being tuken away, had
been restoredpreviously
to our rule, we have
hitherto regarded them
as estates acquired at
the date of restoration.
We admit that some
resumptions may have
been so *clearly tem-
porary that it would be
harsh to consider them
as breaking the® chain
of preseription ; but we
do not think that such
an  observation® can
apply to a case like the
present, in which the
estate was twice resum-
ed, the last time dor
nineteen years, and hafl
énly been held uninter-
ruptedly for twenty
years between 1751 and
the introduction of the
British Goverfiment.

“12. Weare willing,
however, toallow to the

«18.

8

“12. The Surinjam was, on account of the
treason of the then incumbent, resumed in
A. D.P773-74 ; it was restored in A. p. 1778-79,
but again resumed in the same-year ; from
thch time it remained in the hands of the
Government until nineteen years afterwards,
when Jt was (in A. . 1797- -98) restored to his
son by a Sunud registered in the State records.

“13, Thus, for the long period of a quarter
of a century was this Surinjam not held at
all, and at the mtroduction of the Britich Go-
vernment it had only been held uninterruptedly
for a period of twenty ycars.”

This casc has been referred by Govern-

ment for the orders of the Honorable the Court
of Directors, which have not yet been reccived.*

19. The Surinjam of the Wamoreekur fams-

ly,t of the annual value of Rs. 14,089, had been
correctly described in Mr. Elphinstone’s Lists ;
in the lists afterwards framed in A. . 1834 ; and
also in those drawn out in 2. p. 1838, as a grant

made long aftér a. o. 1751«

It was, however,

shown in Mr. Warden’s ligt of 1844 as a grant

made prior to a. .

1751. 'The explanation

afforded was, that in the original lists of 1834
.the Arabic year of grant Imd been ‘incorzectly

.rcndered On referring to these original “lists,

however, nothing gf the kind ‘was to be found :
the Arabic year. therein entered .corlesponded
with A. »."1771, and it became evident that a
gross fraud must have been practised on the
Agent by the person who rendered “to him the
substance of the Murathee original.

“20. .In'the Revised Lists framed by the Agent,

Mr. ‘Brown, the etror described in the last para-

g\mph remaingd uncorrected and

unnotlced

although a remark was added, awhich, incorrect
in 1tee1f was calculated stlll further to mislead.

+ Appendlx G
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21. Government have not yet passed any de-
cision® in this case.

22.~~The Surinjam of Krishn Rao Neelkunt
Moozumdar,g of the annual value of Rs. 11,504,
was entered ifi the Revised Lists as granted before
A. p. 1751, and, therefore, entitled to hereditary
contindance. The scrutiny of the Ingm Com-
missioner, owever, brought to light that not more

“than an eighteenth portion of this Suginjam was
granded at that parly period, the vhole of the
remgitder having been grantdd long afterwards,
‘and being, .consequently, continuable only for
two penerations.

23. How the error described in the last para-
gmph found its way into Mr. Brown’s Revised
Lists of 1847 is unaccountable, bearing in mind
¢hat Mr. Warden had in the first instance inscrt-
ed the whole of the Surinjam in the lists of 1844
as an hereditary one, on the recorded grounds of

.a portion of it having been held prior to a. p.
1751.  Government, however, when rcturmn(r
Mr.* Warden’s lists for revision o his successor,
Mr. Brown, particularly pointed out thisecase as
one requiring @rreetion, unless the whole Surin-
jam could be shown to have been granted at so
carly a date; yet, with these clear instructiong
Defdre him, not only were they distegarded, bu}:
the remarks which, in Mr VValdeus lis¢s, had
explained how the case rca]ly stood, were cx-
punged, and in th(,n' p]acc the following most
erroneous remark was substituted :— .

¢ There exists a record in the Poona Duftur
which speaks of the grafit of this Smm_]am in

the year Eeheday Khumsain (a. p. 1.700)

24. No®orders] have as yet been rccuvcd
from Government regarding this case. o

252 The Qurinjam of Kuhdeli Ragp Bullal
Poornndhure(-,§ of the annual valne of Rs. 880,
was erroncously entdred in the Rﬂvracd Lists as

bk

considerations,  urged
by you suffigiend weight
to save any 'hurm_]s\m
which has been actually
dceelared by your Go-
vernment, or by us, to be
heredigary, from being
deprived ‘of that charac-
ter on account of sub-
scquent  discovery  of
an intcrmediate inter-
ruption of possession i

o provided that no frand

1s discovered or suspect-
ed. We, thereforesshall
not direct the Sutinjun
of the Bhandwulkur, or
any other  smilarly
situated, to be remoygl
from Class 1.”

* Government have,
under date the 17th
November 1855, resolyv-
ed that this Surmjam
haviug heen erroncous-
ly entered in the First,
should now be traunsfer-
red to the Second Class.

+ Appendix FX.

T Sinee received, nn-
der date the 9th May
1356, Government have
declared the diseussion
of this case to have dis-
closed * perhaps  the
most daring of the many
frands which have been
brought to hght by the
Innn Comumissioner”
have  pronounced it
“ difficult tB state which
was the more couspic®-
ous, *the credulity of
Mr® Brown, or the au-
ducity of Ins subordi-
nates” 3 and have re-
corﬂmcmlul tothe Comt
of Dircctors that the
Surinjam  should he
regarded as belonging
¢o Class IL, and treated
-accondumly

§ Appendix I.



¢ Paragraph 18 of

the Assistant _Inam
Commissioner Captain
Counper’s letter No.

499, of, the 26th Octo-
ber 1853,

1+ Appendix J.

1 Government have
smce, under date the
- 20th May 1256, 1ntf-

magted their intention of"
re erring this cnse for
the arders of the 1lonor-
able the Court of Di-
rectors. c

10

a grant made before A. . 1751.  The error com-

mitted was described to Government in the
{ollowing' terms* : -~

‘“18. But it remains to be statéd that Mr:

¢ Brown had been particularly warned against

assigning to even a single component portion of

a Surinjam any other date than that on« which

it was actually granted; and yet, with these

distinct mstructlons on record, he assmned to-
this Snrlnjam, composed of merely the village
of Bamboordee Goomut, not the date ofcglant
of that village,—not cven the date ofegrant, of
anything held by the Smm_]'xmdar,—but the
date on which the family had originally
reccived a village which they had ceased to
hold twenty years before the close of the Pesh-
wa’s reign.  On what grounds this was donge

I cannot understand.” i

26. Government, on receiving the Inam Com-
missioner’s report, directed the expunction of this
Surinjam from the class of hereditary holdings,
and its entry as.one contmualglc, for two genera-
tions only.

27. The Surinjam of Daﬂko_;oa Powar,T of the
annual value of Rs. 2,560, entered in the Revised
Lists as continuable on hereditary tenure, was
discovered to, have been always a military-and
not a personal holding, and, thevefore, not con-
tinuable at all undtr the Honorable - Court’s
orders, which wcte not applicable’ to military
Surinjams. DBesides this, it was discovered that
the whole of the Surinjam held under the Peshwa
had bean cr roneoubly continued by the Collector
of q\hmedmwgur, in contravention of the orders
of Mr. Elplunston.es Government,qwhich sanc-
tigned the continuance of one-half of it only.

¥8. _ Government have not as yet issued any
ordeui,m this case.

29. The* Surinjam of, Gungadhur Gunesh
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Som#n,* of the annual value of Rs. 502, was
entered in the Revised Lists as a grant of a. 1.
1763, continuable for two generations, whereas it
was in reality a grant of a. p. 1801, and, as such,
continuable for one generation only

30.. Government, on being made acquamted
with the error committed, directed the transfer of
this Surinjam to its proper place in the ists, as a
.grant of A. 9.°1801.

31. The erroneous nature of the efftry in the
Rev:s{d Lists of the Surinjam of Neelo Baboorao,}
of tife angual value of Rs. 960, aud the further
errors contairied in a subsequent explanatory letter
from the Agent, Mr. Brown, were described to
Geovernment in the following terms} :-— )

“60. The revised Surinjam lists, and Mr.

Brown’s explanatory letter No. 432, of the 15th

® December 1851, seem to be faulty as regards
this holding in the following instances :—

", ¢ 1st.—The 3rd paragraph of Mr. Brown’s
* “Jetter states,—¢*The Umuls, designated Surd-

eshmookee and Surpatelkee, are not entcred in

the Surinjam lists’ ; but they ought apparent- "

ly, to lLave f)gen se entered, as whatever the

- Moozumdar’s family hold or claim must be

' that, and that only which was included in

Mp Elphmstone s order continuing the Surin-

'Jam ; on no gther tenure, or by no other ordere

was anything continued to them by the Com-
missioner in the Deccan.

“ 2ud.—The Peshwa’s records, morecover,
afford proof that the three Umuls were hc ld
by the Moozumdar in Surjujam, although the
one was often confounded with,the® othgl,
especially in the accounts of management, —an
occurrence which these Stalte 1e001ds show to
have_ been a common one in rggard to alicaa-
tions generally. In the present case; in a
Sunud issued by _the Peshwa, and. shown by

Appendix K.

1 Appendis L.

1 Paragraph GO of
the  Assistant  Inam
Commissioner  Captam
Cowper'sletter No. 177,
of the Ist April 1851,
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¢

the Ghurnee ledger to’ have been registered
in the State diary of the 27th December 1761,
(30th, Jummad-ool-Awul, Esunay Seetain Mya
wu Ulluf,) the three Umuls of Wurgaum
Ghenud are distinctly specified as havmg
" been previously held by, and as being then
(a. p. 1761) restored to Trimbuk Baboorao
Moozumdar. ‘

¢3rd.—The Surdeshmookee has been errone-
ously supposed to be mecessarily the Wutun
of a Surdeshmook, whereas it is an.Umil
or a portion of the revenuc originally obtained,
with the Chouth, by the Sattara Raja from' the
Emperor of Delhi, but latterly corresponding
‘in everything save amount with the Mokagsa
or any other Umul, and shown by the State
diaries and accounts of management of the
late Government to have been granted and
held in Surinjam throughout the Peshwa’s
dominions just as other Umuls were so granted
and held ; and it will be seen from the frgt
document quoted in the 48th, paragraph of
this letter, that all three Umuls (Mokassa, Sur-
deslimookee, and Surpatelkee) were actually
granted in Surinjam in a. n. T751 to Narayen
Rao Venkutesh. S

“4th.—In explaining the differenice between
the value dssigned in the Commissioner’s order
of release and that assigned in the revised lists,
to the Mokassa of Wurgaum Ghenud, it is
stated in paragraph 4 of the Agent’s letter, ¢ that
the amount stated in the revised Surinjam lists
is net revenue, while that stated ih the Chor
*Clnt{ee is the Kumal or gross amount.” But
tlie value assigned in the revised lists is zot the
net, but the Kumal or nominal vilue assigned
“3n the Chor Chlttee, and entered, probably
from the Chor Chittee itself, in the statement
*furnished, by the Collector. The net value of
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theethree Umuls of Wurganm Ghenud I have
ascertained from the accounts of the village to-
be bavely one-half of the amount which the
, revised lists show as the net value of one
" Umul only.*
“ 5th.—In the 5th paragraph of the Agent g
letter it is stated, with reference to two docu-
* ments, translations of which accompanted it,—
. “These doewments distinctly state the tenure of
the grant to be Surinjam.” But the translation
“of +portion of°the first of these documents,
) renderedas ¢ these Mokassa v111ages, is incor-
rect, as there is nothing of the kind in the
original, which is now before me, and which

#efers only to the Mokassa Umuls, or Babs, 6f
§ Mokass babé ché Déhé
 Frwe WA 9 IR } ; the te-
enure is not specified.
¢ 6th.—With reference to the same transla-
tions, it is stated in the same (the 5th) para-
o °graph of the Agent’s letter, that they alluda
to.{he year 1767, which, in the absence of any
further proof,* has been held as'the date of the thoroerhe Agent has in
g paragraph
grant ‘In tHe first of these documents th'e year  (the 4th) of the same
1767 is certamfy mentioned, but only in terms }vﬁt,tt'i.re.- a:,l.u(:‘ocfd uftf(':)n%k:i
* which prove that the Surinjam must have becn by the Peshwa’s records
that the®Surinjamn was
prevxously held, and that 1767 could not have « enjoved as for back as
been the datP of original grant ot that which - 179" -
was then, in 4.’ p. 1767 (it is recorded in the
document quoted by the Agent) ordered to be
released from an attjchment placed upon it
three years previously. .
“7th.—1 have been unable to ascertain the
grounds upon which the’ Agent in the 7th
paragraph of his letter informed Government,—
¢ Baboorao’s ancestors were *Karkoons of Da-
bharee, and, therefore, the grgnt to them was
necessarily of a Surinjam character.’ ‘But I

am not aware of any nccessary , conncetion

these villages
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between the two facts, or that one mudt have
affected the other.

“ 8th.—In the 8th paragraph of the Agent’s
letter it is stated : —¢ The third is an order of the
Peshwa dated 1757, but it is ndt registered in
the Peshwa’s Duftur.’ But the document is
registered, and the registry is shownp by the
Ghurhee ledger to have been made in the
State diary of the 21st Januarly °1758, (10th
Jummad-ool-Awul, Suman Khumsain Mya wu
Ulluf,) although the Suptrintendent*of the
Poona Duftur was not aware of the fact, afd the
Agent could, of course, only report the result
of the Superintendent’s inquiry. The registry
now discovered may have been overlooked by
the Superintendent’s establishment, but it is, I
" think, most probable that the document con-

taining it was not then forthcoming for ufe,
being one of those subsequently extracted and
arranged, as explained in the 96th paragraph
of my report No. 163, of the 2nd May lasts" *

“Yth.—In the 9th pardgraph of the Agent’s
letter it is stated,—¢ Baboorao Trimbuk did not
present himself at the time when thé Surinjam
lists were under prepdratlon, and therefore, the
date of grant given in the list is that which
was found in the extant records of the Peshwa.’
But it does not seem that Baboorao Trimbuk
wal ever desired to present himself, and I have
already cxplained the date of grant assigned
in the lists not to be borne out by the Pesh-
wa’s‘records of any period.

“ 10th.—The yevised lists and explanatory
.letter both show ¢ Baboorao Trimbuk’ to have
Leen the first British grantee, at whose dcath
, the Suripjam, as’one continuable for two genc-
tations from the conquest, woukd be enjoyed
. by lis son Neclkunt Baboorab; but this was
not the case, as Baboorao Trimbuk’s eldest son,
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Nm;in had died previously, leaving a son,
named Rumakant The second generatwn had,
therefore, passed away,* and the Surinjam had
*lapsed, a pension equal to half its net proceeds
being payable to Rumakant. )

« I'1th.—The revised lists, however, were
Jprepared before the receipt of the Hoporable
Court’s ordu's, under which the deceased
'Nur51n0‘ was to be considered as the second
gengration; but they are nevertheléss erro-
neous, inasmuch as Nursing’ssson, Rumakant,
‘wag'the person whose name ought to have been
inserted in column 12 of the lists, instead of
that of Neclkunt.
® ¢« 12th.—The statcment (Jharee Putru) of
the Collector of Khandeish, referred to in the
5th paragraph of Mr. Brown's explanatory

ctter dand in the LGth column of the revised
lists, distinctly pointed out that Baboorao
’lnmbuk had had #wo sons, one of whom had
dled leaving male igsue, but no inquiry what-"
ever.seems to Have been made. With such posi-
tive informatign on record, I cannot suppose
that.the Ao entawould have inserted Neelkunt’s
Jame in thc lists, had he (Mr. Brown) been
aware of the contents of the Khandeish Collee-
tor's statement, which must, therebore, I con-
clude, have beenewithheld from him. .

¢ 13th.—In the 5th paragraph of the Agent’s
explanatory letter it is stated,—¢ The Collectors
of Khandeish and Poona have both, in their
Jharee Pufrus drawn out] on the 15th Sep-
tember 1843 (extracts of which are anncxed),
recognised and stated the Mokassa of‘these twd
v1llafres as Sarinjams, and thg year they were
granted is specified as A. . 1767 But a re-~
ference to thé Khandeish Collecfor’s statement,

translation of which accompanicd Mr. Brown's

cxplanation, will shoav that the Cwllector of

* «“Orders of the
Hotorable Court, com-
municated to the Agent

. in the Chief Secretary’s

letter No. 2(8, of the
12th Jaouery 1850.”

+ “The translation
accompanying the
Agent’s letter shows the
Khandeish Colleetor’s
Jharee Putru to be
datell the 22nd April
1844.” .



® «The Agent ap-
pears to hgve made a
similar erroneous state-'
ment ig his report No.
110, of the 6th March
1851 > quoted in the 29th
paragraph of this letter ;
and yet, in the #ud para-
graphof the same report,
to have rccorded the
exigtence, thoﬂ rh not
the 1whole of thecontents
of the very communiea-
tion from the Collector
of Pooua (No. (658, of
the 11th October 3%0)
which distinetly pointed ®
out the existence of
_Runmkant, and the fact
.0 is belonging to the
* t hmmﬁx of the
L]
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Khandeish assigned as the ¢ date of the Sunud,
as ascertained from records,” not 1767, but ¢ the
st Fcbmary 1820.’

“ 14th.—The age of Neelkunt Baboordo,
which was, according to the Poona Collector’s
statement, thirty-one years in 1843, and, ac-
cording to the Khandeish Collector’s statemcgt,
thirty-six years in 1844, is,eptered in the
revised lists of 1847, purporting to be framéd
fidm these statements, as tyenty years..o o

¢ 15th.—I1 the 6th paragraph of hit expla-
natory letter, dated the 15th December 1851,
the Agent, Mr. Brown, stated :—¢ Baboorao
Trimbuk was the first British grantee, and the
Surinjam held by him should, according to
the rule of succession to Surinjams, descend
to his son Neclo Baboorao.” This statemgnt
was made after the receipt of the Honorable
Court’s orders on the subject of succession to
Sumuams, which were communicated to .tbe
Agent in the Chicf Sceretary’s letter No. 208,
of the 12th January 1830 ; but not only were
the Honorable Court’s ordess on . record, but
the Agent had rcceived from Neelo Baboorao
himselfa Murathee letter dated the 1 1tk October
1850, referring to Rumakant Nursing as one
of the persons in whose names the Cellector
qf Poona had entered the holding, and the
Collector, to, whom Neelo Baboorao s letter
wag forwarded by the Agent, dlstmctly stated
in his Murathee reply, No. 6519, of the 11¢h
October 1850, that Rumakant.Nursing be-
lopged to theceldest branch of the family.

® .How, *after this, and without inquiry,* the

Agent, on the 15th December«l851, informed
, Government that Baboorao Trimbuk’s Surin-
jan ‘shrould, according to the rule of succession
te* Surinjams, descend to s son, Neelo Ba-
boorao,e 1 am unable<¢o undcerstand.”
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32. This case has been submitted by Govern-
ment for the consideration of the Iongrable the
Court of Directors.*

33. The Surinjam of Madhow Rao Neelkunt
Poorundhurcet was erroneously entered in the
Revised Lists under circumstances described to
»Goveriiment in the following terms} :<-

[ 8.
under which this Surinjam was, originally

. granted and is still held, and fiom Which it
appears,—

+  « 15t.—That the adoptive father of the pre-
sent incumbent held from the British Govern-
ment a large Surinjam, which had been aon-
‘tinued by Mr. Elphinstone.

¢ 2nd.—That at the adoptive father’s death

* this Surinjum was resumcd, pensions to the
annnal amount of Rs. 9,692 being granted to
. the widows, mother, and principal dependents
*. ‘of the deceased.

¢ 3rd.—That no allowance was at that time
made to the adepted son, Malhow Rao, on the
grounds of*his adpption not having been sanc-
tioned by the Government.

< 4th.—That subsequently, on the 5th Oc-
tober 1834, the Honorable Court of Directops

" sanctioned the grant of a providton to Madhow
Rao, to the'extent of Rs, 25,000 per anrum.

“ 5th.—That this pxovmon was accordingly
made and cnjoyed for some time by Madhow
Rao in the form of a pecuniary stipend or
pension.

« 6th.—That on Madhow Rag’s solicitation
that the ‘pecumary stipend might *be comtnuted

into a grant of land, villages of the annual..

value of. Rs. 25,000 were made over to Rim,
in'lieu of the pension, and as a & ife-grant.

“ 7th.—That the fact of the tennre béing énly
for life was spécially pointed oft to the Agent

«Sitch are the recorded circumstances,

* Who have since
igsued the *fpllowin
orders in paragmph 6%
of their political des-

atch No. 27, dated the
2th December 1855 :—

“The very full and
clenr report of Captain
Cowper on this estate
has in our opinion, as in

yours, shown that there
18, though not perfect
proof, very strong pre-
sumptive evndencc. that
the Umuls were in pos-
session of the fartily be-
fore 1751, and we there-
fore, in accordance with
your recommendation,
authorise you to deelare
them hereditary.  The
rightful heir is Ruma-
kant, whose claim, in
consequence of  his
youth and absence, his
uncle Neelkunt, and his
more distant relative
Bapoojee  Kassinath,
were able successfully
to keep back.”

+ Appendix IVI.

I Paragraph 8 of the
Asslstnnt Tnam Com-
missioner Captain Cow-
per's letter No. 207,
dated the 13th of Aped
1854,
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for Sirdars, who was desired fully to explain
" this to Madhow Rao and to frame the deed of
grant decordingly.
“ 8th.—That the grant jfor -life of these”
.villages wds sanctioned by the Honorable
Court on the 27th August 1841. '
«9th.—That in the lists of 1844 this life-grant ,
was b;r mistake entered as ap hereditary
Surinjam. ‘
“10th.~That this mistake, was pointedoute
to the Agent, Mr. Brown, When the lists, of
1844 were returned to him for revision. .
« 11th.—That in the revised lists this life-
grant was again recommended for hereditary
continuance, on the alleged grounds of its
antiquity.
¢« 12th.—That the Government then again -
pointed out to Mr. Brown that the grant was *
one made for life, and granted originally by
the British, and not by the Peshwa’s Goverfi- s |
inent. . )
¢ 13th.—That in spite of these reiterated
orders, no alteration whatever was madec in
the revised lists: not only was *the Surinjam
not expunged as a British grant, to which the
Honorable Court’s order did not apply, but
'the original recommendation that it should ‘be
outmued on hereditary tenure ‘whs preserved
just as it stood before.
« 14th.—That the Honorable Court accorded
a general sanction to the ¢lass of Surinjams in
which this one was inserted, on the ‘recorded
groundd of their beihg supposed to be grants
orfginally ntade by the Peshwa’s Government.
*“ 15th.—That umnder.the circumstances ex-
phined in the preceding fourteen clauses, this
grant, which was made by the British Govern-
mrent, 2nd which was specially declared to be a
. life-grant, stands in the fevited lists as one
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half of which is continuable to a second gene-

ration.’

34. Government, in disposing of thls case,
"declared the Surinjam resumable op the death of
Madhow Rao without the grant of a pension of
half the amount to the next generation. Govern-
‘ment, "however., in doing this, declared Mr.

_ Brown’s proacedings to have been ‘“not so worthy,
of blame as Captain Cowper’s report would sug-

‘gese.s . .
35. The Surinjam of Meéra Gunnee Rissal-
dar,* of ‘the estimated annual value of Rs. 1 1,568, Appendix NN.

was entcred in the Revised Lists as having been
ynder attachment by the Peshwa’s Government,
and restored by the British Government in 1820.
It was, thercfore, entered as continuable for one
sopcncration, with the grant of a pension of half
the amount to the generation next succeeding.
But it turned out to be a British grant, to which
*thc Honorable Court had distinctly declared the
Surinjam Rules laid down by them not to be
applicable. The error committéd in the Revised
Lists was thug descrjbed to Government{*:——
. "« 14. 'Tlc revised lists appear erronconsly Pur@raph 14 of
to describe this Surinjam in the following the Inam Commissioner
: - Saptain - Cowper’s re
Instances :— {)m‘t No. 460, of the
©* « Ist.—In the column of ¢ Remarks’ it fs Lith September 1854.
stated,—¢ This Surinjam was under attaehment
by the Peshwa’s Government, and was restored
by the British Govcrnment on the 21st Sep-
tember 18207 ;—the fact being that it had
never éxisted under the Peshwa, and could
not, therefore, have been reatorcd N
“ 2nd.—The date of grant is stated to be the
21st September 1820, bat this is the date of.,
the second Sunud, continuing the Surinjani to
the second generation ; the date’of the Sunud
making the orzgmal grant is thq 6th January
1820.



* Appendix O.

+ Thht i8, of grants
made between A. D.
1796 and 1817. R

I Who have since
issued the following in-
structions i paragraph
67 of their poltical
despatch No. 2} dated
the 12th December
1855 :—

“ It is clearly shown
by  Captam Cowper
that-this grant is one to
which' the Surinjam
Rules arenot applicable,
It is onc of the grants
originally made by Iol-
kar, aud continued by
our Governmentin 1820,
under new Sunuds, for

.life only, the rule be-
ing laid down ‘that all
grants to be continued
should be held exeln-
sively of us, and in all
respeets on  the same
footing as other grants
of the same description

* made by ourselves.” We
eannot agree with Mr.
‘Warden that under this
rule the grantees should
receive pensions € on the
same footing as other
Surinjamdars’; for the

Surinjamdars  of the
Peshwa  ha been
placed on a nfch more
advantageous  footing

than those whose grants
were ¢ made’ at a compa-
ratively recent period by
¢ ourselves.” The entry
in the Surinjam lists of
the holding now under
report, though made by
mistake, may lmve ogca-
sioned hopes in the
mind of the holder that
a pension of half the
value of his holding
would be continued to
his son. But, unless
we are to be precluded
from  correcting the |
many errors which ha\e
been shown to exist in
these lists, we sce no
reason for granting to
this family what the
«terms of the Sunud
must have shown them

20

« 3pd.—In the 4th column of the revised

" lists the present incumbent and the original

grantee are shown as one and the same person,

which was not the case, as the incumbent, when

* the rev1sed lists were framed, was the sccond
British grantee.”

36. Government, on being made acquainted

« with the facts of this case, ordered tlfe vesumption .

of the Sumuam without the assignment of any
pension to another generatlon tndlun , however,
a charitable life provision for the wxdows of ’the
last incambent.

37. The Surinjam of Bhugwunt Rao Holkar,*
of “the annual value of nearly Rs. 3,000, was;
entered in the Revised Lists in the Third Classt
of holdings continuable for one generation, but in
the same lists it was described as a grant of a. vy
1793, and should, therefore, if entered at all, have
been entered in the Sccond Class of holdings
centinnable for two gencrations. But it ough,
apparcntly, never to have been included in the
lists, bcing held under a Sunud cxpreaqu declar-
ing it to be a grant from the British Government.

38. This case has heen submitted by Govern-

ment for the consideration and orders of the
Honorable Court of Directors.f

< 39. The Surmpm of Sukaram, Gosavee || of
the arnual value of Rs. 881, held by him on
account of the office he filled in the Houschold of
the last Peshwa, was on bis {Sukaram’s) death
continued in A. p. 1831, under the special orders
of Government, to his,son Bapoo, in virtue of his
having ‘been .placed by the ex-Peshwa in the
office” of ‘his late father. This Surinjam’ was
*improperly described in the Revised Lists as
havitig been continued to the son, Bapoo, * by
migtake,” and upon this informatioh the Honor-

‘ ® |l Appendix P.
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able Court allowed Bapoo to hold it during his
lifetime, as a special case.

40. This Surinjam having meanwhile hpsed
the rectification of the erroneous entry in the
lists was all that could be suggested to Govern-
ment, whose orders on the subject have not yet
been redeived.* .

41. The Surinjam of Krishn Rao Ram
oPoorundhuree,‘l‘ of the annual value of Rs. 2,100,
Was entered in the Revised Lists as a grant made
befoye a. D. 1751, and, therefore, hereditary ; but
five-sixths of the holding turned out to have becn
granted long after A. . 1751, and to be conti-
npable, consequently, for two gencrations onlys

42. Government have ordered the rectification
of this error.f
¢ 43. A Surinjam, of the annual value of
Rs. 637, -which had been held by the Nuwab of
Banday, was entered in the Revised Lists as

»laving been under attachment since a. p. 1829,
and.was recommended for continuance to a col-
lateral Jheir.  This the Court of Directors declined
to sanction, and'the Syrinjam was finally resumed ;
but it has since’ been discovered that the proceeds
‘of the holding for twenty years during which it
was under attachment were, instead of being
paid’ into the Government treasury, made away.
with through what at present appears gross*fraud
on the part of sume of the establishment of the
Poona Adawlut. |

44. No orders in this case have as yet been
issued by Government.§

45. The Surinjams of Bhewra Bage arrd Byga
Baee HolkarﬁT were entered in the Revised Lidts as
a holding of the annual value of upwards of
Rs. 1,300. .The following extract from the re-
port submitted to Government explalps the
erroneous nature of the foregoing engry.

4 Appendix S.

that they were not en-
titled to. Bgfdrg pen-
sions can be granted to
persons so situated, spe-
cwml grounds must be
shown for such grant.

* Government have
since notified (7th May
1856) that the Surin-
jam having been resum-
ed in 1851 nothing
further is cnlled for,
4hough the errors com-
mitted by the Agent
for Sirdars were,.Go-
vernment have stated,
brought to the notice
of the Honorable the
Court of Directors un-
der date the 30th De-
cember 1854,

+ Appendix Q.

T Regarding  which
the ITonorable Court
have since observed, in
paragraph 4 (below
transcribed) of  their
rolitical despatch No.
9, date¢ the 1Yth
March 1856 :—

“The circumstances
of this holding are very
clearly set forth by
Lieutenant C. J. Grif-
fith, the Assistant Innm
Commissioner. The
statements  relating to
it in thegrevised hsts
are very inaccurate, a
part of the holding.be-
ing incorrectly describ-
ed, and the date which
correctly belonged only
to the smaller part of
it being assigned to the
whole. Thisis the more
remarkable, as Mr.
Brown, in his reply to
a call for explanation,
stated the dates cor-
rectly, and the incon-
sistency between them
and the conclusion
drawn from them es-
caped the notice of
syour Government.”

| Appendix R.

§ Government have,
under date the 20th
March 1866 declared

- the statement regarding



this cage, which on the
Inam ¢ Commissioner’s
report they desired the
Agent for Sirdars to
submit, “to be mowt
unsatisfactory,”” —have
expressed their decided
opinion * that a robbery
has been committed,
and that to regard these
proceedings as carcless-
ness would be a misap-
plication of terms,”—e
and have called for spe-
cific information regard-
ing the partics impli-
cated.

* Paragraph 17 of
the Inam Commissioner
Captain Cowper’s letter
No. 501, dated the 27th
of September 1854,
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“ 17.* The revised lists seem to have been
defective in the following instances : —

¢ 1st.—Thesc entries ought not to have been

made at a)l, as there were not, and are not any

* such Surinjams in existence; the Surjnjams

were resumed many years previously, and that

whichethe lists describe as two Surinjams con=

sists, in reality, of four pensions granted on the,

lapse of; the Surinjams.

“ 2nd—In each case the <holding is -shown
in the revised lists to consist of twq villages,
Yellee and Moongee ; whercas in each case the
value assigned ought to have been that of onc-

«half of the Jaghcer Umul only of the two
villages.

“ 3rd.—In the column of ¢ Remarks’ it is
stated,—* By an order 6f Mr. Commissiones
Chaplin dated 2nd February 1821, the Surin-
jam was sanctioncd in the names of the two
ladies’ ; whereas it has been shown that Mr. -
Chaplin’s order continued the Jagheer Umul
of both villages to one pergon, Bapoojee Hol-
kar,cand that the pensioys grarted to the two
ladies in each case were not granted until after
the resumption of the Jagheer Umul of the

. two villages, and were then granted, not by
+ Mr. Chapliu’s order of 1821, but by the orders
of the Bombay Ggvernment of 1827 and 1833.
“4th.—In the same column it is stated,—
‘The date of original gragnt is taken from a
Sunud in possession of this Surinjamdar,
bearing date Sub:} Teesain, a. p. 1796, which
gonfors this Surinjam.” But among the
Murathee records received from the Agent
there is not a single document to show that the
0S'\‘atements's of the persons who enjey these pen-
,sions were ever called for and- taken, and no
trace of any Sunud, or_copy of a Sunud can
be anywhere discovered.
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“5th.—~The entry No. 25 in the revised
lists describes Bunnajee Iolkar as the original
grantee and incumbent, at the introduction of
the British (Government, of the Surinjam; but
no Surinjam whatever was continued to Bunna-
jee Holkar by Mr. Chaplin’s order. Bapoojee

« Holkat was the person entered in Mr. Ghaplin’s
statement ,ay the original grantee of both the

Jagheer Umuls, and as the person to yvhom, as

* thes ‘holder at the introduction of the British

Gavtrnment, both the Umuls were to be

centinued.”

46. Government, on being made acquainted
with the real facts of this case,* directed the
expunction of the entry from the Revised Lists,
allowing, however, the stipends to be continued
dwring the lives of the*then incumbents.

47. A Surinjam, of the annual value of Ru-
pees 5,821, held by Saojee Rao Nimbalkur,T was
emttefed in the Revised Lists as a grant made beforg,
A. o, 1751, apd as e continuable, therefore, on
hereditary tenure. * It turned ‘out, however,
always to have been a military, and never«a per-
sonal "Surinjam ! *and on this fact being clearly
established by the Inam Commissioner, the fol-
lowing orders were issued by the Honorable
Court of Directors] :— ¢

“ 30, Thé ‘estate of Sherusnee (not an
entire village, as we had been led to suppose,
but certain Umuls only) was a military, and
not a personal Surinjam ; and the rule, con-
tinuing on hereditary tenure certain estates
held prior to 1751, does not apply to military

Surinjams. o *

“ 31. We are of opinionvwith Mr. LeGeyt,
the Agent for Sirdars, that thg Surinjam pro-
perly" lapsed von the death of the grantee,
Saojee Rao, but that a pension eqyal to half
the net proceeds may be granted t6 Mankojee

.

* The Cour't of Direc-
tors have sinee, on being
made acquainted with
these facts, observed
in paragraph 18 (below
wranscribed) of their po-
litical despatch No. 27,
dated the 12th Decgm-
ber 1855 :—

“ The statement
in the revised lists re-
speeting these holdings
is showa to be flagrant-
ly and carclessly incor-
rect, and proves with
how little care and cir-
cumspection  Messrs.
Warden and Brown
performed the import-
ant duty of preparing
these lists. DBut the
orders in the Revenue
Department dated the
30th of Ociuber 1827,
granting yensions  to
the widow nnd mother
of Bunuejee IHolkar,
might have been” more
explicit. The words
were,—* The Governor
in Council is pleascd to
grant the value of one-
fourth to the wife’ ; and
the Collector of Ahmed-
nuggur, who secms not
to have understood
that a mogey grant was
intended, left the ladies
in possession, of the
Umul itself (reduced, we
hope, tp one-half, as
directeg), which, in the
case of one of the two
villages, Moongee, they
still  possess. The
other village, Yellee,
having been resumed in
1836, a money equiva-
lenf is paid to the ladies
for~ their share in its
revenues.” .

+ Appendix T.

1 Paragraphs 30 and
31 of political despatch
No. 23, dated the 16th
August 1854,



¢ Parapraphs 2 to 4
of Poli ldil Secretaly’s
latter 2993, dated
the 25th July 1855. o

t Whose instructions
have since been received
in paragraphs 6 to 8
(below transcribed) of
their political despatch
No. 19, dated the 19th
March 1856 :—

“A  pension of
Rs. 794 per annum,
cquivalent to half the
net proceeds of the laps-
cd Surinjam of the late
Saojee Rao Nimbalkur,
had been granted to his
nephew Mankojee, on
the ground of his hav-
ing been adopted by the
deceased as his son, with
the sanction of the
Peshwa. It has now
been clearly shown hy
Captain Cowper that
the cvidence by which
the adoption, and the
confirmation of it by
the Peshwa, were sup-
posed to have been
established, was fulse
and fraudulent. Of all
the instances which
have yet come before
us of Klr Brown’s neg-
ligence and inaccuracy,
his investigation of this
case is the most discre-
ditable. He is shown
to have omitted to take
evidence,—the most ob-
vious and ¢he most
casily accesslble,-to
have in .one instance
kept back from Govern-
ment a documegt which
would have directed
their attention to such
evidence, and to have
misstated the tes¢mony
of the witness whose
statement was the only
proof of the authenti-
city of the prineipaldo-
cument in the case, pe-
presenting him to have
said that the termina-
tlon of that document

¢is, to the best of his be-
lief, in the haudwriting
of Sudashew Mankesh-
waur, the Peshwa’s Mi-
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(who was recognised as his adopted son by
the Peshwa’s Government) from the date of
resumption.”

48. Congequent on the foregoing instructions,

*orders had been issued for the payment of the

pension which amounted to Rs. 794 per annum,
and of amrears amounting to upwards of Rs. 7,000,
when the Inam Commissioner fortanately dis-
covered the whole story of the alleged adoption,
said to haVe been sanctioned by the Peshwa, to
be a fabrication supported by forgery, pegjury,
and fraud of the grossest description. “
49. Government, on being made acquainted
with these facts, issued the following orders* :—
“ 2. Inreply, Iam desired to observe that
in the opinion of Government you have pro-
duced the most clear @hd convincing proofs
that the adoption of Mankojee Rao by the
late Saojee Rao Nimbalkur never received -the
. sanction of the Peshwa, and that, thereforé,.he
possesses no right to the*pension which, under
the supposition that his ‘adoption had’ been
formally recognised by ghat ptince; has lately
been granted to him hy thé Honorable the
Court of Directors.
“3. The Right Honorable the Governor
in Council has, accordmgly, resolved that ‘the
payment of this_pension, which was stopped
under date the 7th May last, shall continue
in abeyance, pending a reference to the Honor-
able the Court of Directors, to whom it will
be suggested that, under the information now
furmshed by you, their orders for the grant of
this stlpend be recalled.
¢« 4, A recommendation will at the same
" ¢ime be submitted to the Honorable Courtf that
_ the 'name of Mankojee Rao be expunged from
the list of Sirdars, the gross fraud which he has
practised ‘upon Government in this case prov-
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ing him to be utterly unworthy to be continued
to be enrolled amongst the privileged persons
of the Deccan and Southern Muratha Country.”
50. ‘At'a later period, further and still more
conclusive evidence in this case was obtained,
provihg the whole transaction to have been the
Jesult of deliberate and wholesale cgnspiracy,
orlgmatmg, ,apparently, with the Chief of
* Moodhole, in whose possession were discovered
regigtries of letters to his Poona banleers, placing
largessums of money at the di8posal of the agents
of ,tgﬁe Nitnbalkur family, for purposes of corrup-
tion.

51. Government, om receiving this furtheer
information, resolved under date the 15th of
September 1855,—

o ¢ That Mankojae Rao Nimbalkur, by his
disgraceful conduct on this occasion, has
proved himself unworthy any longer to be
o *.retained amongst the privileged classes ; and
that, - in athclpatiou of the Honorable the
Court of Directdrs sanctlomng the recommen-
dation whicl, in conformity with the® recent
resolution of ‘Government, is about to be made
to that authority for the erasure of his name
from the Sirdar lists, orders be at once issued
“for his being suspended from the privileged
classes, pemf ing the Conrt’s instructions” By
this means this unworthy «individual will be
deprived of the uspal Dussera dress and other
honours which otherwise he would, asa Sir-
dar, receive at the approaching Dussera festlval
on the 20th proximo.

“ The late Chief of Moodhole, who appeals to
have been'a principal in thfs attempted fraug,
having intermediately died, it is unnecessary
to take any notice of his misconduct.” ',
52. The investjgation which toek place re-

d* .

nister’; whep in the
translation,of his depo-
sition, furnisifed b
Brown himself, is
eonly made to sy tlmt
the writing  * appears
Iike Sudas| an-
keshwur’s writing, but
1 cannot state to a cer-
tainty* that it is his.
Captain Cowper has
clearly proved that the
» document cannot have
been written by Suda-
shew Mankeshwur or
by his orders, and all the
circumstances connect-
ed with the case show
it to be a forgery. Nor
was Mr. Warden’s con-
duct much less careless;
for in 1842 he repre-
sented that Saojee ad
no son, and in 1844 he
entered Mnnko;ee in the
hsts as Saojee’s son.

e authorise
you, as you propose, to
cancel the grant of the
pension (of which, for-
tunately, ..o payments
had ﬂmde), andto -
strike out the name of
Mankojee from the list
of the privileged Sir-
dars.

“8. Subsequent in-
formation, communicat-
ed to Captain Cowper
by the Political Agent
in the Southern Mu-
ratha Country from the
Moodhole  accounts,
shows that the late
Chief & Moodhole,
who was of the Nim-
balkur family, disburs-,
ed a sum of gearly

6000 through a
ba.nker at Poons, to
obtain the recognition of
Mankojee as successor
to Sfojee Rao Nimbal-
kur. In what way this
money was expended
does not appesar, but
ites to be feared thata
wart of it reached some
servant or servants Of
the British Govern-
ment., We entirely con-
cur in the commenda-
tion yoif have bestowed

.on Captain Cowper for



the abilitygnd zeal with

which hetraged out the

very intritate facts of
this case, and exposed

the gross and inexcus-¢
able oversights of Mr

Warden &¥r. Brown.”

* Appendix U.

-

+ This Surinjam has
since been resumed, in
congequence of Ram-
chunder
having resorted to eva-
sion end falsehood for
the purpose of avoiding
inquiry by the Inam
Commission,

1 Appendix V.
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garding the Surinjam of Saojee Rao Nimbalkur*
disclosed the fact of another fraud having,
apparently, been perpetrated by another member
of the same family, who obtained the continuance
of a Surinjam' of the annual value of Rs. 582, by
falsely representing himself to be the son ef the
last incumbent, which he was not. .

53. (overnment have ordered the attachment’
of this Surinjamt pending the Inarh Commis- .
sioner’s fina] report, which is under preparation.

54. Mahomed Abdool Kadur held a Surm-
jam, of the estimated annual value of upwtards
of Rs. 8,500, which lapsed at his death ; a pen-
sign equal to half the get proceeds bemg con-
tinued to his sons, from whom, however, accorc-
ing to the Revised Lists, 2 sum of Rs. 5,806
was to be recovered on account of a village
described as having been enjoyed by the fathér
without any right, but which, on inquiry by
the Inam Commissioner, turned out to have been
granted by the Deccan Commissioner under-
written authority from the Governer, Mr. Elphin-
stone, and the Commissioner’s order to the’Collec-
tor of Ahmednuggur, direeting, ghe village to be
made over to the grantee, was found duly re-
corded in the Ahmednuggur Collector’s Office.

55. Government, on being made acquamted
‘with the erroneous nature of the entry in the
Revised Lists, at enee directed the payment of
the large sum withheld on account of the afore-
said village.

66.° Balkrishn Gungadhur Kanuray held a
Sunn.pam of the angual value of Rs. 867,|| which,
huvmg been granted Ly the last Peshwa, Bajee
Rao, lapsed at Balkrishn’s death, hig son, Narayen
Rao, becoming entitled to a pension of half the
nét proceeds. in the Revised Lists, however, the
son was shown as entitled to 4 pension of not
merely the_half of the lapspd Surinjam, but of

<
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half, also, of the pensi.on which had been enjoyed
by his deceased father, and which ought never
to hav: been entered in the Revised Lists at all.

57. The Inam Commissioner, in reporting
this case to’ Government, submitted for thejr
consideration certain facts connected with the
non-payment of the sum justly due to the son,
‘Narayen Rao, and, after his death, to" his legal
. representativé; such non-payment appearing to
.be closely connected with, if it did pbt originate
in tf).é failure, on the part of. persons connected
thﬁ thesAgent’s establishment, to extort a very
large sum of money from the person to whom the
pension had been granted by the Honorable
@ourt of Directors.

58. Government, on receiving the Inam Com-
mxssnonet s report, directed the arrears of the
pension granted on the lapse of the Surinjam to
be paid to the son Narayen Rao’s legal represen-
tat;ve, and ordered the Agent for Sirdars to
* Inquire and report* fully on the subject of the
apparent attempt at ‘extortion. ,

59.° The ngray family held in Surinjam a
village in‘the Ahmednuggur Collectorate, of the
.apnual value of a little more than Rs.. 1,000.1
It had been granted long after A. p. 1751, but
had, nevertheless, being recommepded for herer
dltary contingance by the Agent for Sirdard,
Mr. Warden, on the grounds of the pecuhanty
of the origin of the grant, and the manner in
which it had come to be held rendering it almost
impossible to carry the Rules through go many
ramifications,

60. The Honorable Court of Dnectors, baw-
ever, negatived the foregomg proposition, and
observed,— .

‘¢ Thesé are not sufficient reasons for per-
petuating ‘d tenure whieh, from its ‘minute

Sﬂb-lelSIOl‘l, is pwobably opprgssive to the,

* Since | submitted,
and pronounced by Go-
vernment ‘“ not satis-
factory.”

1+ Appendix X..
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* Paragraphs 27 t0 29
of the 1%::3 (‘ommls-
sioner Capt. Cowper’s
letter No. 935, of the
30th August 1855,

. 28 )

[

Ryots, and of little value to most of the
possessors.” -

61. The case was eventually scrutinised by
the Inam Commissioner, when, out of the eight
shares into which the holding was divided, three
were found improperly entered in the Revised
Lists, and there appeared every reason for be-
llevmg fraud to have been committed, under’
“ circumstances described to Governnfent in the -
following téyms* : .

«27. 1 should have recommended the
stoppage altogether of the seventh share, ‘did
not the claimants appear to be very little to
blame in the matter. In this, as in every-
thing else connected with the previous inqui*
ries regarding this case, the principals have
never come forward, nor have they until now
ever been desired to do so, everything havmg
been done throngh a Brahmin agent, the
truth of whose assertions seems to have been
‘taken for granted, although they were made
under circumstances peculiarly suggestive’ of
the necessity of most careful scrutiny ; for hav-
ing once ascertained that the holding had been
recommended by the Agent for Sirdars for.
hereditary continuance, on the score of the
difficulty of.tracing its history, the interest of
the agent of the claimants ineimcreasing that
difficulty became as direct as obvious. *.

“28. But I'am unwilling to’ recommend
the adoption of severesmeasures towards the
claimants themselves, as they seem tq have been
the mere tools of the agent, Vittul Chintamun,
and to have been victimised by him to an extent
scarcely credible, Their case haslong been a
bye-word in Poona, where Vittal Chintamun
has always been understood to hdve received,
for Yis own use, every farthing of the large
arrears, amounting to Rs. 12,267-7-7, the pay-
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ment of which, on account of both of the vil-
lages comprising the Surinjam, was authorised
under the sanction accorded by the Honorable
Court'of Directors to the revised Surinjam lists.
I heard of ‘this long ago, but could scarcely
credit it, though I felt no difficulty in believ-
ing that advantage had been taken of the igno-
rance of the claimants, who are uneducated
Murathad, ‘unable, for the most part, even to
write their names. There is, however, every
reagon for believing such to have been the case,
ad an agreement,* which is still in existence,
and has been produced before me, was on the
9th January 1849 regularly executed gn
e stamped paper, and by this document the mem-
bers of the Nigray family bound themselves
, to pay Vittul Chintamun the whole of the
® arrears then due,—that is to say, arrears for up-
wards of nine years, amounting to more than
, Bs. 9,000, and, besides this, to grant him land
“sin their village of the annual value of Rs. 75.
429, I- “do not know whether such an
agreément ag this one would be upheld in a
civil court, thouglf, from what the Agent for
. Sirdars, Mr. LeGeyt, informed Government in
paragraph 3 of his letter No. 429, of the 12th

Aygust last, I suppose that it would be consi-’
"dered a legally binding document. Goyern-

ment, in the case to'which J haye just referred,
intimated that the legality of the description
of bonds alluded to by Mr. LeGeyt was under
consideration, but no further orders have been
received. It must doubsless be difficult, but
should it be possible effectually to® discouyake
bargains of this nature, to do so would. go
very far towards dlsabusmg the ignorant and
most, numérous classes of the community of a
prevalent belief not more erroneous thafi pre-
judicial to good government.”

* ¢ Bince this para-
graph was originally
ﬂenned the agreement

as been either mislaid
in, or stolen from, the
Inam Commissioner’s
Office, and has not yet
been found.”



* Goverfment have
since disposed of this
case, end have, undeg
date the 20th May
1856, ordered the ar-
rangement recommend-
ed y the Inam Com-
missioner to be carried
out.

1 Appendix W,

S Paragraphsl?nnd 4
of the Inam Commis-
sioner Mr. Hart’s re-
port, No. 570, dated
the_13th January 1853,
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62. The orders of Government in this case
have not yet beén received.*

68. I'have now to describe the result of the
Scrutmy of the Revised Lists of Pensions granted
in commutation for Surinjams resumed by the
British ‘Government, the Rules laid down for the
continuance of which, by the Honorable Court of

* Directors, accorded in principle with those direct-

ed to be applied to the existing Surinjams,—that -
is to say, the pensions were to be continued just
as long as, under the aforesaid Rules, the Surin-
jams, had they not been commuted intospensfons,
would have been.

,64. Shortly after the conquest of the Dec-
can, several districts, which had belonged to tke
Peshwa, were ceded by the British Government
to the Nizam,} with whom it then rested to con-
tinue or not, at his pleasure, Surlnjams to a
large amount which had been held in those
districts prior to the cession. Generally speak-
nig, they were not continued, and a long discus-"
sion ensued as te whether compensation for them
should be granted, and if so, whether the éxpense
should be borne by the British or,by the Nizam’s
Government.

65. ''he mauner in which these claims were
nnally disposed of was clearly described by the
Inam Commissioner in the following termsf :—

«3. The records of Government show that
the whole of “these Jagheers ‘(which were
generally spoken of as*Clrouth Jagheers) were
valued at five lakhs of rupees, but after a very
full cand protracted discussion, which lasted

Tr:om ,A.*p. 1823 until 1825, and in which

the right of the dispossessed Jagheerdars to

- compensation was discussed by the Supreme

Government and that of Bombay; as well as by

» Mr* Chaplin and Sir Charles Metcalfe, the

Government of India recorded as their opinion,
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that no obligation attached either to the Nizam
or to the Honorable Company to provide for
the Chouth Jagheerdars, who had ‘ suffered by
the evénts of the war in common with their
late sovereign, Bajee Rao.” .

4. The Government of Bombay was left
to form a final opinion on tlns point, and they
did - so by sanctioning a proposaP by Mr.
Chaplin, * that a certain few of the dispossessed
Jacrheerdars should be pensioned ¢ fdr life.””

66 " The Honorable Court of Directors, for
who%e orders the question as to whether these
pensions had been properly entered in the Revis-
ed Lists as hereditary ones was referred, issugd
the following instructions* :—
“In our letter of the 12th of April 1842,  * Extract from para-
referred to by Captain Cowper, the only pen- ﬁ”ﬁgﬁwﬁqg’ fg 01(;23:;
® sions of which we spoke were those granted in the 18th May 1833,
commutation of ¢ Jagheer land,” situated in ter-
, Yjtories ceded to a Native prince. We never
' “+inténded to apply the same rule to those grant-
ed in commutation for payments from the
Chouth, and, if we rightly understand Mr. Hart,
he recogmseq the same distinction. We desire,
.therefore, that it be kept in view in revising
the lists.”
67. The pensions affected by, the foregomg
instructions, and which had been entered m thé
Revised: Lists as hereditary anes, without a smgle
word of reférence to or explanation regarding
the past proceedings on record, amounted to up-
wards of Rs. 23,000 per annum. >
68. A pension of Rs. 320 per annym was
entered in the Revised Lists in the nameo of
Manuckjee vulud Bahadoort who had’never, it  + Appendix %.
turned out on inquiry, been heard of during the -
preceding thirty years, and whose name "had
never been entered in any of the prevmds pen-
sion lists. - e
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69. Government in this case decided on pro-
hibiting any further payment, without a certifi-
cate fromt the Agent for Sirdars of Manuckjee
wulud ‘Bahadoor being really alive.

. 70. Up o this date no such ‘certificate has
been; nor is it likely that one ever will be fur-
nished, as Manuckjee died, in all probability,
before th& introduction of British rule. '

71. Arrears amounting to Rs. 6,500, together.
with a lifepension of Rs. 400 per annum, would,
had no scrutiny of,the Revised Lists taken"place,
have been paid to the sons of Yeshwunt ‘Rao

* Appendix AA. Babur,* on the strength of an entry in the Re-

vised Lists, the erroneous nature of which was
described by Government in the following
termst :— :

+ Paragraphs 2 to 7 “ 2. I am also desired to forward a précis
of Government letterin  Gf the past proceedings of Government on this
!1';':%‘31::‘; ?ggg’ ome subject, and to state that it is.clear, from the
) facts mentioned by Captain Cowper in the 2nd

« and following paragraphs of his letter, that the"

Surinjam, in,commutation of which the pen-
sion of Rs. 800 was assigned by Mr. Elphin-
stoné in 1819, in the name of Jaitojee,.(but
apparently to his son Yeshwunt Rao,) was
granted by the Peshwa as a military and not

« as a persongl Surinjam, and this fact probably

* induced Mr. Elphinstone to affix a life-tenure
to the pension. , .

“ 8. If, however, this point-were to be
waived in favour of the family, Mr. Brown
still -evidently committed an error in entering
in hjs lists of 1851 the two younger sons of
£ M, Brown award- ;Y. estiwung. Rao as entitled to a moiety ?f their

ed them the sum of  déceased father’s pension,} since their elder
'ﬁichﬁimot‘;e::e wd. . brother, Krishfa Rao, who died in 1849,
in “muq;meutgonﬁ; could alope possess any claim to succeed to

Order issued b{ Govern- _ that pension. . o
ment on the

mept onthe Let Octo-  * w4, If, therefore, by a, liberal interpreta-
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tioh, the villages in commutation of which this
pension was assigned were to be considered in
the light of a ¢ personal,’ and not of a ®military
Surinjam,’ this  grant, in consequence of its
having beeir conferredin the tim? of the lasf
Peshwa, would be resumable on the death of
-the first British grantee, a stlpend equal to a
moiety of the resumed pension being &ontinued
-for life to*h®s son.

“5. If, therefore, Yeshwunt.Rqd be consi-
dere‘d the first British grantee, his eldest son,
Ktishna Rao, would have been entitled, from
the 1st March 1830 to the period of his death
in 1849, to an annual pension of Rs. 400, fro;n

ewhich should be deducted the annual allowance
of Rs. 200 which was paid to his father’s widow
from March 1830 to November 1840, and from

* Krishna Rao’s death'in 1849 the grant would
be entirely resumable. If, on the other hand,
the grant be regarded as a nnlztary Surinjam,
* &rishna Rao, on the death in 1830 of hts
father, Yeshwunt Rao, would not have been cn-
titled to any allowance

“ 6. “The] pames of Tookaram and Buheer-
jee Babur, the two younger sons of Yeshwunt
Rao, having been improperly entered in Mr.
Brown’s lists, His Lordship in Cpuncll directs’
that they be forthwith expunged therefmm :

“7.. Before finally deciding whether the
late Krishna Rao .shall be cbnsidered to. have
been entitled to any allowance for the period
intervening between his father’s and His own
death, I am desired to request that you will
report whether he has left a widowor chlldren;
and if so, whether or not they are in Yestitute
circumstances:” .

72, , The drders of the Honorable -Courfs con- . .* Paragraphs 15 and
16 of political despatch

ﬁrmmg those of the Bombay Government iﬂ th’s No. 55, of the 12th

case, are below transcribed.* K October 1853,
e*
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“15. In case 13 (oﬁ which you hayé not.
. finally decided) Yeshwunt Rao Babur would
be' cohsidered the first British grantee, and

Krishna Rao his representiative in the next
, generation’; but in our opinjon it is not neees-

sary to'go into that question. As Captain

Cowper observes, the Jagheer was a military

and not a personal Surinjam, and Mr. Elphin-

stonewas opposed to the continuahde of military-

Surinjafys. This case was, however, inserted

in his list, prebably, as suggested in the 9th

paragraph of Captain Cowper’s repost, because
" Mr. Elphinstone considered it politic and
. humane to make some present provision- for
‘the Surinjamdar. : :
“16. His intentions being limited to that
gbject, he recommended that the allowance
proposed by him should be only for life;
therefore, it properly ceased on the death of

Yeshwunt Rao.” .

* 73." Half of a pension of Rs. 1,500, "toget}‘iér
with arrears ameounting to Rg. 3,652, was entered
in the Revised Lists as payable tq Vishnoo Huree
Oke,* on account of a Surihjam, therein desaribed
as resumed by the -British Government, but
which, on inquiry, torned out to have been
esumed by tke Peshwa before the introduction of
‘British rule, and to have beemwo described in
express terms in M». Elphinstone’s Lists..

74. Government, on learning the real facts of
this case, ordered the gramt to be forthwith
expunged from the lists. -

75. < A life-pension of Rs. 4,060 per annum
wés granted-by Mr. Elphinstone to the disciples
of Muho‘hurgeer,fyithout any allugion whatever,
ie the recorded reasons for making the grant, ‘to
its ‘being in liew of a personal Surinjam ; whereas,
in otler cases in which Ppensions Were- granted “in
commutatioy) for persdnal «Surinjams resumed by
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the British Government, the fact was distinetly
recorded by Mr.:Elphinstone. .

76. Half of. the foregoing pensiod’ would,
according to the Revised Lists, have been econ-
tinued to a second generation, had not the Inam,
Commissioner’s scrutiny placed beyond a doubt
the fact of the Surinjam, described in the Revised
Lists as-one resumed by the British Government,
not having *b&n held atall at the lntroductxon
of British rule. ‘

77. .. Government, on this mfarmatlon, declined
to sahctlol the continuance of half the pension
to a second generation.

78. An hereditary pension of Rs. 2,500 wou!‘d
hawe been continued to Boobajee Powar’s son,*
to whom arrears amounting to nearly Rs. 17,000
would also have been paid, had not the Inam
COmmissioner’s scrutiny proved the Surinjam,
which, according to the Revised Lists, had been
resuped by the British Government, not to have
been held at all at the close of the Peshwa’s rule,
and to have been so described in the clearest and
most distinct terms, by Mr. Elphinstone.

79.. The Inapy Commissioner’s report on this
case elicited an order from Government declaring
the pension to have lapsed at the death of Boo-
bajee Powar, to whom Mr, Elphinstone had-
expressly granted it as a charitable allowance,
“ because; though a person.of great rank, he
appears to have no claim to any. Jagheer.”

80. The orders gf the Honorable Court in this
case are belqw transcribedf :— .

¢13. The reference of Mr. Brown’ s,hst of
pensions in commutation of Surinjams ‘to tlae,

Inam Compissioner has led to the expunging

of No. 17 from the list. ‘Captain Cowper’s

repory conclusively shows, that the original
grantee of thfis pension.held no Surinjath af
the breaking out of the war, and was not con-

* Appendix DD.

+ Raragraph 13 nf
litical despatch N
go’ of the 12th Octo-

ber 1853.
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+ Government have,
under date the 20th
Muy 1856, notified their
mtention of submitting
this ease for the orders
of the Honorable the
Court of Dircctors,
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sidered by Mr. Elphinstone to have a cldim.to

any Jagheer. The pension.was granted to him

on other grounds, and omly for life. It was,
however, "continued :undiminished to his son

. Boobajee,"who died in 1845, Madhow Rao,
the son of Boobajee, has clearly no valid claim
.to the continuance of any. part of if. For-
tunately, the recommendation of Mr. Brown in
his favour had not been carried itv effect.”

81. Atcording to the Revised Lists, arrears
amounting to nearly Rs. 4,300, and a life-pension
of upwards of Rs. 500, were to have been pdid to
Ragho Mulhar’s son, Bapoojee Ragoonath, ¥ on
agcount of a Surinjam described as one resumed by
the British Government, but proved by the Inam

Commissioner’s inquiry to have been resumed by

the Peshwa several months before the introduction
of the British Government, to whem the Peshwa
ceded it by the Treaty concluded at Poona on the
17th of June 1817.

* 82. The orders-of Government in this case
have not yet been received.t,k -

83. The financial result of the scru‘tmy of
these Lists, in so far as it ms hitherto proceeded,
is, that holdings of the estimated annual value
of seventy thousand rupees have been found
“improperly (. e. they were not what they, were
"described to be, and they were, du reality, entered
contrary to the Rules laid down by the Court of
Directors, upon Which the lists were professedly
framed) entered as hereditagy, they being con-
tinuable for two lives only; that one holding of
the estimated annual value of five hundred rupees,
efitered in #he lists as continuable for two genera-
tions, has been found properly continuable only
for ome; that Surm_]ams and pensions of.the
estimated annual value of more *than gineteen
shouand rupees, not continuable bt all, have been
found entefed as life-grants; and lastly, that

_aclll
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arrears amounting to upwards of thirty-eight
thousand rupees would have been improperly paid
had this scrutiny not taken place.

84. This serutmy has disclosed much that
seems to demand serious consideration. In this
place, however, I would merely advert to the un-
questionable proof which it has afforded of the
necessity of an Alienation Department. The
amount of error and fraud now found to have
been committed in this one (the Agant for Sir-
dars’)eoffice is certainly very great, and the Lists
supposed to have beeh thoroughly revised have
turned out not merely incorrect, but actually
replete with errgr from which they were pre-
vidusly free. It is scarcely to be supposed that

wblsis could have occurred had there been a separate
and specially trained agency available.

85. But I should be wrong to withhold from .
Govemment the conviction which the experience
of. some years has forced upon me, that matters
are in a scarcely better state in the Revenud
Dep.n:tment while ,the pubﬁc revenue at stake
there is mﬁmtely greater in amount —the care-
lessness, ignorance, efror, and fraud which per-
vade the past inquiries regarding alienated re-
venue it would, I feel assured, be next to im-
possihle to find in any private transactions of°
similar extent. dhe fact is,—at least so it certain-
ly appears to me,—that while ¢he inquiry has, on
the one hand,’involved questions and technicali-
ties but seldom thovoughly, and too often not at
all understoad, and has required time and libour,
not a tithe of which the officers expected to
attempt the task have had at their dlsposal it
has, on the other, been impeded and baflled by
falsehood and fraud in almost every direction
and when to the foregoing it is added that the
heréditary distritt and village officers, many of
the former of whom are very hlghly remunerated,

S* .
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have throughout been the principal agents in
plundermg the public revenue, for the protection
of which'they hold, and have ever held their Wa-
tuns,—-for the production of the revenue accounts
of the former Government which they and others
are now found to have conecealed in every quar-
ter would have long ago ensured the recovery of
most of the fraudulent alienations,—when all this
is considered, it seems really surprising that things
are no worse than they are.

86. Before clasing this report I woula sub=
mit, with deference, a few observationson a“sub-
ject which is, I am persuaded, of the last import-
ance to the satisfactory and eﬁiclent prosecution
of thei inquiry for which a separate department
has at length been partially organised. I refer
to the degree of publicity which should be given
.to the proeeedings of this Commission, which, in
each case of any importance, should, I am very
strongly of opinion, be published as soon as pos-
gible after final adjudication. There is nothing,
I believe, so well enlculated as this to correct
much popular error which prevalls, and which
it is the special object of a* few, interésted parties
to foster and disseminate for their own improper
purposes.
¢ 87. The jpeople of this country are unfor-
tunately not at present in a condition to under-
stand or to appreciate the fact that their relief
from unfair and ‘undue taxation is one of the
chief objects of the Alienatign Inquiry, and one
which'renders imperative upon the Government,
as trugtee for the community, its thorough prose-
cwtlon but this furnishes, I think, the strongest
grounds for puttmg it out of the power of any
educated person to plead want of opportunity,
anfl means of obtammg a knowledge of the truth,
as a} excuse for ignorance or for the advance-
ment of unfounded assertipns,,
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8. The publicity I advocate would, even
though not effecting everything to be desired,
certairly remove one cause of complaint}—would,
by correcting much existing misapprehension,
greatly facilitate the inquiry,—and*would, morg-
over, .render comparatively innocuous the mis-
chievous misstatements sometimes emanating
Yrom quarters whence better things®might be
.expected. * ®

89. ltis in the hope that Government will
“see 'ﬁt to pubhsh the conegpondence that has
taken plage in connection with this Scrutiny of
thé Revised Surinjam and Pension Lists, that I
bhave appended a statement of the documents
which afford a complete history of each case® "as
far as it has gone,—whether it be the past proeeed-
ings; the errors in those proceedings which have
flow been exposed and corrected ; of the grounds
and principles upon which such correction has
been made.

I have the honour to be, &c.

- (Signed) T. A. Cowrir, Captain,
Inam Comgnissioner Northern Division.
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Minute by the Right Honorable the Governen, dated the
8th July 1856. '

.

Captain Cowper’s comprehensive Report on the Scrutiny of the
revised Surinjam and Pension Lists induces me, after the sentiments
of Government having been expressed upon the merits of each case,
to lay before the Board the general conclusions which have been’
suggested to me by this important investigation. EERE

2. The errors which the Revise® Lists containcd have been
rectified to the extent to which the scrutiny hds up to the present
time proceeded But the discussion cannot be closed without a
marked expression of<the opinion of Government as to the source of
the evils which have been redressed by the strenuous exertions of the
Inam Commissioner, and a conmderatton of the means which should
be adopted for the prevention of similar-evil hereafter. .

3. A perusal of Captain Cowper’s report at once cstablishes the
conviction that a considerable revenue would have been irrecoverably
lost to a Government which is already unduly burdencd by the
grants and alienations of former rulers, but for this arduous investiga-
tion. But the loss of a specific arhount of revenue ‘forms only a
minor element of the evil which has been disclosed, —the gystcmatic,
and hitherto successful fraud which has been arrayed against the
rights of Government—the encouragement given throughout the-
Presidency to the belicf that an under-current of intrigue and false-
hood may defeat those rights—appear to me the real evil with which
we have to contend, and which demands from us a ##gorous control.
« 4. The Surinjam investigation discloses a system of frand. It
fixes the delmquency upon the Office of the Agent fog Sirdars at
Poona. It is with regret I am compelled to state that the Agents to
whom the revision of the S'urm')am Lists was entrusted have acquit-
ted themselves of that duty in a most incomplete and perfun(,tory
maunner ; but what wa8 carelessness in them was dishonesty in their
subordinates. Some of the principal of these subordinates are dead,
and it would, therefore, be difficult to fix specific guilt upon those
that remain, or to apport\gn the degree of wrong-doing to each ; but
one fact appears to me to stand clear upon the evidence ddduced in



4]

the Surm_)am Inquiry—that the Agent’s Office has been an orgamsa-
tion for the deliberate robbery of Government .

5. With this organisation we shouldedeal promptly and vigor-
ously. A Government cannot infringe upon the liberty or property
of any of its subjects without due and legal proof of delinquency ;
but it has a right, when a great wrong hae beeh perpetrated by a
body of its servants, and when it cannot exactly fix the wrong upon
individuals, summarily to relieve itself from the general body,
especially whem the suspicion cannot be avoided thatall were in some
measure guilty. .

*6. 1 propose, then, to abolish the Establishment attached to the
Officq of Agent for Sirdars; tho Agent himself I would, at least for
the present, retain. ‘'In discussing this measure, I shall first briefly
state the reasons which, in my opinion, constitute its complete justi-
fication, and I shall then detail the arrangements which I would
propose if my views meet with the concurrence of my colleagues.

7. In Mr. Warden’s Lists of 1844 the Kuddum Banday Surin-

jam was entered as hereditary. In the next year
c afe“dd“m Danday M. Warden submitted, in the Revenue Depart-
ment, a report clearly showing that the l.oldings
Lad never been granted in Surinjam, but were ,Inams, which had
been resumed by the Peshwa, and continued by the Commissivner of
the Deccan, as an act of grace, for the lives of the claimants. Not-
withstanding this plain statement of facts, the holdings were
entered as hereditary Surinjams in Mr. Brown’s Lists of 1847,—
although they never were Surinjams, and never were granted before
1751,—although they were Inams which had been yesumed, and only
continued for one life. *

8. The Surinjam of the Ni igray famlly had been rccommcnded for
hereditary ¢qntinuance, on the ground of the dif- -
ficulty ofe tracing its history. Whesd, however,
the Honorable Court déclined to permit its continuance, it was
obvious that® very careful and minute inquiry was demanded, as the
parties interested would naturally exert theshselves to complicate the
difficulty. On the inquiry being commenced, “the principals were
never examined, but the assertions of a Brahmin ageat were received
without question. It was subsequently shown‘by the Inam Com-
missioner that thgee out of eight shares had bzen lmperfectly entered
in the Lists, and that the Brahmig agent had ‘obtained « from the

Nigray Case.
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(
principals—who, throughout, took no part in the discussion—an
agroement, by which he was enabled to appropriate to his own use the
whole of the arrears, amounting to upwards of Rs. 12,000, which
were ordered td be paid to the family on the conclusion of the Agent’s
inquiry. Captain Cowper stafes that this case was a bye-word in
Poona, and that he had frequently heard the story before his own
duties led him to an examination of the ngray claims.

9. The case of Balkrishiia Kanuday's pension is somewhat similar
Balkrishna Kana. to that of the Nigray family. © The Court of
day’s Case. Directors ordered a pension to be paid to Narayen

Balkrishna Kanyday, with arrears of Rs. 10 000.
Ten days after this sanction was received in the Agent’s Office; some
of his subordinates obtained a bond from Narayen Balkrishna, by
which he bound himself to pay half of the arrears, and an annual
pension of Rs. 100, to persons who were to make the neccssary
exertions to obtain for him what they knew, though he did not, had
already been granted. The facts transpired, and the agreement
was never fulfilled. Narayen Balkrishna was, however, unavle
before his death to obtain either pension or arrears, and the Agent’s
explanation of these facts was pronounced by Government to be * not
satisfactory.” . T
10. On the lapse of a Surinjam held by Mahomed Huneef,
Mr. Elphinstone’s M oonshee, a pension was
Cals\g?homed Huncef’s grdntéd to the next gencrf.tlon * From this pen-
sion deductions were made in’the A gent’s Office
to the amount of about Rs. 5,000, on account of a village described
as having been held without due authority. On the records being
transferred to the Inam Commissioner, an origjpal letter of Mr.
Elphipstone, authorising the grant, was discovered, and. the error
rectified. But for the diligence of the Inam Commissioner, the.gross
carelessness of the Agent’s subordinates yould otherwise have de-
prived the receiver of the pension of a considerable sum of money.

11. The Revised Lists contained ap entry relative to the pension

Manukice  Baha. (¢Rs. 320),0f Manukjee Bahadoor, although such
door's Pesaion. = a person had never been heard of during the

. tlm'ty years which intervened between the fall of
the Peshwa and the révision of the Listsin 1847. Sueh an entry was
little more than offering a reward for the personation of Manukjee.
On a report from the Inam Commissioner the entry was expunged,
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12.° In the case of the Wamorekur’s Surinjam, a most gross fraud
was committed. The Surinjam had been «cor-
rectly entered in fornfer lists, but in the Lists of
1844 a mistake was alleged to have occnrred in
the calculation of the Arabic year. The grant was thus pronounced
to be one of A. p. 1741. The Inam Commissioner showed that no
mistake had really occurred, and that the Arabic year corresponded
with A. p. 1771.  Mr. Brown’s Lists of 1847 retained Mr. Warden’s
erroneous entry, without remark, but with an erronéous addition.

. 13. The Surinjam of Krishn Rao Neelkunt Moozumdar was

Kris;m.' Rao Neel. entered in ghe Lists of 1844 as having been
kunt ® Moosumdar’s granted before 1751. The Government, in no-
Cases ticing this entry, pointed out that only such
portions as were granted before 1751 should be entered as heredi-
tay. Notwithstanding this caution, the Surinjam was again enter-
ed as hereditary, because granted before 1751. The Inam Commis-
sioncr snbsequently showed that the portion granted before 1751
cdhstituted about an eighteenth part of the whole.

14. Thé Surinjam of Meera Gunnee Rissaldar was entered cor-
rectly in Mr. Warden’s Lists, but on their revision
by Mr. Brown, it was stated to be a Surinjam
attached by the Peshwa and restored by: the
Butxsfz Government. The real fact was that the Surinjam did not
exist until threc .years-after the introductidn of British rule.

15. The Surinjam of Bhugwunt Rao Holkar, both in Mr. War-

den’s and Mr Brown’s Lists, was entered as one
Hﬂ:ﬂg‘me Rao granted by the Peshwa. It really was a grant by
« Holkar, and had no connection with #he grants
of the Peshwa to which the Honorable Court’s Rules along were
applicable. The case had been adjudicated, and the whole of the '
true facts were on record, in the Agent’s Office. °

16. The Surinjam of Krishn Rao Neelkunt Poorundhuree was

Krishn Kio Ne. €ntered in Mr. Warden’s Lists as hereditary,
kunt Poorundhuree’s although only two~s1xths of it were granted before
Case. 1751. The Governnrent in this case pointed out
the doubt which existed, and” the claimant himself furnished the
Agent, Mr. Brown, with the correct dates of-the grant. Notwith-
standing these facts, the error was retainéd gnd was eventually
exposed by the Inam Cpmmissioner. P

The Wamorekur’s
Case.

Mecera Gunnee Ris-
saldhr’s case.
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17, On the lapse of a Surinjam held by Saojee Rao Nimbalkur,

a pension of Rs. 794 per annum, with arrears

Nu'fllll)ilgl‘::’e of S"°J°e amountl‘ng to Rs. 7,000, was granted to Manko-
) jee Rao Nimbalkur, on the ground that his

adoption by Saojee had received the sanction of the Peshwa. It was
subsequently discovered by the Inam Commissioner that mo such

sanction had been accorded. He also showed that the late Raja of
Moodhole had disbursed Rs.”6,000 as a bribe in this case (to whom
could not be discovered), and that perjury and forgéry had been
reserted to without scruple, in support of the claimant’s prctens:ona
The payment of the pension was stopped, and Mankojee Rao’s name

was expunged from the List of Sirdars. ’

18. Pensions amounting to Rs. 23,000 per annum were entered
in the Revised Lists as hereditary, without even
an allusion to proccedings on record in fhe
Agent’s Office, showing the whole of these pen-

sions to have beef specifically declared ¢ life-grants” only.

19. A Surinjam in Nimar was entcred in the Revised Lists as here-

ditary in the name of Chimnajee Vittul Poorun-

Chimnajee  Vittul dhuree. Its restoration on that tenure was ad-

gﬁ:;g:&hme sNimar Vocated, on the ground that its resumption on the
death of the last incumbent was an ¢ oversig‘ht
The records of the Agent’s Office showed that so far from the resump-
tion being an oversight, the holding had beed formally declared by
the Supreme Government in 1822 a life-grant, and that Chimnajee
Vittul, on the death of the grantee, had, through the Agent, applied
for its continuancd, and that his application had been negatived.
Mr. Warden, on the case coming before Govermment, expressly
_ stated that these facts had never been brought to his notice.-

20. The, Deccan Surinjam of Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree

Chimnajee Vittn  Was entered in the Lists of 1844 as hereditary,
Poorundhuree’s Dec- and ad supported by Sunuds of dates prlor to
can Surinjam. A. p..1751. The .error was retained in Mr.'
Brown’s Lists; but # has besn established beyond doubt that a
large portion of the Surlnjam was granted after 1751.

21. These cases—and there are others equally sig mﬁcant-—plaln] y
show that frauds have been practised on the Agents, Mr: Warden and
Mr. Brown, who, unfortunately, having other arduous duties to per-
form, evidently left the preparation of the Lists ta their subordinates.

Chouth  Surinjam
Peusions.
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An inquiry into these transactions was defeated by the sudden geath
of Bheemrao Ramajee, the Sheristedar, who was summoned from his
appointment of Moonsiff of . Amulnair to‘afford  the necessary expla-
nations, but who died before he could leave Khandelsh. The state-
ment of Raojee Pendsay, an old pensioner, formerly employed in the
Duftur and supposed to know more about the Peshwas’ records and
the affairs of the Poona Sirdars than any other Native, although it
cannot be relied upon with confidence ‘as evidence, is much to the
oint:— * * °

P “ Now and then I had to go to the Adawlut for the purpose of

giving my evidence as to the authenticity or otherwise of Sunuds,

antf on shese occasions Bheemrao and Vidyadhur Purushram, the

Sheristedars of the Agent, showed me the Murathee draft of a

general statement of Surinjams which they had drawn out with a

eview to the preparation of Surinjam lists to be sent to England,

I pointed out to them, then and there, the alterations that I thought

necessary, after carefully examining the entries shown to me:

*but I have reason to believe that these alterations were not made
by them’; for in the case of the Kuddum Banday’s Inan villages

in Khandeish, which were entered in the draft as Surinjam, I
« *pointed out to them the error which they hadecommitted, notwith-

standing whijch these villages were entered in the list. as Surinjam.

In ‘this manner they did just as they thought proper. I never saw

Mr. Warden personally during the timé he was Agent.”

22. I have litle doubt that Vidyadhur Purushram was deeply
implicated in this system of fraud; but to support a criminal charge
against him would be impossible, as he would in évery instance plead
that he acted unger the instructions of the su'perior, Bheerfirao. But
the Government has a right jto say to him and to others,—# These
frauds, or these gross errors, could not have occurred yithout your
knowledge, and it was your duty to have brought them®to the notice
of the head of the office.” There.is not, or at all events there ought
not to be, a single man in the Poona Agept’s Office who is not able
to tell whether a certain Arabic year ,corrésponds with a. p. 1741 or
A. D, 1771, -t .

23. If, as'I anticipate, my*colleagues concuy with me in the pro-
priety of abolishing the Agent’s Office, the following are the arrange-
ments which I «would propose :—I would for the present retain the

Agent, without diminption of sala:;y during the time the present
n* .
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incumbent shall hold office. On his retirement, the salary should be
rediced to Rs. 200 per mensem, the salary drawn by the Political
Agent in the Southern Muratha Country. The law, as it now stands,
requires that there should be an Agent to decide suits against or
among Sirdars ; that duty the Agent should continue to perform.
The political, as distinguished from the judicial duties of the. Agent
are now very light, the Sirdar List having very much decreased, and
the charge of the Poona Duftur having been transferred to the Inam
Commission. They are confined to negotiations for‘the settlement
of claims against Sirdars, without, if possible, resort to civil action;
and to visits of ceremony. These duties the Agent should continue
to perform ; and if he finds his establishment as Judge of Poona not
sufficiently strong for the subordinate duties of the office of the Judge
and Agent, the Government will be prepared to consider any applica-
tion for increased assistance which may be supported by reasonahle
proof of its necessity.

24. The saving effected by the abolition of the Agent’s establish-
ment will be available for the extended establishment required for
the Alienation Department, which already performs a considerable
part of the duties which were formerly expected from the Agent’s
Office. In arrangicg his establishments, Captain Cowper will be
competent to take any of the clerks and Karkoons of the Agent’s
Office whom he may be inclined to regard as not implicated in the

Surinjam frauds. .
25. In conclusion, I can only reiterate the expressions of appro-

bation which the zeal, energy, and ability of Captain Cowper have
frequently elicited from Government during the arduous inquiry in
which he #as been engaged ; and I propose that the reports detailed
in the. list which accompanies this letter, with the subsequent
correspondence required to render each case complete, be printed at
the expense'of Government, and distributed“ among all heads of the
civil departments of this Presidency.

8tk July 1856. ‘ . (Signed) ELPHINSTONE.

Minute by the Hbororable Mr. Mavrer, dated 11th July 1856.

T entirely concur jn the observations and opinions recorded by the
Riglht Honorable the Governor, in his Minutg of the 8th instant. I
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consider the measures proposed for the dismissal of the establishment
of the Office of the Agent for Sirdars are called for by the eix¢um-
stances which have been disclosed, and thdt the event\.xal modification
of that appointment is judicious; and I cordially agree in the appro-
bation bestowed on Captain Cowper, who in his able proceedings has
rendered no common service to Government.

J1th July 1856. (Signed) A. MaLeT.

«» Orders carrying out the jgneasures described in the foregoing
Minutes were issued to the Agent for Sirdars, and to the
officer in charge of the Alienation Department, on the
15th July 1856.







APPENDIX A.

No. 3127.°

. o
To H. E. Goupsmip, Esq.,
Secretary to Government, «Bombay.

S1r,2-1 have the honour to reply. to your letter No. 9775, dated 24th De-
cember 1850, my answer to which has been delayed by the necessity of
making several references to various quarters for further information.

2. The history of the Kuddum Banday family’s tenure of the alleged Inam
villages to which your letter relates—that is, its history since the introduction
of the present Government—affords a striking example of how thoroughly a
case may become confused and entangled from the want of a department like
the Surinjam Department of the Peshwa’s Government, the duty of which was
to record and keep in sight all orders relating to alienations of public -evenue.
I shall endeavour in the first place to draw up a brief detail of what has been
done vegarding the Kuddum Banday family’s claims.

3! On the 13th December 1818 the Sole Commissioner in the Deccan
ordered the Political Agent in Khandeish to prepare lists of the Jagheers of
certain Jdgheerdars in that province.*

4. On the 6th January 1819 the Political Agent complied with this requi-
sition. Regardmg the Kuddum Banday family he stated that their Jagheer
had been long ago resumed. Ife, therefore, left it to the Commissioner to
settle what arrangement was to be made for_the future subsistence of the
family ; huving merely taken upon himself to restore “for its support in the
meantime” some Jnum villages which he (the Political Agent) had been led to
believe were unauthorlsedly selzedvby one Kadir Bhaldart and his rebel Arabs
the previous yeaf.

5. On the 10th January 1819 the Commissioner replied in*a buef letter,
merely approving generally of the Political Agent’s arrangements.

6. On the' 19th Junein the same year (1819) the Political Agent in a
letter to the Commissioner reminded him that as' yet po settlement had been
made of the Kuddum Banday family’s and ‘others’ claims for theu‘ Jagheers;

* My authority for what is here stated i m paragraphs 3 to 6 is ghe copxes &c. which form
the accompaniment,to the Khandcish Collector’s letter to Government No. 138, dated 4th

March 1845. R .
1t Mr. Agent Warden’s report to Government, No. 128, dated the 26th July, 1845, shows

that this seizure was specifially erdered by the Peshwa.
1a%*
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and op the 24th of the same month the Commissioner replied that the ‘éeneral
settlemant of Jagheers would probably be completed in another month, and
that, meanwhile, the Political Agent should grant the distressed families “ some
pecuniary assistafce.”

7.% On the 9th December 1819 the Political Agent wrote to the Commis-
sioner in the Deccan, again bringing to his notice the application of the
Kuddum Banday family for “ some allowance,” to which the Commissioner
replied that as the Surinjams of that family had long ago been rgsumed by
the late Government, and their Inams usurped by others,+ he was not inclined
to recommend any further provision being made for them than that already
made in the restoration of their Inams.

8. So far, and for several years afterwards, the Kuddum Banday ‘family
were regarded as having finally lost their great Surinjams; their iestored
Inams being looked upon, apparently, as a family property to which they had
a right, though their enjoyment had for a time been interrupted.

9. The Inams restored to them appear, however, to have been subsequent-
ly regarded as Jagheers, for on the 24th July 1826 the Acting Collector of
Khandeish wrote to the Sub-Secretary to Government to press for a settlement
of the claims to Jagheers in Khandeish, independently of those to Inams; and
in reply received from the latter officer a letter, No. 108, dated 17th April
1827, with which the Sub-Secretary stated that he forwarded for the Collector’s
opinion a ‘“Murathec memorandum of the Jagheers which appear from the re-
cords of the late Government to have been restored on equitable grounds, and
also for the same purpose (opinion) a tabular (English) statement of such of
the claims as appear to have been wholly or partially founded on usurpations.”
The Collector was also informed that no definitive orders would be issued
until his report should be rectived. .

10. References made by me to the Secretary tu Gévernment and to the
Agent for Sirdars have led to the discovery that the *“ Murathee memorandum”
mentioned by the Sub-Secretary has been lost, but I have obtained from the
Agent for Sirdars the copy of an extract furnished to him by the Collector of
Khandelsh from the English tabular statement which accompanied the Sub-Se-
cretary s letter No. 108 of 1827, and its column of “ Remarks” evidently contains
the substance of the missing Murathee mémorandum. This tabular statement
and the “ Remarks” in question show (under Nos. 19 and 20 of the statement)
that the Kuddum family’s right to their alleged Znam villages of Koprel,}

* My authority for what is staled in paragraph 7«is to be found in the accompaniments to
the Khandeish Collector’s l.tter to Government dated 22nd May 1827.

+ The Commussioner appedrs to thave been ignorant of the fact proved by Mr. Warden,
as noticed above in my notc on paragraph 4, that ¢he resumption of the Inams as well as the
Surinjams was ordered by the Peshwa.

H Throughout this report I have followed this mode of spelling, though by no means sure
that it is correct, as I have not seen the names of any of the villages written in the Native
character, and the spellmg of them vanes very much in the English correspondence from
which my report is compiled. - . c
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Tannal&, and Runalé (Choléy) was disallowed by Governient, on the grounds
that they had been attached by the late Government, as was proved by a
reference to the Peshwa’s Duftur. Governmens proposed, therefore, to resume
these villages. - )

11. On the 22nd May 1827 the Collegtor of Khandeish submitted to the
Sub-Secretary, as his opinion, that the course proposed by Government in the
tabular statement last mentioned should be generally adopted, but suggested,
as an indulgence to the Kuddum Banday family, that the Inams thus found
lidble to resumption should be continued as a*life-grant.

. 12. On the st June 1827 the Sub-Secretary, in a l&ter No. 160, inti-
mated to the Collector of Khandeish the consent of Government to the indyl-
gnce *thus suggested,—viz. that the Inaths restored in A. ». 1819 by the
Political Agent, (as stated in paragraph 4,) should be continued during the lives
of thg incumbents, who, from the tabular statement mentioned in paragraph
10, seem to have been Bhaskur Rao (incumbent of Koprel and Tannah) and
Krishnrao et cetera (incumbents of Runalé). .

33. On the 19th August and 26th September 1843, and 3rd August 1844,
petitions were made to Government by various members of the Kuddum
Banday family, protesting against their villages Koprel, Tannah, and Runalé
being restricted to life-holdings, and pointing out that they were hereditary
Inams and not Jagheers. On these petitions the Collector of Khandesh, Mr.
Bell, reported to Government on the 23rd December 1844 that even their
coptiguance for life was to be regarded as an indulgence, and, in corioboration
of this opinion, referred Government to the correspondence quoted above in
paragraphs 9 to 12. .

14. On the 29th January 1845 Government, in a letter No. 438, called on
Mr. Bell for a further report on the merits of the three petitions ; and in his
reply, No. 138, dated 4th March 1845, that officer very strongly advocated the
opinion that the restored Inam villages should be continued hereditarily, ex--
plaining at length the reasons of this his change of opipion regarding them,
and quoting in support of it the correspondence above described in paragraphs
4 to 6, . .
15. On the 26th March 1845 the correspondence above described 1n para-
graphs 13 and 14 was referred by Government with a letter, No. 1370 of 1845,
in the Territorial Departmept, for the report of the Agent for Sirdars, whose
reply, No. 128, dated 26th July 1845 (with a postscript dated three days after-
wards) and accompanying extracts from the Peshwa’s Duftur of . p. 1816-17,
show that the Kuddum Banday’s Inams were not seizgd from them by rebels,
but confiscated by orders of the Peshwa in Congequence of their rebellion.

16. In consequence of this repqyt, Government on the 15th August.1845
issued to the Collector of Khandeish the instructions*contained in the letter
No. 4024, to the effect that the limitation of the Kuddum Banday family’s
enjoyment of the tillages Koprel, Tannah, and Runalé to a life-tenure was
clearly justifiable, and, that the question of the tenure of a fourth village,



4 . APPENDIX A,

Torkpera, held by the same family, was to be considered at the deatli of the
incumbent. A copy of this letter was sent to the Agent, and on the same
day, under the Government eesolution No. 4026, the petitioners mentioned
in paragraph 13¢were informed that the Government decision of 1827, de-
scribed above in paragraph 12, was final.

17. On the 20th February 1850 the Collector of Khandeish, in his letter
No. 377, reported the death (in 1848 and 1849) of two persons whom he
mentioned as sharers with another, Purwutrao, in the villages of Runalé and
Torkhera, and proposed to resuine their shares, according to his interpretation
of the Governmeht circular No. 4669, dated 19th December 1844. To this
Gpvernment objected, as there appeared from the Collector’s report to be still
a third co-sharer in existence, and because the circular alluded to by tke Cdi-
lector referred to money allowances (pensions), and not lands. The Ggllector
was, therefore, by a letter No. 1972, dated 14th March 1850, célled on for a
further explanation.

18. This further explanation is contained in the Collector’s letter to Gb-
vernment No. 2094, datcd 24th October 1850, which is the latest in date of
all the documents sent for my opinion and report with your instructions under
reply.

19. In submitting my opinion, I shall in the first place adopt hypotheti-
cally the idea that the Collector is correct in supposing that Government
still adheres to its decision of the 15th August 1845, described above in the
16th paragraph ; though, as I shall afterwards show, (see below, paragraph
24, and Appendix,) there is now some reason for doubting whether Govern-
ment has not, after all, annulled that decision, as wel] as the previous one of
1827, referred to by it. ’

20. Supposing, however, the tenure to be one: for life,—the Collector’s
first reason for resuming shares of it, as the shareholders die, is that they
have divided interests, and that the grant did not specify that the estate was
to be enjoyed undividedly until the death of the survivor. But it must be re-
membered that Government had nothing to do with'the division of the family’s
interests. Had this beensthe case, and had each share in each village been
guaranteed as a separate grant, then I think: that the Collector would be right ;
but a reference to the correspondence above described shows that in 1827
the two villages Koprel and Tannah were ordereq for life continuance to the
then ostensible holder, Bhaskur Rao Kuddum Banday, and Runalé to Krishn-
rao et cetera Kuddum Banday (a lamentably loose way of describing persons
having a right against Government) ; and ‘that in 1845 Government decided
that the question as to the futpre “continuance of Torkhera was to be left un~
touched until the death of the person whq, was then incumbent; but who that
person was is nowhere stated in the correspondence sent to me.

21. All that can be gathered from the orders of 1827 and*1845 (supposing
them to be still effective) is that Government is pledged tb continue Koprel
and Tannah till the death of Bhaskur Rao, not reguming or in any way inter-
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fering ;ith any division or'family arrangement of those villages until they; but
when that event occurs the whole may be resumed without respect to shares or
other private arrangements. In the same wety, Runalé must be continued
until the death of Krishnrao et cetera, it being left to Governtent to call for an
investigation by the Collector, and decide who, besides Krishnrao, ought to be
admitted to the privileges promised in such a loose manner; and thus, also,
when Government by like investigation shall have discovered who were the
recognised, incumbents of Torkhera in 1845, that village should be continued
undisputedly until the death of the survivor of them, it beini' left for decision,
either then or irf the meantime, whether or not it should be subsequently
continued to any one. This is the only course I can suggest in a case which
sttikes®me as very indefinitely and unsatisfactorily managed from the first.

22. ,Mith respect to the case of the Bargul family, now alluded to as a
precedent by the Collector, I may observe that it seems different, inasmuch as
the widow whose claim was rejected seems to have claimed possession of what
had never been inherited by the person whose immediate heir she was; and it
seeras to have been such a reversionary interest as that which was denied
by Government, and not the mere continuance of a life-tenure till the
death of the survivor of co-sharers recognised as such by Government. In
thegresent case (still supposing the estate a life-tenure) it by no means follows
that if the shares of the deceased sharers are left untouched by Government
till the death of the survivor,* the latter will obtain possession of ther; they
will of .course be held till his death by the nearest heirs (or assigne:s) of the
décedsed sharers. It is only as a definition of the term q.f continuance that:the
life of the survivor.need be alluded to sby Government—not as creating or
affecting, during that time, any right of possession.

23. Government has already objected to the Interpretation of the circular
No. 4669 of 1844 brought forward by the Collector of Khandeish in his 2nd
paragraph. If the shares had been separately guaranteed by Government, the
interpretation might have been supported. .

24. I now come to a remarkable phase in the very involved circumstances
of the Kuddum Banday family,—I mean the condition into which its tenure
has been brought by the Honorable Court of Directors’ sanction of the revised
lists of Surinjams in the Deccan, appfoved of in the Court’s letter to the Bom-
bay Government, No. 15, datgd 22nd May 1849. Government Wwill observe
that the Collector of Khandeish, in the 3rd and 4th paragraphs of his letter
alluded to abové in my 18th paragraph, has referred to the effect df the sanc-
tion of the Surinjam lists on the Kuddum Banday familx’s claim, and I beg to
annex (vide Appendix) an extract of my letter No. 3111, dated 31st March
1851, to the Agent for Sirdars, and pf his reply, No. 149, dated 11th Awpril
1851, regarding the same subject. L

256. Government will observe that Mr. Brown # of opinion that the

. .

* This hypothesis is of course inapplicable to the villages Koprel and Tannah, which seem

resumable sbsolutely at Bhashur Kao’s de:th, accordiag to the orders of 1827. |
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Honerable Court’s approval of the revised Surinjam lists in which t}{e Kud-
dunt Bandays’ tenure of their restored Inams is regarded as hereditary (list
Nos. I., Nos. 62 and 63) has &nnulled the former decisions regarding them,—
“ which,” he sa§s, “ had been brought to the notice”” of the Court. It is,
however, quite evident that the Honorable Court did not notice the proceed-
ings referred to, or otherwise they would certainly not have abstained from
any mention of them in their letter No. 15 of 1849.

26. Mr. Brown can scarcely be correct in imagining, as he states, that
Mr. Warden included the resumed villages in the Surinjam list No. L, ‘a8
cntitled to be regalded as hereditary, from being part of an bld Surinjam older
than A. . 1751; as the tabular statement of 1827, and the petitions of
1843-44, both seen by Mr. Warden, show that at least two of the “villages
were claimed as grants of the Peshwa Madhow Rao Bullal, who «did not
begin to reign till A. p. 1774, and he (Mr. Warden) was aware of their eubse-
quent resumption in 1813-14 and 1816-17. In fact, the Inams, whether old
or new, did not belong to the Surinjam at all, and it is to the Surinjam only
that most of the remarks in the Agent’s list can apply. ¢

27. There seems no doubt, therefore, that the Honorable Court did not
take full cognisance of this case, or they could not have left it without special
notice. .

28. But notwithstanding that the Kuddum Banday family is so wholly
without intentionally recognised title, I cannot help thinking that the family
has a strong claim for some provision from Government. When that ef 1819
was made, as stated in the letters referred to in paragraphs 4 and ',
the authorities did not contemplate the resumptjon of the Inams then
restored or the discovery of their want of title, or the Commissioner
would have treated the Kuddums as he did <other ruined Sirdars—by
making some other provision for them ; and the family ‘does not appear one
of so little note as to have had provision made for merely the lives of its then
existing representatives, Government, however, will be the best judges as to
whether, under all the circumstances of the case, it will or will not be right to
obtain the grant in perpetuity to the family of the villages, to which I do not
think, strictly speaking, they have now any tenable hereditary title.

29. If ¢his should be done, I would suggest that some definite grant and
guarantee should be made, which will for the future obviate the possibility of
a recurrence of such confusion and uncertainty as the very loose procedure
formerly obServed in this case has occasioned.

30. Tn case of sucha ‘grant being made, of course, the suggestions made
above in my 21st parggraph will become inapplicable, as they are made only
on the Collector’s assumption that the alleged Inamdars’ tenure is a life-tenure.

I have the honour to be, &c.

. (Signed) W. Hagr,
Belgaum, 23rd April 1851. " ° « Inam Commissioner.
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APPENDIX TO THE INAM COMMISSIONER’S LETTER No. 3127, DATED
23rp APRIL 1851, *e

Extract, Leing Paragraphs 2 and 3, of a Letter from the Inam Commissioner to
the Agent for Sirdars, No. 3111, dated 31st March 1851.

2. I shall also feel grateful if you will kindly inform me on what alteration
of decision, or other grounds, the villages in Khandeish claimed by the Ban-
day Kuddum family have come to be styled “ Surinjam” instead of Jrnam, and
wity they have been admitted into the First Class of Surinjams in the Deccan,
which consist of kereditary holdings, among which they appear as Nos. 62 and
63 in the list of that class. .

8. la. the 14th column of the list in qubstion, allusion is made to Mr.
Warden)s report, which shows that tle villages had been resumed in 1813-14
and 1.81 6-17 under the late Government, and to the decision of Government
which ordered their continuance, though void of valid title, during the lives of
the incumbents, but no longer. My difficulty is to kngw whether or not the
previpus orders of Government in this case are to be considered as annulled by
the entries No. 62 and No. 63 in question, and I shall feel much obliged if you
will give me information on this point also.

Eatract, being Paragraphs 3 and 4, of a Letter from the Agent for ..rdars,
Poona, to the Inam Commissioner, No. 149, dated 11th April 1851,

3"« With regard to the 2nd paragraph of your letter,’I beg to inform you
that when Mr. Warden was directed tp prepare a Surinjam list agreeably to
the instructions of the Honorable the Court of Directors in 1842, he called
upon several Collectors in the Deccan to furnish him with a list of Surinjams
situated in their redpective Collectorates, and in the list received from the
Collector of Khandeish, the villages of Koperlee, Tannah, and Runalé were
shown as Surinjam. On this information, and also on the Peshwa’s records,—
which showed that these villages were a remnant of an ancient and extensive
Surinjam held by Kuddum Banday’s family previous §o 1751,—Mr. Warden
entered the villages as hereditary ip the Surinjam lists which he submitted
to Government on the 29th December 1844, Afterwards, when Gpvernment
entrusted to me the duty of revising the lists originally prepartd by Mr.
Warden, I put the previous co.rrespondence between that gentleman and Go-
vernment, in 1845, as an Appendix to the entries No. 62 and 63, aoticing the
same in its proper place. . S’

4. The revised Surinjam lists having beet sagctione:l and confirmed by
the Honorable thg Court of Directors in 1849, the previous' decisions of
Government in the case of Kuddum Banday, issued in 1828 and 1845, which

had been brought.to the notice of that authority, myist, I should consider,
have been annulled. . ] ‘

(True e.xtracts)
® °(Signed) Wy Harr, Inam Commissioner.
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No. 349 or 1851.

. PovrticaL DEPARTMENT,
From H. Brown, Esq.,,
Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan,

To A. Mavcer, Esq.,, -
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay. R

Dated Poona, llth October 1851.

. S1r,—T have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 2792,
dated the 28th June last, with enclosure from Mr. Hart, the Inam Gommyis-
suoner, regarding the claim of the Kuddum Banday family to certain Surmjam
in Khandeish.

2. Inreply, I beg to state that the Mokassa of the Purgunas of Sdoltan-
poor and Nundoorbar, in which gll the villages at present forming the posses-
sions in Khandeish of the Kuddum Banday family are situated, was held by
them as Jagheer a long time anterior to A. p. 1751.  The earliest record forth-
coming from the Peshwa’s Duftur bearing out this fact is the registry of a Sunud
dated 27¢th Zilhej, Soor Sun Esunay Khumsain Mya wu Ulluf, which, though
rendered by Captain Gordon as A. . 1752, is properly speaking a. p. 1751,
November. This Sunud mentions that the Mokassa was held by the Kuddums
“ Péshjee passoon,” or from former times. In endeavouring to ascertain how
far back this expression in the Sunud was intended to carry the enjoyment.of
the Mokassa, I find from Grant Duff’s History of the Murathas (vide column
1, page 491) that the ancestor of the Kuddum family, named Kunthajee Kud-
dum Banday, was as early as A. p. 1725 a dlstmgulshed Muratha leader in
Guzerat, and, according to this Historian, he gained a victory over the Gaek-
war at the Battle of Cambay, and retired in that year to his Jagheer district
in Khandeish. It is worthy of notice that this family never held Jagheer dis-
tricts in Khandeish other than the two above mentioned. I beg to annex copy
of a letter from Captain Gordon, in charge of the Poona Dauftur, No. 89, dated
the 19th July (No. l), and a translation of the Sunud above referred to
(marked No. 2).

3. The cvillage of Runal¢, in thePurguna of Nundoorbar, appears to have
been first granted in A. p. 1752 by Dada, who is better known by his other name
of Raghoba, This grantis recorded in the account of the district of Nundoorbar,
and in the Treaty or agreenent made by the Peshwa with the Kuddum Ban-
day family, and in the reglstry of outward letters. The English translations
of extracts fiom these documents are enclosed (maxked Nos. 3,4, and 5
respectively). The tenure, as specified®in these papers, is “ Buksheesh,” or
reward for services.

4. The villages of Tatinah and Koprel, situated in Purguna Nundoorbar,
appear t6 have been first granted as Inam in . ». 1762, by orders of the
Peshwa, who confirmed the szme by a Sunud two years afterwards. The
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* purport &f this Sunud is recdrded in the registry of outward letters, an extfact
from which, embodying the purport, is annexed (No. 6). e

5. In 1758 the Surinjam and Inam held by Madhow Rao Banday‘was
resumed from him and transferred to Amrut Rao Kuddum, Banday. The
memorandum of transfer, a translation of which is appended (No. 7), states
the grant was for the support of troops required to be kept up for the service
of the State. The translation No. 8 is a Sunud dated A. p. 1783, registered
among outward letters in the Peshwa’s Duftur. The object of the Sunud
is *to confirm to Bulwunt Rao Kuddum Banddy, son of Amrut Rao who died
in that year, the Burinjam and Inam held by his late father® In this docu-
ment the villages of Tannah and Koprel are specified as grants for the support
of'the quota of troops the family was to furnfsh.

6. Jebeg to annex an English translation (No.9) of an extract from the
Peshwa’s reglstry containing a Sunud dated A.p. 1795. This document shows
that the Inam and Surinjam granted to the family had for their object the
maintenance of troops. - ’ .

7¢ The translation No. 10 is an extract from the general list of Surinjams
held by different Sirdars, dated A. p. 1800. In this document the villages of
Tannah, Koprel, and Runalé are entered under the names of the holders, with
speeification of the number of troops they were to furnish. The villages,
though designated “ Inam,” are still entered in a list professing to give an ac-
count of Surinjams. This would go in some measure to show that the Znam
wag net then understood in a different light from Surinjam. .

°8.° I beg to annex translation (No. 11) of an extracf from the accounts of
Nundoorbar, dated a. p. 1805, in whichethe villages of Tannah and Koprel are
designated “ Surinjam from the Sirkar.”

9. Tbeg to append tranelation of an extract (Ne. 12) from a list of Surinjams
written in the Duftur in A. D. 1812, which runs in the same style as No. 10.

10. It appears that these three villages were resumed between the year a. p.
1813 and 1816, and the late Agent, Mr. Warden, has already submitted to Go-
vernment translations of the Peshwa’s orders for the resumption of two of the
villages (Runalé and Koprel), the order for Tannah not being yet forthcoming.

11. From what has been statedeabove, it will be observed that the three
villages, which were at one time granfed as Buksheesh and Inam to, the family,
but were subsequently includgd in their Surinjam, formed an integral part of
the old and extensive Jagheer held by this once powerful family previous
to A. p. 1751, .

12, On the conquest of the Déccan, the threé villages were restored by
order of the Commissioner in the Deccan, ald spbsequently the Inam tenure
which the Bandey family urged wap not recognised, but the villages were
continued as Jagheers by the Honorable Mr. Elphinstone’s Government in 1827.

13. With reference to the 2nd paragraph of your letter under acknowledg-
ment, I beg respectfully to state, for the information of His Lordship in Coun-

cil, that when I revised the Surinjam lists prepared by Mr. Warden, I put a
2a% ¢ * -
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note to the entries of Surinjams of the Kuddum Banday family (Nos. 62 and 63
of Class L.), referring Government to the Appendix B to the Surinjam lists,
which contained the whole discussion regarding the fact of resumption of these
villages in the Reshwa’s time. I therefore trust that Government will consider
that no omission of any notice of the resumption in the body of the Surinjam
lists has taken place.

14. 1 beg, in conclusion, to state that while reviewing the papers received
from the Poona Duftur, I find that on more than one occasion the Snrm_]am
of the Kuddums was resumed &nd restored. One of these was when the Ban-
days joined and®supported Raghoba’s pretensions to the P@shwaship ; but the
Surinjam was soon after their submission restored to them, and the resumptlon
which took place in Bajee Rao’s tlme———not many years before the war—may
not have béen final ;—a supposjtion which'is not inconsistent with the palitics of
the times. The antiquity and high rank of this family, under which, as observ-
ed by Mr. Warden, both the Holkars and Gaekwars had their rise, are in them-
selves sufficient grounds for a favourable ®nsideration of their claims and the
application of the Surinjam Rules to them.

I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) H. Brown,

Agent’s Office, Poona, 11th October 1851. ) Agent.
No. 1.] . No. 89 or 1851.
To H. Brown, Esq., . .

Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan, Poona.

Sir,—In reply to your létter No. 238, of the 8th instant, requesting infor-
mation regarding the Surinjam of the Kuddum Banday family, in Khandeish,
from the earliest period to the conquest, I have the honour to submit the follow-
ing statement on thg subject, premising that the documents specified at page
189 of the Ferisht, to which allusion is made at the end of paragraph 2 of your
letter, are those which I:have chiefly consulted in tracing the history of this
family’s Surinjam.

2. The Peshwa’s diary of the 27th ZilheJ (a. . 1752) contains the registry
of an order issued to the hereditary district officers of the Purgunas of Sooltan-
poor and Nundoorbar in Khandeish, which them [s. o.] to continue to
Raghojee Kuddum Rao and Trimbuk Rao Kuddum, half the Mokassa of those
two Purgunas, it having been er{;oyed by them Jrom former times. Under the
same date, another Senudiis registered, continuing the other kalf of the
Mokassa of the Purgunas referred to o Madhow Rao Kuddum, together
with their Babtee and Surdeshmookee Umuls. Subsequent accounts in
the Duftur show that«the two lastnamed Umuls never were held by the
family, and that they actually enjoyed but kalf of the Mokassa of Purguna
Nundoorbar. o
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3. The conditions of the two grants above referred to were that the Kuddum
Bandays should maintain a body of 400 horse for the service of the Sta;e .

4. It is of course, impossible to determineshow far the vague expressxon
“ Péshjee passoon” of the Murathee ongmal which I have rendered in para-
graph 2 as signifying “from former times,” was intended to carry back the
term of ghe enjoyment of the Mokassa Umul of those two Purgunas by the
Banday family, but most probably to a perlod antecedent, at all events, to
A. D. 1750 ;.and as I have met with no record in the Duftur to show that they
were not holding it previous to that year, the opposite conclusmn must, I ima-
gine, be taken for 8ranted.

5. Ina. p. 1763 the contingent which the Banday family were obliged to
furnishwas reduced from 400 to 200, horse. *

6. In a. p. 1768, in consequence of the non-attendance of the Kuddum
Bandnys with their contingent, the Surinjam was resumed by the Peshwa, but
again restored to them the same year, upon payment of a Nuzur equal to one-
third of its revenues.

7# Having been again resumed in A. p. 1778, it was “restored to the family
upon payment of a Nuzur of Rs. 75,000.

8. In A. p. 1784, also, 2 Nuzur of Rs. 18,000 was levied from a member
of the Kuddum Banday family, for continuing to him his share of the Surin-
jam, which had been resumed, and also two Inam villages.

9. In A.p. 1814 the entire Surinjam was resumed from the familv, and
cgnéintied in this condition up to the close of the Peshwa’s Government. At
the same period, also, the three villages of Tannah, Koprel, and Runalé, in Pur-
gunas Sooltanpoor and Nundoorbar, whieh comprise, as I learn frora paragraph
2 of your letter, the present possession of the Banday family, were under
resumption. °

10: The facts above stated exhibit the principal features in the history of
the Kuddum Bandays’ Surinjam in Khandeish, from the earliest period for
which there are accounts forthcoming in the Duftur relgting to it, up to the
accession of the British Government. I have deémed it useless in this letter
to enter into more minute details regarding it, such as the sub-divisions of
the Surinjam amongst the different members of the family, and the occasional
transfer of a share from one member of the family to another, in cases of mis-
conduct, as these details can,if necessary, be ascertained by refetring to the
full extracts from the accounts which accompany this letter ; and I am, moreover,
under the impression that it is not so much a minute account as a gemeral outline
of the history of this Surinjam that" you dellre to be furmshed with by me.

. I have the honour to be, &c.*
(Signed) M-.F. GORDON,
" Assistant Inam Commissioner, in charge Poona Duftur.

(True copy) .
Poona, 19th July 1851, * (Signed) H. Brown, Agent.
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¢ . No. 174 or 18562.

L 2
PoriticAl. DEPARTMENT.

To W. HAR'!', Esq.,
Inam Commissioner.

Sir,—With reference to your letter No. 3127, dated the 23rd Apr.ll last, to
the address of the Secretary to Government in the Revenue Department, on
the subject of the Surinjam of the Kuddum Banday family, I am directed by
the Right Hondrable the Governor in Council to transmi¢ for your report a
letter, in original, from the Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan, No. 349 of the
11th Octobel last, with enclosurés, on the subject.

2. You will be pleased, with your report, to return the accompanm;ents to
this letter. .

I have the honour to be, &c.
. (Signed)»  A. MALET,

Bombay Castle, 13th January 1852, Chief Secretary.

Report by Licutenant A. F. ETHERIDGE, Acting Assistant Inam Commissioner,
upon the Correspondence referred, with Government Letters Nos. 9775 and
174, dated respectively 4th December 1850 and 13th January 1852, for
the opinion of the Inam Commissioner, in the case of the Kuddum Danday
Family.— Dated 18th August 1852.

1. The Kuddum Banday family claim hereditarily ‘the alieged Inam villages
of Koprel, Tannah, Runalé,and Torkhera, situateq in the Purgunas of Sool-
tanpoor and Nundoorbar in Khandeish. ot

2. It does not appear clearly recorded under what tenure these villages

were originally bestowed on the Kuddum Bandays,
Oclt‘:lggr lfggﬁ‘w;rgfnl:ﬁ: or whether all four were, or were not, enjoyed* by
Agent for Sirdars to Go- Ehem previous to A. p. 1751-52,—the records forth-
vernment, sfﬁi?int:,ﬂfiﬂi coming from the Poona Duftur from that year down
Poona Duftur, No. 89, of to the close of the late Government as often allude to
:}_‘:nsﬁ’g‘s g&gz 1%5.1’ With  their tenures being Inam, as Surinjam ; but whether

one or the other, or rather both, (as, indeed, would
appear to be,the case,) it is clear that they were continued as a “ reward” for
services performed, and to Qe performed, by different members of the family :
but taking into consideration the intermediate resumptmns and restorations
by the late Government, and the fact of the entire possessiong of the Kuddum
Bandays having* been finally confiscatedl by the Peshwa a year or two prior
to the close of his Govgrnment, on the account of their rebellion, and having

® They vere not. Sce paragraph 3 of the Inam Commissioner’s re[;ort No. 952, dated 21st
August 1852, , Y ¢
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in this condition passed info the hands of the British, the original tepure,
whatever it might have been, and for whatever term, can avail nothir.lg in
deciding tt e present question. .

3. On the introduction of the present Government, it would appear that,
from the general confiscation of the Kuddum Bandays’ possessions, above
mentioned, the family were in great distress, and the Political Agent in
Khandeish, in representing on the 6th January 1819 their destitution to the
Commissioer n the Deccan, stated that althouOh it would rest with him to
settle what arrangement was to be made for the future subsistence of the
famlly, he had tak’en upon himself to restore (13th August 1818), “ for its sup-
pgrt in the meantime,” some Inam villages which he was led to believe one
Kadir Bhaldar and some rebel Arabs had forcibly seized from its possession the
year psévious,

4. * The restorations here alluded to are the four villages already mentioned,
and to which the Kuddum Bandays now seek to establish an hereditary right,
on the following grounds :— .

* 1st.—That tH8y were surrendered by the Collector of Khandejsh on 13th
August 1818, by an order on the Mamledar to make
Agent for Sirdars’ «
lter No. 128, of 20th them over “ for ever. )
July 1845, to Govern- 2nd.—That these instructions were founded on
ment. the orders of the Sole Commissioner fcr the

settlement of the Peshwa’s dominions.

"5. Referring to the reasons which led to the restoration by the Political
Agent in 1818 of these particular villages, as stated
in paragraph 3, it is clearly shown that so far from
their having been forcibly wrested from the Kuddum
Bandays by rebel Arabs, they had been confiscated
by express orders of the Peshwa, in consequence
of that family’s rebellion.

6. The tenure by which these four villages were to be held by the Kud-
dum Bandays from the British Government was not

Ditto ditto & P. S. of 29th
idem, and translates at-
tached to the Superintend-
ent Poona Duftur’s letfer
No. 89, of 19th July 1851.

Ditto ditto paragraph 6.

settled at the time of the restoration in 1818 ; indeed,

it appears that they were intended merely as a provision for the family

Ditto ditto paragraph 7.

Tabular statement ac-
companying Government
letter to Khandeish Col-
lector, No. 108, of 17th
April 1827,

Mr. Giberne’s regly to
the above, dated 22nd
May 1827, and the Go-
vernment decision convey-
ed to the Khandeish Cpl-
lector, under No. 160, of
21st June 1827,

“ megntime,” to avert their immediate distress; but
when the peculiar circumstancesattending theirseveral
resumptions by the late Govemment were brought
fully under discussion, the Brijish Government pro-
posed to resume them at once, and was only induced
to concede the indulgence of a llfe-tenure to present
incumbents at the earnest solicitation of the Collector
of Khandeish, as an act of ¢race, in recognition of
the high rank and antiquity of the family, from which
both the Holkars ard the Gackwars had sprung
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7. The final decision of Government having thus been intimated to the
Detger to Government, Collector of Khandeish on 21st June 1827, no revival
No. 138, of 4th March of tife case appears on record till 1845, when Mr.
1845. ¢ Bell, warmly advocating the cause of the family for
reasons which he explained at length, suggested the restorations should assume
an hereditary tenure. Government, however, replied that a “final” decision
having been passed upon mature deliberation in 1827, and nothing having
since occurred to invalidate that decision, and, moreover, thesarguments now
adduced by Mr. Bell being most satisfactorily disposed of by Mr. Wardén (in
his reply to Government No. 128, of 26th July 1845, but nfore particularly so
in the P.8. of 29th idem), to whom they had been submitted for his report on
Governmentreply to the  20th March preceding, no grounds existed for revok-
above, No. 4024, of 16th ing the Judgment originally recorded ; arrd that,
August 1845. therefore, the enjoyment of the villages of Keprel,
Tannah, and Runalé should not exceed a life-tenure, though the question of the
continuance or otherwise of the fourth village, Torkhera, might be reserved for
discussion gn demise of incumbent. °
8. It would appear that these four villages had not been entered in any of
the Deccan lists of Surinjams till 1844, when, on Mr. Warden, the Agent for
Sirdars, being directed by Government carefully to frame revised lists 'for
submission to the Honorable Court of Directors, he entered three of them—viz.
Koprel, Tannah, and Runalé—under Nos. 64 and 65, remarking that—* This
grant is not in the previous lists : there is a record in
the Poona Duftur of A. p. 1751 speaking of it, and
in A. p. 17564 a division of the Surinjath took place.” .
9. The above lists, however, framed by Mr. Warden, were returned to his
successor, Mr. Brown, for revision and amendment, who, in submitting fresh
lists to Government, recorded under Nos. 62 and 63
9th May 1846. the following additional information against the above
«  entries :—

“ The names of these Surinjamdars were inadverently omitted in the
lists of 1834 and 1840, in consequence of no information having been
obtained from the Collector of Khandeish, as has been now done. These
persons did not appear when Mr. Elphinstone’s list was drawn out, but
when he went to Khandeish they presented themselves and the Surinjam
was restored. There is a record in the Poona Duftur, bearing date A. D.
1751, which makes mention of this Surinjam. Mr. Warden’s report, and the
final orders of Govel‘nment in the case of these Surinjamdars, are contained
in AppendixB to this list.”

10. There is also inserted in the above lists, in the column under the head

of “Tenure,” the remark-“ Hereditary in the fullest sense of the word,” which,

it must be borne in mind, was the natural consequence, under the instructions
of the Honorable Court, of all Surinjams dating as far.back as a. p. 1751.

29th December 1844.
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11. These revised lists (which included, at the end, the Appendix B, contain-

Despatch No. 15, of 22nd ing the correspondence on which the Bombay Govgrn-
May 1849. ment had previously rejected the claim to hereditary
tenure) were referred to the Honorable Court, and generally approved by them
without any remark on, or exception made fo these particular holdings of the
Kuddum Banday family. And it becomes, therefore, now necessary to inquire
whether the tacit acquiescence of the Honorable Court in this particular case
would tend_to annul the previous decision of the Governor in Council or to
shdwghat Appendix B had escaped observatich.

12. It is remarked by the Inam Commissioner, in parafraph 25 of his
précis, No. 3127, of 23rd April 1851, that—“ It is, however, quite evident that
tie Homorable Court did not noticg the proctedings referred to (Appendix B),
or otherwise they would certainly not have abstained from any mention of them
in their letter’No. 15 of 1849.”

13. 1Itis, I think, placed beyond doubt that the Honorable Court did not
notice Appendix B attached to the Surinjam lists, and, possibly, because the
natwre of Mr. Brown’s remarks, as mentioned in paragraph 9, rendered it un-
necessary ; the inference from those remarks (as well as from those previously
recorded by Mr. Warden) obviously being, that as these grants dated back to
A. ®©. 1751, they came within a class of tenures fixed by the Honorable
Court’s previous instructions to be “ hereditary in the fullest sense of the word.”
There is nothing in the remarks of Mr. Brown of a nature particularly to
dirgct attention tg Appendix B : no allusion is made to any doubtful po:nt ; the
sevefal resumptions between A. ». 1751 and A. ». 1817-18, as well as the
final decision passed by ,the Governor in Council in 1827, (confirmed, upon a
re-agitation and reconsideration of the matter, in 1845,) are in no way referred
to, beyond the brief mention of there being an Appendix ; all which circum-
stances would have tome to the knowledge of the Honorable Court had
Appendix B been prominently brought to notice as alone containing informa-
tion which would enable the Honorable Court to viewthe question in its
proper light, and a perusal of which would certainly, as the Inam Commis-
sioner most justly assumes, have induced some remark by the Honorable
Court in taking occasion to annul¢he decision of the Bombay Government
deliberately recorded upon two occasfons. .

14.  The following resolutipn of the Bombay Government, under date 17th
June 1851, appears on record :—

“No instructions were ever issued by Govgrniment for th8 insertion of
these villages in the revised Surinjam lists of 1844 and 1847, but they
were inserted by Mr. Warden in the former of tiese lists for the reasons
explained in tht following extract, from the letter addressed by Mr. Brown
to Mr. Hart, under date 11th April last, paragraph 4 2—

“‘When Mr. Warden was directed to prepare ESurinjam list agreeably
to the instructions of the Honorable the Court of Directors ine 1842, he
called upon the several €ollectors in thg Deccan to furnjsh him with a list
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,of Surinjams situated in their respective Collectorates; and in the list
‘ rpcelved from the Collector of Khandeish the names of Koprel, Tannah,
‘and Runalé were showre as Surinjam. On this information, and also on
the Peshwa’s records,—which showed that these villages were & remnant
of an ancient and extensive Surinjam held by the Kuddum Banday
family previous to 17561,—Mr. Warden entered the villages as hereditary
in the Surinjam lists which he submitted to Government on 29th Decem-
ber 1844. Afterwards, when Government entrusted to me the duty of
revising the lists originally prepared by Mr. Warden, I put the previous
correspondence between that gentleman and Governnfent, in 1845, as an
Appendix to the entries Nos 62 and 63, noticing the same in 1ts proper

 »

place. v

15. It would appear, therefore, that Mr. Warden, in submitting chis re-
vised lists on 29th December 1844, did not bring the circumstances recorded
in paragraphs from 2 to 7 inclusive of this report to the recollection of Go-
vernment at all ;* and Mr. Brown merely did so in a brief allusion to an
Appendix at the end, the small size of which, however, compared with that of
the paper whereon the lists themselves were framed, may very possibly have
tended to conceal it from view, especially as the attention of Government
was in no way prominently directed thereto. It is not, therefore, unreaSon-
able to suppose that this small Appendix did escape observation, and grounds
are, moreover, supplied for this assumption in the Honorable Court’s subse-
quent despatch No. 10, of 4th February 1852, in paragraphs 19 and 20 of
which the Honorable Court, in contrasting the relative merits of claims to
hereditary tenure between certain branches of the Kuveejung family,t clearly
lay down the principle that “ lost possession” (“although these villages were
given back by our Government” ) was fatal to a claim of an hereditary nature,
and stated they could “ only sanction an hereditary tenure of such portion of
the Jagheer as remained de facto unresumed” ; the remaining portion might
be continued, but ouly for life.

(Signed) A. F. ETHERIDGE,
Acting Assistant Inam Commissioner.

Poona, 18th August 1852. .

.

<«

® Mr. Warden had probably forgotten the existence of a decision passed when he was
Sub-Secretary, nearly twent$ years before, and he had no opportunity of correcting the list
after the former circumstances Were brought to hisrecollection by the Government reference
of the 23rd March 1845, to which his seport No. 128, of the 26th July 1845, is a reply. He
would, doubtlesss have corrected the list, had he had an opportunity afterwnrds of so doing.
Mr. Brown had thecopportunity, and did not rightly avail himself of it."

+ This would appear t3 be a precisely parallel case.
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No. 952.

From W. Hart, Esq,
Inam Commissioner,

To A. Mavrzer, Esq,,
" Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.

Daied Poona, 21st Augist 1852.

S1r,—1 have the honour to reply to your letter No. 174, dated 13th January
1852, the accompaniments of which have been already returned to you with
m§ memorandum No. 802, dated Jyly 1852.

2. I beg to enclose o report on tlle case to which your letter above men-
tioned, refers, drawn up by my Acting Assistant Lieutenant Etheridge, the
statements in which, except those made in paragraph 2, appear fully borne
out by, the, evidence on record regarding the Kuddum Banday family’s
holdings. *

3. With regard to that 2nd paragraph, I may beg your notice to the fact,

s . admitted by Mr. Brown in his letter No. 349, dated
N,f,‘:%,’?,‘,‘“h,?;’&"‘ 19th '3‘31'; 11th Octoger 1851, and proved by its accompani-
(llff!l: to the AE%"." for 8ir-  ments, that previous to and in 1751 it was only half

» PRragraph < of the Mokassa Umul in the Purgunas of Nund »orbar
and Sqoltanpoor that the Kuddums held in Surinjam; they could not, there-
fdre, have held the villages Runalé, Kopurlee (Koprel), and Tannah, before or
in that year, nor have had any admittgd interest in them, except to colléct
the half of the Mokassa Umul from them in the same manner as from any
other villages of the abovepamed Purgunas in which they were situated.

4. According to the accounts now brought forward by the Agent with his
letter No. 349 of 1851, the villages above mentioned are shown to have been
first granted as follows :—

1, Runalé, in A, p. 1762-53. The whole revenues as.signed as “reward”
(or gift) to Madhowrao and Trimbuk Kuddum, but without guarantee of
hereditary tenure. (See accompaniments 3, 4, and 5 of the Agent’s report
No. 349 of 1851.) . . -

2, Kopurlee, and 3, Tanpah.—Assigned to Amrutrao in a. pe l 762 ; con-
firmed as hereditary Inam in A. p. 1764-65 to the same person. (See accom-
paniment 6 of ditto.) .

Instead, therefore, of stating that it does not cle.arly eppear whether or not
these villages were held before a. p. 1751, Lieutenant Etheridge should have
stated that it did tlearly appear that shey were not authoriseglly held previous
to that year. - .

5. The Sunuds, &c. quoted by the Agent (accompafiiment 7 of ditto) do not
show when Torkhera was first granted ; but it was resumed from Madhowrao
and gmt;d*to Amrutrao Kuddum Banday in 4. D, 1768, as part of a Surin-

A - .
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jam in which also the above villages'(1, 2, and 3) were this year included,
though they were recognised in terms as Inam holdings.

6. It will be seen from the remainder of Lieutenant Etheridge’s report,
that as all the villages had been confiscated before the introduction of the pre-
sent Government, the date of their original grant does not much signify. I
have, however, considered it right to notice the above facts, as it has been in-
correctly asserted that the villages are part of a Surinjam older than 1751-52,
whereas it is beyond doubt that nothing but part of an Umul upon two Pur-
gunas at Jarge, in which thesé villages happened to be sntuated was held by
the Kuddum family up to A. ». 1752-53.

7. 1 shall now proceed to Ipore particularly notice Mr Brown’s letter
No. 349 of 1851, referred to me for mycbservations with your letter under
reply ; Mr. Brown’s letter is a reply to my report No. 3127, dated 23rd
April 1851. .

8. With deference to Mr. Brown, I feel it neccessary to state that his
opinions are so vaguely expressed that I am at aloss to determine exactly
what they are ; but I gather that he intends to argue from his 13th and -14th
paragraphs that the entries Nos. 62 and 63 of his revised list of First Class
Surinjams are correct and sufficient; that the Kuddum family should have
the benefit of the Surinjam Rules extended to them on account of the viliages
entered in the lists; and that those Surinjam Rules would guarantee their
tenure as “ hereditary in the fullest sense of the word.”

9. The revised list seems to have utterly ignored the existence of Torkhera
and its holder, though it is, apparently, of precisely the same degree of title,
‘and part of the same property, as thesthree villages gdmitted ;—obtained, too,
in the same way, since the introduction of the present Government, by a
member of the same family. This omission will no doubt cause extra diffi-
culty and confusion in a case already sufficiently confused, when the death of
the holder of Torkhera revives the question of its tenure.

10. In my 8th paragraph above I have stated what I believe Mr. Brown
intends to argue by his letter No. 349, of the 11th October 1851. I shall now
endeavour to explain my opinion as to how far he is borne out in his argument ;
and first, as to the entries of Nos. 62 and 63 of his revised list of First Class
hereditary Surinjams being correct and sufficient :—

I.—The 6th column of this list professes to exhibit “ the names of the
villages comprising the Surinjam,” and under Nos. 62 and 63 this column
exhibits the names Runalé, Kopurlee (or Koprel), and Tanneh. Column 8
professes to describe the date of the original grant, and this, with regard to

- the villages named sbove, is'given as before . ». 1751, though it is, as

I have observeq, admitted by Mr. Broyn, ih his letter No: 349 of 1851, and
. proved by records translated by him, that none of these three villages were

granted till after that‘year, and then not in lieu of any previous Surinjam.

+ 1L—The 2nd column of the list professes to give the name of the original
- grantee of each village, and there are five grantecs attributed to Runalé
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under No. 62, and one to “Koputlee '(Koprel) and Tannah under No.,63;
whereas the Sunuds and accounts transmitted by Mr. Brown wu.h s
letter No. 349 of 1851 show that there wéere two grantees of Runalé,
Madhowrao and Trimbukrao, »either of whom are named emong the ﬁve
grantees asserted under No. 62 of the list.

I1I.—In the 14th column, of “ Remarks,” Mr. Brown writes as follows
under No. 62 :—

o “The names of these Surinjamdars were inadvertently omitted in the
lists of 1834 and 1840, in consequence of no informatipn having been
obtained from the Collector of Khandeish, as has now been done.”

* This.1st paragraph of Mr. Brxn’s “ remarks” implies two statements,—
1s¢, that information had been inallvertently withheld from the Agent; and
2nd, that if*this had not been withheld, the names of the persons mentioned
in the revised list would have rightly appeared as those of Surinjamdars in
the previous ones of 1834 and 1840. Iam obliged to record my opinion
that both of these statements, whether direct or implied, are incorrect :—1st,
Mr. Warden’s very clear and sufficient report, No. 128, dated 26th July
1845, shows that there was already in the Commissioner’s Duftur which is
ladged in the Agent’s Office at Poona, and in the Peshwa’s Duftur, suffi-
cient information regarding the villages in question to show under what
impression they had been given up by Mr. Chaplin ; 2rd, itis clear tiatthe
morg information that could have been thrown on the matter,. the more

“cletirly it would have appeared that Government had already finally decided
on the claim of the Kuddum family to the continuance of the villages,
and that they should not have been entered in any list of hereditary
Surinjams.

The next paragtaph in Mr Brown’s remarks ig,—

“ These persons did not appear when Mr. Elphinstone’s list was
- drawn up, but when he went to Khandexsh they presented themselves,
and the Surinjam was restored.”

The whole of this paragraph is incorrect. The facts stated in paragraphs
3 to 8 of my former report, No. 3127, dated 23rd April 1851, show that the
Kuddums were early applicants, and that their application fo;'a. Surinjam
was negatived by the Commmissioner in A. p. 1819, just as much as by the
final orders of Government in A. ». 1827.

The next paragraph of Mr. Byown’s remarks‘is, o

“Thereis a record of the Poona Duftwr bearmg date Esunay Khumsain
{A. 0. 1751),, which makes mentnon of this Surinjam.”

This is both incorrect and msuﬂiclent,—-mcorrect, n leadmg to the idea
that the villages enumerated in column 6 were mehtioned as Surinjam in
any account. 80 dld as A. n. 1751 ; insufficient, in omitting all mention of
their final confiscatiop, whick, even had they been so granted, would, accord-
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ing to the Honorable Court's orders, have precluded them from being regarded
es First Class Surinjams.
The closing paragraph Jf these remarks is as follows :—

“ Mr. Warden’s report, and the final orders of Governient in the case
of these Surinjamdars, are contained in Appendix B to this list.”

The statement made in this paragraph is literally correet, but it is so
expressed as to convey the idea that Mr. Brown appealed to the Appendix
he mentions, as if it would be found to bear out the justice of the entry and
remarks above noticed. If Mr. Brown had given the eslightest hint that
the final decision of Government would be found to be at variance with his
entry of the villages as an hereditary Surinjam, it might be saidethat he
had brought the case sufficiently to the notice of Government, for in that
case Government would have probably considered it necessary to refer to

"the Appendix; but, as it is, all that any one could naturally understand
from the mention by Mr. Brown of the former decision, would be that it
was his authority for the statements made in the list. »

11. On the above grounds, I am obliged to state that I cannot help consi-
dering that Mr. Brown has in his letter No. 3490 1851 adduced nothing to
show that the entries of Nos. 62 and 63 of his revised list of First Class Stirin-
jams were either correct or sufficient. '

'12. It may be said that the admission of these so-called First Class
Surinjams into Mr. Brown’s revised list was caused by Mr. Warden's oversight,
and so it appears to have been, in the first place; for that officer entered as
Nos. 64 and 65 of his First Class list of 1844 the same villages, but when his
attention was afterwards drawn to their history by the Government letter
No. 1370, dated 26th March 1845, he furnished the repprt No. 128 of 1845,
and if he had then, or subsequently, had the opportunity of revising his own
list of 1844, he would, doubtless, have corrected this entry.

13. When the dpty of revising Mr. Warden’s lists was entrusted to Mr.
Brown, Government must have intended that he should correct them where
they were found to requére correction, and nat that he should retain the in-
correct entries, and merely insert in an inconspicuous Appendix papers which
would disprove them, and that without drawing any attention to the Appendix
except as if appealing to it for the correctness of the list.

14. Whatrenders this the more unaccountable is that Mr. Warden’s cases
64 and 65 were specially noticed in paragraphs 13 and 14 of the Government
letter, No. 1896, dated 9th May 1846, to Mr. Brown, by which that officer
was ordered to revise Mr. Warden’s work. Nay, one of the points on which
Mr. Brown was particularly directed tg furnish information was whether the
Surinjam No. 656 (Kopurlee or Koprel, and Tannah) “ has without interruption
been in the possession of this family (Kuddum Banday) from the year 1751.%

16. This question Mr. Brown has not answered otherwise than to lead
Government inevitably to believeshat the continuance.had been uninterrupted ;
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and though he forwarded an Appendix which, if read through, would have
shown that there had been interruption and even final cessation, hg <has
not only, as above noticed, mentioned this Appendlx a8 bearing out, rather
than disproving the idea of continuance, but in paragraphs 2 and 13 of his
reply, No. 178, dated 26th October 1847, when specially replying to the refer-
ence regarding this case, instead of noting its striking peculiarity, he merely
refers to Nos. 62 and 63 of his revised list ; and, instead of calling attention to
the Appendix, léaves Government to find out what they like from it, nowhere
alludmg to the Appendix as necessary, but, on the contrary gwmg it to be
understood that the information in the tabular statement is all éhat is necessary
to_enable Government to decide on the merits of each case.

*16. *What I here allude to is M@rown s ‘assertion of the sufficiency of the
tabularelists themselves, contained in paragraph 3 of his letter to Government,
No. 198, dated 26th October 1847, in the following terms :—

«3, I trust that I have framed these lists in as complete a manner as

the records of the Poona Duftur have enabled mesto do; and under the
*head of remarks I have given a succinct account of each Surinjamdar :—

B my object in doing so was to. enable the Honorable the Governor

. in Council to observe, at a glance, the right and title of each of these

: *Chieftains, without having to trace through a long letter for this in-

¢ formation, &c.”

Who, after reading this, would expect to find that the “remarks” snd the
orly Tlong letter” recorded about this case would be found who]ly irgecon-
cilable? And, not expecting this, who would not naturally have been led ito
consider the information recorded in the’ list enough, without wading through
an Appendix, framed in the most difficult possible manner, to find one’s way
through ? It is evideptly "thus that Government and the Court of Directors
have hitherto been led to assent to the entries Nos. 62 and 63 of Mr. Brown’s
revised list of First Class hereditary Surinjams.

17. The second argument which, I believe, I rightly ascribe in my 8th
parugraph above to Mr. Brown’s letter No. 349 of 1851, is that even now,
notwithstanding all that Government has been mad® aware of, the Kuddum
family should have the benefit of thé Surinjam Rules extended to them. To
this I am aware of no objection, provided any Surinjam Rule can e discover-
ed to benefit such a case as theirs. Their holding, whatever it may be called,
is a temporary allotment, sanctioned by the indulgence of Government in 1827
as a life-grant; and with no other title, that I can sge, than what %as then ex-
tended to it. I beg to refer on this point o M2 Wa.ldens report of 1845,
and Lieutenant Etheridge’s now submitted. .

18. The last of Mr. Brown’s statements seems to be that the Surinjam
Rules would guarantee or admit of their tenure bemg Considered hereditary
in the fullest sense of the word. I canmot find a.single line of any Rule by
which such a confiscation as that which is shown to hdve taken place with
regard to the Kuddum holdiftgs, whether Inzm or Surinjam, gould be regarded
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as othérwise than wholly fatal to any sort of title; and I have no doubt that
had Government received a correct and intelligible reply to their question
regarding this very family’s Ppossessions, (put to Mr. Brown at the close of
paragraph 14 of their letter No. 1896 of 1846,) instead of being led to suppose
what was not the case, they would have ordered the so-called Surinjam to be
expunged from the list, and have refused to alter the decision of Mr. Elphin-
stone’s Government declared in A. ». 1827,

19. 1 might add much to the above observation, but fear being thought
unjustiﬁably tedious: all, therefore, that I shall further take the liberty of
stating is, that”though I cannot help considering Mr. Bfown to have made
some oversights, and probably to have been in some degree misled throug‘
out, either by false statements or suppremion of the truth, I have ‘hot the
very remotest idea of attributing to him any wish to wilfully Jmslead
Government.

20. Iam informed that there are some cases connected with the revnsed
Surinjam lists, in which errors and oversights have occurred of even a .graver
nature than those noticed in the case of the Kuddum Banday family.  «

I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) W. Harr, *~ .-
Inam Commissioner.

¢ No. 4175 or 1852.

o Poruiticar. DEPARTMENT.
To W. Harr, Esq.,

Inam Comrmissioner, Poona. .

Sir,—1 am directéd by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council
to acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 952, dated the 21st ultimo,
submitting your refort in respect to the Surinjam of the Kuddum Banday
family.

2. Inreply, I am dedired to convey to you the thanks of Government for
the labour you have bestowed in unravélling this somewhat intricate case.
His Lordship in Council is convinced by your clear report of the grave error
which has been committed in including in the revised list of Sirdars of 1847,
under Nos. 62 and 63 of Class 1., as hereditary Surinjams, the villages
of Runalé; Koprel, and. Tannah of the estimated aggregate value of
Rs. 3,315-11-9. ¢

3. The Right Hoforable the Governor in Council has resolved that the
above entries shall at once be expunged from the Surinjarh lists, and desires
me to inform you that the question of continuing the v:llages in question to the
present incumbents will be considered and disposed of in the Revenue De-
partment, where the correspondence with reference thereto was conducted
previous to their, insertion in these lists. ° -
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4. .I am at the same time desired to request that yon will report in*detail,
in separate letters, at your convenience, upon each of the cases in the«évised
Surinjam lLists, with reference to which you state in your last paragraph that
you have been informed errors and oversights of even a graver nature than
the one now brought to notice exist. )

5. 1 am also directed to acknowledge the receipt of your report, No. 983,
dated the 26th ultimo, and to inform you that the claim relative to the village
qf Torkhera will be disposed of in the Revenge Department.

I have the honour to be, &c.

" o (Signed) A. Marzr,
Bombay Custle, 24th SeptembeN 852. Chief Secretary.

Extract Paragraphs 19 and 20 from a Despatch fromethe Honorable the Court
* of Directors, dated the 18th May, No. 27 of 1853.

Para. 19. From a comparison of Mr. Hart’s reports on this subject with
« Result of the inquiries those of Mr. Brown, it would seem that although the
respecting the estates ofthe  four villages claimed by the Kuddum Banday family
Kuddum Banday family, . . .
forming Nos. 62 and 63in  Were known not to have been in theig pussession
Class]. of Mr. Brown’slist.  previous to 1751, three of these villages were never-
theless, by some construction which we cannot understand, considered to
have “formed an integral part”* of alarge Surinjam held prior to that date,
and were, therefore, inserted in Class I. of the revised lists as hereditary. Since,
however, the large Surinjam in question consigted solely of a portion of the
Mokassa Umuls of the Purgunas of Nundoorbar and Sooltanpoor, it could not
possibly include any villages. The villages in question were not part of this
Surinjam, but were granted, one in 1752, the two others jn 1762, and then not
in commutation of any previous Surinjam. The four villages, moreover, had
been confiscated by the Peshwa, on the ground of sebellion, before the break-
ing out of the war. The family had, therefore, no claim to be again put in
possession of them after the conqubst. In consideration, howgver; of their
former rank and importance and their distressed circumstance, the villages
were restored to them on life-tenure, but the insertion in Class I. was altogether
erroneous, and reflects discredit on the manner in which the lists were pre-
pared ; nor can we exempt Mr. Brown’s most ungatisfgctory letter of explana-
tion, dated 11th October 1851, from simila? cengure»
20. The claims which the family may have to further libgra'lity you propose

taking into consideration in the Revenue Department. ¢

* Paragraph 11 of Mr. Brown’s letter dated’11th October 1851,
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No. 327 or 1852.

* From Captain T. A. CowpER, .
Assistant Inam Commissioner,

To W. Harrt, Esq., .
Inam Commjssioner.'

- Dated Poona, 21st September 1852.

Sir,—I have_ the honour to submit for your consideration a casc in
which Giovernment and the Court of Directors have, owing to erroneous
infogmation, been led to sanction the heredijtary ‘continuance of two
Surinjam villages in Khandeish, which had been previously declared a
lifc-holding only, and which, under the Surinjam Rules in force, cannot,
as far as I can see, be possibly viewed in any other light.

2. At the introduction of the British Government Moreshwur Dixit
Munohur was found in the possession of a Palkee allowance wf the
cstijnated value of Rs. 1,000 per mensem,—at least it is most probable
thiat he was so found, as the Commissioner, Mr. Efphinstonc, arlmitted
the claim as a life-holding. An extract from Mr. Elphinstone’s lists of
a. p. 1818 is annexed (A), showing thc decision to have becn—¢ To be
continued,”—this being the remark entered against life-grants, all here-
ditary ones being invariably so specified.

3. From 1818 to 1834 the holding remained with Moreshwur Dixit,
and in 1834 it was viewed, as by Mr. Elphinstone, as a life-grant, and,
as such, was embodied in the Surinjam lists framed in that year, extract:
from which is annexed (B). *

4. From 1834 to 1848 Moreshiyur Dixit continued in the posscssion
of the allowance on the above tenure, but in the revised listy prepared
by Mr. Brown in the latter*year the holding was included as No. 2 in
the ¢ List of Surinjams regarding which exceptions to the Rules might
be made,” and which were recommended for scontinuance ‘on heredi-
tary tenure. . ' * ’

5. The reasons for recommending the afteration were afforded in
the column of “ Remarks” of List II., in which Mofeshwur Dixit’s
name was entered as No. 16. . The Sunud of Moreshwur Dixit, dated
A.D. 1766, was stated in these remarks to’ be registered in the
Peshwa’s Duftur,” and i was added—* it specifics that thfs grant

should be considered Tlereditary.”
.l B L ]
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6. Government do not secm to have been satisfied of the proptiety of
makmg an alteration in the tenure by which this and other grants had
been’previously held, for further explanation was called for, and afford-
ed ina “tabular statement” containing the following explanation of
the rcasons for recommending the alteration of Moreshwur Dixit's hold-
ing from a life to an hereditary grant :—

“The mother of the ancestor of this incumbent was a sister of the
mother of Ballajee Bajce Rao, and the wording of the Sunud expressly
mentions that this Surinjam should always (3fe#t) be continued
on hereditary tenure, which gives weight to the claim of this indivi-

dual that his Jagheer should be continued hereditarily.” . e
'n

7. TUnder the foregoing circumstances, the Court of Digectors sanc-
tioned the hereditary continuance of the allowance (indeed, they could
not, on the evidence before them, have done otherwise) in the 17th para-
graph of their despatch No. 15, dated the 22nd May 1849, as follows :—

¢« No. 2, Moreshwur Dixit.—In this case the Sunud is of the date of
1766, but is stated to contain (what is rare in such cases) distinct words
of inheritance. This Surinjam, therefore, should be hereditary.”

8. TIhave obtained from the Agent copies of the Sunud and documents
on which the recommendation quoted in paragraph 6 of this letter was
made by Mr. Brown, and I find that they do not contain evern an ablusion
to hereditary tenure’; that the allowance shown in the lists as a Surin-
jam is distinctly entered as a ¢ Nemnook” (allawance) ; and that it is
entered not as a mere ¢ Nemnook” (allowance), but as one expressly
granted for the expenses of a Palkee to an inditidual,who, at the time of
the grant, was in charge of districts, and, as such, considered entitled to
a Palanquin.

9. T have obtained the original Sunuds from Moreshwur Dixit; they
correspond with the copies received from the Agent, and are duly
registered in the Pesliwa’s diaries. Moreshwur Dixit has other docu-
ments in his possession, all of the same nature, and all proving clearly
what I have stated in the last paragraph.

10. There can be, I believe, no doubt whatever that a Palanquin
allowance never was considered or granted as hereditary, though it
was, as in" this case, often re-granted.to sons or descendants for their
lifetime, where theif c:rcumstamceq were such as to render such re-grant,
in the opinion of the Government, either advisable or necessary. The
Court of Directors have fully recognited and laid down this rule in the
48th paragraph of their despatch No. 9, of the 21st January 1852, (copy
of which accompanied the Revenue Secretary’s letter No. 3501, of the 9th
May 1852,) relative to the Palanquin allowance granted to the late
Ballajee Punt Nuthoo, and subsequently improperly declared hereditary,
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®* but whch the Court have-decided must be discontinued at the death of
his son, the prescnt incumbent.

11. Th: copies of Sunuds referred to im paragraph 8 as obtamed
from the Agent, and which have been found to correspond exactly with
" the registered originals, state mercly that the allowance is to be regularly
enjoyed, the words used being ¢ Néhemee ghét jané” (Ffedt g9a wra).
Government have already had occasion to point out the meaning and
force of theg word “Néhemee” in the case of a Wurshasun allowance
claimed as hereditary, but entitled to no such consideration. (Vide
Revenue Secretary’s letter No. 7229, of the 7th December 1849.)

12. As connected with this allowancg, though not at all affecting its
nature, 1 may mention that it is shown by the revised Surinjam lists
(No.16, Clags I1.) to consist of two villages in Khandeish,—Sherusgaum
and Pimpree,—valued in the 8th column of the lists at Rs. 491-5-6 ; but
a reference to the Murathee documents received from the Agent (vide
paragraph 8) has shown the Palanquin allowance to consist not only of
a portion (the lists show the whole villages) of the revenues of these two
villages, but of an annual money allowance of Rs. 341-4-0, which
Moreshwur Dixit is at present in the receipt of from the treasury of the
Collector of Khandeish.

I have the bonour to be, &c.
(Signed) T. A. Cowrer, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissivner.

A.

Eztract from the Statement showing the Jagheers, or Compensation in lieu of

them, to be continued in the Country conquered from the Peshwa ; pre-
pared by Mr. Elphinstone,

[Jagheer, or .Yearly Allowance to be
contigued.
5 Name. i | Decision. | K
g g’g > |grentent o Entimated | poypigry | 'hod recom-
rd -jrea ue :
: g e e
. Rs. Rs.a.p] Rs®
Mor Dixit Munohur ;| 4|.. Tobecon| 1,000 |492 4%| .. o
Rs. 1,000; 54 years.| 5| | tinued. L .
- L]
L
(True extract) (T'rue copy)
(Signed) R. KEAYS,. (Signed) T. A. Cowepkgr, Capt.,

Acting Agent, Agssistant Inamh Commissioner.
L] )



4 APPENDIX B.

B.
L
Exztract from the List of Surinjams granted between the Conclusion of the
Treaty of Bassein and the Accession of the British Government into the

Deccan, to beresumed on the death of the Present Incumbent ; prepared

in.1834.
. ’ .
Reasons for making the
| Name of the Pftsent Incum- | D& Of |Egtimated reallGrant, as recorded by the|
2 bent, Original Value. Sole Commissioner in | Remarks.
g Grant. the Deccan.
= ‘ P .
. . Rs. a p ' ¢
Kitta, or Miscellaneous. A. D.
6 2(Moreshwur Dixit Munohur.] 1766 | 593 1 0/To be continued.....{ ....
(True extract) (True copy)
(Signed) R. Keavs, (Signed) T. A. Cowrkr, Capt
Acting Agent. Assistant Inam Commissioner.
No. 1105.

From W. HarT, Esq,,
Inam Commissioner,

To A. MareT, Esq.,
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.

. Dated Poona, 22nd September 1852.

Sir,—1I have the honour to submit, for the consideration of Govern-
ment a letter from my Assistant Captain Cowper, No. 327, dated 21st
September 1852, containing information of 4 very startling nature.

2. Government are, as stated by Captain Cowper in his 11th para-
graph, well aware that*the word “ N¢hemee” conveys no meaning of
continuance in perpetuny or of hereditary tenure, but it was certainly

, not by any darelessness on the part of Government, or by their losing
sight of the real meaning of that word, that the grave error detected by
Captain Cowper was suffered (notwithstanding the doubts and hesita-
tion evinced by bpth Government and the Honorable Court) to trans-
mute Moreshwur Dixit's Palanquin allowangce into an hereditary Su-
rinjam. Had the Agent, in stating the grounds for his assertion that



+ APPENDIX B. 5

* the grant was by Bunud specifically guaranteed as hereditary, so stgted
them as to let it be understood that he was misinterpreting the wm'd
« Néhemee” into bearing this meaning, theft Government would have
been in a position to detect his error; but no such chance was afforded
to Government. A reference to Captain Cowper’s 5th and 6th paragraphs
ghows that the Agent in one place asserted as a positive fact that the
Sunud for the allowance ¢ specifies that the grant should be considered
hereditary,” and that although in anothey the word ¢ Néhemee” is
quoted by the Agent, it is quoted so that Governmept could only
imagine that it was put in apposition with the word “always,” (which it
dqes explain fairly enough in the usual geceptation of ¢ always,” 1. e.
as meaning “ever,” but not «for ever,”) and not with the sentence which
followsit. As Mr. Brown’s explanation stands quoted in paragraph 6
of the accompanying letter, it can only be understood to assert that the
Sunud expressly mentions not orly that the allowance should always
(“ Néhemee”) be continucd, but, further, that it provided for its con-
tinuance being hereditary. It was evidently this latter assertion alone
that settled the objections of Government, and precluded all hesitation
on the part of the Honorable Court further than a natural expression of
wonder at the.anomaly of the case; yetit now turns out to be an asser-
tion disproved by the Sunud on which it appears to have becn bas.d.

3. The facts mentioned in Captain Cowper’s 12th paragraph co not,
itSs true, affect the real nature of the allowance as it ought to have been
described, but thgy seem very seriopsly to impugn its character as a
permanent Surinjam (even were there nothing else to do so), by showing
that what is so called consists of mere assignments of revenue and a
cash payment from'tite treasury, void of even the primé facie permanency
of alanded estate; and whether or not they may be taken as affecting
the character of the allowance, they do gnevously affect that of the
revised Surinjam lists,

4. As it cannot for a morhent be supposed that Mr. Brown could
have had the remotest intention of mlsleadmg Government in this case,
I cannot help supposing that he must have been misled by the reader
or other person of whose gssistance he may have availed himself in
drawing up his English reports and statements from the Murathee papers
in his office; and if that person was one necegsarily acquainted with
the Murathee language, he must have intgntiohally nisled Mr. Brown,
and thus effected a fraud of the nature anticipatel by Goyernment in
paragraph 30 of their letter to the Agent, No. 1896, of the 9th May
1846, as quoted below :—

“Re-opening the question of the character’of these grants presents
an opportanity for the commlsslon of fraud and deceptlon whkich the
greatest caution and v:gllance on your part alone can°prevept.”
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5, As my Assistant’s statement of all the facts essentially imhportant
in Jhe case of the allowance noticed by him in the accompanying letter
is s0 full that any remarks upon it will probably appear superfluous, I
shall only state, in addition, my humble opinion that Captain Cowper
has done Government good service in calling attention to this and other
cases of a similarly lamentable nature connected with the revised

Surinjam lists.
I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) W. Harr,
" Inam Commissioner.

—

No. 4401 or 1852.
PoriticAL. DEPARTMENT.

To Joun WarpeN, Esq.,
Late Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan, Bombay.

Sir,—I am directed by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council
to transmit to you, in original, a letter and its enclosures from Mr. Hart,
the Inam Commissioner, No. 1105, dated the 22nd ultimo, bringing to
the notice of Government the circumstance of the Surinjam of Moresh-
wur Dixit Munohus, which was held on life-tenure only, having through
erroneous information been declared an hereditary grant.

2. In forwarding these documents, which you will have the goodne'ss
to return with your reply, I am dgsired to annex thereto a précis of the
past proceedings of Government on the subject of this grant, and to
request that you will favour Government with any explanation which
may be in your power to afford as to the cause of* the mistake that has

occurred.
I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) A. Macer,

‘ Chief Secretary to Government.
Bombay Castle, 9th October 1852. .

-

To A. MaLeT, Esq.,
‘ Chief Secretary to Goyernment, Bombay.

Sir,—I have had the honoyyr to receive your letter, No. 4401, dated the
9th of October last,"giving cover to an original letter, with enclosures,
herewith returned, from the Inam Cominissioner, suggesting that the
Surinjam of Moreshwur Dixit Munohur, which was held on life-tenure

only, has through erroreous information been declared an hereditary
grant;<«and to a “précis of the proceedings of the Government on the
subject of thisgrant; and desiring me to furnish the Government with
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*any explanation which it may be in my power to afford as to the capse
of what is supposed to be a mistake.

9. The tarn this subject has taken obligeseme to state, by way of | pre-
face, some elementary matter, in respect to the nature of she alienations
of land in the Deccan, for which I ehould otherwise have to apologise.

3. An Inam was originally a grant from the rich to the poor for his
maintenance ; and in some title-deeds language seems to exhaust itself
in declarmg.the plenary nature of the grant to the grantee and “his
heirs, male and female, for ever.” So absolute was the gift that the
opinion which the Commissioner in the Deccan considered “a sound
ong” (Commissioner to Government, May, 19th, 1825) as to the practice
of the Peshwa’s Government in respect to Inams was, that “the holders
could disposg of them by will, in sale, or in any other way they chose;
and that therefore there was no good reason for obliging them to resort
to any other mode [alluding to adoption] of dlsposmg of them not con-
genlal with their inclinations.”

4.° A Surinjam was of two kinds,—one, called a Fouj Surinjam, was
a grant of land from the Sovereign to a noble, to enable him to support
a contingent of troops, with which he was bound to take the field with
his lord paramount; the other, called a ZAit Surinjam, was a distinct
grant to the same noble, to maintain due state and dignity as a fe 1dal
Chieftain. Both grants were personal, and “held on life-tenure culy.”

5. -Whlle, then, an Inam was a gift to the poor for his maintenance,
a Surinjam was an assngnment to the noble for his dignity ; while the
Inam was a gift «for ever,” the Surinjam was an assignmcnt resum-
able at pleasure, and naver for a longer pesiod than the life of the
grantee: while the ‘title of an Inamdar was upheld by his title-deeds,
the only title of a Surinjamdar was the favour of his sovereign; and it
is, therefore, as great a misapplication of terms to talk of an hereditary
Surinjamdar as it is to talk of an hereditary pénsion.

6. The Most Noble the Marquis of Hastings, ¢he Governor General
of those days, ordered, on the conquest of the Peshwa’s dominions, that
the Muratha principles and practice in this respect should be.followed,
and that every Surinjam shquld be resumed at the death of each grantee,
and be re-granted as ¢ an act of grace” (I quote from memory).

7. The British military system rendering (he Fouj Sufinjams an
expensive and useless burden, they were, with the exception of those
of the Putwurdhun family, whose position wes p&culiar, permanently
resumed, and Mr. Elphinstone had then to address himself to the con-
sideration of the question as to the disposal of the Z4it or personal
Surinjams, by which the state of all the noble - families in the country
was mainly supported. ) -

8. Without, in the first instance, ahnouncing the principles by
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which he was governed, Mr. Elphinstone proceeded to re-grant the
th or personal Surinjams. Some he marked ¢ Hereditary”; some
« Mhay be diminished at his death”; some, as in the instance of Dixit
Munohur now under discussion, he left unmarked*; and some he
marked ¢ For life.”

9. Butan Inam and a SunnJam being, as I have shown, quite dif-
ferent things, it follows that the title to an Inam and the claim toa
Surinjam were decided on quite different considerations. '

10. While an inquiry into the title to an Inam was whether ‘the
original title-deed was genuine, whether the grant had descended in
unbroken succession, or the claunant was the representative of the ori-
ginal grantee ; the inquiry in regard to a Surinjam was whetheT it had
been—however possession may have been in the interval disturbad—first
granted by the dynasty which the British Government succeeded, or
whether a stronger prescriptive title had been established by the ability
to trace the original grant to the Rajas of Sattara or the Mahomedan
rulers of the Deccan. ¢

11. While the latter were to be considered * hereditary in the
fullest sense of the word,” (see letter of the Court of Directors to the
Government of Bombay, October 26th, 1842,) ¢ much consideration,”
Mr. Elphinstone said, ¢ was due” to the former, not because the
grantees could prove a title from the Duftur, but because, though ¢ kept
in mind, by the exaction of service, as well as by occasional resumptioss,
of the real nature and extent of their tenure,” they were the ¢ actual
possessors of power” ; and because it was « desirable to avoid popular
discontent, and prevent the too rapid fall of ggeat families.”

12. The grant of a Surinjam, in short, might have been resumecd
again and again, and re-granted again and again, in disregard of the
ordinary laws of Succession, and all title by the Duftur obliterated : the
result of the inquiry was not based on a title by inheritance, but on
possession and positien at the conquest, and other considerations of
State polity which no one at the present day can, as they affected indivi-
duals, accurately estimate. '

13. And these rules, liberal as they were, he made susceptible of
exceptions in favour of individuals.

14. Far example,—Anna Deodhur’s niece was given in marriage to
the last Peshwa, who bestowed a Surinjam on his bride’s uncle. The
holders of land granted by the last Peshwa Mr. Elphinstone considered

* The Assistant Inath Commissioner is mistaken in supposing unmarked ones were grants
« for life”” only, as is proved by this very instance of Dixit Munohur ; according to the princi-
ples which Mr. Elphinstone afterwards enunciated, it was a grant for two lives : the mass of
busines¢®in the Commissioner’s Office during the first year after the conquest of the Deccan
obliged us to leave.many questions open. .
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® entitleds to pecuniary pemsions only, but the Surinjam of this Sirdar,
whose family had been honoured by an  alliance .with the reighing
house, war reserved to him. (See letter frpm the Agent for Sirdar} to

Government, December 29th, 1844.) P
15. To apply the foregoing.remarks to the case which has caused

this reference. :

16. Mzr. Elphinstone found a grant of a miscellaneous character,—
“ Kitta,” as he termed it,—which had been granted fifty-one years before
the British conquest, the original grante8 having been, through his
mother, allied to the reigning Peshwa. He was also a Beekshookh, and,
as.such, heldin veneration. The grant was reniewed, though not in exact
conforthity to the laws of inheritauce, fo'two subsequent generations,
and having survived the tempestuous factions of the three last reigns of
the Peshwas, was re-granted by Mr. Elphinstone, in the exercise of the
discretion with which he was vested, on the Surinjamee tenure. (See

his lists and Chor Chittee.) .
1?. According to the Rules, this Surinjam fell in Class II., and in

Class II. I placed it.

18. I found, however, that the original grant had been made with an
emphasis most unusual, and that this emphasis, declaring that the grant
was to b& “ always” enjoyed, was expressly repeated on the first re-grant,
and by implication in the last, the third grant stating that the pavment
was*{o'be made as heretofore.

19. It was clear that there must have been some object in the intro-
duction and repelitiorr of this word} so foreign to a Sunud (or a grant
on life-tenure, which was quite complete without any such word ; and I
sought for this objeet, not'in dictionary interpretations (viz. constantly,”
“regularly”), though they support what I did, but in the course fol-
lowed by the sovereigns who in succession dealt with the grant in which
the word was found. Although called a Palanquinsallowance, it was
re-granted twice, and after an interval of fifty-one years was found in the
posscssion of the third grantee, on the abdication of Bajee Rao. I,
therefore, concluded that the Pesh’was intended to indicate by this word
that this Surifjam would not be disturbed, but would be, ag it always
had been, re-granted o tMe death of each grantee, or, to use my own
words on the occasion, that it was ¢ declared to be permanent” in gon-
sequence of the sacred character of the original grantee, and this alliance
with the reigning house, e *

20. Acting, then, on this conclusion, and foll’owing the example of
Mr. Elphinstone in respect to Anna Deodhur, (see pgragtaph 14, above,)
while I entered the grant in its proper place according to the Rules, I
added it to a list ofefive others, as cases contemplated in the 12th para-
‘graph of the Court’s despatgh, in which the popularity of the act appeared

2B - .
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to furmsh an adequate inducement to prolong, in exception to Rules, the’
tenure I am still of the same opinion. A mother’s sister is a relation
'partfcnlarly respected amang the Hindoos, and I feel satisfied that so
long as the family of Bajee Rao had reigned, this allowance would have
been undisturbed, and re-granted again and again as “an act of grace.”

21. A very few words will explain how it befell that the grant was
made a life-grant by the lists of A. p. 1833, the preparation of which was -
suggested by me, and they were actnally prepared by me, as I believe
Mr. Marriott told the Government, though signed by him. The indis-
criminate resimption of all Surinjams having been ordered by the
Bombay Government, I propoged to postpone the resumption of « the
larger estates, the abrupt escheat of which would have been more exten-
sively felt, and have made a deeper impression on the public miad than
the resumption of smaller though more aneient ones,” among which
latter was Munohur Dixit’s. The indiscriminate resumption that was
ordered (Government to the Agent for Sirdars, August2nd, 1882, and
his reply, December 29th, 1844) having been disapproved by the Court
of Directors, and a totally different settlement made, the lists of a. p.
1838 are no aunthority whatever as to the continnance or otherwise of
grants. ‘

22. Although I remained more than a year in India after thé comple-
tion of my inquiries, I heard nothing from Government on the subject
of the Surinjam inqujry ; but two months after my departure for England,
my successor, Mr. Brown, was asked for further information as to this
grant, when he said thht the “Sunud expreasly mentions that this
Surinjam should always be continued on hereditary tenure, which gives
weight to the claim of this individual that hisJ agheer should be consi-
dered hereditary.”

23. At the same time that Mr. Brown recorded this, he endeavoured
to guard himself ‘against being misapprehended, by introducing the
original Murathee word in the original Murathee character, which he
translated ¢ always.”

24. I presume that as the Govesnment interpreted this word in the
case of a Wurshasun mentioned by the Inam Commissioner, so it did in
this case; but whether it did or not, nobody knows better than Sir
Gedtge Clerk,-—nobody knows better than the authorities at the India
House, who revised thode, lists,—that let Mr. Brown have called it what
he might, « hereditary,” i in the ordinary sense of the term, could not be
applied to a Sunnjam, and that Mr. Brown eould only mean what Mr.
Elphinstone meant, when he spoke of ¢ ¢the belief that the holders were
entitled of right to an ¢ hereduary tenure.’”

25. That the & reader” was so silly as to attempt an lmposmon in
respect”to so common a word I do not believe, and when I mention
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that he was Vidyadhur Pusashram, who was introduced by me into the
Agent’s Office (to the head of which he has since risen) on the warm
recommendntion of Mr. Hart, for active co-operation in detecting frdud
in the Stamp Department, he will, I think, agree with me that it was
in the last degree impropable that he would have been so dishonest as
to endeavour to make Mr. Brown believe that the common word “ glways"
had any cabalistic meaning in this case. Mr. Hart thinks, however, that

* the construction of Mr. Brown’s sentence m which ¢ always” is in-
troduced is calculated to mislead, by impreéssing the reader with a be-
lief that the Sunud contained, in addition to the word® ¢ Néhemes,”
other words conveying an hereditary grant, and that the Court of Di-
rectors %ere so misled. The Court of Directors will, at all events, have
an oppartunity of re-considering their decision in connection with the
discussion that has now been had in this case.

26. It is, asitappears to me, quite immaterial whether, as suggested
by Captain Cowper, a Palanquin allowance was ever granted here-
ditarfly or not. He admits that it was ¢ often re-granted to sons or
descendants for their lifetime, when their circumstances were such as
to render such re-grants either desirable or necessary.” This is all that
was &ontended for by me, and, as I believe, by Mr. Brown also; and, in
the words T have quoted, Captain Cowper exactly describes the -on-
dition of a Surinjam. Further,—~Mr. Elphinstone’s inquiries led him
to thé gonclusion that the prince, whose submission be had just receiv-
ed, considered it a Surinjam,—he at all events granted it on the Surind
jamee tenure ; and ‘withdut violation of the public faith it cannot now be
called anything else, it being quite immaterial whether such grants is
[s. 0.] paid wholly by the produce of land, or partly from land and
partly in cash.

27. 'Then, Captain Cowpercompares this grant to a Palanquin allow-
ance given by Mr. Elphinstone to Ballajee’Punt Nuthod. Why, he was
not a Muratha Sirdar at all, but a Karkoon of Ragtia, whom we digni-
fied by the title of ¢ British Adherent,”—a counterfeit, who, incapable
of imitating the genuine lustre of a Birdar, sought to dazzle by whatever
a Sirdar had of gam' That he was a very sagacious man I donet deny ;
that his services to the British Government deserved, from their very
nature, high reward, I readily admit; but looking to the differént
motives which actuated the partits in the two ,(,'s.ses, I should no more
think of comparing anything he got front us to the Sunnjam of Dixit
Munohur than I should think of comparing a present ngen by Lord
Nelson to a French fisherman, for telling him which way the French fleet
had sailed, toa grant by Parliament to a member of the royal family in
the sixth year of the’reign of George III., and which was re-granted in
the three sueceodmg reigns and is in possession at the present hou.



12 ! APPENDIX B. ,

28 Captam Cowper has done his duty ia bringing forward what he .
beheved a fraud, but he will, on consideration, see that all the motives .
whtch influenced Mr. Elphinstone’s decisions were not reflected by the
Duftur. ¢ Government,” as he wrote to Lord Hastings on'May 11th, .
1820, « will be at liberty to exercise its discretion in granting or with-.
holding the renewal, except in cases.of Padshaee grants”; in which the
Governor General expressed his concurrence on the 17th June 1820.
Mr. Elphinstone, in exercising this discretion, had not only the Duftur
entire before it had been scattered over the country,—he not only saw
all that Captdin Cowper has seen,—but he had, what Captain Cowper .
cannot have, the heredltary Duftur Karkoons to aid him, and a knowledoe
of the exact estimation in which each claimant was held at the 'moment
of the conquest,—~many considerations, besides a record of rights, having
formed the elements of the basis of his decisions as to the extent of
liberality to be extended to individuals.

29. The very case before us presents a striking example of this. Sup-
pose that, instead of the Sunud the meaning of which is now under
discussion, I had found a Sunud dated only fifteen years earlier, and
expressly declaring that the grant was ¢ for life’”’;—suppose, in short,
there had been no title at all by the Duftur,—I should, nevertheless,
have declared it ¢ hereditary in the fullest sense of the word.”

30. Although the Government did not allow me the opportunity of
giving the last touches to the laborious work undertaken by me at any
own suggestion, and I am, therefore, not respons1ble for Mr. Brown’s
“ revised lists,” I am still willing to do my best in explaining ¢ the other
cases of a similarly lamentable nature connected with the revised Su-
rinjam lists” which Captain Cowper is said to hate brought forward ;
though, I observe, on glancing over the lists, that in working out Mr.
Elphinstone’s Rules, we adopted, as relgards the first and most important
class, his decisions in fifty out of the sixty-one cases which it contains,
and as regards the remaining eleven, Mr. Elphinstone left five open
questions, three are Surinjams whjch he said might be diminished at
the first lapse, and two which he made life-grants. Of the twenty-seven
cases of ewhich Class II. is composed, he made eleven hereditary, ten
he left open questions, six he made life-grants. As a set-off against hav-
ing gone beyond Mr. Elphinstone in liberality in respect to these eight
hfe-grants, I find that, &s regards Clads III,, of the forty cases of which
it is composed the.whole of which we reduced to life-grants, there are
as many as twenty-four ‘which Mr. Elphinstone either considered here-
ditary or left their decision open. That he acted advisedly, and on sound
considerations, in each case, though we can no longer discover them,
I have not the gmallest doubt ; .in illustration of whhich let us take two
cases in respect to which he could not have been mistaken, and both
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of which he decided contrary to his own Rules. The rise of the family
of Poorundhuree was coeval with that of the first Peshwa, whose per-
sonal ‘friend the founder of the family’s gremtness was. Of this Surin-
jamdar Mr. Elphinstone says,—*¢ The head of the great house of Poorun-
dhuree ; came in to Sir John Malcolm ;—hereditary.” Again, of the Vin-
choorkur, while Mr. Elphinstone declares his Surinjam to be of only
fifty-eight years’ continuance, he adds—¢ The whole of his personal
lands, according to the Duftur, to be restored this is proper, in conse-
quence of the respectability of the Chief, and of the promlses of SirJohn
Malcolm ;—hereditary.”

,31. With such evidence as this that Mr. Elphinstone’s decisions
were founded on other considerations than those arising from informa-
tion derived,from the Duftur, though only formally recorded, perhaps,
in respect to the greater Sirdars,—and as I presume no one will venture
at this time, or at any other time, to place his opinion in competition
with that of Mr. Elphinstone,—instead of makingethat information the
grolinds of disturbing claims which have been already inquired into
six times, to the harassing of the claimants for no less than twenty years,
I hope the Government and the Court of Directors will forbid any one
to question his decisions in favour of individuals, when ratified by the
early revisers of his lists, merely because we can no longer disco-er the
motives which actuated him to restore grants, the claimants to w'ich, as
he 4dmits, had been “kept in mind, by the exactian of service, as well
as by occasmnal resumptlons, of the real nature and extent of their
tenure.”

32. For the rest,—there are a few Surmjams which were not on our
lists in the Commi8sioner’s Office, and some twenty cases, as mentioned
in paragraph 30, in respect to which, in working out the Rules, I was
unable to be so liberal as Mr. Elphinstone sugge‘xted and regarding
which, as I said at the close of my report, %I could’ not hope that my
staternents were free from error, and that they mpst remain open to cor-
rection”’; and if Captain Cowper would address himself to the task of
dlscovenng the political considerations which prompted Mr. Elphinstone
in his mode of dealing with those twenty cases, and thereom propose a
return to the original liberal decisions, he will do good service to the
publie.

33. TItis, I know, believed by some that M. Elphmstone worked in
the dark, and that they have discovered that ;which escaped him: it is
said he did not know that many of the Inamdars, whose possessions he
did not disturb, could not prove a title. .

84. There never was a greater mistake. If we would tread in his
foot-prints withotit losing our balance, we must zead his Minutes.
In one published by, order of the House of Commons, he proposes,
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as a part of the ways and means by which to support public edu-
cn.tmn, that we should impose a cess on Inamdara whose titles were
doubtful. The truth is, thas to an acuteness and penetration of intellect
which nothing can elude, and to a knowledge of India, its history, and
its people, and of the Murathas in particular, in which he is surpassed
by no man living, he added untiring official industry, and, more valuable
than all to a man in his position, a due respect for that best of all titles—

prescription—and a magnanimous compassion for the conquered people
at his feet.

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) Jomx WA!!DE.N;
Formerly Agent for Sirdars, and First Assisiant to the
Commissioner in the Deccan.

Bombay, 9tk December 1852.
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Indezx to the following Report by Capt.ain T. A. CowpEr.

Paras. Contents.
1and 2 |Introductory. .
3and 4 [Claims to alienations cannot justly be decided without reference to ex-
tent and nature of enjoyment subsequent to the date of grant, as well
e o as to the terms of the grant itself. o
5t08 [The prn.ctwe of the Peshwa’s Government in regard to,—
A—Resumption of Inams ;
B—Continuance of ditto to direct and collateral heirs ;
c— Ditto ditto to adopted sons ;
o p—Transfer of ditto by gift or sale ;
As shown to have been the case by the State records, extracts from
which form the four statements lettered as above.

9 Sir Thomas Munro’s Minute on the subject of alienations of revenue.

10 Inams could not be transferred by gift or sale without the sanction »f the
Peshwa’s Government.

14 fo.13 |Neither could adoptions be made without such safction, for any purposes
of succession to Inams or other property derived from the State.

14 The Lomxmssxoner in the Deccan (Mr. Chaplin) was, when hLe erroneously
informed Goverament that under the Peshwa’s Government Inams
could be ‘disposed of at the pleasure of the parties holding them, pro-
bably misled by the hereditary Duftur Karkoons.

15 The Inam tenure a far more secure one, and Inamsdess taxed under the
British than under the Peshwa’s Government

16 and 17 [An Inam under the Peshwa’s Government was by no means always “ a

grant from the rich to the poor for his maintcnance.”

18 and 19 |Neither could a great number of the Surinjams have been * aft assignment

20

21 to 26

27

to the noble for dignity.”

Mr. Warden has failed to notice the class of §urinjams to witich Moresh-
wur Dixit’s belongs,— f. e. the Surm,]ams of civil officers, and others
of the non-military classes. « ®

L]

That hereditary Surinjams were sometimes granted, antl do still exist, is
proved beyond doubt, and their existence has heen especially adverted
to on former occasions by Mr, Elphinstone, Mr. Warden and the Ho-
norable Court of Directors. -

It does not appear that the Govcrn'or. General in 1818 digected the
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JParas, Contents.
<
]

resumption at the death of the mcumbent, and the re-grant as an act
of grace, of all Surinjams.

28 to 31 |The “unmarked” Surinjams, regarding which Mr. Elphinstone submitted
no recommendation, leaving them open questions, amount to more than
half of the whole rumber contained in his lists.

31 and 32 |{Tmperfect state of Mr. Elphinstone’s lists in respect to some of their
details.

33 and 34 |Reasons for supposing that the Honorable Court, when declaring grants
and again made before 1751 entitled to hereditary continuance, ust have intend-
58 to 60 ed to require, also, enjoyment subsequent to that year, and could not
have contemplated the recognition of hereditary title in the cases of
Surinjams under resumption for a long series of years between 1751
and 1817. '

35 to 62 |History of the Deccan Surinjams from Mr. Elphinstone’s first settlement
to the preparation of the revised lists.

63 to 65 |The Inam Commission ordered to scrutinise the revised lists of Surinjams
and the lists of pensions supplementary to them.

66 and 67 {The principles upon which the above scrutiny has been commenced and
is being' carried out. .

68 to 87 |Explanation of Captain Cowber’s reasons for differihg from Mr. Warden in,
thinking Moreshwur, Dixit's case one entitled to special consideration.

88 The circumstances deemed by Mr. Warden peculiar to Moreshwur Dixit’s
case, and above discussed, not, however, previously stated when the
Surinjam lists were submitted.

[§
89 Mr. Brown’s translation of the Murathee word ““ Néhemee’ as  always”
not open tp serious objection. But not so the addition of other words,
which, and which alone, conveyed the erroneous impression to the Go-
vernment and to the Honoreble Court of Directors.

90 ‘|The Government and the Honorable Court could not, as Mr. Warden
supposes, have decided on Moreshwur Dixit’s case under the belief
J that heredltary Surinjams did not exist.

‘91 Neither could the Goyernment and Honorable Court have decided with
. any refefence <to the belief expressed on a previous occasion by Mr.
Elphinstone, as that belief was distinctly defined as one existing on

wholly* different grounds.
- 92 The comparisort drawn in Mr. Warden’s 27th paragnph is not, appa-
* « | renfly, applicable to Captain Cowper 5 prevxous report on Moreshwur
Dixit’s case,

¢ .
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‘3 >

Paras. Contents, N
[ ]
- . .

93 to 104 |Explanation regarding three important subjects alluded to by Mr.
‘Warden,—

94 to 98 I.—The state of the records of revenue management of the late

‘Government.
*99 II.—Hereditary Duftur Karkoons?
* ! o

101.t0 104 II1.—Possibility or otherwise of now ascertaining the grounds on

which Mr. Elphinstone’s recommendations to the Governor Ge-
¢ mneral were based.

105° [Whether decisions based on error in the revised Surinjam lists should be
reconsidered. .

106 to 109 |{In how far should the Inam Commission go beyond the mere ¢rial of
claims brought before it, and in how far should it consider the interests
of “the public”’ necessarily synonymous with those of claimants to
alienations of the public revenue.

b0 |Difference apparently required to be observed in deciding on Inam claims,
as distinguished from those of Surinjamdars.

111 |The general principles laid down by Mr. Elphinstone apparently t} ¢ safest
which can be followed, and yet quite compptible with the changes
which the lapse of a third of a century have either brought about or
rendered necessary. .

112 |A knowledge of past proceedings very nyecessary in all public offices,
and especially so in the Inam Commission.

113 |General.

114 to 131 Hisi:ory of Moreshwur Dixit’s Palanquin Surinjam dllowance.

132 and 133|Summary of the circumstances under which, it was first reported on by
Captain Cowper. .

134 |The above report not apparently affected by the facts and opmxonl now
brought forward by Mr. Warden.

135 |The fact that Mr. Elphinstone submitted no recommendation in regard to
more than half the Suginjams entered in his lists ma} have an im-
portant bearing on future, if not on.past'proceedings

136

The *public f; t » apparently pledged to nothmg bey?md continuing
for life every holding of which the owner was pyt in®possession by Mr.

Elphinstone.

3B

v

. (Signed) = T. A. Cowrer, Captaty,
Assigtant Inam Cbmmigsioner.
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No. 163 or 1853.

L]
13

¢
From Captain T. A. CowpEg,
Assistant Inam Commissioner,

To W. Harr, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner.
. Dated Poona, 2nd May 1853.

Sir,~—I hare now the honour, as desired in your letter No. 1735, of
the 23rd February last, to afford a detailed history of the Palkee Surin-
jam allowance of Moreshwur Dixit Munohur, entered in the revised lists
as No. 16 of Class II. and No. 2 of Class VII., and to explain the prin-
ciples upon which I understand that Government expect me to sctutinise
the revised Surinjam lists, (ordered in the Chief Secretary’s letter
No. 4175, of the 24th December 1852,) pointing out at the same time in
how far those principles are affected by the facts and opinions recorded
by Mr. Warden in his letter of the 9th December last to the address of
the Chief Secretary to Government.

2. I purpose, in the first instance, to take up seriatim, and in the order
in which Mr. Warden has recorded them, the opinions and arguments
contained in that gentleman’s letter, every portion of which I find so
intimately connected with the remainder as to render it impossible, that
any report can be complete, or can afford the desired information, which
does not embrace the whole subject upon which. Mr. Warden has
entered, and which seems to me one of great importance, demanding
the fullest discussion in &ll its bearings. o .

3. Itis unquestionably of no small consequence, in disposing of
claims to alienations of public revenue, to arrive at the real intentions
of the original gsanter, and at a correct interpretation of the original
deed of grant ; bat, as a general rule, and especially where such grants
are of great antiquity“and where the system in which they originated
is still more ancient, it becomes obviously necessary “to take into con-
sideration the history of the subsequent actual enjoyment of the grant
and the extent to which additional right may have been acquired
or original right modified by such enjoyment; for experience shows
that to follow only the littera scriptq in all such cases would- be to
inflict much hardship ahd ipjustice in some, inasmuch as it would fre-
quently tend utterly to 8ubvert the state of things which our Govern-
ment, at the conquest of this country, undertook to uphold,

4. To no description of alienation do these remarks apply mere
strongly than to grants in Jram, “in some title-dgeds” for which (as
Mr. Warden has pointed out in paragraph .3 of his letter) “language
seems to exhaust itself in_ declaring the plenary nature of the grant”;
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and yet'nothing can be further from the fact than to suppose that such
grants were in practice irrevocable ; for the State records afford conc.lu-
sive evider.ce that during the greater portdon of the last century} and
especially after the usurpation of sovereign power by the Peshwas, no
title-deeds were sufficient to ensure the security of any possession,
whether Inam or otherwise.

5. Underthe Peshwas’ Government, and indeed long before that period,
it was the invariable practice, when making grants either of land or mo-
ne.y, to issue “ Sunuds” or written documents specifying .the nature and
extent of the grant, the name of the grantee, and, generally, the object
wjith which the grant was made. These Sunuds* were always regularly
entered, either at the'time of issue or very shortly afterwards, in the State
diariee (Rozkhirds), from which they were subsequently transcribed and
classified in ledgers,t severally denominated the « Ghurnea,” ¢ Bhera,”
and “Surinjam Khutawnee.” The Ghurnea ledger contained, besidesa
classification of the entries in the diaries, abstracts of all accounts of
revenue management rendered to the Government. The preparation of
these ledgers was unfortunately completely neglected during the reign
of the last Peshwa, Bajee Rao Rugoonath, but this was not the case
with the diaries, which continued to be prepared as usual, and which
are extant up to nearly the close of the Peshwa’s Government. The
first Peshwa was appointed in a. 0. 1714, from which year to 1730 the
daries are more or less imperfect ; from 1730 to 1756 they are almost
complete ; from 1756 to 1763 but very few are forthcoming, and itis
supposed that they were destroyed u the latter year by the Moguls;
while from 1763 to the ,beginning of 1817 they are again to be found
in a nearly perfectstate. '

6. The system of record and accounts under the Peshwas’ Govern-
ment was a very perfect one,—one of the most perfect, probably, ever
devised ; but to be fully understood, the documents tflemse,lves must be
seen and studied. The outline} given in the last paragraph will, how-
ever, I hope, convey some idea qf the great value of the information
afforded by these State records ; *for it is on their authority that I ven-
tare to believe alienations of revenue generally, and Inams particularly,
to have been one thing in theory, while they were quite another in
practice. , .

7. 1 bave framed and annexed to this lettes the updermentioned four
statements, containing a number of selécted cases illustrative of the

® The resumption of these grants, or their continuance to other partiesson the death of the
holder, or, in short, all alterations whatever, were, under the * Peshwas, authorised by
Sunuds, and the Sunuds were recorded in exactly the same manner,

+ The ledgers were ndt kept before the time of the Peshwas,

+ The 95th, 96th, 97th, and 98¢h paragraphs of this letter afford some further d&cription
of these accounts, : ° .
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system which was in force during the last seventy years of the Pesh-
was’ Government :—

Statement A, of Inams résumed by the Peshwas’ Government.
Ditto B, of ditto continued to direct and collateral heirs under
the authority of do. do.
Ditto  C, of ditto ditto to adopted sons under do. do.
Ditto D, of ditto transferred by gift or sale under do. do.

These cases form but a stall fraction of those on record, but they
will suffice, I*apprehend, to prove that the Commissioner in the Deccan
(Mr. Chaplin), whose opinion Mr. Warden has quoted in the 3rd
paragraph of his letter, was if error when he stated that ¢ the practite
of the Peshwas’ Government in respect to Inams was that the polders
could dispose of them by will, in sale, or in any other way they chose.
« It seems to me clear that without the sanction of Governmﬂnt even
a son could not hold, his father’s Inam, and that without such sanetion
any transfer of an Inam became null and void. It appears equally
certain that the Peshwas’ Government not only possessed the power of
resuming Inams, but that the power was freely exercised ; and it is
further shown that Inamdars were not exempted from the paymest of
cesses, but that they contributed largely in this respect. ‘In short, it is
placed, I think, beyond a doubt thatan Inam, though granted as a free
gift in perpetuity, was resumed or continued, and was taxed at
pleasure.

8. The power of resumption geems to have beeh arbitrarily exer-
cised ; but this is not surprising, for it could scarcely have been other-
wise where the will of the sovereign had the force of law, and indeed
was the law. Whatever may have been the theory,—in practice, Inams
seem to have been interfered with in every possible way; and it will be
seen* that on an Ynamdar’s death even his son could not consider his
holding secure without obtaining the special sanction of Government
to the succession. It will be observed,t also, that political offences
were punished by resuming the Inams of the offender, and that the
punishmegyt due to the actual delinquent was sometimes} even inflicted
on his relatives. When it is remembered thdt the Muratha rule was one
sucession of usurpations, conquests, and intrigues for sovereign power,
an estimaté may be formed of the number of persons who suffered on
this account. °

9. The dbcumentary evidence thus obtainable being of such unques-
tionable autheniticity, can scarcely be strengthened by individual testi-

* No. 24 of Statement A, and Nos. 1, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 20, 21, 23,
and 24 of Stategnent B.
4+ Nos. 4, 5, 6,'and 22 of Statement A. 1 Nds. 9 and 14 of Statement A,
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mony. The value, however, which attaches to any deliberately recorded .
opinion of 8ir T. Munro is such that I should leave this portion of the

subject incomplete were I to omit to make tife following quotation from

a Minute of his, dated the 16th January 1823, and written after he had

effected the reduction and settlement of the Southern Muratha Country,

now forming a portion of the Bombay Presidency, and that portion, too,

in which more alienated land is claimed than anywhere else. Sir

Thomas Munro thus expressed himself :—

" «In this country, under the Native Governments, all grants what-
ever are resumable at pleasure ; official grants are permanent while
othe office continues, but not always jn the same family; grants for
religious and charitable purposes, to individuals or bodies of men,
thouzh often granted for ever, or while the sun and moon* endure,
were frequently resumed at short intervals; grants of Jagheers or
Inam lands,from favour or affection, 8r as rewards for services, were
scarcely ever perpetual. It wasrare thatany term was specified, and
never one or more lives ; but it made usually little difference whether
the grant was for no particular period or perpetual,—the (Altumgha)
pgrpetual grant was as liable to resumption as any common grant
containing no specification of time ;—it was resumed because it was
too large, or because the reigning sovereign disliked the adherents of
his predecessors and wished to reward his own at their expensé, aad
*for various other causes. There was no rule for the continuance of
grants but his, pleasure ; they mjght be resumed in two or three
years, or they migh.t be continued during two, three, or more lives;
but when they escaped so long, it was never without a revision and
renewal. T believe that the term of their lives is a longer period
than grants for services were generally permitted by the Native
princes to run.”

10. Statement D, of Inams transferred by gift or sale under the
authority of the Peshwas’ Government, contains & number of instances,
sufficient, I think, to prove that these transfers were valid only when
sanctioned by the Government. Itisshown that this sanction was some-
times* conditional on the payment of a relief or “ Nuzur.” How very
fully the Government exercised the power of control ean scarcely be
doubted when we find that it extended to the tsansfer of a stall portion
of Inam land by Nana Furnaveset when in’the Might of his power,
and when we see that a powerful feudatory Iike the Vinchoorkur} was
subjected to the same restriction. . !

11. The inquiries which I have made to enable me to prepare this

. 7

* No. 10 of Statement D. 1+ Nos. 14 and 16 of Statement .
. % No. 11 of Statement D.
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repqrt have placed me in posséssion of valuable information elacidatory
of the practice which existed under the Peshwas’ Government in regard
to adoptions by Inamdarf. Statement C contains fifteen instances in
which adoptions were sanctioned. In some* of these cases the adop-
tive father had held a Surinjam as well as Inams, and both were conti-
nued on the payment of a relief (Nuzur), in otherst the succession
was to Inams only, and even here it will be seen that Nuzurs were
sometimes} levied. ¢ .

12. The shove evidence seems tolerably conclusive, but there is yet
stronger proof forthcoming. I would solicit a reference to the instances,
specified as No. 19 of Statement A and No. 4 of Statement C, iy which
adoptions were disallowed and Inams resumed, on the specifically recorded
grounds’of such adoptions not having been made with the sanction of the
Peshwas’ Government.

13. Under these circumstances there cannot, I apprehend, longer
remain room for doubting the correctness of the opinion on this subject
laid down by the Government in the Revenue Secretary’s letter No.
6023, of the 14th September last, and which has been submitted for the
final orders of the Honorable Court of Directors : it is, T think, c]ear,
that in reserving to themselves the power of granting or.refusing such
assent to adoptions on the part of Inamdars and others holding liens on
the public revenue as will confer upon the adopted son a title against
the State, Government merely exercise a prerogative which the Peshwas
never for a moment relinquished. ,

14. That with the mformatlon which is now forthcommg——only a
small portion of which (see paragraph 7 of this letter) I have thought it
pecessary to embody in the several statements appended to this letter—
before him, the Commissioner (Mr. Chaplin) would have ever inform-
ed the Government that ¢ the practice of the Peshwas’ Government
in respect to Inams was that the holders could dispose of them by will,
in sale, or in any other way they chose,” is, I conceive, out of the ques-
tion ; and I presume, therefore, that <the knowledge must have been
withheld from him by the hereditary Duftur Karkoons, most of whom
must have‘been more or less acquainted with the previous practice, and
many of whom must have been able to refer to the recorded proof which
was at hand, had they thought proper to do so. To one of these
hexeditary Karkoors I shall by and bye have occasion again to refer
(see paragraph 99 of ‘thlsdettet), and I would only here further remark,
that what hag .apparently occurred seems to point out the necessity
of extreme caution‘in matters of this description.

® Nos. 8, 12, and 15 of Statement C. .

«  +Nos'l 234,5,6,7,9,10,11,13, andl4ofStntementC
1 Ngs. 1,2, 6, 9, and 1} of Statement C. * °
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15. Tt certainly seems o me that.pons fide Inams are now held gn a
tenure far more secure and permanent than any which existed under
the Peshwas, and the proof that such is the @ase is, I think, to be fdbund
in the recorded proceedings of the Peshwas’ Government. But this is
not all,—it is only under the present Government that Inamdars have
been relieved from the constant and heavy exactions to which they
were previously subjected. The Native Government seems to have
exacted from them largely, and if not quite as much as from some other
classes, certainly as much as they required or thought proper. The
differ®nce was in many respects a purely nominal one ; Inamdars did
ngt, as a general rule, pay what ‘was called “ Nuzur,” though it was
frequently levied from them, but they were made to pay in a dozen
other ways, and the Government demands were, if resisted, realized by
a summary process,—the resumption of the Inam. I give below nine
of the heads under which levies from Inamdars were brought to ac-
count, the amount of revenue which was thus realised being shown by
the &ccounts of the late Government to have been very large :—

1. Inam Tizaiee. . 6. Babool Puttee.
2. Kurz Puttee. 7. Swaree Puttee.
3. Ek Salee Puttee. 8. Ambeh Puttee.
4. Duhuk Puttee. 9. Doomalleh Puttee,

e . 9. Inam Puttee.

«Of these; all save Inam Tizaiee have, I believe, been discontinued.

16. Mr. Warden thinks (see paragraph 3 of his letter) that “an Inam
was originally a grant from the rich to the poor for his maintenance” ;
and it seems desirable tosinquire in how far this description can be held
applicable to the Inam tenure as it existed at the conquest of the Dec-
can, because it may fairly be supposed that grants essentially of this
nature must have been exempt from resumption qn almost all of the
grounds shown by the State records to have ‘been those on which
resumptions usuwally took place. What an Inam may have originally
(¢. e. as far back as the seventeenth century, and even earlier) been, it
is, I apprehend, now scarcely possiblc to ascertain with certainty ; nor,
indeed, am I able to perceive that the information, if obtain.able, could
be of any practical use, as we know perfectly well what Inams were
during the Government of the Peshwas, and what they weve when the
Peshwas’ authority gave way to that of Great ‘Britaia. !

17. Looking, then, to the seventy or eighty Years which preceded
the introduction of the British Government,—and for nearly the whole of
which period we have voluminous records,—it will be found that Inams
were indiscrimingtely granted to both rich and poor; very often, doubt-
less, to the latter.for their maintenance, but frequently, also, to thesformer
for their dignity : the instances in whith Inams of considerable value
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werg granted to persons in different gradesof life are very numerous,
angl dannot, in my opinion, be correctly designated as gifts to the poor
for their maintenance, nor'can I suppose that they were ever intended
or considered as such; and still less am I able to view in this light the
bestowal,* in Inam, by the sovereign of a small portion of land, or of a
village worth only a few hundred rupees, upon a powerful tributary
prince ot feudatory already in the possession of estates valued at millions.
I have extracted a few of ghe most striking cases on record, and they
will be found in Statement E appended to this letter. .

18. It is, I believe, equally unsafe rigidly to define (see paragraph 5
'of Mr. Warden’s letter) a Surinjam as ¢ an assigninent to the ngble for
dignity.” Many of the smaller Surinjams were of little value, and
even these were generally service holdings: in these cases, thén, and
when the recipient held nothing else, I cannot look upon an assignment,
valued at sometimes less than one, and very frequently at not more
than three or four thousand rupees, as one granted to uphold the dig-
nity of a noble. I should rather adopt the definition laid down by Mr.
Elphinstone in a letter to the Collector of Poona, dated the 22nd August
1818, and describe such a Surimjam as “allotted in lieu of pay for
service.” .

19. Who were nobles? must first, however, be asked; and this is a
question not very easily answered with regard to a country wheré®, the
transition from the peasant to the prince was so rapid, and not dnfre-
quent. It may yet be safely agserted, that although nobles were
almost universally Surinjamdars, Surinjamdars were not necessarily
nobles,—at least not as we understand and use the term. The small
Paga commanders and Silledars held Surinjams in common with the
Vinchoorkur and the Putwurdhun Chieftains, and many of the inferior
Karkoons were Sprinjamdars equally with Nana Furnavese; but in
these cases the difference of rank and position was just as great as
that which in our own country exists between a tfoop or company
officer and a Commander-in-chief entrusted with the fullest powers, or
between a local Magistrate and one of the Ministers of State. That the
large Surihjams usually granted to great.officers did maintain their
dignity, and were intended so to do, is, I imagine, unquestionable ; but,
on the other hand, a nugerous class egisted, of whom it would be but
correct to say that shey htld Surinjams for their maintenance in return
for service rgndered.®

20. Mr. Warden in his 4th paragraph explains that—.

' % A Buarinjam was of two kinds,—one, called a Fouj Surinjam, was

a grant of land from the sovereign to a noble, to ‘enable him to sup-
o o

. * Nos. 7,8, and 9 of Statement E.* *
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*. port a contingent of troops with which he was bound to take the field
with his lord paramount ; the other, called a Z4t Surinjam, was a dls-
- tinct grant to the same noble, to maintain Que state and dlgmty'as a
feudal Chiettain.”
- But there was a third and important description of Surinjam,--that
granted to civil ministers, and others of the nen-military classes. Itis
fmportant not to lose sight of these Surinjams for Moreshwur Dixit’s
is gne of them, and they were, moreover, deemed by the Governor Ge-
neral and by Mr. Elphinstone not entitled to the consideration shown to
the holdings of the military Chiefs. Mr. Elphinstone observed in para-
geaph 33 of his despatch No. 78, of the 18th June 1818,—

% With 'respect to the old military Jagheerdars, I would by no
meahs recommend the resumption of their lands on the death of the
individuals ; those of civil officers or new Jagheerdars may more
properly be lessened or entirely resumed.”

2. Mr. Warden, in expressing an opinion (see paragraph 5 of hls
letter) that a Surinjam was an assignment ¢ never for a longer period
than the life of the grantee, and that it is, therefore, as great a misappli-
cation of terms to talk of an hereditary Surinjamdar as it is to talk of
an hereditary pension,” has overlooked the fact that the existence of
hereditary Surinjams was pointed out by Mr. Elphinstone in 1838 1o
the Honorable Court of Directors, when explaining some of the general
pnnclples upon which he had in 1819 recommended to the Governor
General that the Deccan Surinjams should be continued :—

“The maintenance [said Mr. Elphinstone] of many of the Chiefsin
their possessionsswvas cértainly suggested, as supposed by the Governor
General, for the purpose of avoiding popular discontent and prevent-
ing the too rapid fall of great families; but in other cases it rested

~ in the belief that the holders were entitled of right ttheir possessions :
where a Jagheer was by the original grant made hereditary in the
family of the grantee, there could be no doubt of the right of the
descendant, but where there was no such grant (as was the case with
almost all the Jagheers), the right rested on different grounds, arising

+ {rom the tenure of Jagheers (or Surinjams, as they are called by the

Murathas).”

22. Again,—on the same occhsion, Mr. Elpﬁmstone, in refernng to
the Surinjam of Sheik Meera Waeekus® adverte;] in terms equally
explicit to the existence of hereditary Jagheers :—

“My lmgressmn is [Mr. Elphinstone said] that Shenk Meera’s an-
cestor commanded a Mogul fort at the time of.the first conquest by the
M“‘"‘“hﬂ% and surrendered on terms, one of which was the recgipt of
an heredatary Jagheer.” * -

4B

-
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23. - Previous to this, however, Mr. Warden himself had alladed 'to.
the existence of hereditary Surinjams. When submitting to Government
in 1834 lists of the Decca® Surinjams, he stated in his letter dated the
3rd January,—

#Sheik Meera Waeekur was a Sattara feudatory Chief, serving the
Raja with a few horse and holding a Surinjam for his life in Khan-
deish. I have referred to his Sunud or title-deed and find that hi®
estate was clearly a life-grant, the customary provision for the
continuancg of it by inheritance, to be found 'in the Sunudsof all

“hereditary Surinjams, being omitted, and the usnal form of life-grant

. adopted.” c "
- 24. One clearly recorded case in point is to be found in the Sunn-
jam granted to the Kuveejung family, the Sunuds for whith are” regis-
tered in the State diaries, and distinctly definc the grant as an hereditary
one, to be continued to the children, male and female ; and tAis very case
was in 1844 specially reported on by Mr. Warden, the Government
having, in the 6th paragraph of their Political Secretary’s letter
No. 994, of the 9th May 1843, ealled for information on the subject in
the following terms :— "

“6. With reference to the 15th paragraph of the Honorable

- Court's despatch, I am direeted to request that you will in the first
instance satisfy yoursell of the authenticity or othcrwise «of.. the

Sunud on which ‘the family of the late Ekhtaz Khan Jung Nugnur-

kur claims, as an bereditary grant, the estate held by the deceased,

and report the result of your investigation to Government, accom-

panied by a literal trar'slation of that docunient. ,On the receipt of

this information the final instructions of Government on this subject
* will be communicated to you.”

This information Mr. Warden supplied in his letter No. 225, of the
29th December 1844, in the 15th paragraph of which Government were
informed as follows :—

«I annex, marked A, a literal transhation of the Sunnd produced by
Ekhtaz dKhan’s son, which is registered in the Peshwa’s Duftur, and
must, therefore, be held to be authentic ; orders to the same effect to
the Mamlutdar and disttict and vxllage ofﬁcers are also pmduced
by this p-erﬂon » <. ©

_The concludmg portiqn of the Sunud above referred te is that in
which the Surmjam is declared hereditary, and this portion was rendered
as follows in the translation which accompanied Mr. Wafllen’s letter :—

“In this manner has the Surinjam grant been made to you, and you
arg,.therefore, requested to assume posselsmn of the shares of the fore-
going villages as formerly, and both you aid yeur children, male and
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female, enjoy. the same, Continue-to render, faithful service to the

State.”

25. The whole of the circumstances detafled in paragraphs 21 to 24
of this letter were doubtless in the recollection of the Honorable the
Court of Directors when, in sanctioning the revised Surinjam lists, they
acknowledged (vide paragraph 17 of Honorable Court’s despatch No. 15,
dated the 22nd May 1849) in the following terms the existence of here-
" ditary Surinjams, and in deing se admitjed the claim of Moreshwux
Dixit Munohur, stated to be in the possession of one :—

« No. 2, Moreshwur Dixit, value Rs. 491.—In this case the Sunud
Js of the date of 1766, but is stated to ,contain fwhat is rare in such
cases] distinet words of inheritance ; this Surinjam, therefore, should

be hereditary.”

26. T have met with another recorded grant of an hereditary Surin-
jam to the Nuwab of Belha, dated 8th Ramzan, Teesa Sumaneen (cor-
respgnding with the 3rd June a. . 1789), the registry of the Sunud
for which is forthcoming in the State diaries, and declares the Surinjam
to be granted to the Nuwab anrd to his offspring (gait ¥ Tua¥ IWYIR
Toognhee wu toomché Buarkhoordar) so long as they may remain faith{ful
servants of the Peshwa’s Government. .

27. Mr. Warden in his 6th paragraph (quoting from memery).dc-
scriQessthe Governor General as having ‘“ordered on the conquest of
the Peshwa’s dominions that the Muratha principles and practice im
this respect should be fpilowed, and that every Surinjam should be re-
sumed at the death of each grantee and be re-granted as an act of
grace.” I would, however, observe, that in regard to a very large num-
ber of the Surinjars it was, from the very first, determined that they
should be life-grants only, and to these, of course, Mr. Warden'’s remarks
are not intended (o apply. But even in the other cases I cannot find
that the Governor General directed the resumption on the death of the
holder, and the re-graat, as an act of grace, of every Swrinjam ; on the
contrary, I find that the Governor *General in Council expressed him-
self as “anxious that the alienations of public revenue, cither in Jagheers,
pensions, or other grants, should be limited as much as pos.sible as to
number, amount, and duration.” ‘(Vide paragraph 5 of letter dated the
4th March 1820, from the Secretary to the Govegnment of India to the
Chief Secretary to the Government of Borgbay?) . =

‘When Mr. Elphinstone proposed to declare® cerfain Surinjams here-
ditary, or whep, at any rate, such was understood to be his proposal, the
Government of India did not concur. This is the occasion to which I
apprehend Mr. Warden must allude, and on this occasion Mr. Elphin-
stone, who had meanwhile become the Governor of- 'Bombayy was
informed in paragrapt’ 13 of letter dated {he 4th March 4824, from the
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Segretary to the Government of India to the Chief Secretary to the'
Government of Bombay,—

‘«§8. With reference to those grants whxch it is proposed to make
hereditary, the Governor General in Council doubts the policy of
making any grants hereditary which may justly be put on the footing
of life-grants, By keeping them as life-grants, Government is by no
means excluded from the power of renewing them if it should be
deemed expedient to de*go, and every renewal will be a fresh aqt of '
grace conferred on the individual receiving it ; but, by now declaring
those grants to be hereditary, Government Would be precluded both
from resuming its rights when it might be necessary to do so and
from conferring favours on the descendants of the Jpresent grantees, and
would thus be deprived of a probable source of future mprovement
in revenue and every other branch of civil administration, as well as
of the means of winning attachment by personal obligation.”

28. Thelastcolumn of Mr. Elphinstone’s list of Jagheersis headed—
# For what period recommended”; and in this column some of the Surin-
jams are marked ¢ Hereditary”; some “ May be diminished at his death”;
some ¢ For life”; and some are not marked atall. From several cirqum-
stances which it is not necessary here to particularise, I inferred on a
former occasion (vide letter to the Inam Commissioner, No. 327, dated
the 21st September 1852) that these unmarked Surinjams were.regom-
mended as life-grahts only; but Mr. Warden has in a note to his Sth
paragraph now explained that they are those upon which Mr. Elphin-
stone did not decide, and in regard to which he submnitted no recom-
mendation, leaving thenr open questions. ¢

29. In previously forming an opinion on this subject, I had not the
personal knowledge possessed by Mr. Warden of the circumstances
(see note to paragraph 8 of Mr. Warden’s letter) under which Mr.
Elphinstone’s lists were framed, and I could, therefore, only look to the
best evidence of the intentions of the framer which was within my
reach. This I sought in Mr. Elphihstone’s own transmitory despatch
(dated the 25th October 1819) to the Governor General, which explained
each « step” (see paragraph 2 of despatch) in “the operation” of pre-
paring the lists, and the 6th paragraph of which stated that *the whole
list was thtn examinedy and decisions, passed upon each case ”; while,
excepting a refererrce in the 13th paragraph to the claims of persons who
had not made their appearance, but were still allowed a hearing, there
was nowhere ny allusion whatever to questions not decided upon or
left open.

80. In my originalreport, No. 327, dated the 21st of September 1852, .
on M6reshwur Dixit'’s Palanquin allowance, Mr. Elphinstone’s lists, and
what I then supposed to have been his recommendatlon, were incidentally
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*alluded to, and nothing more, for the sole object of that report wag to

bring to notice what seemed to me a grave error in the revised lists ; but
I subsequently found that even where it did%seem of importance to as-
certain Mr. Elphinstone’s recommendations, it was not possible todo so
with any degree of security against error, owing to the absence of any
authenticated copy of his lists and the apparently imperfect state of the
only document on record at Poona, which I reperted,in my letter to the
Inam Commissioner, No. 664, of the 29th Dgcembér 1852, as one “ which
is not authenticated, and is full of erasures and alterations,—when made
it is impossible to determine.”

#1. 'The authenticated copy of Mr.,Elphinstone’s original lists,
which, *under the circumstances just mentioned, you applied for, has
now been regeived from Calcutta, and does not differ materially from
the rough draft heretofore in use here; it, however, enables me now to
speak with confidence, and it shows that out of the whole four hundred
and fifteen cases which the lists contain, no less than two hundred and
fifty-€ight are in the same condition as the Surinjam of Moreshwur
Dixit,—that it is to say, they are “unmarked.” (See paragraph 28 of
this letter). The following abstract shows the number of marked® and
unmarked cases in each Class :—

“'—.

. ® Under what Head. Marked. Unmarked.
Sirdars* or great Chiefs....qcovvu.on. . 50 60
Mootsudees. . .. ...t 45 . 13
Hoozrat .................. e 1t 8.
Silledars .. .......oco0 iiiiiiiiien. .. 28 350
Dependents of Foreign States ............ .. 16 .
Paga Chiefs ...........cciiiiiiannnn. 18 14
Killedars...........cooiiiiiiiiinan.. .. 12
Kitta .. ... e e i 5 . ° 10

Total. . .. 157 258
[ ]

Out of the above two hundred and fifty-cight unmarked cagcs, about
one hundred and twenty appear to be those of absentees.

32. In affording, in my letter to the Inam Commissioner, No. 42,
dated the 17th January 1853, some supplementa®y informatidn regard-
ing Moreshwur Dixit’s case, I adverted to the somewﬂat imperfect state
of these lists in the following terms :—

“Mr. Elphinstone forwarded these lists to the *Supreme Govern-
ment just when he was leaving the Deccan, Commission; it seems
. probable that their completion may have been somewhat hurried, and

L]
® This Class includes the dependents of the Raja of Akulkste.
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that this may account for their not being so perfectly framed as

would otherwise have b.een the case. It may turn out, however, that

the lists transmitted were more complete than the drafts which alone

were apparently retained for record, and in this case the coples which

have been applied for will be all that we require.”

The authenticated copies have now been received from Calcutta, and
a careful examination of them has satisfied me that they should always
be referred to in connection with the other forthcoming English and
Murathee reeords, and that they should be held to be authoritative only
after collation with these documents. Of course I here refer to the detail
of the lists; and as exactly illustrating my meaning, I cannot de better
than quote the 9th, 10th, and 11th paragraphs of a report which I
recently submitted to the Inam Commissioner, (No. 128, dated the 15th
March 1853,) and in which I had occasion to allude to this subject :—

«9, Much stress is sometimes laid on the propriety of preserving
intact Mr. Elphinstone’s arrangements, and in this opinion generally
I entirely concur; but I conceive that in speaking of Mr. Elphin-
stone’s arrangements we speak of the principles which he laid down
so clearly and so minutely as those on which his scttlementewas
made, and that we do not purpose to take for granted that all the
detail was necessarily correct. Indeed, we cannot do so, for we con-
stantly find instances proving the contrary. One has come umder my
obsetvation while making this inquiry, and it is such a very st[riking
one that it is worth while to record it. .

%10. The Surinjam of Saojee Nimbalkur (including the village of
Sherusnee, now reporfed on) is entered as No.8 in the Class of ¢ Paga
Chiefs’ in Mr. McDonnell’s list of Jagheers (which list is nothing
more than a detailed statement of the Surinjams entered in Mr.
Elphinstonc’s Kst of Jagheers transmitted to the Supreme Government
on the 25th October 1819), and the Mokassa and Nimchowtaiee
Umuls of the village are therein shown as belonging to Government.
But in another portion of Mr. M¢Donnell’s list the Mokassa Umul is
shown ,as forming part of the Surinjam of Umursing Jadow Rao,
whose name will be found upder the head of Sirdars, No. 28.

“11. In the (Chor Chittees) orders of release issued by the Com-
missiorkr, copies ofcwhich have becn forwarded to me by the Agent
for Sirdars, andiher mistake is apparent, the Mokassa Umul having
been cortinued in twd places. Itis released as forming portion of the
‘Burinjam of Umursing Jadow Rao (Sirdarg, No. 28), and it is also
released as forming a portion of the Surinjam of Saojee Nimbalkur
_ (Paga Chiefs, No. 8).” .

33" The principle upon which Tnams angd Surinjams were continued
by Mr., Elphlinstone is adverted to in the 10th paragraph of Mr.
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*Warden’s letter. With Inams I have at present nothing to do, but ot
so as regards Surinjams, the inquiry regarding which Mr. Warden ex-
plains to have been—¢ whether it had been, hotwever possession may have
been in the interval disturbed, first granted by the dynasty which the
British Government succeeded, or whether a stronger prescriptive
title had been established by the ability to trace the original grant to
the Rajas of Sattara or the Mahomedan rulers of the Deccan.”

* But this is exactly opposed to the principle laid down in the Govern-
ment letter, as I understand it, (vide paragraphs 58 to 61 of this letter,)
which directed the revision of Mr. Warden’s lists, and it is on the
pripcipl.e which [ suppose to have been lajd down by the Government
that I am conducting my inquiry.

34. € do npt attempt here to look back to Mr. Elphinstone’s recom-
mendations, because I apprenend the question to be one arising solely
with reference to the Rules laid down by the Honorable the Court of
Dircctors on which the revised Surinjam lists were ordered to be
framed. When the Honorable Court specified a. p. 1751 as the limit
(vide paragraph 9 of the Honorable Court’s despatch No. 17, dated the
26th October 1842), and declared that all grants of an earlier date
shoufd be considered hereditary, they must, I imagine, have contem-
plated not only possession previous to 1751, but also enjoyment sub-
sequent to that date,—at least, so it seems to me ; for otherwise, a Surin-
jam granted just before 1751 and under resumption for thirty or fory
years of the period intervening between the original grant and the [all
of the Peshwa, would become an hergditary one, while another grant
made in 1752 and held from that date to the brcaking out of the war,
would have no claim to hereditary continuance, ’although actually
enjoyed during a much longer period.

35. This secms the proper place to record what has taken place
with regard to the Deccan Surinjams generally, fiom the date of Mr.
Elphinstone’s first settlement up to the present time. This stalement
will, I believe, be useful in clearing up more than one doubt, and espe-
cially in removing a misapprehension which, judging from several
paragraphs (12, 28, and 31) of Mr. Warden's letter, secms to €xist, that
we have questioned, or are about to question in 1853, the decisions
passed by Mr. Elphinstone in 1819 in favour of individuals, « merely
because we can no longer discover the motivesswhich actuated him to
restore grants,” Such a }iroceeding has, as fas as ¥ am awgre, neither
been ordered nor authorised by Government, and nothisg of the sort
has most certainly ever been contemplated by me. °

36. On the 18th June 1818 Mr. Elphinstone submitted to the Gover-
nor General « a genéral view of the measures adopted for the settlement
of the Peshwa’s late \counp'y,” and “ sugyestions on the, plans” which
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seamed “best snited to the completion of that object.” One of the most’
important subjects discussed . was the best method of providing for the
Jagheerdars whom the évents of the war had deprived of their power
and possessions. It was proposed to do this by leaving them their
personal Jagheers, and by pensioning on moderate sums the few not so
provided for. As a measure of policy, Mr. Elphinstone also recommend-
ed “pensions to some of the old Ministers of the State, reduced to
poverty by the persecution ¢f Bajee Rao,—a sort of bounty that would "
be more popuylar than the provision for that Prince’s own Ministers.”

37. The above was the arrangement proposed with regard to the
Jagheerdars generally,—therg were exceptions, such as the Putwurdhun
Chiefs, Appa Desaee, the Punt Suchew, and others, whose possessions
were subsequently specially fixed on different principles. « These
Jagheerdars formed, and continue to form a separate class, and it will not
be necessary further to advert to them in this letter.

38. Mr. Elphinstone calculated that the available revenue would fall
short of forty lakhs, and proposed several additional measures,’to be
adopted in the event of the Governor General deeming the amount
insufficient to meet the purposes to which His Excellency might mtend
to allot it; one of these measures (vide paragraph 33 of despatch)
being the “recovery” of the pensions to civil and rmhtary officers, “by
resumptions from the personal Jagheers.”

39. A marked distinction was proposed to the Governor "Géneral
to be made between the Jagheers of the mlhtary and those of civil offi-
cers,—Mr. Elphinstone observmg in paragraph 33 of his despatch,—

« With respect to «the old military Jagheerdars, I would by no

means recommend the resumption of their lands on the death of the

* individuals; those of civil officers or new Jagheerdars may more
properly be lessened or entirely resumed.”

40. On the 26th September 1818 the Chief Secretary to the Govern-
ment 8 India replied to the despatch, the important portions of which,
affecting the subject-matter of this réport, I have quoted in the preceding
paragraph ; and Mr, Elphinstone was informed that his financial calcula-
tions were approved of, in the following terms :—

“The statement glven by you of the revenues of the territories of
the late Peshwa rémaining in thé hands of the British Government,
after meeting ‘all the defnands on us arising from the circumstances
under whth they were acquired, is satisfactory, and appears to have
been framed by you on such notions and moderate principles as
to afford just grounds for the belief that no disappointment will be
experienced through any unexpected defalcatiod.”

41. In the proposal to Pcdntinue-generaﬂy the personal Surinjams, or
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‘an equivalent for them, the Government of India entirely concurped,
and observed in paragraph 16 of their letter,—

“The projosal for allowing this class o!’ persons [the Jagheerc.lars]
and the other holders of lands for their ‘personal expenses to retain
the enjoyment of the lastmentioned description of grants, is founded
on principles of wise and liberal policy, and has the perfect concur-
rence and sanction of the Governor General in Council, subject to
such special arrangements and provisions as you may judge neces-
sary in apportioning the grants, with a view to make distinctions
according to individual desert, and to leave at the same time some
dund, to provide for persons similarlyeentitled to consideration, but
who did not derive their support from grants of land.”

42. *The 21st and 22nd paragraphs of the Chief Secretary’s despatch
(below quoted) sanctioned the assignment of pensions to those whose
personal Jagheers were to be resumed, and to the old Ministers of thé
Statq reduced to poverty by the persecution of Bajec Rao.

“21. You areauthorised to assign suitable but moderate pensions
to such of the officers of the latc Peshwa’s service as are not provided
for by having their personal Jagheers left to them.

«“22. The arrangements you propose regarding the civil officers
of the late Government, and some of the old Ministers of the Poona
Steté reduced to poverty by the persecution of Bajee Rao, are «n-
tirely approved by the Governor General in Council. Your excluding
from these arrangements those individuals who remained with Bajee
Rao up to the last is also approved.”

43. I have already stated (paragraph 38 of this letter) that Mr.
Elphinstone had proposed to reduce the personal Jagheers in the event
of any increase of the available revenue of the country being deemed
absolutely required : this, however, the Government of India did not con-
sider necessary, although it was distinctly intimated that the alienation
of revenue which these liberal arfangements involved was sanctioned,
not as a permanent, but as a prospectively diminishing one. The 29th
paragraph of the despatch which conveyed these instructioms is given
below entire, and preserves, it will be observed, the distinction which
Mr. Elphinstone proposed (see paragraph 20 of this letter) to make
between grants to civil and military officers ofthe Peshwa's Govern-

ment :— . .
L]

“29. The tranquillity of the country and the futurg success of our
administration.are so much involved in the grant of liberal provisions
to the civil and military officers of the late Government, that the
Governor General in Council would feel very much averse to sapction

any reduction of the amdunt appropriated to that purpose. Many of
JB - -
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these are for life, and will ultimately increase the revenue of Govern-
ment ; and they will mdlrectly have the same effect by their influence
on the general prospenty and productiveness of our possessions.
The Governor General in €ouncil does not by any means contemplate
a general resumption of the Jagheers, especially those held by mili-
tary officers. Every fair occasion, however, should be taken, to
resume or curtail Jagheers falling in by the death of the holder.”

44. Such was the plan proposed by Mr. Elphinstone, and sanctioned
by the Government of India, for “restoring the personal lands of the
Chiefs, Ministers, and other Jagheerdars of the Muratha Government,”
and the completion of which was reported in Mr. Elphinstone’s
despatch of the 25th October 1819. I propose to quote the whole of this
despatch, and of the detailed Rules which accompanied #t, because it
is of great importance to show how very fully Mr. Elphinstone explained
o the confirming authority the considerations which influenced his recom-
mendalions in each case :— ,

«1, I have the honour to report the completion of the plan’ pro-
posed in my despatch No. 78, for restoring the personal lands of the
Chiefs, Ministers, and other Jagheerdars of the Muratha Government.

«2. The first step in this operation was to extract from the Pesh-
wa’s Duftur a full account of each Jagheer, and to ascertain, as
correctly as possible, the character and history of each Jagkeerdar,
with the time when he made his submission to the British Govern-
ment. This was done immediately after the war.

« 3. The Collectors were next furnished with lists of the personal
Jagheers, and requested to ascertain their hetual value, and whether
they were in force up to the breaking out of the war.

«“4, Aftertime had been allowed for this inquiry, a preclamation
was published,<calling on all who had claims to Jagheers to appear
and show their Sunuds, with lists of their personal lands, acquainting
them that it was in the contemplation of His Excellency the Most
Noble the Governor General to make some provision for them, and
apprising them that none who did not appear before the 15th Sep-
tember would be attended to.

« 5. Theinvestigation was now committed to Mr. McDonnell, who
proceedtd to compare the statements of the Jagheerdars with those
drawn up in the Duftur, checking both by the accounts received
from the Collectors. ‘A complete register was framed on this com-
parison, showing the name of the holder of each Jagheer; the date
and nature of the grant ; the situation of the lands, and the sources of
revenue when not dra:wn from land ; with the Kumal or highest reve-
nue, the revenue as stated by the J agheexdar, and actual collections
as reported by our officers.
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«B, The whole list was then examined, and decisions passed on
each case. ’ .

«7. All vrere left in possession of their lands except such as were
granted as late as Bajee Rao’s time, to whom pecuniary pensions
were assigned. .

«8, All Jagheers held by ancient and great families were recom-
mended to be hereditary (but no communication has been made on
this subject to the holders). Those which were to cease at the death
of the present possessors were specified, and where any allowance was
to be continued to their heirs it was likewise noted down.

o “9. Besides these principles whiche determined the grant, other
detailed Rules were drawn out regarding the manner of executing it,
and d#re enelosed (No.1). The object of them was to consolidate

Jagheers, and to provide in various particulars for the convenience of

Government and the accommodation of the Jagheerdars.

«10. The enclosed statement No. 2 shows the result of the above
inquiries, and the decisions passed on them. Where the principles
and rules laid down have been departed from, the reasons are always
stated in detail; a short account of each of the principal persons is

- also given.

«“11. No. 3 is an abstract of No. 2; the Jagheers in Sattara were
afterwards deducted. 'The balance shows what is still to be paid by
the” British Government,—it amounts to Rs. 7,46,269-13-0 of actual
collections ; but as many are already in possession, and others have
not appeared, the actual deduction from our future revenue will not
amount to this sum. . .

«12. Thereason why those who have not appeared are still allowed
a hearing on accounting for their absence is, that it is probable they
also held them as Inams (a case not unfrequent), and have, therefore,
been already put in possession ;—this would sufficiently account for
their non-appearance.”

The following are the detailed Rtiles which are referred to in the 9th
paragraph of the letter juet quoted :—

¢ General Rules.

“I. When a Jagheerdar has no fixed villeges for his®personal
Tynat, he is to receive villages of the average goodness of the Purguna,
the Tunkha of which shall amount to the sul fixed for his personal
Tynat. In cases where the grant to the Jagheerdags h%s been regu-
lated by the Kumal instead of the Tunkha, he will receive villages
the Kumal of which will amount to his personal Tynat. A Jagheer-
dar may be allowed to select a village for his residence, the rest Will
be fixed by Governmetit, as may be most cogvenient ; and if he,should
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- Willingly take money instead, it will be so much the better,—the sum'
to,be something above the actual collection from the villages he would

' otherwise receive.

" «II. Where a large proportion consists in partial collections in
money and kind, on the lands of other persons, (Umul) one village
may be granted, and the rest of the personal allowance made in money ;
the amount to be regulated by an average of the collection from these
sources. . .

“II1. The same scale may be adopted, when not particularly in-
convenient, even if the whole Jagheer should consist of Umuls.

“IV. The holders of Mokassa in districts where the revepue has
much declined would probably accept of a fixed pecuniary payment,
which, though much inferior to what the Mokassa would Hereafter
rise to, will still be considerably abovc the receipts from that source.
Bargains of this kind ought always to be concluded when they ap-
pear favourable to Government: when Mokassa is derivable frc:m the
villages in the possession of foreign States, the Jagheerdar is to be
allowed to collect them according to former practice, unless they have
been exchanged or ceded; in the former case compensation wjll be
made by Government, but in the latter none.

“V. The above rule is applicable to Jagheers; it should be
recommended to Government to exchange any that lie wi,thip the
territories of foreign powers. ‘

“ VI. Where money is given in licu of Jagheers situated in Sat-
tara, the sum is to be paid by the Raja who is to receive the villages.

“VII. No Surinjam ceded to the British Government by the
Treaty of 1817, and no Jagheer not actually enjoyed up to the war,
to be restored, unless specially directed so to be.

“VIII. Tn,all cases of Mootsudees, where they do not reside
upon their Jagheer, and have no particular ground of attachment to
it, a pecuniary payment, somewhat exceeding the produce of the

. Jagheer, ought to be made, instéad of actual restoration, unless in
peculiar cases, which will be spebiﬁcd in the list and marked ¢land.’

“IX. In cases where members of the Hoozrat, and other persons
whose Jagheer it is absolutely necessary to continue, have a large

- share aof their resougces within the Nizam’s country, an application

must be made ¢o that prigce to continue them in the same manner as
Inams.” Co

, .
[Either a paragraph (X.) has been omitted, or the last two paragraphs have been wrongly
. numbered. Captain Cowper’s Office copy of these Rules, and that on the records of the
Bombay Government, have been found to contain the same error. It has not been thought
nesessary to delay this report pending a reference to Calcutta.]
[ )
“«XI, Ditto ditto ditto Paga Chiefs.

-
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-« XTII. A list of the Jagheers of Ministers of foreign States te be
sent to the Residents at the Courts of those States, and their opigions
to be solicit:d confidentially as to the expediency of continuing
them.”

45. A perusal of this despatch and its accompaniments, (the detail-
ed Rules referred to in the 9th paragraph of the despatch,) and of the
detailed statement of Jagheers prepared by Mr. Elphintone’s Secretary
and retained at Poona, coupled with the knowledge of the previously
recorded discussion to which I have adverted, has certainly left me
under the impression, not that Mr. Elphinstone failed to record the mo-
tires and considerations which prompted him, but that he did record
them with an accuracy and minuteness almost unexampled. In this,
as in all othe} cases, not the least of the merits of Mr. Elphinstone’s
arrangements consisted in their admitting of such easy explanation,
which from first to last that statesman seems to have considered it his
bounden duty to afford even in matters comparatively unimportant.
M:z. Elphinstone, in adhering scrupulously to a system which must have
imposed on him no small amount of additional labour, was actuated, I
doubt not, by a conviction of the immense advantage of enabling* the
Governor General, in deciding on all questions submitted to him, to d~
so with a full knowledge of every consideration which had influenced
himMr. Elphinstone) in proposing them.

46." The transmission on the 25th October 1819 of these lists of
Jagheers, and of otherwof pensions which immediately followed them
on the 26th October 1819, was one of the last of the official acts of Mr.
Elphinstone as Cogmissioner and before proceeding to Bombay, to the
Government of which he stood appointed. In some respects it was not
to be supposed that the lists could be complete,—indeed, as regarded
the pension lists, Mr. Elphinstone himself specially drew the attention
of the Government of India to the fact that they were not so, and Mr.
‘Warden has from personal knowledge now pointed out (note to paragraph
8 of Mr. Warden’s letter) that mapy of the Surinjams were altogether
left unsettled, although included in the lists. Here, again, the wonder
seems to be, not that a little should have remained to be done, and that,
owing to the necessity of trusting a good deal to imperfect information,
error should here and there have «crept in, but timt a task of*such mag-
nitude should have been so well and so thoroughly completed in so short

a time, under such circumstances.
’

. '!‘he lOt!1 paragraph of Mr. Elphinstone’s despatch, quoted in the last paragraph, seems
sufficiently distinct on this point, as it informs the Governor General that the lists of Jagheers
were framed generally according to the Rules previously laid down, and copy of whichaccom-
panied the despatch, and it further states that where the principles and rules laid down have

been, departed from, the reasons are always stated in detay. .
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49. In duve course, Mr. Elphinstone’s proposed settlement was
revigwed by the Government of India, it having meanwhile, however,
been discovered that the realizable revenue of the conquered territory
would fall greatly short of the amount calculated upon by Mr. Elphin-
stone when making his proposals,and by the Government of India when
generally approving of them. Under these circumstances, the following
despatch was on the 4th March 1820 forwarded from the Secretary to
the Government of India to that of Bombay :—

“I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of the despatches of the
25th and 26th October from the Honorable the late Commissioner in
the territories conquered frem the Peshwa, relating to Jagheers and
pensions, either promised or proposed.

«2. The contents of these despatches have been for sonie time
under the consideration of the Governor General in Council.

«3. His Lordshiprecognises in them an adherence to the principles
laid down in the instructions of 26th September 1818. ,

«“4, Since that period, however, a considerable diminution has
taken place in the hopes then framed of an efficient revenuc from the
conquered country, applicable to the general service of the State. From
the latest calculations received, it now appears that, considering the
ostensible magnitude of the conquest, the aid to be derived from it to
our resources is likely, in comparison, to be scanty even in prospegct, or
at any rate much inferior to what was at first expected.

#5. This consideration makes the Govergor General in Council
anxious that the alienations of public revenue, either in Jagheers,
pensions, or other granfts, should be limited %s much as possible as to
number, amount, and duration.

«“6. I am, therefore, directed to convey to you His Lordship’s
request that the Honorable the Governor in Council will be pleased
to revise the lists transmitted with the despatches now acknowledged,
with a view to the reduction, if practicable, of the expense which
they menace. °

«7. Itis for several reasons mexped1ent that this revision shall be
attempted here, and the Governor General in Council is satisfied that

_ it can only be accomplished satisfactorily by the Honorable the

Governot in Councik .

“8. I am, consequently, instructed to confine my communication
to a few observations. ©

“9. Where the faith of Government is pledged by the promise of
the Honorable the late Commissioner, it is not, of course, the wish of
the Governor General in Council that any infraction of that promise

shotld take place.
«10., Where it isdeemed essential by the Honorable the Governor
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in Council, for the tranquillity of the country or on other important
grounds of political expediency, that the grant proposed should take
effect, the Gevernor General in Council Will rest with entire confi-
dence on his judgment.

«11. But His Lordship trusts that cases may be found in which
neither good faith will be violated, nor the tranquillity of the country
endangered, nor essential plans of policy frustrated by reduction.

,%12. The following are instances which have casually struck the
Governor General in Council, and which His Lordship desires me
to point out as illustrative of the sentiment expressed in the preced-
ing paragraph, without intending that these should be considered as
the only instances seeming to require revision :—

®1s¢.—The case of the sons of Balajee Koonjur. Itappears from
the note annexed to this number in the list that Balajee Koonjur
had been long employed to intrigué with Sindia against the British

Government, and continued this occupation till his dying day. It

appears that his sons are supposed to be rich. The Governor Ge-

neral in Council is not sensible of the expediency of granting them

g pension, unless there be special reasons for it which have escaped

His Lordship’s notice. .

«Ind.—~The case of Naroo Punt Aotee, the former Governor of

Ryghur. It appears that he broke a capitulation, that his generai

conduct has been bad, and his character infamous. The remark on

the first case applieg also to this. ,

“13. With reference to those grants which it is proposed to make
hereditary, the Goyernor*General in Council ddubts the policy of mak-
ing any grants hereditary which may justly be put on the footing of
life-grants. By keeping them as life-grants, Government is by no
means excluded from the power of renewing them if it should be
dcemed expedient to do so, and every renewal will be a fresh act of
grace conferred on the individual receiving it; but by now declaring
those grants to be hereditary, Government would be precluded both
from resuming its rights when it might be necessary to do so, and
from conferring favours on the descendants of the present grantees,
and would thus be deprived of a probable source of future improve-
ment inrevenue and every other branch of ciwil adminis#ration, as
wellas of the means of winning attachment by persdnal obligation.

‘.‘ 14. Observing the pensions of the ofd (Government, partly
religious, are proposed to be continued to the estimated extent of
Rs. 5,00,000, the Governor General in Council is desirous of having
the present opinion of the Honorable the Governor in Council, with
reference to our disappointmentin the expectation of greater resoutces
from the conquered territories, as to the expediency ofcarrying into
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effect the proposed additional grant of Rs. 2,00,000 for the support of’
the Hindoo religion.

‘“15. When the arrangements respecting Jagheers, pensions, &c.
be completed, the Governor General in Council will be glad to
receive a statement of all Inams, Jaidads, Jagheers, pensions, Nem-
nooks, Wurshasuns, and other allowances, in order that a complete
knowledge may be obtained at one view of the amount of alienations
of the public revenue in the territories conquered from the Peshwa, "
whether granted by us or confirmed by us on the grants of preceding
Governments.”

48. The Government of Bombay, of which Mr. Elphinstone was then
the hcad, replied, through their Chief Secretary, on the 11th May follow-
ing, as follows :— .

“I am directed by the Honorable the Governor in Council to
acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 4th March, on the sub-
ject of the Jagheers and pensions, either promised or proposed to be
granted by the late Commissioner in the conquered territories.

¢« 2. The Governor in Council is deeply sensible of the necessity
of economy, and would willingly adopt every practicable megns of
reducing the expenses with which our recent conquest from the
Peshwa is burdened, but on the most careful revision he finds it
impossible to effect any considerable saving. .

« 3. 'The Jagheers and pensions to individuals originated 'in the
peculiar manner in which public services were remuneratecd under
the Peshwa’s Government, as explained in the report of the late
Commissioner, and were conceived by hinrto be so necessary that he
proposed a larger expenditure than the present in his first estimate
sent to the Supreme Government in charge of Mr. F. W. Russell on
the 8th March 1818, at which time he calculated the profits of the
conquest at a much lower rate than at present.

«“4, Independent of the considerations which determined the
original amount of the grants and appear to the Governor in Council
to be still in force, almost the whole of those grants have now been
issued, and the individuals have been told that they will enjoy them
for life.

“5.« No grant of any description has been declared hereditary, the
distinction in the list of Jagheers transmitted to the Supreme Govern-
ment into hereditary and for life being intended as a suggestion for
the future‘regulation of the Government, but having in no instance
been communicated to the party concerned.

“6. The Governor in Council is of opinion that the grants marked

Itereditary should be continued to the heirs of the present occupants;
but he entirely concurs with His Excellenty the Most Noble the
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Governor General in Council in respect to the expediency of rentw-
ing the grant on the death of each incumbent. Government will,
indeed, be at liberty to exercise its discretion in granting or withhold-
ing the renewal on such occasions, except in the case of what is
termed Padshaee grants, which the Governor in Council conceives
ought in all cases to be renewed; and of the more ancient grants by
the Rajas of Sattara, which should be treated with similar attention.

7. With regard to the instances noticed in your communiecation,
as to the Jagheers conferred on unworthy persons, the «Governor in
Council observes, that after the principle of continuing their personal
landg to all Jagheerdars had once been determined on, it required
clear grounds of demerit to resume them in any particular case.
The Political offences of Ballajee Koonjur, for example, were not con-
sidercd sufficient to exclude his sons from the benefit of the rule
adopted ; but the treachery of Naroo Punt Aotee having been clearly
established since the report alluded to was transmitted, it has been
decided that he has forfeited all claim to this provision.

“8. With regard to religious grants, the Governor in Council is
led to believe that they will not exceed one-half of the Rs. 2,00,000,
of which sum at least Rs. 50,000 is allowed to supply the place of an
expenditure by the Peshwa of Rs. 5,00,000 for the encouragement of
learngd Brahmins. Part of the remaining sum will be laid out on
public education and the circulation of printed tracts, as recom-
mended in the late Commissioney’s report,—a point to which the
Governor in Council attaches the utmost importance. '

“9. Before concluding this letter, the Governor in Council thinks
it necessary to remark that the amount of the Jagheers and pensions
will soon be diminished by the death of the present incumbents,
many of whom are men advanced in life. The spumber that has
fallen in alrcady is for this reason considerably above what might
have been expected.

“10. The statement requiredein the last paragraph of your letter
was transmitted with the late Cofmissioner’s reports as far as could
be made out from the Peshwa’s records, and the experience of the
Collectors has not yet been sufficient to admit of their framing other
Statements, on the accuracy of which some gependence, could be
placed. They are, however, actually engaged on ¢his investigation,
the result of which will probably show 'a censiderable reduction in
the total amount of allowances of this description.” »

49. ) Otf the 17th of the succeeding month (June) the Government
of India Yleld-ed to Mr. Elphinstone’s opinion, and concurred in the _pro-
Posed expenditure (with, however, a marked allusion to the necessity of

1ts not I;eing allowed to hecome a permanent one) in the following terms.
B [ ]
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* «The Honorable the Governor in Council being of opinion that it

is impossible to effect any considerable saving in the Jagheers and
pensions with which the territory conquered from the Peshwa is bur-
dened, the Governor General in Council, in reliance on the judg-
ment of the Governor in Council, has only to express his own con-
currence, trusting that advantage will be taken of every proper oppor-
tunity to reduce the expenses incurred.”

50. Thus closed the discussion on the first portion of the transac-
tions now uader review. The supreme authority in India deemed it
proper to defer to Mr. Elphinstone’s local knowledge and experience,
and no one questioned the scundness of the policy. But while dwell-
ing on this, it is important not to lose sight of the fact that Mr. Elphin-
stone’s arrangements were, in the first instance, provisional ones only,
and that when they received confirmation, they did so only as invnlving
present and not permanent alienations of revenue. The Government of
India, when eventually sanctioning the former, deprecated, as they had
always done, the latter.

51. The comprehensive statement with which the Government of
India desired in the 15th paragraph of their Secretary’s letter dated the
41th March 1820 to be furnished, on the completion of the arrangements
respecting Jagheers and other alienations, appears not to have been
prepared, (Chief Secretary’s memorandum No. 3674, of the 23rd August
1852,) and the general subject does not seem to have come under the
consideration of the Bombay Gevernment again until 1832, in which
year the Deputy Agent for Sirdars (Mr. J. Warden), when referring to
an amended list of pensions which had been recently framed, suggested
(letter No. 93, of the 7th November 1832, to the Secretary to Government
in the Political Department) that ¢ the Right Honorable the Governor
in Council would find a similar document in respect to the personal
Surinjams of the Deccan equally valuable.”

52. Mr. Warden also pointed out the necessity of establishing some
uniformity in practice with regard to these Surinjams, and stated,—

« As each of these falls in, His i.ordship in Council is troubled with
correspondence and recommendations, and so different have the
decisions sometimes been on cases of a similar kind, that no uniform
principie for the future can be said to be yet established.”

63. Governmént having. approved of Mr. Warden’s proposal, the
lists were prepared by him, and having been revised by the Agent for
Sirdars, Mr. Marriott, were submitted to the Honorable Court of Direc-
tors, who, however, decided on making a still more liberal provision for
the Jagheerdars, for reasons subsequently explained, in their despatch
No.°17, of the 26th October 1842, to the. Government of Bombay to

have been,—
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¢« Although this arrangement [the arrangement proposed in the lists
prepared by Messrs. Warden and Marriott] would not have violated
any pledge given to the Jagheerdars, it was greatly at variance with
the recorded intentions of Mr. Elphinstone; and after having com-
municated with that gentleman on the subject, we forwarded to the
Government of India the substance of a paper received from him, the
principles laid down in which we desired might be conformed to in
reconsidering the subject.

*« Mr. Elphinstone observed that the maintenance of many of the
Chiefs in their possessions was suggested for the purpose of avoiding
popular discontent, and preventing the tgo rapid fall of great families;
but that in other cases it was recommended in the belief that the
holdess werg entitled of right to an hereditary tenure, not (in general)
by express grant, but by length of possession. This remark, he said,
was applicable to all those families which had held their Jagheers
from the time of the Mogul Emperors or the Rajas of Sattara.

«% The Jagheerdars of the Peshwa,’ said Mr. Elphinstone, ¢stood on
a different footing: they had arisen under the dynasty which we
subverted ; none could have been in possession for more than seventy
yedYs; and they had been kept in mind, by the exaction of service, as
well as by occasional resumptions, of the real nature and extent of
their tenure. Much consideration was, however, due to them as the
actifgl ‘possessors of power, and they were allowed to retain their per-
sonal lands for one or more generations, according to their merits or
importance.’ ¢ *

“Mr. Elphinstone thys recognised two clagses of Jagheerdars,—
those of the Mogul Emperors and the Rajas of Sattara,—whose lands he
recommended should be hereditary in the fullest sense of the word;
and those of the Peshwa, who had a claim to hold their lands for one
or more generations.” St
54. The foregoing instructions were issued by the Honorable Court

on the 7th February 1838, and in«conformity to them, the Agent for
Sirdars was on the 6th November following directed to prepare and
submit to Government ‘revised lists of the Jagheerdras, and the Rules
for succession to their estates.”

55. Revised lists were accordingly prepared by the Agent and

submitted to the Honorable Court, who, however, disapproved of them,
pointing out (in their despatch of the 26th‘Octobers1842, Ng. 17) that
th?ir Previous orders (those quoted in paragraph 53 of this leiter) had been
misunderstood, and calling for new lists in the followinhg terms :—

“6. In' attempting to apply those principles to the various cases
}mder review, Mr. Mills, the Acting Agent for Sirdars, has falen
Into a misapprehension which you have failed to correct.
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7. He affirms that none of the Deccan Surinjams come within®

Mr. Elphinstone’s First Class, all of them being grants made since
thé Peshwas commenced to reign. This result is arrived at by
assuming that Ballajee Wishwanath, the first Peshwa, commenced
to reign in a. 0. 1714, while the earliest grants of which the date is
known are of 1719. °

“ 8, Butit is only by a complete historical error that all acts of
the Muratha Government subsequent to 1714 can be considered as
acts of the Peshwas, in contradiction to the Rajas of Sattara. Ballajee
Wishwanath was appointed Peshwa in 1714, but so far was he from
obtaining undisputed contrpl over the Raja that, upon his death in
October 1722, his son, Bajee Rao, was not appointed to the office 'of
Peshwa until seven months after his father’s decease, the duties of
the office being discharged during the interval by the other Ministers
of the Raja. Even Bajee Rao, though he made long strides towards
the permanent establishment of the power of his family, can only be
considered as the principal officer and Minister of Shahoo Raja;
the supreme authority over the Raja and the Muratha State was first
usurped by the son of Bajee Rao (Ballajee Bajee Rao). This usurpa-
tion, however, was not effected in the lifetime of Shahoo Raja,*who
was never deprived of personal liberty or sovereign authority as
far as he chose to retain it, and exercised it shortly before his death
in 1749, by naming Ram Raja his successor; it is from the frotibled
period which immediately succeeded this event that the sovereignty of
the Peshwas is most unexceptionably dated, and the year 1751 may
be fairly assumed as the epoch of its commgncement.

«“9. We direct, therefore, that all Jagheers in €lass I. of Mr. Mills’
list which bear dates anterior to 1751 be, as Mr. Elphinstone recom-
mends, hereditaryin the fullest sense of the word, together with those
of which the dates are unknown, but which are known to be ancient.
The latter class, though small, includes the three resumed Jaghcers
of Shaik Meera, Shumshere Bahadoor, and Yeshwunt Rao Dabharee.
'The first of these, already restorad to the son of the last holder, but
for life only, must be considered hereditary ; the second and third,
which are now under attachment, must, if there be any direct heirs,
be restored ; and in all three cases the reccipts from the date of
attachment must bé accounted for fo the Jagheerdars.

“10. In addmon to these ancient Jagheers, all those of more re-
cent daté, which were granted in commutation for the resumption of
ancient possessions (whichis known to havé been the case with some),
are entitled in like manner to an hereditary tenure.

Je11. With respect to the Jagheers of more modern origin, Mr.
Mills has falleninto another error in supposing us to have determined
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that all estates which were marked ¢ hereditary’ in Mr. Elphinstqne’s
original recommendation should be hereditary. On the contrary,
we expressly declared our intention to be only ¢ that Mr. Elphinstbne’s
schedules should be compared with those submitted with the letters
under reply, in order that, in any case where the latter are less favour-
able to the parties, it may be deliberately considered which of the
two should be acted upon.’ .

¢ 12, With regard to Surinjam grants bearing date subsequent to
1951, resumption after a second generation from the conquest, making
a pensionary provision equal to half the net proceeds of the Surinjam
lands for the generation next succeeding, should be the general rule;
but I cases in which Mr. Elphinstone may have recommended a
more,extended provision, it should be deliberately considered by you
and the Governor General in Council whether the services or merits
of the family, or the popularity which would attach to the act, furnish
an adequate inducement to make an exception to the rule, by prolong-
ingefor a further term the tcnure of either the whole or a portion of the
Jagheer. We would make these exceptions liberally, and we would
extend them, where similar reasons recommend their adoption, evento
cades not mentioned with particular favour by Mr.Elphinstone.”

56. On the 9th May 1843 the Agent for Sirdars was desired to

carry out the Honorable Court’s orders, and the following detailed iu-
structions were furnished in the 8rd and 4th paragraphs of the Political
Sccretary’s letter No. 994 :— .

“3. I am further directed to request that, in conformity with the
orders contained,in the despatch from the Honorable Court of
Dircctors, you will most carefully revise thc amended lists of Dec-
can Jagheerdars submitted to Government by your predecessor, Mr.
Mills, in October 1840 and June 1841, and remodél with great care
those lists, on the principles laid down in that despatch.

«“4, T am desired to request that, in carrying these instructions
into effect, you will insert in these new lists separate columns, con-
taining the following information in regard to each individual whose
name is entered in the lists:—

“1st.—The name of the present incumbent, together with that of
the original grantee.

“2nd.—The Collectorate in which’the vxllage or villages com-
prised in each Surinjam are situated, together with, the names of
the villages and their estimated anunual value. - :

“3rd.—The date of the original grant, as ascertained from Su-
nuds or othcr documents either on the records of the Poona Daftur
or in the possession df the family to whom the ‘Surinjam was
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granted. The utmost care should be taken to guard against any
fraud or deception on this point.

* « 4¢h.—The age of the present incumbent, and whether solely
dependent on his Surinjam fer support, or whether he possesses
private property.

% 5th.—Whether the incumbent has any legitimate male issue,
and if so, how many sons,—their names and ages.

“ 6th.—The tenure on which the Surinjam will be held by the
incumbent, on the principles laid down by the Court in their
despatch dated the 26th October last ; and in any case in which you
may be of opinion that those prmclples should be departed from,
you are requested to submit to Government full information of the
grounds on which you may propose such deviation. ¢

“7th.—To state in the clearest manner the data on which your
recommendations in each case may be founded, and the points on
which the instructions of Government are required.”

57. The Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Warden, submitted the lists on the
29th December 1844, and the following portion (paragraphs 10 to 14)
of his transmittory letter No. 225 is here quoted, as the only one, appa-
rently, material to the general subject on which I have to report :—

“10. As on the former occasion of preparing Surinjam lists the
important distinction was not made between grants by the Maho-
medan Government and Rajas of Sattara and those by the Peshwas,

I contented myself with assigning as the periqd when a grant began

to take effect the date of the earliest grant recorded in the Poona

Duftur, but whenevered have now found these documents assign as

the motive of the grant that the grantee held a Surinjam in the time of

the Rajas of Sattara, I have altered the date of the original grant and
placed it anterior to a. p. 1751; Jagheers of which the dates are
unknown, but which are known to be ancient, as well as those of
more recent date which were granted in commutation for the resump-
tion of ancient possessions, beingreated by the Court of Directors

with as much consideration as graiits actually dated before . p. 1751.

«“11. I have, however, been careful not to adopt any date which
is not confirmed by the Poona Duftur; these descriptions of claims,
then, compose Clags I. of Surinjamdars, whose estates are to be

‘hereditary in the fullest sense of the word.’

¢ 12. Class Il.“consists of grants bearing date from a.p. 1751 to

A. D. 1796,—%he date of Bajee Rao’s accession,—in respect to which

resumption after'a second generation from the conquest, with a pen-

sionary provision equal to half the net proceeds of the Surinjam lands
forethe generation next succeeding, is the arrangement contemplated.
“13. Class IIL. consists of grants subsequent to a. p. 1796, as
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well as of those made from 4. p. 1751 to 1796 which have been already
continued to a second generation since the conquest, and which have,
therefore, fallen into the same position as lands granted as late as
Bajee Rao’s time, the holders of which Mr. Elphinstone considered
(Mr. Elphinstone to the Supreme Government, October 25th, 1819)
entitled to pecuniary pensions only, and to whom he assigned Surin-
jams for life. This list contains also four names of persons whose
Surinjams should have been resumed on the death of the last incum-
bents; I have denoted them in the statement. The Honorable Court
speaks of two classes only of Surinjams, no distinction being made
between grants by Bajee Rao and those of his predecessors, * but a
third class was, at all events, required for the reception of the second
grantees since the conquest, of whom the first, had they survived till
now, would have been entered in Class II.; and it is clear that the
grants of Surinjams of Bajee Rao, which might have been converted
at ﬁrst into pensions, as well as grants by the British Government,
stand on a different footing from the estates comprised in Class II.
“14. I have assigned pensions equal to half the net proceeds of
their Surinjams to the grantees of Bajee Rao and of the British Go-
vernment, because they would otherwise be worse off than many
pensioners, which could never have been intended, or Mr. Elphin-
stone,would have made them pensioners instead of Surinjamdars.”

58.° Government found it necessary to call for some additional infor-
mation, and, in doing 89, took occasion to point out to Mr. Brown (who
meanwhile had succeeded Mr. Warden as Agent) in how far the latter
officer’s interpretatign of the Honorable Court’s orders differed from that
placed upon them by the Government. The Political Secretary’s letter,
No. 1896, of the 9th May 1846, (which is alengthy one,) specified, indeed,
every case in which Government saw reason to differ or entertained
doubts, but it is not necessary here to do more than advert to two import-
ant principles which Government laid down, and to which the attention
of the Agent was especially drawn®; these principles were,—

1st.—That the antiquity of a portion of a Surinjam was not to be
looked upon as the antiquity of the whole of it, and that because a
portion (perhaps a very small one) of a Surinjam granted priorto . p.
1751 became, under the Honorable Court’s orders, entitled tc*hereditary
continuance, it by no means followed that the ren}afnder granted after

(perhaps long after) 1751 was so entitled. ©
2nd.—That it was necessary to ascertain and record whether

# ¢ 1In their 16th and 19th paragraphs, however, the Court ‘incidentally upholds the prin-
ciple that Surinjams originally granted for life should be 50 held, which would of itself create
a third class.” .
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Surinjams granted prior to A. p. 1751 had been since that period un-
in{erruptedly enjoyed or not,

59. The Government orders were very clear: the first was contained
in the 8th paragraph of the Political Secretary’s letter, where, adverting
to the large Surinjam of the Rastia family, consisting of thirty-nine
villages, it was observed,—

“In the statement prepared by Mr. Marnott and Mr. Warden in
1834, this Surinjam is entered as having been granted to the Rastia
family in the year 1763 ; but Mr. Warden now states that this is an
error, and that it was gramed in the year 1746. This point is of
considerable importance, since, if the latter be the correct date, this
Surinjam will, under the recent orders from the Honorable Court, be-
come an hereditary grant; but in the former case it will be resumable
after a second generation from the conquest, a pensionary provision,
equal to a moiety of the net proceeds of the Surinjam, being granted
to the generation next succeeding. Mr. Warden, in explanation of
his having entered this grant in his present statement as having been
originally conferred in the year 1746 instead of 1763, observes,—‘In
the lists prepared in 1834 the date of the original grant is stated o be
1763, which was the year in which the family received the bulk of its
Surinjam, namely ten lakhs of rjjpees per annum, but during the
‘present researches two grants, namely of the villages of Mohokul and
Jeolee, have been discovercd bearing the date herein given [1746].
The two villages referrcd to’ produce a tétal annual revenue of
Rs.1,201-8-6, which bears a very trifling proportion to the entire Surin-
jam, which consists of thirty-nine v1llages, of the annual value of
Rs. 62,212-14-3. Before, thercfore, it can be admitted that the whole
of this grant was made, as now alleged by Mr. Warden, in the year
1746 instead of in 1763, as entered in the previous statements, it will
be requisite that equally clear and satisfactory proof be afforded in
regard to cach of the other thirty-seven villages, as in the case of the
two villages above alluded to.”

60. Mr. Warden, in preparing his lists, had recorded merely the date
of original grant of each Surinjam, without geference to subsequent
enjoyment; but Government in the 9th, 14th, and 16th paragraphs of
their Political chretarys letter, No. 1896, dated the 9th May 1846,
especially directed the agtenfion of the Agent, Mr. Brown, to the neces-
sity of obtaining and recording in the revised lists this important
information.

61. The Political Secretary’s letter concluded by pointing out the ne-
cessjty of extreme caution on the part of the Agent, who was informed,—

# The greatest care should be taken in collecting the further infor-
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mation now called for since the re-opening of the question ofsthe
character of these grants presents an opportunity for the commlssmn
of fraud and deccption which the greatest caution and vigilance on
your part c1n alone prevent.”

62. The revised lists were on the 26th October 1847 submitted
(Agent’s letter No. 178) to Government, who on the 7th April following,
in the Chief Secretary’s letter No. 1447, called for some supplementary
information, and this the Agentafforded in hisletter No. 187, 0n the 22nd
of August 1848. The lists were then forwarded to England, and received
the general sanction of the Honorable Court of Directors on the 22nd
May 1849. (Vide Honorable Court’s despatch No. 15.)

63. Government, under date the 15th July 1851, intimated in their
Revenue Secrletary’s letter No. 7283 that the scrutiny of the Inam Com-
mission (the operations of which it had been decided should be extend-
ed to the Deccan) would necessarily embracc the Revised Surinjam
lists, copies of which were subsequently, under orders from Govern-
ment, furnished by the Agent for Sirdars.

64. These instructions were carried out, and reports made either on
cases specially referred by Government or on others incidentally
brought under consideration,—that of Moreshwur Dixit being one of the
latter class. The tcnor of thesc regorts was such as to elicit the followw-
ing orders from Government in theft Political Secretary’ s letter, No. 4175,
dated the 24th September 1852, to the address of the Inam Com-
missioner :— . .

“J am at the same timpe directed to request, that you will report in
detail, in separatc etters, at your convenience, upon each of the cases
in the revised Surinjam lists with reference to which you state in
your last paragraph that you have been informed errors and over-

sights of cven a graver nature than the one now brought to notice
exist.”’

65. And on the 1st October 1852 the rcvised pension lists, which
were supplementary to the revised list of Surinjams, were also directed
1o be tested, the following being the instructions which the Political
Sceretary’s letter No. 4249 conveyed on the subject:—

“ As you have in your letter No. 952, dated the 21st August last,
given Government reason to believe thab the revised Surlnjam lists
submitted to Government by Mr. Brown, late Agent for Slrdars in the
Deccan, under date the 26th October 1847, contain many grave errors
affecting the interests of Government, the nght Honorable the Go-
vernor in Council considers it possible that similar errors may have
been committed in the lists subsequently prepared by that gentleman
[supplemental to the above] of pensions granted by the.British

7B
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Gwovernment in commutation of Surinjams held previous and subse-

quent to the year 1751,

%9, I am, therefore, desired to transmit to you in original the whole
of the proceedings connected with these supplemental lists, as per
annexed list, and to request that you will be good enough at your
early convenience to test their accuracy and report the result to Go--
vernment. .

“3. A copy of my letter of this date to Mr. Keays is enclosed for -
your information, and I am to request that you will return the ongl-
nal documents accompanying this letter with your reply.”

66. Having now stated the circumstances under which the revised
lists were subjected to the scrutiny of the Inam Commission, and
having given the substance of the preliminary discussions which took
place, and of the instructions which have been issued from first to last in
regard to thesc alienations of revenue, it remains for me to explain the
principles on which the above scrutiny is being made.

67. After much discussion, the Honorable Court of Director¢ pro-
mulgated certain Rules for application to the Deccan Surinjams
generally, and, in doing so, desired* that wherever Mr. Elphinstone’s
recommendation in regard to any Surinjam might not accord with those
Rules, it should be deliberately considered which of the two should be
acted upon; and I understand the orders of Government to be that I
should report fully and scparately cach case in which the above ofderst
have not been attended to, or in which the Government or the Honor-
able Court may have applied them on incorrect or incomplete informa-
tion,—in short, I understand my inquiry to e confined to the revisced
Surinjam lists, and that it is their correctness or® otherwise which I
have to scrutinise. 'With Mr. Elphinstone’s early inquiry and recom-
mendations, all, apparently, that T have to do is to see that they have
been correctly recorded in the revised lists.

68. Mr. Warden's letter, from the 15th paragraph to its conclusion,
discusses the case of Moreshwur Dixit Munohur,—in connection, how-
ever, with a number of facts and principles of importance, and for the
most part of very general application ; it seems, therefore, desirable that
I should explain in how far the information at my disposal leads me to a
different application of those facts and principles, and to conclusions at
variance with those 6f Mr. Warden.

69. Mr. Warden, in the 16th, 18th, 19th, and 20th paragraphs of his
letter, describes as follows certain circumstances which appear to him

¢ Paragraph 14 of Honorable Court’s despatch No. 9, dated the 7th February 1838, and
paragraphs 11 and 12 of ditto No. 17, dated the 26th October 1842,

+ Jhe Rules referred to in paragraph 55 of this letter as those laid down by the Honorable
Court, and the subsequent supplementary orders of the Goverpment issued when the revision
of the lists was ortlered. (Vide paragraphs 56, 58, 59, 60, and 61 of this letter.)
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e
to be peculiar to Moreshwur Dixit's case, and to entitle Moreshawur
Dixit to special consideration :— .

¢« 1st.—The original grantee having been through his mother allied
to the reiguing Peshwa.

“2nd.—A mother’s sister is a relation particularly respected among
the Hindoos.

“3rd.—The sacred character of the original grantece, who was a
Beekshookh, and as such held in veneration.

“4th.~—That the original grant had been made with .an emphasis
most unusual, and that this emphasis, declaring that the grant was to
be always enjoyed was expressly repcated on the first re-grant, and
by 1mphcatmn in the last, the third grant stating that the payment
was fo be thade as theretofore.

“5th.—It was clear that there must have been some object in the
introduction and repetition of this word,* so forcign to a Sunud for a
grant on life-tenure, which was quite complete without any such word.

“ 6th.—The course followed by the sovereigns who in succession
dealt with the grant in which the word was found, and which, al-
theugh called a Palanquin allowance, was re-granted twice, and after
an interval of fifty-one years was found in the possession of the third
grantee, on the abdication of Bajee Rao. )

$78h.—The example of Mr. Elphinstone in respect to Anna Deod'ur.

“Bth.—An impression ¢that so long as the family of Bajee Rao had
reigned, this allowanee would haveobeen undlsturbed and re-granted
again and again as an act of grace.’

% 9¢th.—The incjdental fact that ‘dlcuonary‘mterpretauons’ support
the meaning assigned by Mr. Warden to the word Néhemee (Feat).”

70. 'The second Peshwa, Bajee Rao Bullal, and Huree Dixit married
sisters, the daughters of one Mhadajce Krishnajee Josee, better known
as ¢ the Chasskur”’; the Palanquin allowance was granted, 7ot to Hurce
Dixit, but, after his death, to his son, Vereshwur, and it was not granted
by the second Peshwa, nor even by his son, who succeceded him as third
Peshwa, butit was granted by his grandson, the fourth Peshwa, Madhow
Rao Bullal : when the grant was made, therefore, the connection stood
thus,—the sister of the mother of the grantce, Vereshwur Dixit, had been
married to the grandfather (the second Peshwa, “Bajee Rao®Bullal) of
the Peshwa (the fourth Peshwa, Madhow Ravo Bullal);who made the grant.

71. It will be thus seen that the Peshwa who made the grant made
it to the son of his grandmother’s (not mother’s) sister, I am not aware
that any peculiar degree of sanctity attaches to this degree of relation-
ship, nor, indeed, have I been able to discover that a mother’s sister is

*The Murathce word Néhemee (F#). . .
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¢¢ paeticularly respected ”; it is, however, I believe, unquestionable that
by Hindoos all relations of a mother are considered entitled to respect
mfenor to that paid to all those of the father, and if such be the fact, it
furnishes a sufficient comparative estimate,—a positive one can, I appre-
hend, be, at the best, but a matter of opinion.

72. The changes of which we have recorded evidence were so fre-
quent and so arbitrary, that I can scarcely conceive remote connection
(as in the present case) by marriage with the wife of a former Peshwa
to have had any great weight with his successor; but however this may
have been, the prince whose supposed feelings (see paragraph 20 of
Mr. Warden’s letter) are more especially the subject of discussion,,is
Bajee Rao, the last Peshwa, and as regards him there can be no doubt,
for his acts speak for themsclves. He was found in the »Hossession of
large estates and deprived of everything ;—

Pandoorung Baboorao Baramuteekur married Zo his (Bajee Rao’s)
own sister.

Sewajee Bullal Sholapoorkur, whose daughter was the wife of the
fourth Peshwa, Mhadow Rao Bullal.

The family of the Chasskur, marriage with whose danghter had con-
nected Huree Dixit with the second Peshwa (See paragraph 70 of this
letter.)

Neelkunt Aboorao Baramuteekur, into whose family a daughtcr of
the first Peshwa had married.

The Peiteh family, into which the son (Chimnajee Bullal) of the first
Peshwa had married.

73. In now discussing the claim of any. Surinjamdar to hold his
Surinjam hereditarily, on the grounds of his family having been con-
nected by marriage with any of the Peshwas, we have the advantage
of knowing the views entertained by the Honorable Court of Directors
on the subject. That they do not admit the reason as a sufficient onc
is evident from their despatch sanctioning the revised Surinjam lists (the
20th, 22nd, 29th, 38th, and 42nd paragraphs of which are below quoted),
and I would solicit attention to the‘cases decided on in the 2nd and
in the last of these paragraphs. In the former (that of Kassinath Nara-
yen Rastia) it will be observed that the ancestor of the Surinjamdar had
not only been connected with one of the Peshwas more closely than
Moreshwur Dixit's grandfather was, but that the Surinjam had been
granted twelve years earlier ; and in the other case (that of Wassoo-
deo Bullal Thuttay) it will be seen that the Surinjam, the hereditary
continuance of {vhich the Honorable Court negatived, was held
at the conquest by the father of the wife of the last Peshwa but one.
I should add that Mr. Elphinstone had recommended the hereditary’
continuance of each of these four Surinjams, which Mr. Warden has
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]
explained not to have been the case with regard to that of Moreshwur

Dixit 1w

«920. The cases in which Mr. Elphlnstone, when Commlssmncr in
the Deccan, recommended that a more prolonged tenure should be
granted to pafticular Surinjamdars than is provided for by the present
Rules, have also undergone revisal by you, and they are enumecrated,
with remarks, by Mr. Brown in a supplemental list submitted by that
officer. We proceed to review them in their order.”

«22. ClassII. No.3, Kassinath Narayen Rastia (value Rs.359).—
Same recommendation. The estate has been held by the family from
754, and the original grantee had given his daughter in marriage to
one of the Peshwas: these are not sufficient grounds of exception.”

«29, Olass II. No. 13, Yeshwunt Rao Krishna Wakhurrey
(Rs. 960).—Same recommendation. The only apparent reason, that
the sister of the first grantee was married to the Peshwa, Ballajee Bajce
Rao, is insufficient.”

%38. Class III. No. 13, Hurec Rao Ramchunder and Anund
Rao Ramchunder, (Rs.549).—Recommended by Mr. Elphinstone to
bg hereditary, but tie only rcason shown is the insuflicient one that
the sister of the first grantee was married to thc Peshwa Ballajee
Bajee Rao.” '

“ 42. Class III. No. 23, Wassoodco Bullal Thuttay (Rs. 1,250).—
Samne recommendation. The incumbent at the time of the conuest
had given a daught¢r in marriage to the Peshwa, Mhadow Rao H
reason insufficient.”

74. 1 have quotcd the’above cases to illustratc merely the Honorable
Court’s 8ecision on them, as set forth in the revised Surinjam lists. 1
mention this because one obvious error in one of these cases has become
apparent to me, while casually referring to the listsduring the prepa-
ration of this report. In the tabular statement forwarded to Govern-
ment with the Agent’s letter No. 187, of the 22nd August 1848, the
following reasons arc assigned, in *the column headed ¢Remarks,” as
those for recommending that the Surinjam (entered as No. 11 in the
tabular statement) of Kassinath Narayen Rastia should be continued
hereditarily :—

¢« The ancestor of the present incumbent was a merchaat, and his
daughter, named Warrunseebaee, was ,given 1n marriage to Bajee
Rao Rughoonath Peshwa, and it was on thi$ account tha? the village
of Shorapoor was given as Zit Surinjam in 1754, and the Jagheer was
continued for three gencrations under the Peshwa’s rule.”

But the Pcshwa, Bajee Rao Rughoonath, who married Warrunsee-
baee, was not born in 1754, ,0r until some twenty years afterwards. *

75. 1Itis, I believe, a mistake to suppose that the ’alanquin allowance
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was ‘originally granted to a Beekshookh, which means nothing more or
less than a Brahmin beggar. Huree Dixit was a Beekslhookh, but his
son Vereshwur, to whom the grant was made, (see paragraph 70 of this
letter,) was notone; he was a “ Gruhusth,” or gentleman in the possession
of property and power, and it was as a Government official (Government
manager or Komavisdar of a district in Khandeish) that the Palanquin
allowance was granted to him.

76. The circumstances above described lead, I think, irresistibly. to
the conclusion that Vereshwur Dixit could not have been, and could not
have been looked upon as a beggar when he was granted the Palanquin
Surinjam allowance, but there is additional proof forthcoming that he
was not so considered, and it is this :—the form of written address to a
¢ Beekshookh” differed essentially from that to a ¢ Gruhusth,” ahd no-
where, of course, was this difference more scrupulously preserved than
in Sunuds and other documents emanating froin the head of the State,
himself a Brahmin. The Peshwa’s Sunud making the original grant of
the Palanquin Surinjam allowance to Vereshwur Dixit is addressed to

a “ Gruhusth,” and the Sunuds continuing the Surinjam to the son and
grandon of the original grantee are likewise so gddressed ; so that they
may be accepted as the best possible evidence of the intention and view
of the grantor in this respect.

77. But to render fully intelligible the preceding paragraph, I must
explain that Beekshookhs in this country are such by profession and not
by caste. The distinction is an important one, because, although no
Hindoo could change his caste, his profession to a certain extent
depended upon himself; and those who were beggars professionally
remained so just so long as they pleased, or so long as their neeessities
obliged them, and no longer: mendicancy, although tolerated gene-
rally, was venerated only when a Brahmin found it necessary to beg; and
itmay, therefore, I think, be reasonably supposed that this was but one
link in the skilfully forged chain by which one class of men managed
for centuries to fetter their fellow-treatures in a manner which the
world is not again likely to witness.” Although, however, such was the
position a Brahmin commanded, even when subsisting on the bounty
of others, it cannot be supposed that, as a general rule, it was preferred
to aflluenac, or evencto independent circumstances; but it is certain
that the respect in which Brahmin beggars were held, and the counte-
nance which was afforded to them, had the pernicious effect of rendering
mendicancy tdo often preferable to a life of honest toil. Those who
abandoned a life of begging on becoming possessed of means were
considered and ranked ds ¢ Gruhusths” or gentlemen, and such appears
to have becn Vereshwur Dixit’s case. ,

78. 'This might be illustrated by almost any number of cxamples, but
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two of the most striking with which I have become acquainted*will
probably suffice,— .

The first is that of the great Putwurdhun family, better known as
the ¢ Souttern Jagheerdars,” whose common ancestor, Hurbhut, was
nothing more than a Beekshookh.

The second instance is that of Gungadhur Shastree, who was mur-
dered at Punderpoor, while in attendance on the Peshwa as an am-
hassador at his court. Gungadhur Shastree had been in his youth a
beggar (Beekshookh), but was at the time of his death the highly paid
servant of the Gaekwar, and was deeply engaged in the political
strangactions of the day.- .

79. Mr. Warden’s impression, “that the original grant had been
made with aft emphasis most unusual, and that there must have been
some object in the introduction and repetition of this word [the
Murathee word Néhemee (Fg#t)], so foreign to a Sunud for a grant on
life-tgnure,” admits, I think, of ready explanation: the word Néhemee
is not to be found in any Sunuds for hereditary grants, if I may judge
from all which have come before me in the usual routine of business;
frorg hundreds which I have examined myself; and from thousands
which I have caused to be examined on this occasion. Hereditary,
grants, however, excepted, I am not aware that the use of the word w~as
most, urusual, or that its mere insertion necessarily imparted any «spe-
cial degree of emphasis to a Sunud, or that it was foreign to a Sunud
for a grant on life-tenuse. The wordis to be found used on all sorts of
occasions, and for all sorts of purposes, save those indicating hereditary
continuance, as wil] be séen from the statemefit annexed to this letter,
and marked F.*

80. I would beg attention to the entry No. 4 in the statement above
referred to, as it completely illustrates the correctneds of the interpre-
tation placed some time ago by Government on the word Néhemee.
(Revenue Secretary’s letter No. 7229. of the 7th December 1849.) The
entry referred to is that of a Sunud containing an order to an officer
entrusted with the revenue management (Kumavees) of a district, to
charge to Government a certain amount regularly (Néhemee) on account
of his own salary.

81. There are many other instances in which Fhave found the word
recorded, sometimes with reference to money paymepnts, sometimes to the
acts of individuals, and sometimes with reference to land résnmed and
ordered to be held in future (always,—Néhemee) on gccount of the Go-
vernment, but nowhere have I found any case in which the word is used
to signify, either directly or by implication, hereditary tenure.

* The instances contained in this statement have purposely been confined to Sunuds issued
by the Peshwa, who granted the Palanquin aljowance to Vereshwur Dixit in A. D, 1766.
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83. The use of the word Néhemee, however, in such cases, was by
no means general : sometimes it was inserted in an order, sometimes
not, as Mr. Warden has in his 18th paragraph shown to have been the
case even with regard to this grant, the two first Sunuds for which
contained the word, while the third and last document did not. Mr.
Warden thinks that in the third case the word must be considered to
exist by implication, and I see no reason for differing; but I would
remark that this fact alone shows how little the expression can be held
to imply anything like hereditary continuance ; for where an hereditary
grant was made nothing was left to be inferred,—the terms of the Sunud
were always distinct, and alweys equally full. Hereditary continuange
in Sunuds granted by the Peshwa’s Government to Hindoos will be found

-

to have been almost invariably cxpressed by { Wo::sh i/’ur:;l“pi:r éné

Pg:tr P:J:-ﬁ:z e } ; and these words and their meaning are familiar to

all classes—even to the cultivator who can necither read nor write.

83. The fact that this Palanquin allowance ¢ was re-granted twice,
and after an interval of fifty-onc years was found in the possession of
the third grantee, on the abdication of Bajce Rao,” cannot, I think, entitle
it to any more consideration than has been shown to many older Surin-
jams. A case in point is found in the 21st paragraph of the Honorable
Court’s despatch No. 15, of the 22nd May 1849, in which it is stated,—

«21. Class II. No. 1, Hurce Trimbuk Ranjungaumkur.—Rccom-
mended by Mr. Elphinstone heréditary, the only apparent reason being
that the Sunud is dated 1753 ; but though this is only two years later
than the limit fixed by us, it suffices to bring the estate within the class
of Surinjams granted by the Peshwas, and we sce no reason to make
the case an exception to the Rules.”

And another equally applicable case is the one decided on in the 22nd
paragraph of the same despatch, and alrcady quoted in the 73rd paragraph

of this letter.
84. Mr. Warden thus describes the circumstances under which Mr.

Elphinstone made an exception to his rule in favour of Anna Deodhur,
in paragraph 14 of his letter :—
« Forexample,—Anna Deodhur’s niece was given in marriage to the
last Peshwa, who bestowed a Surinjam on his bride’s uncle. The
holders of land gtanted by the last Peshwa Mr. Elphinstone consi-
dered entitled to pecuniary pensions only, but the Surinjam of this
Sirdar, whose family had been honoured by an alliance w1th the
reigning house, was reserved to him.”
But I find additional and very strong reasons recorded in this case* by

* Entered in M. Elphinstone’s lists as No. ]0 under the head * Sirdars or great Chiefs.”
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‘Mr Elphinstone ; so strong, indeed, as to lead me to believe,” jndgi'ilg
from similar cases decided on, that Mr. Elphinstone would have hardly
rejected them, even had no others existed. Mr. Elphinstone’s decision*
states them to have been,—

“ To have his personal Jagheer, Rs. 20,000, according to the general
‘rule No. 1. He has only held it for ten years, but his father was a
respectable Minister, and he had himself Rs. 20,000 a year from fees
in the Duftur before his Jagheer was granted him.”

85. Mr. Elphinstone, under the circumstances just explained,
allowed Anna Deodhur to hold, as a special case and for life, a Surinjam
reteived from Bajee Rao, whose grants it was the general rule toresume;
and Mr. Warden (if I correctly understand him) is of opinion (see¢ para-
graph 30 of Mr. Warden’s letter) that Moreshwur Dixit’s case may be
made an exceptional one, in ¢ following the example of Mr. Elphin-
stone”’; but the Surinjam of Anna Deodhur (who was a near connexion of
the Igst Peshwa) was continued as an act of grace, and then only as a
life-grant, whereas Moreshwur Dixit’s claim to hold his Surinjam as
an hereditary one was stated to rest on a deed of grant (Sunud) declar-
ing it to be so.}

86. The dictionary interpretations to which Mr. Warden refers he
explains to be ¢ constantly,” “regularly” (marginal note to paragraph
19 of Mr. Warden’s letter), and these are the precise meanings wh.ch
Goverhment have already attached to the word “ Néhemee,” and the
meanings, also, in whieh the term seems to have been used by the
Peshwas’ Government. But in Mr. Warden’s lists “ Néhemee” was
translated as ¢ perpgtual”®(see paragraph 125 of this letter), aud this is
the interpretation which, as applied to a Surinjam or to any personal
allowance, I have hitherto had in view as an incorrect one.

87. Under all the circumstances above explained, therefore, I am
unable to agree with Mr. Warden in supposing Moreshwur Dixit’s
Palanquin Surinjam allowance to have been granted and continued
under any pecullar circumstances’; and as to what the last Peshwa
would have done with it, had he continued in power, I cannot hazard an
" opinion, for Bajee Rao’s own acts proved (asI have shown in paragraph

72 of this letter) how little dependence could be placed on him; but even
admitting Bajee Rao’s favourable disposition towagds this Sunnjamdar,
the argument would apply with equal or greater force to many other
holdings which the British Government have found it neither requisite

* Three of the columns in Mr. Elphinstone’s lists are headed reﬁpectively “ Remarks,”
“Decision,” and “For what period recommended.” Mr. Warden’s quotation is from the
first of these columns.

+ In Mr. Warden’s lists—* perfetual”; in Mr, Brown’s revised lists—*always (Fread)

on hereditary tenure.” . ' .
8B ’
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nor expedient to recognise as hereditary ; and it therefore seems to me
dangerous to base (even partially) any such concession on grounds
which might be made of such very general application.

88. I have thus endeavoured in paragraphs 69 to 87 of this letter
to explain my reasons for entertaining an opinion differing from that
of Mr. Warden as regards this portion of the question, which, however,
appears to have been now, for the first time, brought under discussion.
The following is an extract from the Political Secretary’s letter No. 994,
of the 9th May 1843, paragraph 4, clause 6, directing the preparation
of the Surinjam lists according to the Rules laid down by the Honorable
Court of Directors, and describing one item of information especially
required to be—

“The tenure on which the Surinjam will be held by the inciimbent
on the principles laid down by the Court in their despatch dated the
26th October last, and in any case in which you may be of opinion
that those principles should be departed from, you are requested to
submit to Government full information of the grounds on which you
may propose such deviation.”

And Mr. Warden, in submitting the lists, informed Government as
follows in paragraph 23 of the Agent’s letter to Government No. 225,
dated the 29th December 1844 :—

“No.7 is the list, contemplated in the 12th paragraph of the Honor-
able Court’s despatch, of cases in which the services or merits of the
family, or the popularity of the act appear «to furnish an adequate
inducement to prolong, in exception to Rules, the tenurc of the
Jagheers. I have, as you desired, stated the gronnds on which I am
of opinion that these principles might be in regard to these cases
departed from.”

While in the lists the only reason assigned in the eolumn headed
«“Remarks” of list No. 7 of Mr. Warden’s lists of 1834, entry No. 3,
for making Moreshwur Dixit’s a special case, was,—

“This grant is entered here because the Sunud on which it is held
declares it to be perpetual.”

89. The Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Brown, when specially* called upon
for information regarding Moreshwur Dixit’s Palanquin allowance,
reported as follows :—

“ ThecSunud eXpressly‘ mentions that this Surinjam should always
(FeM) be continued on hereditary tenure, which gives weight to
the claim of this individual that his Jagheer shbuld be considered

" hereditary.”

* After the revised lists were submitted, Government' called for further information. (See
paragraplt 58 of this letter.) v
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* And Mr. Warden, referring to the above passage, is of opinion,(see

paragraph 23 of Mr. Warden’s letter) that,— )

¢« At the same time that Mr. Brown recorded this, he endeavoured 16
guard himsclf against being misapprehended by introducing the
original Murathee word in the original Murathee character, which he
translated ¢always.””

, But it seems to me that the error was first committed (see paragraphs
127¢and 128 of this letter) in introducing at all the word “hereditary,”
and that this error was greatly increased by the subsequent-introduction
of the original word in the Murathee character, translated as “always’’;
for’although in the Sunud there was no wdrd to be translated correctly
as ‘“hereditary,” it might in the first instance have been that “heredi-
tary” had beén confounded with “always,” but at last “always” was
given with its Murathce original (Néhemee, #w#t), and ¢“on hereditary
tenure” (for which there then remained no corresponding Murathee word
of any sort) was added, the wording of the Sunud being thus made
stronger than ever. (See paragraph 29 of this letter.)

90. Mr. Warden presumes (paragraph 24) the Government to have
interpreted the word ¢ Néhemee,” in the case of Moreshwur Dixit's
Palanquin Surinjam, as they did in the case of the Wurshasun allow-
ance to wahich I referred when reporting in the first instance upon
Moreshwur Dixit’s case (. e. that it was interprcted by the Governmeat
as ¢ regularly”), and that both Sir George Clerk and the IHonorable
Court must have known that hereditary in the ordinary sense of the
word could not be applied to a Surinjam; butI have already explained
(see paragraphs 21.to 26 of this letter) that ficreditary Surinjams do
exist, and that the Honorable Court adverted to this very fa-t as a rare one,
when they sanctioned the hereditary continuance of Moreshwur Dixit's
Surinjam solely because the Sunud granting it was Stated to contain
¢« distinct words of inheritance.” It seems, therefore, clear that both Sir
George Clerk and the Honorable Court could only look to the report
before them in Moreshwur Dixit's' case, and that report declared the
Sunud to mention expressly that the Surinjam should always be conti-
nued on hereditary tenure. On this information Sir George Clerk
recorded* an opinion that although the grant, as onc of a.p. 1766, did
not “come within the general Rules laid down by the Honorable Court as
conferring an hereditary title, the fact of itsshaving been assigned to the
ancestors of the present incumbent on hereditaty tenure seetned a suf-
ficient reason for this [the Bombay] Government to recommend that the
provisions of the Sunud granted to this [Moreshwur Dixit's] family

* See précis of past proceedings of the Government, transmitted to Mr, Warden with the
Chief Sccretary’s letter No. 4401, of the 9th October 1852,



60 APPENDIX B.

ahcmld be upheld.” And the Honorable Court of Directors, in finally
decldmg on the case, did so in terms so distinct as to leave, it appears
to me, no room for supposing that they acceded to the recommendation
of the Government on any other but the exact grounds on which it had
been made (¢. e. because the Surinjam was one stated to be held under
a Sunud declaring it hereditary) : the Honorable Court observed,—

“In this case the Sunud is of the date of A.p. 1766, but is stated to
contain (what is rare in such cases) distinct words of inheritance.
This Surinjam, therefore, should be hereditary.”

91. TUnder the circumstances recorded in the last paragraph, I am un-
able to agree with Mr. Wardcn (paragraph 24), and I cannot suppose it
possible that either Sir G. Clerk or the authorities at the India House
could have known ¢ that Mr. Brown could only mean wha#t Mr. Elphin-
stone meant when he spoke of the belief that the holders were entitled
of right to an hereditary tenure”; for Sir George Clerk distinctly record-
ed his recommendation to rest on “the provisions of the Sunud,” and the
Honorable Court, with equal distinetness, declared their sanction to be
accorded because, as the Sunud contained ¢ distinct words of inherit-
ance,” therefore, the grant should be hereditary. Added to this, it must
be remembered that Mr. Elphinstone, when expressing his belief that
the holders were entitled of right to an hereditary tenure, disjinctly de-
fined the right to be one based on length of possession (¢. e. passession
from the time of the Mogul Emperors or Sattara Rajas), and 7ot on
hereditary title-deeds ; whereas Mt. Brown’s recqmmendation was based,
and his recommendation was acceded to, upon the supposed existence
of an hereditary title-deed, where there was 7ot the length of possession
contemplated by Mr. Elphinstone. )

92. I do not think that the very striking comparison between the
French fisherman and the member of the royal family of Great Britain,
drawn in Mr. Warden’s 27th paragraph, can apply to my report of the
21st September last, No. 327, in which it was not my intention to
institute any comparison whatever between Ballajee Punt Nuthoo and
Moreshwur Dixit or his ancestors, but merely to refer to a decision bear-
ing materially upon the case reported on, and in which the Honorable
Court had declared generally that Palanquin allowances were not, per
se, hereditary. The Palanquin allowance particularly adverted to in
the Honorable Court’s decision was that of Ballajee Punt Nuthoo, certain-
ly, but had it been bne granted to one of the Putwurdhun Chieftains it
would have been equally referred to by me,—my reference was not to
the individual to whom the allowance was granted, but to a particular
description of allowance granted by a particular authority: in both
cases the grant was of the same description (i. e. an allowance for a
Palanqpin), and in both cases the grant emanated from the same
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"source (the Government). To this extent 1 viewed them as exaﬁtl-‘g.
alike. AN
93. The whole of Mr. Warden’s 28th paragraphis based onthe assﬁrﬁp-'
tion that Mr. Flphinstone’s* decisions have been questioned ; but I have
explained that, as far asI am aware, my inquiries have nothing to do
with Mr. Elphinstone’s decisions, and that I am desired by Government
to ascertain merely in how far the decisions of the Honorable the Court
of Directors on the revised Surinjam lists have been passed on facts
correctly and completely stated. Mr. Warden, however, here (paragraph
28) refers to more than one important subject, on which it seems
especially desirable that I should furnish Government with all the
in&rm'ation I possess, as they are intima}ely connected with the gene-
ral question of the alienation of public revenue.

94. The first and most important of these subjects is the state of the
records of the late Government (better known here as “the Poona Duf-
tur”’), regarding which considerable misapprehension seems to prevail.
Mzr. Elphinstone many years ago alluded, as Mr. Warden has now done,
to the incomplete state of these records, and when Mr. Elphinstone
wrote, he was correct, in so far that a portion of them had been removed
to tife different Collectorates,} but a portion, consisting only of district
accounts of management, the State diaries, the ledgers,} the estimates,
and, in fact, the more important portions of the Duftur, were kept entire at
Poona, and were there catalogued, and thus rendered much more avzil-
able for all practical purposes than they could previously have been.

95. Such was the state of things®when Mr. Elphinstone wrote in
1838, and even thenI can scarcely conceive the separation of the above
described portion of the records to have been an absolute bar to obtain-
ing information as correctly as before, though it could not, of course,
have been obtained as easily or as quickly; but I need not dwell
upon this, because it is a state of things which exists fio longer,—in all
districts over which the operations of the Inam Commission extend,
the records have been, under the orders of Government, returned by the
different Collectors, and are now under the sole charge of this depart-
ment; so far, therefore, as regards the Deccan Surinjams, I have at my
disposal the whole of the Duftur to which Mr. Elphinstone alluded as
having been entire in 1818 and 1819.

* Mr. Warden himself has, however, pointed out, in the note to the 8th par.agmph of his
letter, that Mr. Elphinstone’s inquiries did not embrace®Moreshwug Dixit’s case, although the
revised Surinjam lists were framed and sanctioned under the Smpression that Mr. Elphinstone
had recommended it to be made a life-grant. . *

1 The Poona and Nuggur district accounts, however, were not thus removed, and in these
two districts the larger portion of Deccan Surinjams was comprised.

1 The Ghurnea ledger is one of the most perfect State records, especially with regard to
revenue management, which has frobably ever been framed and preserved in any country ;
under the last Peshwa, however, this valuable ledger was mot kept.

[
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96. But I have now at my disposal much Daftur iz addition to the
above, and among this additional portion are to be found some of the
most*valuable* accounts which the Peshwa’s records contain,—i. e. the
accounts of management and estimates for the period immediately pre-
ceding the war in 1817. At the breaking up of the Deccan Commis-
sion in 1826, many enormous heaps and rooms full of papers remained
in the record house unexamined and just as they had been thrown
there at the taking of the country, and it is only within the last eight
years that they have been put in order and the valuablet portions
extracted and arranged for use;—the completion of this, indced, only
took place a few months ago.

97. I have as yet alluded’ only to the State records of the late Go-
vernment,—i. €. those accounts which were either framgd under the
immediate orders of the Peshwa, or were rendered to him at stated
periods; but these documents, though very valuable, are insufficientalone
to test every description of alienation of revenue: there are the detailed
accounts of management, which were in many cases not rendertd to
Government; there are the accounts of the hereditary officers; and, above
all, there are the registries of land, all of which remained in the posses-
sion of the local authorities. Very few of these accounts were obtatned
at the conquest of the country, although the enormous number which
have been discovered}{ within the last eighteen months afford convincing
proof of their existence, and of the care and pertinacity with which they
have for so many years been concealed and withheld from Government—
in a majority of cases by their paid servants, ‘the hereditary officers.
Some idea may be formed of the nature angd value of these hitherto
withheld accounts, when I state that the land registries are the only ||
documents by which a very large proportion of the alienations of public
revenue can be tested.

98. This is not the place to do more than allude generally to this
subject, especially as the details have been already so fully laid before
Government : it will, however, be, well to spccify one of the most
striking instances which has come to my knowledge of the extent to
which accounts of the late Government have been withheld, and of the

* The 25th paragraph of Captain Cowper’s report No. 137, of the 19th March 1853, illus-
trates in a remarkable manner the great value of these lately found accounts.

+ When it"is stated th&c no less than one thousand bundles of useful accounts have been
thus extracted, some idea can be formed of the amount of additional information which is now
for the first time available. ¢

1 The 4th paragraph of the Inam Commissioner’s report to Government dated the 8th
April 1852, No. 546, adverted to this organised system of concealment, which has been since
found to exist to an infinitely greater extent than was then supposed possible.

Il The 4th paragraph of the Inam Commissioner’s report No. 546 explained to Government

how fully this fact has been understood and calculated vpon by the persons concealing these
accounts.

c
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effects of the system, which, though attacked, is as yet far from destroy-

cd.* The case referred to was reported in my letter No. 433, of thg 25th
October last, which I will quote at length :—

“ A perusal of the English records of the Commissioner in the
Deccan has informed me of another case, which seems so strikingly
illustrative ofthe systematic concealment of accounts of the Peshwas’
Government hitherto practised that I beg to submit it for your
ceonsideration.

“2. After our occupation of the country in 1817, it became a
matter of the utmost importance to obtain correct information regard-
ing Jthe transit, custom, and other dusies collected in the Deccan,
.and for this purpose inquiries were instituted in every direction, and
the Collectr of the large district of Ahmednuggur was, with other
functionaries, called upon by the Commissioner to obtain and furnish
all the information he could procure regarding the Nuggur Collec-
torgte.

“3. The Collector’s report did not afford the requisite information,
and he was again addressed on the subject. A copy of hisreply to this
segond requisition is annexed; it is dated the 13th Scptember 1830,
andthus accounts for the incompleteness of his previous statements : —

«“¢I beg leave further to add that the whole of the accounts
comnected with this subject were kept at Poona under the Muratlias,
and that in consequence of this fact there is not a single document
from which the roughest guess eould be formed of the collections
for any one year. If any statements are procurable, I shouvld think
it most probablg they would be so at Pobna, where Chinto Punt

Deshmook, the great customs farmer, resides.’

“ 4. Therc can, I apprehend, be no doubt that endeavours were
made to procure accounts from the source pointed out by Captain Pot-

' tinger, and there can be as little doubt that previous to the receipt of
his letter just referred to, the Commissioner must have made inquiries
in the same quarter. In how far the efforts made were successful can
be pretty accurately surmised from the fact of Captain Gordon having
in March last obtained from the Deshmook’s family four cart-loads
of accounts of the late Government, chiefly referring to the customs.

“5. That the revenues of a large portion of this Presidkncy have
suffered greatly from the concealment of the agcounts of the late
Government, heretofore practised, is more than probablg, but it seems
to me certain that they will suffer to an incalculably greater extent
® The 17th paragraph of Captain Cowper’s report No. 557, of the 20th November 1852,

adverts to the existing deficiency in the law, and the great want of some legal enactment

providing effectually for the suppression of the system, and the recovery of the Peshwas’
accounts of revenue management, . . ,

[
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should these documents not now be recovered and applied to their
legitimate use. The Court of Directors and the Government have, I
believe, both concurred in the opinion that the decisions of this Com-
mission should be viewed as final, and it certainly seems to me that
they should be so, from considerations both of policy and justice. If
I am correct in these views, it seems very desirable to point out to
Government, not merely the great risk, but (it may, I think, be safely
stated) the positive certainty, as matters at present stand, of a large
portion of, the revenue being permanently alienated to persons pos-
sessing no title whatever, and who, in many cases, have obtained
possession by fraud, and bave hitherto successfully evaded jnquiry
by the same means,—i. ¢. the concealment of all accounts of the late
Government. ‘ °

“6. The above must be the inevitable result of many of our deci-
sions, unless Government see fit to invest us with power sufficient to
ensure the production of all existing accounts of the late Government.

«P. 8.—Since writing the above, I have learned that the accounts of
the customs received from the Deshmook’s family at the introduction
of the British rule amounted to about eleven bundles, which have been
up to this day preserved among the old records in the Duftur palace at
Poona; the accounts referred to in the 4th paragraph, as received from
the said family by Captain Gordon in March last, amount.to about
three hundred bundles.” '

99. The want of the aid of the hereditary Duftur Karkoons, which
Mr. Warden also supposes to operate prejudicially, does not, I am happy
to say, exist: one of the best of these Karkoofis (Gunesh Krishna Pend-
say, commonly called Raojee Pendsay, about seventy years of age), whose
father and grandfather spent their lives (from about A. ». 1730) in the
Duftur, ison the strength of the Inam Commissioner’s establishment, and
has assisted me from the commencement; but I would here record an
opinion which I lately took occasion to express on this subject. (See
also paragraph 14 of this letter.) 'The following is an extract from my
report No. 137, of the 19th March last, on a claim to a large pension in
regard to which this very hereditary Karkoon afforded information which,
though accepted at the time (i. e. when the revised pension lists were
framed) as correct, gow turns out to be otherwise :—

“Raojee Pendsay isan eld hereditary Duftur Karkoon, with a great
knowledge of all ‘natters connected with the revenue administration of
the last Peshwa, and possessed of a most wonderful memory. Under
any circumstances, however, I should for obvious reasons receive
his evidence in matters of this sort with extreme caution ; for though
sometimes of much value, it is peculiarly requisite that, as a general
rule,.it sheuld be tested and supported by other and independent
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testimony, and, especially, by the documentary proof afforded by the

State records.” .

100. Underallthe circumstances whichI have explained, it may, then,
1 think, be safe.y asserted that the records of the late Government are now
more complete, better understood, and more capable of being made gene-
rally useful than they have been at any previous period of our rule.

101. The third and last subject of importance referred to in Mr.
Wagden’s 28th paragraph is the supposed impossibility of now ascer-
taining the motives which influenced Mr. Elphinstone in proposing the
settlement he did to the Governor General. Although thisis a question
already, partially discussed (sce paragraphe 44 and 45 of this letter), it
seems to me to be onc of such importance, and to be so intimately

" connect®d with the general subject of alienations, that I would again

briefly refer to it;—the correctness of any opinion which I may have
formed can be very easily tested, as the grounds on which I have
arrived at my conclusions are patent to all. I have perused the de-
spatches of the Government of India and of Mr. Elphinstone, and they
appear to mc to define in the clearest manner the general principles
upon which the settlement of the Deccan was made. Supplementary to
these are Mr. Elphinstone’s detailed lists, his transmittory despatch of
the 25th October 1819, the Rules which accompanied that despateh, and
the still .more detailed statements which were prepared and record. d
here, under his own orders and supcrvision. All these documents I
have studied attentively,,and I am bound to say that I have, generally
speaking, found them not only to afford the “record of rights” to
which Mr. Warden alludes in paragraph 28 of his letter, bur to cx-
plain, as clearly as lhey do minutely, the other considerations which
influenced Mr. Elphinstone. The antiquity or greatness of a family;
early adhesion to the British cause; the necessity of previding employ-
ment for certain classes; the importance attached to non-interference with
grants of a purely religious nature ; the policy of preserving in respect-
ability some great families ruined by*Bajee Rao, and of preventing the
too rapid decay of others,—all these, and a variety of other reasons,
Mr. Elphinstone has recorded to have existed, and to have influenced
his decisions in the particular cases to which he considcred them
applicable, and in each of which he stated them to be o. .

102. In his 30th paragraph Mr. Wardgn alludes to the two cases
of the Poorundhuree and the Vinchoorkur, whicR Mr. Elphinstone
considered should be made exceptions to the general Rulés laid down.
In the first of these cases (that of Poorundhuree) Mr."Warden, I ima-
gine, quotes from the “remarks” made in the case “of Neelkunt Rao
Abba Poorundhuree” (whose,name stands No. 5 in Mr. Elphinstone’s
lists, ig the Class of Sirdars or great Chiefs), and which are,as foljows.

B
]
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«The head of the great house of Poorundhuree ; came in to Sir John
Malcolm.—Hereditary.”

This seems to me a; clearly recorded reason, quite sufficient to explain
the recommendation made; but the remarks in the case of the head of
the other branch of the family, “ Trimbukrao Myheeput Poorundhuree”
(whose name stands in Mr. Elphinstone’s lists as No. 14 in the Class of
Sirdars or great Chiefs), explain still more in detail the considerations
which influence Mr. Elphinstone, and allude in the following terms.to a

-promise given by Sir John Malcolm in letters the dates of which are
specified :—

“The whole of his persdhal lands to be restored ; Rs. 10,000 of this
sum was granted by Bajee Rao, but'is not to be resumed, in conse-

quence of the promise of Sir John Malcolm, communicated in his

letters of the 5th June and 26th July 1818.” ,

But the bulk of the Surinjam of the family is shown by Mr. Elphin-
stone’s lists to have been held seventy-eight years or before a. p. 1751, and
in the 8th paragraph of his despatch of the 25th October 1819, the Gover-
nor General was informed that ¢ all Jagheers held by ancicnt and great
families were recommended to be hereditary,” so that Sir John'Mal-
colm’s promise, apparently, affected only the smaller portion granted by
Bajee Rao, the rest being recommended for hereditary contmuance
under the Rules.

103. The other of the two cases is that of the Chief of Vinchoor,
¢ Vittul Nursing,” whose name stands at the head of Mr. Elphinstone’s
lists in the Class of ¢ Sirdars or great Chiefs,” and whose Surinjam was
restored for reasons thus recorded by Mr. Elphinstone :—

“The whole of his personal lands, according to the Duftur, to be
restored. 'This is proper, in consequence of the respectability of the
Chief, and of the promises of Sir John Malcolm commumcated in his
letters of the 6th and 26th July 1818.”

104. With regard to these twd cases, Mr. Warden observes in the
30th paragraph of his letter,—¢'T'hat he (Mr. Elphinstone) acted advised-
ly, and on sound considerations in each case, though we can no longer
discover them, I have not the slightest doubt,”—but I cannot conceive it
at all prebable thay, in these cases Mr. Elphinstone can have left any-
thing to discover. The anptiquity of the holdings and of the families ;
the number of years during which they had held possession; the por-
tions of the Surinjams recently granted ; the circumstances under which
the Sirdars submitted ; and, lastly, the very letters promising the restora-
tion of the Surinjams,—all this is recorded in the lists, and I certainly
look upon it as information so complete g8 to preclude the supposition
that Mr. Elphinstone was influenced by other considerations not
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communicated to the confirming authority. (Sec paragraph 45 of this
letter.)

105. The following is an extract from the 31st paragraph of
Mr. Warden’s lctter :—

« As I presume no one will venture, at this time or at any other
time, to place his opinion in competition with that of Mr. Elphinstone,
instead of making that information (¢. e. information derived from the
State records of the Peshwa’s Government) the grounds of disturbing
claims which have already been inquired into six times, to the harass-
ing of the'claimants for no less than twenty years, I hope the Govern-
ment and the Court of Directors will Yorbid any one to question his
decigions* in favour of individuals, when ratified by the early revisers
of his lists, merely because we can no longer discover the motives
which actnated him to restore grants.”

All that seems proper for me to do is to state,—

1st.—That I understand the orders of Government (Chief Secre-
tary’s letters numbered 4175 and 5249, and dated respectively the
24th September and the 1st October 1852) to be not that I should
question Mr. Elphinstone’s decisions, but that I should report cases
coming to my knowledge in which the Rules laid down by the Honor-
able .Cpurt of Directors, as those upon which the revised Surin jam
lists should be framed, have been incorrectly applied, owing t an
incomplete or incorrget statement gf facts.

2nd.—That even in cascs of the above deseription, I am not to call
upon any Surinjamdar for any information without the previous
sanction of Government. (Chief Secretary’s letter No. 409, dated the
27th January 1853.)

3rd.—That the undermentioned reports, which have been already
submitted, pointing out errors, some of them apparently of the gravest
nature and seriously affecting the general interests of the country,
will enable Government readily to determine in how far the revised
Surinjam lists, and the lists of pensions supplementary to them, have
or have not been correctly framed :—

Submi -
w,th“ti‘,‘e‘tff,‘lfc‘f,‘:;;’,‘;ﬁggf‘ 1. Preliminary report No. 322, dated the

er’s memorandum No. 1080, y15th September last, on the Surinjam of Krish-
dated the 16th %ptember
1852. na Rao Neelkunt Moozumdar.

Submitted to Government I 2. Preliminary report No. 327, dated the 21st

with the I C - - i
sioner’s letter Noomﬁ& idem, on the Surinjam of + Moreshwur Dixit

dated the 22nd jdem. Munohur.

* Mr. Warden has, however, pdinted out, in a note to the Sth paragraph of lus letter, that
Moreshwur Dixit’s case was not decided qn by Mr, Elphisstone at all. -«

]
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Submibted to G { 3. Detailed report No. 102, dated the 28th
wm:‘ ,Tf,ee I,f:m °‘C°;’§,';f,‘;f’ February last, on the Hindoostan portion of the
sioner’s letterNo. 1883, dated | Surinjam now held by Chimnajee Vittul Poo-
the 5th April 1853, lrun dhuree

( 4. Ditto ditto No. 114, dated the 7th March

Ditto to ditto with ditto A . . .
No. 1929, dated the 14th{last, on the Surinjam of Trimbukjee Raja
Bhoslay.

idem.

r 5. Ditto ditto No. 129, dated the 15th March

Ditto to ditto with ditto
No. 1934, of the 14th idens. { last on the claim to a pension of Vishnoo Huree

l
6. :Dxtto ditto No. 132, dated the 17th, idem,

N(? llt;%ltoofdtilﬁ?lziﬁhi (;E:‘"J on the claim to a pension of the son of the late
’ " | Yeshwunt Rao Babur. ‘
Ditto to ditto with ditto{ 7. Ditto ditto No. 137, dated the 19th idem,
No. 1930, of the 14th idem. {on the claim to a pensicn of Madhow Rao Powar.
4th.—That my report on the case of Moreshwur Dixit’s Palanquin
allowance, No. 327, dated the 2Ist September 1852, referred to by
Mr. Warden, was not intended (paragraphs 132 to 131 of this letter
fully explain this) in any way to place opinions in competition with
or in opposition to those of Mr. Elphinstone, but merely to point out
that the Honorable Court of Directors had, on grounds which (¢. e. a
Sunud declaring the grant  perpetual,” or to be continued always—
Fg@—on hereditary tenure), as recorded, did not, apparently, exist,
recognised an hereditary title where Mr. Elphinstone had not done so.
5th.—That in the case reported on in Captain Cowper’s report No.
114, of the 7th March 1853, and in others which have yet to be brought
to notice, it is not Mr. Elphinstone’s dccisions, but alterations of
Mr. Elphinstone’s record, which are questioned, and that in these cases,
Mr. Elphinstore’s lists afford correct information regarding the history
of the grant, but the revised lists do not.
6¢h.—That in Moreshwur Dixit’s case Mr. Elphinstone never passed
any opinion at all. -

106. In his 32nd paragraph Mr. Warden thus refers to certain of the
Surinjams :—

«“ And if Captain Cowper would address himself to the task of
discoveting the pélitical considerations which prompted Mr. Elphin-
stone in his mode of dealing with these twenty cases, and thereon
propose‘a return to the original liberal decisions,* he will do good
service to the pnblic.”

* T would observe that all Mr. Elphinstone’s decisions were subject to confirmation, which
they all received to the same extent,—i. e. continuance for life. This is especially adverted to by
the Honorable Court in the 14th paragraph of their despatch No. 9, of the 7th February 1838,
and in thé 2nd pavagraph of a subsequent despateh, No, 17, of the 26th October 1842,
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Passing over the improbability of my discovering at this late date
political considcrations which influenced Mr. Elphinstonc, and which
Mr. Warden’s own ability and experience have not enabled him to
discover, and f assing over, also, the apparent impossibility of my attempt-
ing even to do so, without entangling myseclf in the very inquiry into
Mr. Elphinstone’s motives which Mr. Warden so greatly deprecates
(paragraphs 28, 30, and 31),—passing over all this, it seems only neces-
sary to explain in how far the course recommended by Mr. Warden, as
one by adopting which I should do good service to the pnblic, differs
entirely in principle from the course which, as at present instructed, I
undergtand it to be the desire of Government I should follow.

107. 1In the first place, the interests of ¢ the public” I understand to
be those of tite country at large, and of the mass of its people, of whom
the Surinjamdars form a very insignificant numerical fraction. Govern-
ment [ apprehend to be the paramount authority in whose hands the
itergsts of all classes are placed. And the object of GovernmentI have
always conceived to be to ascertain, through its officers, the particular
claims of each class, with a view to the equitable consideration of all.

1Q8. Such being the view I take of this subject, it follows that good
service to “the public” is not in my opinion necessarily synonymous
with good service to the Surinjamdars, and that it may, indeed, so hap- .
pen that the two interests are directly adverse the one to the other.

109: Next, as regards my own especial duty,—am I to consider it a
part of that duty to endeavour to substantiate claims to alienations in
perpetuity of the public revenue, or am I to confine myself to = strictly
impartial trial of all suclt claims brought forward, extending to claim-
ants the benefit of doubts, and noticing all points or evidence in their
favour which, though unknown to, or undiscovered by themselves, may
incidentally come to my own knowledge ? .

110. There are a few words of explanation I wish to offer in regard
to Inam cases, in which it is not a report which I have to submit for the
consideration and orders of Government, but ¢ decision which I am
called upon to pass, subject to eventual appeal to them. Here (i.e. in
Tnam cases), should doubt arise, and that doubt be of a nature not
properly referable for the interpretation of Government (Act XI. of
1852 provides that in certain cases Government may be thus geferred to
previous to decision), I should, as a genergl rule, decile on the doubt-
ful point against the claimant, leaving it to the Inam Commissioner
and to the Government to reverse my decision in appeal; and enabling
them to do so, if requisite, by recording the doubtful point most fully in
all its bearings. Such a course seems to me necessary, because I deem
it of very great importance that Government should not be obliged to re-
verse the decisions of its own officers, when passed in favoyr of claimants.
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111. There may be some who, as supposed by Mr. Warden (para-
graph 33), think that Mr. Elphinstone ¢ worked in the dark”; but this
class of thinkers must be small, and the only method by whlch their
opinions could for a moment gain even partial credence would be that
of noticing, and thereby giving them a publicity otherwise unobtainable.
But I would not be understood to shut my eyes to the fact that thirty-
seven years’ experience must have unfolded much which it would not
be correct to say “escaped” Mr. Elphinstone, but which, humanly
speaking, it was not possible for him at that time, and on the first occu-
pation of a large and newly conquered country, to become acquainted
with. While, on the one hgnd, I apprehended that on all quesfions of
local knowledge, and of acquaintance with the men and history of the
period in which he played so conspicuous and honorakle a part, his
opinions must remain as the safest guide and land-mark for those who
have succeeded him; on the other, I cannot but think that the changes
and improvements of a third of a century, of which Mr. Elphinstone
laid the foundation, and for which his own administrative talents paved
the way, may, and probably have, progressed much more rapidly than
even he anticipated when recording suggestions for the guidance of a
succeeding generation.

112. I avail myself of this opportunity to assure the Government that
the principles to which Mr. Warden in his 34th paragraph attaches great
importance are those upon which I have always* acted, and those which
each day’s experience tcaches me to consider the only safe ones; believ-
ing Mr. Warden's opinion to apply more or less to official work of
every description, I have found it especially-applicable to the duties of
the Inam Commission, which demand an acquaint‘ance with the records
of past years and with previous proccedings, only to be acquired from
various quarters, and involving constant and laborious search but too
frequently unsuccessful. It seems a curious coincidence that inquiries
of this very nature should have so lately placed me in possession of Mr.
Elphinstone’s recorded orders onthe subject of Inams (adverted to in
the 33rd and 34th paragraphs of Mr. Warden’s letter) which I brought
to your notice in my leiter No. 81, of the 15th February last, and which
are drawn up with the clearness and minuteness characteristic of his
official writings. This does not seem the place to discuss the nature of
these orcfers it appears sufficient to state that they distinctly define the
principles upon which Mr. Elphinstone’s settlement was made, and
which he laid down for the guidance of his subordinates.

113. I have ‘now, I believe, pointed out how the principles upon

® T would solicit reference .to my report, No. 651, of the 22nd December last, on the sub-
ject of the Chouth Jagheerdars, as affording one instance in which I have done so, and in
which veJuable ipformation was thus obtained. .



APPENDIX B. 71

which I am conducting my inquiries differ from those recorded by
Mr. Warden, and I have endeavoured to do this in a form which will
enable Government readily to perceive the points of difference, and to
issue any addi‘ional instructions which may appear requisite ; it remains
only to afford as succinctly as possible the history of Moreshwur Dixit’s
Palanquin Surinjam allowance, and I shall then, I believe, have complied
fully with the instructions received in your letter under reply.

1]14. In Suba Seetain (A. p. 1766-67) an allowance for a Palan«
quin, of Rs. 1,000 per annum, was granted by the fourth Peshwa,
Madhow Rao Bullal, to Vereshwur Dixit, the Gavernment manager
(Kpmayisdar) of the Purguna of Chaleesgaym, in Khandeish, and he was
authorised by the Sunud to deduct the amount regularly (Néhemee,
dewt) from the revenues of the Purguna: the form of address used in

. this and in the two Sunuds hereinafter mentioned (paragraphs 116 and

118 of this letter) is that adopted in addressing a “ Gruhusth” or gentle«
man. (Sece paragraph 76 of this letter.)

118. Forthcoming accounts of the late Government show the above
grant to have been carried into effect, and the yearly allowance to have
been drawn and charged until Khumus Subain (a. p. 1774-75), in the
name of the original grantee, Vereshwur Dixit; the amount is shown to
have been paid in some years in cash, and in others partly in cash and
partly by assignments of land.

116, Vereshwur Dixitdied about Khumus Subain (a. p. 1774.75), #.ad
in that year a Sunud was issued by the Peshwa, Madhow Rao Narayen,
continuing the allowance to Vereshwur’s son, Yedneshwur, and direct-
ing its payment regularly.(Néhemee, #&h).

117. The forthcoming accounts show the grant to have continued in
force from a. n. 1774-75 to 1808-09, but they also show the continuance
to have been latterly a mere nominal one, as from a. 0. 1803-04 to 1807-08
Yedneshwur Dixit is shown to have received nothing at all, the villages
on which the assignment was made being deserted, and the whole dis-
trict in scarcely a better condition. . In a. p. 1808-09 the same state of
things seems to have existed, though it is not expressly stated to have
done so.

118. In or about Teesa Myatain (a. ». 1808-09) Yedneshwur Dixit
died, and the allowance was continued to his son, Moreshwur (the pre-
sent incumbent), by the last Peshwa, Ba_]ee Rao, Whose Sunud directs
the payments to be made as heretofore (Peshjeg promané, GupR wAm).

119. In a. p. 1809-10 the two villages from which a portion of the
allowance was paid were deserted. Moreshwur Dixit, however, got
something in this year as a cash payment, but uery little,—only Rs. 25.
In a. p. 1810-11 he got the same amount,—Rs. 25.

120. There are no accounts of management of a later date forth-
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coming, but the records contain an estimate of the revenues of Khan-
deish for 1815-16, in which the original allowance of Rs. 1,000 is
charged in Moreshwur Dixit's name, partially (Rs. 341-4-0) as a
cash payment, and partially (Rs. 658-12-0) as the amount of the Ja-
gheer and Surdeshmookee Umuls of the villages of Pimpree Khoord
and Sherusgaum. There are, therefore, no accounts forthcoming to show
what the actual receipts were from a. p. 1810-11 to 1817-18, but it is
not probable that they could have greatly increased, as Khandeish, when
it became a British province, had scarcely, if at all, recovered from the
combined effects of Holkar’s invasion in 1802-03 and of the famine
which followed.

121. ThisSurinjam was included in Mr. Elphinstone’s lists, under the
head of “Kitta” or miscellaneous, No. 10, but it turns out (sge paragraphs
28 to 32 of this letter) to be one of many regarding which Mr. Elphin-
stone submitted no recommendation; it was entered in his lists merely
as “to be continued.”

122. In the detailed statement (see paragraph 136 of this letter) of
Jagheers prepared by Mr. Elphinstone’s Secretary, Mr. McDonnell, this
Surinjam is not to be found at all.

123. In the lists prepared in a. p. 1834 (see paragraphs 51 to 53 of
this letter) this Surinjam was entered in the class of holdings described
as ‘“granted between the conclusion of the Treaty of Bassein and the
accession of the British Government into the Deccan; to be resumed on
the death of the present incumbent.” The above entry was, however,
clearly made by mistake, as in the body of the lists the date of original
grant was shown to be ¢ a. n. 1766.” .

124. Tn a.p. 1841 Mr. Mills, the Agent for Sirflars, submitted lists
(see paragraphs 54 and 55 of this lctter) in which Moreshwur Dixit’s
Surinjam was entered as one of those recommended to be resumed at
the death of the then holders.

125. In Mr. Warden’s lists (see paragraphs 55 to 57 of this letter)
of A.p. 1844 this Surinjam was egtered (No. 21 of Class II.) as one
entitled, under the Rules laid down by the Honorable Court, “to be
continued to the second, and the prescribed pension granted to the.
third generation”; and it was further made (No.3 of Class VII.) a
special case and recommended for hereditary continuance, the reasons
assigned being,—¢ Fhis grant is entered here because the Sunud on
which it is held declares it to be perpetual.”

126. The view Government took of the above entry was recorded
in a minute of Sir.G. Arthur’s, dated the 21st April 1846 (paragraph 4
of précis of the past proceedings of Government, which accompanied
the Chief Secretary’s letter to Mr. Warden, No. 4401, of the 9th Octo-
ber 1852), to have been,—
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% Mor Dixit Munohur holds a Surinjam of the annual value of
Rs. 491.5-6, which Mr. Elphinstone recommended should be gcon-
sidered a life-grant; this Surinjam is stated to have been conferred in
the year 17¢6, Mr. Warden states that in.the Sunud under which
this Surinjam is held, this grant is declared to be perpetual ; the orders
of the Honorable the Court of Directors should, therefore, be solicited
whether, as now proposed by Mr. Warden, this Surinjam is to be
considered an hereditary grant.”

. 127. A revision of Mr. Warden’s lists having becn ordered (Chief
Secretary’s letter No. 1896 dated the 9th May 1846), the Agent, Mr:
Browny,submitted revised lists in a. . 1847pin which Moreshwur Dixit's
Surinjam was entered No. 16 of Class II., as entitled, under the Rules
laid down by the Honorable Court,—

% To be continued to the second, and the prescribed pension granted
to the third generation.”

The cglumn of “Remarks” contained the following statement :—

“ The date of original grant, Suba Seetain (a. 0. 1766), is taken
from a Sunud in possession of the Surinjamdar, and which is, more-
over, registered in the Peshwas’ Duftur; it specifies that this grant
should be considered hereditary.”

In the 15th column of the above entry (No.16 of Class II.) M:.
Elphingtone’s reasons for making the grant are entered as—* To be ccu-
tinued for life.”

128. The Surinjam was further incfuded (No. 2 of Class VIL.) in the
list of cases deemed special by Mr. Brown, for reasons thus recorded
in the 15th paragraplt of his transmittory letter, No. 178 dated the 26th
October 1847 :—

“ With reference to No. 21 in Mr. Warden’s reyised list above
alluded to, and which is recorded in Class II. under No. 16, and in
list 7 under No. 2, of my revised lists, Moreshwur Dixit Munohur's
claim for his Surinjam being made perpetual rests on a Sunud dated

" 1776, which he possesses, in which it is shown that this Surinjam
should be hereditary ; it, therefore, rests with the Honorable Court to
give effect or not to the purport of this Sunud.”

129.- Government having called for further information in yegard to
the grants recommended to be made specia] (paragraph 6 of Chief Se-
cretary’s letter No. 1447 dated the 7th April 1848), it was afforded in
a “tabular statement” forwarded with the Agent’s letter No. 187 of
the 22nd August 1848, the followipg extract from ‘which refers to
Moreshwur Dixit’s case :— )

“The mother of the apcestor of this incumbent was a sister of

the mother of Ballajee Bajee Rao, and the wording of this Sunud
108
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expressly mentions that this Surinjam should always (#f) be con-

tinued on hereditary tenure, which gives. weight to the claim of this

individual that his Jagheershould be continued hereditarily.”

This tabular statement also showed Mr. Elphinstone's reasons for
making the grant to have been—¢ T6 be continued for life.”

130. The grounds on which Government recommended Moreshwur
Dixit's Surinjam for hereditary continuance were explained in the
following terms, in a Minute of Sir George Clerk’s, written on the 22nd
March 1848.before the receipt of the above tabular statement, which,
however, made the wording of the Bunud stronger than before (see
paragraph 89 of this letter) :«— e

[N

¢ Mr. Brown has brought to notice that although Mr. Elphinstone
recommended that the Surinjam of Mor Dixit (No. 16 of Cfass II.)
should be continued to that individual as a life-grant enly, this indi-
vidual has produced a Sunud, which is registered in the Poona
Duftur, in which it is specified this grant should be considered here-
ditary. This Surinjamis a grant of the year 1766, and does not, there-
fore, come within the general Rules laid down by the Honorable
Court as conferring an hereditary title: the fact, however, of this grant
(which is of the annual value of Rs. 491-5-6) having been assigned
to the ancestor of the present incumbent on hereditary tenure is, I
consider, with reference to the intentions of the Copurt alluded to in
the preceding paragraph, a sufficient reason for this Government to
recommend that the provisions of the Sunud granted to this family
should be upheld.”

131. The foregoing paragraphs contain, ‘verbagim, the reasons sub-
mitted to the Honorable Court, who concurred in them and the recom-
mendation grounded on them, in the following terms :—

«In this case the Sunud is of the date of 1766, but is stated to
contain (what is rare in such cases) distinct words of inheritance ;
this Surinjam, therefore, should be hereditary.” '
132. Such were the circumstances under which, on the 21st Sep-

tember last, I reported on Moreshwur Dixit’s Surinjam. In 1844 Mr.
‘Warden had reported (see paragraph 125 of this letter) the Sunud to
declare it to be * perpetual”; in 1847 Mr. Brown had stated (see para-
graphs 327 ang 128 of this letter) the Sunud to specify that ¢ the grant
should be considered hereditary”; and had further explained (see para-
graph 129 of this lettet) the precise wording of the Sunud to be that
the Surinjam &should -always (#w#t) be contintted on hereditary
tenure”; Government had, on thé above reports, resolved (see paragraph
130 of this letter) that the grant, although made as late as 1766, should
nevertheless be considered an hereditary one, because, as it was held
undef a Sunud declaring it to be so, “the provisions of the Sunud
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granted to this family shonld he npheld”; and lastly, the Honorablé Court
had sanctioned {see paragraph 131.of this Jetter) the hereditary conti-
nuance of the Surinjam on the sale grounds of the ¢ distinct words of in-
heritance” said to be eontained in thte Sunud, and had even then added
the observation that such words were rare. But when I referred to the
Sunud itself, I found that it contained merely the word stx@ (Néhemee),
.which bad been translated as ‘“‘always (see paragraph 129 of this letter),
* whereas, the Government and the Court bad been informed that it con-
tained words signifying “always on hereditary tenufe.”
, 133. I thought then, asI think now, that Government must have been
eqmpletely misinformed, and I reported ageordingly (No. 327 dated the
21st September 1852). That “Néhemee” ought not to have been con-
strued @s ¢ perpetual,” or as “always on hereditary tenure,” is I think
undoubted, for reasdhs which I have explained at length in paragraphs
79 to 82 of this letter : in the last interpretation afforded to Government,
the Murathee word was introduced in the original character, and trans-
lated’as « always,” and so far there was nothing to object to; but other
English words, (“on hereditary tenure,”) for which there were no corre-
spondmg words whatever in the Murathee original, were added, and
these were the words described by the Honorable Court as ¢ distinct
words of inheritance.” ;
134. My report on Moreshwur Dixit’s Surinjam was referred by
Government to Mr. Warden, who has explained (see paragraph 63 of
this letter) his reasons for thinking that the case should be made a spe-
citl one, and that the Surinjam should be declared hereditary. My
. opinion on most of these points differs (paragraphs 70 to 87 of this letter
are explanatory of ‘this) from that of Mr. Warden, and most of them
have never previously been brought forward nor discussed. I have
already fully adverted to this in previous portions pf this letter (see
paragraph 88), and it only seems necessary to add that they do net, ap-
parently, affect my original report on this casé. Even supposing that
Mr. Elphinstone had not left it an open one, his recommendation could
not have affected the reasoning by whick alone the Honorable Court of
Directors were induced to declare the Surinjam hereditary, for the rea-
soning to which I refer had not the slightest connection (either sup-
‘posed or stated) with any act or recommendation of Mr. Elphjnstone,—
“The wording of the Sunud expressly mentlons thet this Surinjam
should always (Fe#) be continued on heredlta;y ténure.”
 This was the reasoning which I questioned in my first report; the
only material point at issue, and brought forward by'me, was whether
such a Sunud existed or not, and this material* point does not seem to
me at all affected by the information now afforded by Mr. Warden.
135. Mr. Warden has pointed out an error into which I, fell, in
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believing Mr. Elphinstone to have disposed of Moreshwur Dixit’s case’;
and Government, I may observe, appear to have supposed (see para-
graphs 126 and 130 of this letter), s I did, that Mr. Elphinstone had
recommended that the Surinjam should be continued for life. It seems,
however, fortunate that the subject has now been discussed, for the dis-
covery (see paragraph 31 of this letter) that not one-half of the cases
which Mr. Elphinstone’s lists contain were, from various causes, dis-
posed of or inquired into by him, must, I apprehend, have an important
bearing on all futiire, even should it not affect past proceedings.

136. Mr. Warden does not agree * in thinking that this Palanquin
allowance should have been.designated a Nemnook rather than a Su-
rinjam : that it should be called a Surinjam, although the Peshwa’s
Sunud refers to it as a Nemnook, may be readily conceded Wwithout
affecting the real question atissue, and, entertaining this belief, it would
remain merely to acknowledge the correction ; but Mr. Warden has also
expressed an opinion in paragraph 26 of his letter, that because the
Palanquin allowance was considered a Surinjam by Mr. Elphinstone
and granted by him on the Surinjamee tenure, ¢ without violation of the
public faith, it cannot now be called anything else.” In this opinion I
am not able to concur,—in this particular case, because Mr. Elphinstone
did not inquire into it at all, and, generally, because I am under the
impression (see note to paragraph 106 of this letter) that the public faith
stands pledged in regard to Mr. Elphinstone’s lists only to the extent
of continuing for life the holdings therein gntered. I much doubt
whether Mr. Elphinstone ever intended that this allowance should‘be
inserted in his lists at all, and I think it most probable that it found a.
place there owing to the hurry (see paragraph 32 of this letter) in which
the lists were completed : its non-entry (see paragraph 122 of this letter)
in ‘Mr. McDonngll’s statement is remarkable, and "the more so as Mr.
Elphinstone distinctly informed the Governor General in paragraph 5
of his despatch dated the 25th October 1819, that the whole investigation
had been ¢ committed to Mr. McDounell, who proceeded to compare the
statements of the Jagheerdars with those drawn up in the Duftur, check-
ing both by the accounts received from the Collectors.” The only con-
clusion at which T can arrive is that this allowance must have been pur-
posely egcluded frgm Mr. McDonnell’s statement, and inadvertently
entered in Mr. €lphinstone’s lists.

" oI have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) T. A. Coweer, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissioner.

* In the 8th paragraph of Captain Cowper’s report No. 327 of the 21st September 1852,
it was stated that *the allowance shown in the lists as®a Surinjam is distinctly entered as a
* Nemnook’ in the Sunud,” -
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APPENDIX B.

Statement B (to actompany Captain T. A. Cowrer, Assistant Inam
Commissioner’s Letier No. 163, of the 2nd May 1853 ), of Inams con-
tinwed to direct and to collateral Heirs, under the authority éf the
Peshwas’ Government, by Bunuds ‘or Orders, which are regigtered

or quoted in fortheoming' State Records, Diaries, Ledgers, &c.

— | Number.

N

5

Date of the Regtmy of the Sunud
or other Document referred to.

Substance of the Sunud, as registered or quoted in the
State Reoorda. o

Arabic.

A.D.

Khumsain

oth Zilkad, Eehe-
- day Seetain.

16th Shaban, snbm
Seetain,

4th Shuwal, Eehe-
day Subain.

~

26th Shaban
Subsin, Boet

1749-50

1760-61

1766-67

1770-71

C

1775-76

Bringing to the account of the Government the sum
of fifteen hundred rupees, being the amtunt of a
relief (Nuzur) levied from Kwajeh Hameed Khan
on sanctioning the continmance to him of the vil-
lage of Toorkabad, in the province of < Bedur,
which had been held in Inam by his father, Toork
Taz Khan.

Sanctioning the continuance, on the payment of a
relief (Nuzur) of five thousand rupees, of two
Infum villages in tefritory recently conquered from
the Nizam, and then held by the family of Syud
Lushkur Khan.

Sanctioning, on the payment of a relief (Nusur) of
one thousand rupees, the continuance of a share
of the revegue of the village of Kunnair, Turuf
Sattara, which had been held in Inam by Appajee
Junardhun, and of his Surinjam holdings also,
to lis brother Balkrishna Jusardhun.

Sanctioning, en payment of a relief (Nuzur), the
amount of which was to be afterwards fixed, the con-
tinuance to Morar Reo Jadhow Bhooinjkur of one-
third of the Inam village of Bhooinj, Prant Waee,
and of ‘the Surinjam also, which had been held
by his deeetsed father, Kundeh Rao Jadhow.

Samﬁomng. on payment of a relief (Nuzur) of five
" lakhs and ene rupees, the continuance to Raghoo-
putrao' Raja Bahadoor of the Inams.and Surin-
jams held by his deceased father Naro, Shunknt
Raja Bahadoor, -




APRENDIX. B. -85

10

11

12

or other Document

te of the myoftha&unud
Date of the Regi orred to.

Subétance of the Sunud, as or quoted §n the
, a8 registered {n

Arabic.

4. D.

) ;. | Number.

29¢ki 'Rubee-ool-A-
wul. Suba Subain.

- []
14th Zilhej, Teesal
Subain,

8#16th Rujub, Teesa

Subain

29th Rumzan, Tee-

sa Subain. .

3rd Shuwal, Teesa
Subain.

29th Rubee-ool-A-

6th Jummad-ool-

wul, Teesa Su-

Awnl, 8umaneen.|-

1776-77

1778-97

1778-79.

1778-79

lSmehonmg, on paymentof arelief (Nuzur) of four
"thousand and one rupees, the continuance to
Hybutrso Athowlay of a share of the revenues
(Umul) of the village of Sheemophul in the Soopa
Purguna, and of Gozayhuvee, in the Baramuttee
Kuryat, which had been held in Inam by his de-
ceased father,”Soobanrao Athowlay, and also of his
iate father’s Surinjam.

Sanctioning the continuance to Madhow Rao Pettay
of the Surinjams and the Inams which had been,
held by his late father, the Inams consisting of
the villages of Chinchnora, Prant Waee, and
Bhamoora, Prant Poona, and of land in the vil.
lage of Koeel, Prant Joonere.

Ordering the resumption of the Inams and large
Surinjam then held by Raghooputrao Narayen
Raja Bahadoor, and transferring them to Trim:
buk Rao Narayen Reja Bahadoor (the brather
of Raghooputrao), on payment of a Yeliet (Nu-
zur) of ten lakhs and one rupees.

Sanctioning the continuance to Jeewan Rao Pundit
Soomunt of the Surinjam, and of half the Inam
village of Riswair, in the Xurrar district, which
had been held by his father, Myheeput Rao Pundit
Soomunt, deceased.

1778-79400ntinuing to Huree Pundit Veidhantee the Inam

1778-79

17 79-80

land in three villages of Purguna Indapoor, pre-
viously held by his father, Govind Pundit, who
had proceeded to Benares.

Continuing, on payment of a relief (Nuzur) of twenty
thousand and one rupees, to Abdool Gazeekhan,

five Inam villages in Py Umber, whick had
'beon held by, his late fo.t , Hakeem -Mahomed

B»mtmg the death, without, male issue, of Bapoojee
" Luximon Poorundhuree, *and the consequent re-
. sumption of two Inam villages which had been
onghially granted to his father, md which the
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Duaofthenech&yofms»mud O S S R VT | S
 or gther Dooument referred 0. | g pgiine of the Sanud, s reglstered or quoted in the
— State Records. ,

Arabic. A. D.

I le
3

L ot *Gmrernment now sllow to beheld by Myheeput-
I S -, va0 Luximon, the younger brother of the deceased

Y. ... .. | . . | Bapocjee Luximon. .
13215t Rubee-osl-Ak-| 1781-82 |Continuing to Megusham Rao the Inam village and
- | hig E-nnax Su4 . | lands, and the Surinjam which had been held by

| [misneesi. | . .| bis deceased father, Nago Rao Megusham. ,
13'271:1; Zﬂhe;,, Sulasf 1782-83 Conhnumg to Vireshwur Bhnt Kurvey three Inam

* Sumaneen, o| villages (Madar, Kungols, and Bhadus), and Inam

land in the village of Oorsah, which had been
) held by his deceased brother, and before his death
« |. attached by Government. )

15119th Rubee-ool-A-| 1783.84 |Continuing, on the payment of a relief (N nzur) of
wul, Arba Sama- cighteen thousand and one rupees, to Bulwunt
neen. : Rao Kuddum Banday, the Inams (two villages)
and Surinjam which had been held by his late
. o . . fnth_er, Amroot Rao Kuddum Banday.
16125th “Rujub, Khu-| 1784-85 Continuing, on the payment of a relief (Nuzur) of
- myus Sumegieen. twenty thousand and one rupees, to Narayen Rao
’ Dhumdheray, the Inams (one: village, and shares
of revenue in three others) and Surinjam which
had been held by his laté father, Trimbuk Rao
Dhumdheray,.

Continfuing to Anundrao Mulhar the Inams

r

17 (8th Rumzan, Teesa' 1788-89

Sumaneen. (shares in the revenue of two villages) and the
Surinjam held W his late father, Mulhar Rao

e Knshm- .
189th Jummad-ool-A-| 1789-90 |Sandtioning the continuance of Inam labd in the
wul, Teesain. village of Kooshturpun, which had been held by

Venkun Bhut bin Rajeshwar Bhut, deceased, to
his nephew and sons-in-law.

19 20th Rumzan, Tee-| 1789-90 |Deciding on & petition from certain relatives and
.| mem. e gonnexions of the Inamdars of the village of Ka-

< ‘ . rungulla, in the Moolwar Purguna, and ordermg
) the continuance 3f the village to the lineal male *
co descendants of the original grantee, and to them
alone, and directing the payment of thirty thousand
rupees as relief (Nuzur) on the occasion.

20 [Teesain ..... e 1789-90 CreditingtoGovemm;nt swenty-five thousand rupees,
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Date of the Registry of the S8unud
; | orother Dooument reéfewred to. | gupytance of the Sunud, sa registered or quote® in the
g - State Records. . .
= mmc. 4, D.
the amount of relief (Nuzur) paid by Rughoonath
Rao Myral Pansé, to whom Government had con-
b tinued the Inams and Surinjams of his late father
and uncle. .
21 [Eeheday Teesain . . | 1790-91 [Bringing to account of Government fifty thousand

22 |18t Shuwal, Echeday
JTeesain,

®
23 [Arba Teesain ....

24[11th Sufur, Xhu-
mus Teesain.

1790-91

1793-94

1794-95

rupees, the #mount of relief (Nuzur) paid by
Krishnajee Thorat, to whom the Inams and Su-
rinjams of his late father, Shivajee Thorat, had
been continued.

Continuing to Jywuntrao Marunwar Futteh Jung
Bahadoor a share in the revenue (Umul) of the
village of Chincholee, in the Patoda Purguna,
which had been held in Inam, and also the Wutun
which had been held by his late grandfather.

Bringing to account of Government four thousand
rupees, the amount of relief (Nuzur) levied from-
Bukojee Rajeh Seerkay on his being permitted
to succeed to his late father’s Inams and Surinjams.

Issuing orders for the expenditure of twenty thou-
sand and one rupees, to be levied from Krishna
Rao Shaloonkay, as a relief (Nuzur), and on
account of other dues, on his being permitted to
succeed to his late father's Inam village and
Surinjam.

(Signed) T. A. Cowrkg, Captain,
v Assistant Inam Commigsioner.
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Statement C (to aécomp&hy' Captain T. A. Gowrer, Assistant Inam
Commissioner’s Letter No. 163, of the 2nd May 1853 ), of Inams con-
tinued to adopted Sons,'tmder the authority of the Peshwas’ Govern-
ment, by Sunuds which are registered or quoted in forthcoming
State Records, Dmnes, Lcd"g'ers, §e.

o

[, Nomb

. -

Mnﬂhhgmryoﬂhcstmnd
orotlmnommtnmredto.

Snbstnnue ol the Butmd as registered or quoted in the
tlto Records.

A D

-

11th . Jummad-ool-

Awaul, Teesa Su-|"

1778-79

i

2126th Rumzan, Teesa| 1778-79
Subain. o

3(9th Rubee-ool-A-| 1778-79
wul, Teesa Su-
bain.

4(16th Safar, Esud 1781-82
nay Sumaneen,

A (_, <

5(2nd Sufur,
annanegn. ¢

Glzhba Sumaneen . . | 1783-84

Sanctioning the continuance of the Inam village of

" Dyhurree,  Prant Poona, to Mahadeo Rao," the
adopted son of Tookajee Somwounshee, and order-
ing the payment of a relief (Nuzur) of one thou-
sand rtipeeh.

Authorising the continuance, on the paymentof a
relief (Nuzur) of six thousand rupees, of four
villages which had been held in Inam by Syud
Kootubdeen Khan wulud Syad Noordee Maho-
meéd Khan Bahadoor and resumed on his death
withqut male issue, to his adopted son Imamoo-
deen Ali.

Sanctioning the continuanc¢ of Inam land in the
village of War, in the Asseer Purguna, to Kassee
Daut, the adopted son of Myheshwar bin Ramesh-
war Janee.

Reciting the previous resumption of the village of
Umber Khoord, in the Purguna of Nassick, in
congequence of the death, without male issue, of
the Inamdar Ramchunder Bhut Khairkur, and
the adoption ‘of a son by his widow nat having

" received the sanction of Government, and now
according such sanction on the application of the
adopted son himself (Moro Bhut), and allowing

lnmtoholdthevilhge .

Arbal 1783-84 Monm the continuance of three Inam

the Sattan district to Sudasew Pundit, the
oaopwt son of Goonakur Pundit. .

Bringing to the account of Government twenty

thousand rupees on account of a relief (Nuzur),
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| Number.

10

11

12

Date of the Registry of the snnud
or other Document referred to.
Arabic. A-'D.

Substancs of the Sunud, as registered or quoted in ‘
State Records. “he

P27the  Zilhej, Seet|
Sumaneen.
- .

Teesa, Sumaneen. .

9th Rubee-ool-Ak-
hir, Teesa Suma-
neen.

20th Rumzan, Tee-
sain.

7th  Mohurum,
Teesain.

TOm

3

1785-86

1788-89

1788-89

1789-90

1789-90

1789-90

or of & portion of a rehef, paid on the Govern-
‘ment according sanction to the continnance of
the ITnsm village and land which had been held
by the late Anundraoc Ram to Ram Rao Anunt,
adopted by the widow of the deeeued Inamdar.

Sanctioning the gontinuance of the Inam village of
Velloo, Prant Waee, which had been held by Bur-
hanjee Mohitay, deceased, to Sonjee Mohitay,
adopted by the widow of the late Inamdar.

Bringing to Government account eighty thousand
and one rupees, the amount of reljef (Nuzur)
levied on the recognition by Government of
Rung Rao as the adopted son of Myheeputrao
Luximon Poorundhuree, and on allowing him
to succeed to the Inams and Sunn;ams held by
his deceased adoptive father.

Acknowledging the receipt by Govermment of fif. y-
five thousand rupees, the amount of relief (Nuzur)
paid on the continuance of the Inam villuges
and Wufun of the late Deoshet Veerkur to Ma-
hadshet, adopted by the widow of the deceased
Inamdar.

Sanctioning the continuance of Inam lands in three
villages, and of the shares of the revenues (Umul)
of two others in the Purfkunas of Dindoree,
Wunn, and Nassick,.to Moro Punt, adopted by
the widow of the former Inamdar, Mahadowrao
Bullal Peteh.

Sanctioning, on payment of a relief (Nuzur) of one
thousand rupees, the continuance of Inam land
in the village of Malgoond, and of a share of the
revenue (Umul) of the gillage of Njmboree and
of other lands, all of which been held by the
lade Sudasew Rughoonath Rajwargay, to his
adopted son, Rugh th.

ctioning, on payment of a;‘l-elief (Nuzur) of four
thousand rupees, thé continuance of the Inam
and Surinjam which had: been. held by the late
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"

Date o the Ragltzy of the Suand
{ wr other Dooumant reforzed {1 * Bubstance of the Sunud, as registered or quoted in the
State Records, e

Arabic. A. D,

- PO S L - s
- pamns

sas v o L Deorao Kassee, MootshkNyuduh tohuadopted
©+ | .| som Kastee Deorao. -

18 5&& Zilkad, 'Arbal 1793-94 Iﬂanchonmg an adoption by the widow of the late
' Teesain.. Appajee Ram Dabholkur, and continuing to the

: adopted son, Ramrao Appajee, the three Inam
c villages, exclusive of certain shares of- revénue
belanging to other parties, which had been held

|ﬁ Namber.

by Appajee Ram. ¢
14 |4th Rubee-ool-Ak-| 1796-97 |Sanctioning the continuance of Inam land in the
| hir, Suba " Tee- village of Keshow Rowaché Patun, in Hindoo-
sam., . | stan, to the widow of Dinpanath bin Purmanund

Tirwaree, end authorising “her adopting a son to
inherit the Inam; also exempting the widow
from the payment of any relief (Nuzur) on the

occasion.
15130th Sufur, Suba 1806-07 Continuing, on payment of a relief (Nuzur) of twenty
' Mjyatain. lakhs and one rupees, the Inams and large Surin-

jam held by the late Nursing Khunderao Vin-
choorkaur, to his adopted son, Wittulrao Nursing.

('Signed) T. A. Cowpmi, Captain,
‘ Assistant Inam Commissioner.



APPENDIX. B,

Statement D (to accompany Captain 'T. A. Cowrer, Assistant Inam

Commissipner’s Letter No. 163, of the 2nd May 1853), of Inams trans-
JSerred by gift or sale, under the authority of the Peshwas’ Govern-
went, by Sunuds or Qrders, which are quoted or registered in forth-
coming State Records, Diaries, Ledgers, §c.

w | Number.

3

13

*Déte ©of the Registry of the Sunud
or other Document referred to.

L}
Substance of the Sunud, as registered or quoted in the

Arabic.,

A. D.

State Records.

10th Zilhej, Khu-|
ntus Seetain. -

7th Rumzan, Eehe-
day Subain,

21st Rubee-ool-Ak-
hir, Eeheday Su-
bain,

5th Zilhej Eeheday
Subain.

20th Zithej, Eehe-
day Subain,

24th Raujub, Esu-
_ nay Subain.

1764-65

1770-71

1770-74

1770-71

1770-71

1771-72

Reciting an application from Moro Gopal to be per-
mitted to hold in Inam the village of Kurrosee,
in the Talooka of Chass, which had been trans-
ferred to him in gift by the former Inamdar,
Krishna Rao Mhadoo Joshee, and ordering the-
village to be held in Inam accordingly.

Sanctioning the gift in Inam of some land in the Inem
village of Chandooree, in the Nassick Purguua,
by the holders of the village to Balajee Luximon
Joshee. *

Authorising a transfer of the Inam village of Raha-
towree, in the Kallian Prant, previouslv made by
Rukmabaee, the widow of Gopal Mhadoo Goray
(who had been granted it on the death of her
husband in battle), to Ramaj& Huree Bhiday.

Sanctioning the transfer of 3 beegas of Inam land in
the villgge of Sap, in the Bhewndy Prant, which
had been given by Survootum Shunkur Phurksy
to Rambhut bin Govind Bhut Phatuk.

Sanctioning the transfer of a share of the revenue
(Umnl) of the town of Halgaum, in the
Purguna, which had bee in Ifam by Su-
koobaee Sinday; and made,over by her to Kundeh
Rao Naique Nimbalkur. g

Sanctioning the transfer of Fnatn land in the town of
Kullian, in the Kullian Prant, which had been
held by Ramchunder Krishnarao Joshee, and

P given by him to Gungadhus Moreshwur Golay.
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" ' Number.

10

11

13

14

T9th  Jummad-ool-

Awul, Arba Bu-
bain.,

Arba Subain... .. ..

10th Shuwal, Khu-
mus Subain.

<

12th Rujub, Suba
Subain.

8th °  Jummad-ool-

’

bain,

9“\ shlbm’ Seat
Sumaneen,

Awul, Buman Qg-z

1773-74

1773-74

1774-75

1776-77

1777-78

(3
L

1785-86

APPRNDYX .
Date of the Registry of the Sunud S ’
" er other Document referred 0. |- gopgancs of the Sunnd, as registered or quoted in the
Arabic. A.D.
11th ** Ritbbe-e6kl 1772-73 [Sanctioning the transfer of " shave* of the Tevenue
“Awdl, Sulss Buy . ' (@mul) of the village of Bendills,"in the Umber
o ‘Puirgune, ‘which bad been held m Inam by Su-
- ‘goonabace Sinday, and given by her to Moro
L Jd Nurhur Bodray and Vishnoo Nushur Bodray,
4th Zilhej, SulasSu-| 1772-73 [Sanctioning & transfer similar to the above, buf in
* baiiny - another village, by the same person to Moro Ba-

poojee ‘Phurkay, Gungadhur Abajee Phurkay,
Huree Bullal .Phyrkay, and Dhondoo Bullal
Phurkay. Co

Sanctioning the gift of some Inam land in thewillage

of Khanowree, in the Poona Prant, made by
Luximon Chintamun Dhurphullay to Mahadoo
. Rao Krishna Pansay. ,

Bringing to account of Government two hundred
rupees, the amount of relief (Nuzur) paid by
Myheeputrao Krishna Chandorekur on his being
permitted to purchase, for four hundred rupees
from: Luximon Chintamun Dhurphullay, some
Inam land in the village of Bhambowra, in the
Poona Prant.-

[

Sanctioning a gift in Inam made to Anundbhut bin
Dhondbut Chitrao and to Kasseebhut bin Dhon-
bhut Chitrao by Wittul Sewdeo Vinchoorkur,
of some Inam land in his Inam village of Saikhair,
in the Nassick Purguna.

Sanction{ng the gift of some Inam land in the vil-
lage of Bhooinj, made by Bulwunt Bajee Rao to
Venkajee Mankeshwur Uslaykur.

Sanctioning the gift in Inam, by Tookajee hin Sun-
tojee Somwounshee, of some land in his Inam vil-

o lage of Dyhurree, in the Mawul Turuf, to Myhee-
putrao Krishna Sathay.

hnnctioning the gift, by Balajee Junardhun (Nana

Furnavese), of some Inam land in the town of

Waee, to Rajeshwarbhut bin Konherbhut Nan-

[4

derkur,
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;{wa

16

17

18

, lptBubee-ool-Ayul,
. Suba Snmmeen .

m oﬂhe Regiotry of the Sumld
orothernoenmentretbmd

- Arvable.

Substance of the Sunud, s or ia |
A Sh;e‘,w quoted ia the

[ .-

’ :

p . Tgesain.

Teesain.

JTeesain.

8th Bhuwat, Enmay 1791-92
8th Shuwal,” Sulas| 1792-93

2nd Rumzan, Sulas| 1792-93

{Sanctioning the sale by Daood Khen and Hyder
Khan of their Inam village of Khoomshet, in the
Joonere Prant, to Balajee Mhadoo Bhirray, for
. the sum of rupees fifteen thouund.and one.

Sanctioning the gift by Balajee Junardhun (Nana
Furnavese) ofesome Inam land in the village of
Kurrundee, in the Parneer Purguna, to Suznajee
_ bin Yessajee Goorow Waghmarah.

Sanctioning the gift by Yeshwunt Gungadhur Chun-’
derchoor of his Inam village of Hewrah Choun-
dal, in the Umber Purguna, to Abbajee Gunga-’
dhur Wanowlay.

Sanctioning the sale by Mahomed Hoosein-ood-deen
wulud Shaik Meerao-cod-deen and others, for the
sum of rupees one thousand seven hundred and
one, of some Inam land in the town of Akoleh, .
in the Akoleh Purguna, to Krishnajee Ambaas.

Sunt.

. (Signed) T. A. Cowrer, Captain,

Assistant Inam Commissioner,
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'APPENDIX B,

Statement F (to accompany Captain T. A. Cowpsr, Assistant Iiom
Commissioner's Letter No.168, of the 2nd May 1853 ), explanatory of
the use of the word St ( Nehemee ) in Sunuds issued by the Peshwas’

Government, and Registries of which are fortlwommg among the

. Sta.u Records;: Dmnes, Ledgers, &c.

| Number.

3

The word 9¥H (Néhemee) how used.
<

e

bm oraeymy ofsungd. ,
— - Sunud by what
o Peshwa lssued.
Arabic. A} D.
21st Zilkad, aulug 1762-63 |Madbow  Rao
Seetain. L Bullal.
11th Jummad-ool-| 1763-64 Ditto ditto.
Akhir, Arba See-
tain.
30th Zilkad, At\m{ 1763-64 Ditto ditto.
n,.
« -~ '
e
a vt
i L. . e
12th Jummad-obl-1768-69 | Ditto ditto.
. Akhir, T .
Seetain. “ml

< &

Informing the District O¥icer
(Mamlutdar) of Talooka Shew-
nair that a priest had been
ordered to perform certain re-
ligious ceremonies at the town
of Joonere, and that for this
purpose he was to be supplied
regularly (Néhemee) with fuel
and leaves, and the services of
six men, from the date of the
receipt of the Sunud by the
Mamlutdar to the next Dussera
festival.

Informing the District Officer
(Mumlutdar) of the Talooka of
Chass that four Government
elephants had been sent into his
districts, and desiring him to fur-
nish one writer (Karkoon), and
to appoint him to the duty of
superintending the regular (Né-
hemee) feeding of the animals.
Deurmg the District Officer (Mam-
lutdar) of the Chass Talooka to
- supply, as heretofore, thateh for
the houses for five Bramins per-
manently (Néhemee) rendmg
at Bheema Shunkur.

_|Appointing Luxnmbn Konhere
Govemment Manager (Koma-

| visdar) of three villages in the
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97

| Number.

©

Date of Reglstry of Sunud.

Sunud by what

Arabic.

Peshwa issned.

The word #HY (Néhemee) ho¥ used.

29nd  Jummad-ool
2:ﬂhir, Teesa See-
" tgin.

t8th Jummad-ool-
‘Akhir, Subain,

Ist Jummad-ool-A-
wul, Suba Subain.

5th Shaban, Suba]
Subain.

7th  Jummad-ool-
Akhir, Suba Su-|

bain,

138

1768-69

1768-69

1776-77

1776-77

1776-77

Madhow
Bullal.

Rag

Ditto ditto. .

Madhow Rao Na-
rayen.

Ditto ditto, .

Ditto ditto. .

Shirola Purguna, desiring him
to collect the revenue, and autho-
rising his deducting regularly
(Néhemee) a certain sum on ac-
count of his own salary.

Ordering the Government ma-
nager of the village of Anjun.
gaum to pay Rs. 200 on account
of Nimbajee Thorat, then on
duty in Hindoostan, and to whom
it had been previously resolved
to grant a regular (Néhemee)
allowance (Shet Sunud) of that
amount.

Appointing to the situation of Ac-
countant (Furnavese) of Prant
Kullian, the son of Ballsjee '
Narayen, who, in consequcice
of his great age, had been ob-
liged to resign the appointment,
and was about to proceed to
reside permanently {Néhemee)
at Benares.

Directing the restoration of a Su-
rinjam to Balajee Bhoslay, stated
in the Sunud to be in the per-
manent (Néhemee) employ of
Naro Krishna, at that time
Sursubedar of Khandeish.

Desiring the District Officer (Mam-
lutdar) of the Shewneir Talooka
to allot permanently (Néhemee)
to NeelRung Chuntamun a piece
of hilldand yieldigg two thou-

gand bundles of*grass.

Appointing Sukho Mulher ma-
nager (Komavisdar) of the dis-
trict of Kuryat Mawul, and

ordering him to Eppropriate
L)
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Date of Registry of Sunud.

| Number,

10

1

It

12

13

Arabice.

Sunud by what
Peshwa issued.

The word #WY (Néhemee) how used.

7th  Jummad-ool-
Akhir, Suba Su-|
bain.

9th Shaban, Suba
Subain.

30th Shuwal, Su-
man Subain.

23rd Zilkad, Teesa
)

Subaifi.

1776-77

1776-77

1777-78

1778-79

Madhow Rao Na-|

Ditto ditto. .

Ditto ditto..

Ditto ditto. .

the revenues collected to the
use of the fort of Singhur, after
deducting “ the expenses, of °
collection, and other regular

charges.” a
aTe@ LS
Mahal muzkoor Wwugairé

fet Fwywm | W

uéhemee  Nemnook 1;hurch.

Ordering an increase of pay to the
garrison of the fort of Singhur,
stated in the Sunud to eonsist
partially of the regular (Né-
hemee) garrison of the place,
and partially of troops tempo-
rarily withdrawn from another
fort.

Granting to Keshow Mahadew,
the commander of a body of
horse, on account of his salary,
the village of Wawundala, Turuf
Wunkul, exclusive of the fixed
(Néhemee) allowance payable
from the revenue of the village.

Ordering the commander of the
fort of Chakun to allot perma-
nently (Néhemee) to Ballajee
Ram, a Karkoon in the Govern-
ment Duftur, a portion of the
grass lands of the fort, yielding
ten thousand bundles of grass.

Ordering the District Officer
(Mamlutdar) of the Rutna-
gherry Talooka to pay regularly
(Néhemee) out of the revenues
of the village of Sewar Ambara,
Turuf Pawus, Rs. 225 to the
fort of Myheemutghur, and to

« charge the amount in his account
yearly,
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Date of Reglstry of Sunud.

[ ]
Sunud by what
Peshwa 1soued. |The word FYW (Néhemee) how used.

Nmm' L]

Arabje. . A. D,

14|26th Shuwul, Su-| 1779-80 [Madhow Rao Na-|Informing the Government ma-

maneen, rayen. nager (Komavisdar) of the town
o of Pabul that it had been grant-
ed in Surinjam to Allee Baha-
door, exclusive of the Mokassa
. o Umul, and the authorised per-
’ manent charges (Néhemee Nem-
o . nook) on the revenue.

(Signed) T. A. CowrEr, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissioner.

138+
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No. 1991'

PovriTicAL DEPARTMENT.

From W. Harr, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner,

« To A. MaveT, Esq,,
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.

Dated Bombay, 20th May 1853

Sin,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter
No. 1138 dated the 14th March 1853.

2. In paragraphs 11 to 14 of my letter therein referred to, I pro-
posed to follow a certain course with regard to the general quettions
brought forward by Mr. Warden, as well as the particular case in dis-
cussing which they were introduced by him; and I have now the
honour of submitting Captain Cowper’s report No. 163 dated '2nd
May 1853, as at first promised by me, and again called for by your
letter under acknowledgment.

3. Captain Cowper’s letter now submitted (which is prefaced by a
table of contents) will, I think, be found one of the most important
documents yet brought under the consideration of Government. The
broken state of my health, and the embarrassment under which I am
placed, by feeling constrained to disagree, as to several of the points
discussed in it, with Mr. Warden, who was my first master in the Judi-
cial branch of the Service, and to whose careful though indulgent
supervision as such I owe all the little usefulness I may have since
acquired as a public servant, will, T trust, be accepted as my excuse for
avoiding any lengthy discussion of these points. Such discussion on my
part would,-in fact, appear the less necessary, as Captain Cowper has,
in his 2nd paragraph, proposed to himself the course of following
Mr. Warden seriatim through his letter of the 9th December 1852, as
the best mode of drawing up the explanation required by Government,
who will,'there(foﬂ, be, by a mere comparison of the letters of Messrs.
‘Warden agnd Cowper, placed in a position to judge how justly, and
how far each affects tife Rules which are, or ought to be followed in
disposing of the various alienations of the publw revenue to which each
letter refers.

4, The following synoptlcal table will show the order im which
Captain Cowper has followed Mr. Warden' throughout his letter.
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Paragraphs ?f Corresponding pnragrapha of | Paragraphs of o
Mr.m:;i'on 8 Captain Cowper’s Letter. M"Lg:;r"” Ccm:l %ﬁam" ayha o
2and3 |- | 3tol7 23 89
4 R 20 24 90 and 91, also 130 to 132
5 16 to 19, and 21 to 26 25 |89 and 90, also 127 to 134
6 27 26 88 and 89, also 125 to 134,
7 and 8 28 to 32, and 135 and 136
%and 10 | 33 and 34, also 58 and 60 27 92
11 and 12 44, 45, and 101 to 104 28 44 and 45, also 93 to 104
13 and 14 84 and 85 29 88 and 91
15 and 16 |69 to 78, and 83, 87, and 88} 30 ) 102 to 104
P7 and 18 79 to 82 N 35 and 105
19 69 to 88 32 106 to 109
20y .70 to 72, and 87 and 88 33 111
21 51 to 53 34 111 'andlle
22 55 to 62, and 127 to 129

5. , Captain Cowper may seem to have becn somewhat profuse in
his quotations from the correspondence on record in the Deccan Com-
missioner's Office; but, in one respect, his able and valuable report
derives great additional value from its profuscness of citation, as
it now forms a complete recapitulation of proceedings connected
with the much questioned Surinjam lists, from their rough draft by
Mr. Elphinstone until their supposed final correction by Mr, Brow;
and the Honorablé Court of Directors will, I anticipate, find it the most
valuable of the materials yct placed before them for enabling them to
discriminate (with respect to the alienations of revenue entered in the
lists) between their ,obligdtion to the Surinjamdars—whether ax indivi-
duals or as a class—and their duty to the whole community, of whose
revenues they are the trustees and administrators,—a distinction noticed
in Captain Cowper’s 107th and following paragraphs, and set forth in
an able though exaggerative leader in the London
Times* of the 9th of February last.

6. With respect to citations of the State records of the former
Governments, Captain Cowper has also been profuse ; but had he not
been so, there would, in those cases in which he has qucsuoned Mr.
‘Warden’s positions, have been nothing to have justified Government in
attending to him; whereas, hc has now fortified all (his ows positions
by the strongest evu]ence -

7. I would beg the especial attention of Government t8 Captain
Cowper’s 94th to 98th paragraphs, Captain bowper and Mz. Hearn
have lately rescued valuable Government Dufturs from the shops of
grocers and firework-makers. ’

8. The fact shown in Gaptain Cowper’s 28th to 3lst paragraphs is
an important one, as it would appear that Mr. Elphinstone left mare than

* See page 105.



102 APPENDIX B.

one-half of the Surinjams entered in the list 'signed by him without
even & recommendation as to the nature of their final settlement. What
adds to the importance of this fact is that the Surinjam lists, in their
subsequent revisals, appear to have been revised without any regular call
for information and proof being made upon the Surinjamdars, and with-
out requiring from each a genealogical statement of his family. This
was brought to my notice by Captain Cowper so long ago as the 4th of
last January ; but, in the then state of matters, I was unwilling to qres-
tion the Agent’s procedure in any case, except in those where there were
primd facie signs of error. Atthe same time I am respectfully of opinion
that no decision, even in theabsence of such signs, can be trustwortky,
where the first and most obvious essentials to a complete i mqulry have
been omitted. ‘

9. From these facts, therefore,—the absence of Mr. Elphinstone’s
recommendation as to more than half the cases entered in his lists, and
the absence of regular statements by the Surinjamdars whose names
appear in it, as to the history of their claims and family descent, added
to the cases of actual error in the revised lists lately reported by this
department,—I can come to no other conclusion than that the whole of
the Surinjams entered in those lists should be regularly inquired into;
not merely those which at first sight appear to have been disposed of
on erroneous grounds, but those, also, in which no such <omplete
inquiry is recorded as to show that the grounds of decision were
evidently correct. }

10. But a re-investigation of this nature is a 2 work of such delicacy
and importance that Government would, I sappose, hesitate at order-
ing it without renewed instructions from the Honorable Court; and [
would respectfully suggest that it might be well to stop further inquiry
into the lists uatil the Honorable Court’s instructions are received, and
meanwhile to again place the Agent for Sirdars in charge of the re-
cords which he temporarily transferred to this department, under the
orders of Government, to enable i to effect the partial testing of the
accuracy of Mr. Brown’s revised lists, which has now been made more
than doubtful.

i1. I hope I may be pardoned for adding to Captain Cowper's
remarks, in his 111th paragraph, on the conclusion of Mr. Warden’s
letter, the follo‘wmg quotation from an article on ¢ Indian Administra-
tion” in the Quarférly Review for December last :— ]

“«The passages adBuced by the Friend of India from Munro,
Metcalfc, and Elphinstone, reflect the chivalrous generosity of the
writers, who, brought into official and social intercourse with the

. immediate representauves of houses recently powerful, were disposed
to fegl that the superior stations which_ they themselves held partook
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of the nature of an usurpation; and thus the exigencies of a changed
policy and of altered circumstances were overlooked in sympathy for
reverse of fortune.” )

12.  As this is probably the last occasion I shall have, before leaving
the country, to allude to Captain Cowper’s work in the Inam Commis-
sion, 1 trust I may be allowed to take the opportunity afforded by
.having to submit the present sample of it, to record the exceedingly
high*sense I entertain of his zealous and unflagging industry, and the
ability with which he has assisted me—indeed, I may say enabled me—
to quietly introduce the several operations of the Inam Commission into
the Poona Collectorate, where, it is well knewn, there are agitators to be
found ready to excite discontent and opposition against every public
measure. Government is, however, aware how quietly the introduction
of this Commission under Act XI. of 1852, and the preliminary collec-
tion of Dufturs have been effected in Poona; and for this they are
indebtgd to Captain Cowper’s judgment and tact, as well as to his
firmness and activity.

I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) 'W. Harr,
Inam Commissioner.

No. 136 or 1854.

Poritical. DEPARTMENT.

To P. W. LEGeyr, Esq.,
Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan. .

Sir,—With reference to the 6th paragraph of the Government letter
to the address of Mr. W. J. Hunter,, dated the 13th August, No. 3471
of 1849, relative to the Surinjam of Moreshwur Dixit Munohur, T am
directed by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council to transmit to
you an extract, paragraph 18, from a despateh from the Honorable the
Court of Directors, No. 55, dated the 12th October last, and to request

that you will give effect to the decision of the Honorable Court eontained
L J

at the clo? of the paragraph. o .

I have the honox!r to be, &ec.
(Signed) A. MaLer,
Chief Secretary.

Bombay Castle, 11th January 1854. .
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Extract Paragraph 18 from a Despatch from the Honorable the Court of
Directors, dated the 12th October, No. 55 of 1853.

Para. 18. We consented to recognise the Surinjam of Moreshwur

ence respect-
ing the Surinjam of Mo-
reshwur Dixit Munobur,
lately recognised as heredi-
tary, tml remarks by Cap-
tain Cowper and Mr. Hart
on the Sunn;nmn
generally.

Dixit as hereditary (although of later date than
1751) on the distinct statement by Mr. Warden
and Mr. Brown that the Sunud contained words,
of inheritance. From Captain Cowper’s fetter
dated 21st September 1852, and Mr. Warden’s
letter of explanation dated 9th December 1852,
it appears there were no express words df inhe-

ritance, and that the view which Mr. Warden took of the case depend-
ed on a disputable and disputed interpretation of the word ¢ Néhemee,”
stated by Mr. Warden himself to be literally equivalent to ¢ con-
stantly” or “regularly.” Considering this circumstance, and also that
the Surinjam is a mere Palkee allowance, we are quite satisfied.that it
ought not to be hereditary.
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Aﬂiu&fmh tha hmcm '.l‘im, raj\'erred to at pag‘e 101.

© In the last number of the Edmbargzb Review a severe censure is pra~

nounced against the avowed polwyof the [ndian Government to omit
"no suitable epportunity of acquiring the _tewritories still in possession of
Native powers.  'The question raised by these observations is so import~
ant, and at the same time so practical, that it seems worthy of discus-
sion with reference to wider principles and higher considerations of
policy than those which the Reviewer applies to its solution.

Frond Sind Yo the eastern extremity of Bengal, and from the most
receding ‘indenfations of the Himalaya chain to Cape Comorin, the
sovereignty of England is supreme, witheut a rival and without an
equal. Whatever be the local Government of this vast territory, we are
its paramount lords, its protectors,and its rulers. Our arms must defend:
it, our policy must guide it, our justice must pervade it, and for its
welfare and good government we are responsible before God and man.
'This responsibility we have gradually, but knowingly and wilfully, takem
upon ourselves. We cannet apportion it; we cannot divide it. Prior.
and superior to all other obligationsis our duty towards the whole
people of India. "We do not, however, as yet, govern the whole of this
vast country inour own name : Sovereigns over almost all the sea coast,
we have left many rich provinces in the interior still under the nominal
dominion of Native rplers.” With the exception of the Rajpoot princes,.
these potentates are not generally of high rank or remote antiquity,
"Their possessions rest upon a title in general no better than our own,—
with this remarkable difference, that though their dominions, like ours,
were won by the sword, that sword, unlike ours, is drawn to oppress
and not to defend. We have emancipated these pale and ineffectual
pageants of royalty from the ordinary fate that waits on an Oriental
despotism. The history of Eastern monarchies, like everything else in-
Asia, is stereotyped and invariable. The founder of the dynasty, a brave
soldier or a subtle intriguer, expels from the throne the feeble and
degenerate scion of a more ancient house. His son may inherit some of
the vigour and talents of his father, but in two or three generations luxury
and indolence do their work, and the feeble inheritors of a great. name
are dethroned. by. some new adv‘mr, destihed to bequeatb a like:
misfortune to his degenerate descendants, Thus are rebellion and
deposition the-eorrectives of despotism, and thus, through the medium
of periodical anarchy and civil wan’awas secured to the people of the
East a recurrence, at fixed mtervals, of able and vigorous princes., 'I‘hw ,

148 '
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advantage we have taken away from the inhabitants of the States of
India still governed by Native princes. Tt has been well said, that we
give these princes power without responsibility. Our hand of iron main-
tains them on the throme, despite their imbecility, their vices, or their
crimes. The result is, in most of those Native States, a chronic anarchy,
under which the revenues of the State are dissipated between the greedy
mercenaties of a turbulent camp and the venal minions-of a corrupt and
degraded court.’ The heavy ‘and arbitrary taxes levied on the riise-
rable Ryuts setve no purpose but to feed the prodigality of the meanest and
most éffeminate of mankind. The political relations of the State—every-
thing, in fact, which does not tend directly or indirectly to the @equisi-
tion of a revenue thus profligately squandered, are left to the control
and direction of the British Resident. The theory seems to be 'i)roadly
admitted, that government is not for the sake of the people, but of the
King, and that so long as we secure that King in his sinecure royalty,
we discharge all the duty that we, as Sovereigns of India, owe,to his'
subjects, who are virtually ours. The treaties concluded with these
puppets of our own setting up are quoted, and their rights emphatically
relied on, by philanthropic members of Parliament, who never seem
to advert to the fact that these treaties have diverted the revenues of
these kingdoms from their legitimate uses, and handed over their
inhabitants to perpetual slavery. We, on the other hand, are inclined
to believe that there is a higher duty towards the people of India than
the observance of the letter of treaties made in fraud of their rights,—
our duty to protect them from cruelty and injustice, from extortion and
oppression,—to provide for them the best government which they are
gapable of receiving, and to lighten the load of taxation on all by taking
care that no part of it issquandered in waste or profligacy. The higher
morality cancels and makes void the lower. '

But, not only does the policy of mdintaining protected Native States
tend to the grievous injury of the subjects whom we have betrayed into
the hands of these titular Sovereigns,—it also tends to make our yoke
press with unnecessary severity on our own immediate subjects. From
1838 to 1849 our Indian revenue has been in one continual deficit, the
amount of which is upwards of 15,000,000l. There is no country in the
world where the want of *funds is- keeping back so many necessary
works as in India. In order to raise even this insufficient revenue, we
are compelled to have recourse to the most questionable financial expe-
dients,—to the mgnopoliv of salt, whifh is a heavy and cruel poll-tax, and
to an export duty on opium, a source of revenue which a single gleam
of common sense on the part of the Chinese Government, which prohi-
bits its cultivation, would immediately destroy.. With all these despe-
rate expedients, our Indian income fails to meet our expenditure. The
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reason is obvious. We undertake 1o defend from foreign attack and
domestic insurrection the whole, and to administer the Government with
the revenue of only two-thirds of India, the revenue of the other third being
wasted on the vicesy the pageantnes, and the intrigues of paltry Native
Courts. - While our net revenue amounts to twenty-one millions, the
revenue which we suffer to be diverted from the purposes of govern-
_ment, and expended in Native Courts, is computed at no less an amount
than’ thirteen millions. 'Who gains by this wonderful instance of self-
sacrifice ? Not the subjects of the Nizam, or the King of Oude, who are
bowed to the earth under the weight of Government imposts, and
plindered by the mercenary soldier of tha? which the tax-gatherer has
left; not our own subjects, who, after being taxed to the utmost amount
of their ability, see their canals dried up, their tanks fall into decay,
and their lands smitten with artificial barrenness, because our Govern-
ment cannot spare one per cent. out of its receipts to keep in repair
necessary public works erected by their Hindoo or Mahomedan prede-
cessors; not the people, whose education is withheld, whose internal
resources are undeveloped, whose roads are unmade, whose mines are
unwrought, because the revenue is anticipated and exhausted by the
ordinary and current expenses of administration. The only gainers are
the sinecure potentate, the inmates of his palace and his Zenana, his
guards, his parasites, his jesters, and his dancers. For them is ‘the
mightiest agency for good which ProvipEnce ever placed in the hands
of any nation crippled and paralysed ; they revel in abundamce and
wanton in luxury, while schemes the most benevolent and plansthe most
far-sighted languish and dfe out for want of the funds so recklessly dis-
sipated. This state of things may be in accordance with the traditiona}
maxims of Indian ‘policy. Great names may be cited in its support,
and ingenious reasons urged for its continuance. To®us it appears &
scandalous misuse of those opportunities which ProviDENCE has given
us—a gratuitous sacrifice of the helpless many to the worthless few.

~—London Times, February 9th, 1853.)
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No. 114 or 1853.

»
¢ From Captain T. A. Cowerkg, .
Assistant Inam Commissioner,
To W. Hirt, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner.

Dated Poona, 7th March 1853.

Sm,'—I have the honour, under the instructions contained in para-
graph 4 of the Chiefl Secretary’s letter No. 4175 of the 24th September
1852, to report on the Surinjam numbered 50 of Class I. in the revised
lists submitted to Government under date the 26th October 1847, by
the Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Brown.

2. This holding was entered in the list of Surinjams recommended to
be declared hereditary, on the grounds of its having existed previously
tothe yeara. p. 1751, and, thus designated, it was included in the general
sanction conveyed in the Honorable Court of Directors’ despatch
No. 15 dated 22nd May 1849, paragraphs 2 to 12.

3. Baut the evidence afforded by the records of the Peshwas’ Govern-
ment secems to me clearly to prove that the Honorable Court have passed
this decision on erroneons information, inasmuch as neither the Surin-
jam in question, nor any other Surinjam in lieu of, or in commutation
for which the present one was granted, were held previous to a.p. 1751,
or for twenty-siz years aflerwards. ’

4. Mr. Elphinstone’s list of Jagheers, transmitted to the Govern-
ment of India on the 25th October 1819, showed this Surinjam to have
been held for forty-one years. This agrees with the date of original
grant as now ascertained (i.e. A, p. 1777-78), supposing Mr. E]lphinstone
10 have calculated up to A. o. 1819, the year in which‘ his lists were

framed. .
5. By a Sunud the registry of which is forthcoming under date the

13th Rumzan, Suman Subain Mya wu Ulluf (. p. 1777-78), the Peshwa
granted to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, as a new grant, and not in liew
of, or with reference to any previous one, the ¢ Hoozoor Mamleh” Umuls
of the undermentioned two villages, valued at Rs. 2,023-5-0.

1c
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1. Moujé Veehay, Turuf Havailee, Prant Kurrar.
2. Moujé Borgaum, Turuf Sattara.

6. In a.p.1779-80 the abovementioned grant was resumed, and in
its stead, by a Sunud the registry of which is forthcoming under date
the 8th Rubee-00l-Awul, Sumaneen Mya wu Ulluf (a.p. 1779-80), the
Jagheer, Babtee, and Surdeshmookee Umuls of the undermentioned two
villages were granted to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, at a valuauon of
Rs. 2,010 :—

1. Moujé Meerzapoor, Purguna Danderphul.
2. Moujé Bukterpoor, Purguna Koombaree.

7. 'This last Sunud did nbt long continue in force ; the villages wWere
resumed in a.p. 1782-83, and the following grant was made, the grounds
assigned being that the villages previously granted had been found
unproductive. The registry of this third Sunud is forthcoming under
date the 15th Rujub, Sulas Sumaneen Mya wu Ulluf (a.p. 1782-83),
and grants to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, at a valuation of Rs. 1/825,—

1. The Jagheer, Babtee, and Mokassa Umuls of Moujé Danderphul
Khoord, Purguna Danderphul.

2. The Jagheer and Babtee Umuls of Moujé Nimbgaum Khoord,
Purguna Danderphul.

8. The word Surinjam is not used in any of the above Sunuds; in
each, however, the grant is described in the same terms, the villages
being specified as alienated (Doomalla) for the support of the family of
the grantee (Kootoombaché bégmees, Y -qau’n)

9. On referringto thc Murathee documents recorded by the Agent in
this case, I have found nothing relating in any way to the grant of any
of the villages specified in my 5th, 6th, and 7th paragraphs, neither
does the claimant appear to have made any statement of his case, nor
to have furnished any proof, in the shape of Sunuds,—at least, nothing
of the kind is forthcoming.

10. In the lists of Surinjams: framed by Mr. Mills, the original
grant (entered in the lists as No. 48 of Class I.) to Trimbukjee Rajeh
Bhoslay is stated to have been made in a. p. 1778,—the correct date,
and the one which agrees with Mr. Elphinstone’s lists.

11. In Mr. Warden’s lists of 1844 the Surinjam (entered in the lists
as No. 2 6f Class 1.) is stated to have been granted *before a. . 1751,”
and the solumﬁ of ¢ Remarks” contains the following entry :—

“The earliest actual grantrecorded in the Duftur is dated a.n.1760;
but in this it is*said that it existed in the time of the Sattara Rajas.”
12. In Mr. Brown’s revised lists of 1847, the entry of 1844, de-

scribed in the last paragraph, is preserved intact.

13. Under the circumstances above reported, this Surinjem, which
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is shown by the revised lists to be of the estimated annual value of
Rs. 1,497-5-3, should apparently have been, according to the RulesJaid
down by the Honorable Court, included in the class of Surinjams
entitled to continuance for two generations, and a moiety of the net
proceeds in money to the third, and should not have been entered as an
hereditary holding.
I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) T. A. Coweer, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissioner.

No. 1929,

From W, Harr, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner,
To A. MavLET, Esq.,
Chief Secretary to Government.

° Dated Belgaum, 14th April 1853.

Sir,—I have the honour of submitting a letter No. 114 dated 7th
March 1853, from my Assistant, Captain Cowper, reporting on the
Surinjam entered as No. 50 of Class I. in the revised Surinjam lists.

2. In the absence of Kyfeeuts, &c. noticed in Captain Cowper’s 9th
paragraph, it is impossible to tell whether it was from the fraud or care-
lessness of the servants of the Agent’s establishment that the erroneous
information given in the list was admitted into it; but that carelessness
had something to do with its preparation is evident from the fact thatin
the column of the revised kst which proposes to give Mr. Elphinstone’s
reasons for the grant'is found the following entry :— .

¢ Class Silledars, No. 11.—Grandfather to the Raja of Sattara. To
retain his Jagheer land at Hyderabad ceded to the Nizam. Heredi-

tary.” .

This entry, which is of course nonsense, I find to be made up of two
of Mr. Elphinstone’s entries, relating {o distinct cases,—one the Jagheer
of Bhoslay, the other one of a person named Kowree, No. 12 of the
same class in Mr. Elphinstone’s list.

3. Whether Government decide on continuing Bhoslay’s Surinjam
according to Mr. Elphinstone’s recommendation, or according to the
Honorable Court’s recent Rules, it is right that they should do so with
a knowledge of actual facts. I have, therefore, condidered it Hecessary
to submit Captain Cowper's letter, with the above observations on a
point not noticed by him. '

I have the honour to be, &c. |,
. (Signed) 'W. Hagrr,
. Inam Commissioner.
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No. 2171 or 1853.

PoriticaL DEPARTMENT.

<

To W. Harr, Esq,,
Inam Commissioner.

Sir,—I am directed by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council
to acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 1929 dated the 14th ultimo,
forwarding one from your Assistant, Captain Cowper, reporting on the:
Surinjam entered as No. 50 of Class I. in the revised Surinjam lists.

2. You do not appear to have been aware, when addressing the
above letter to Government, that < Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay,” the last
holder of the Surinjam in question, having died without leaving any
male issue, orders were issued by Government on the 9th Mare¢h 1852
for the resumption of the above grant.

3. In making this intimation, I am desired to forward to you copies
of two letters from this Department to the Collector of Ahmednuggur,
and the Commissioner at Sattara, the former dated the 9th March,
No. 1008 of 1852, and the latter dated the 27th January, No. 418 of 1853.

4. A copy of your communication has been forwarded to the Agent
for Sirdars in the Deccan, in order that there may be a record in his
office of the erroneous nature of the information contained in the revised
Surinjam lists of 1844 and 1847 relative to this grant.

I have the honour to be, &ec.

. (Signed) . H. E. GoLpsmip,
Bombay Castle, 17th May 1853. Secretary to Government.

No. 1008 or 1852.

. PovriticaL. DEPARTMENT.
To R. SroonEr, Esq.,

Collector of Ahmednuggur.

Sir,—T am directed by the Rigkt Honorable the Governor in Council
to acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 154 dated the 20th
January last, reporting the death of Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay, who held
in the Ahmednuggur Collectorate certain villages in Surinjam, of the
estimated annual value of Rs. 1,497-5-3.

2. Infeply, I am desired to inform you that the deceased having left
no legitimate male.issue, the Surinjam in question has lapsed to Govern-
ment, and, accordingly, ¢o convey to you the directions of His Lordship
in Council for the resumption of this grant.

I have the honour to be, &ec.

«(Signed) A. Maver,
Bombay Castle, 9th March 1852. Chief Secretary.
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 No. 418 or 1853.

PoriticaL DEPARTMENT.
To T. OciLvs, Esq.,

Commissioner at Sattara.

Sir,—With reference to my letter No. 4838 dated the 5th November
1852, I am directed by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council
to inYorm you that the Government of India has confirmed the grant by
this Government to Goowuntabaee, widow of Bulwunt Rao Bhoslay
Senaputtee, of a pension of Rs. 50 per mensem, on the distinct under-
stafdimg that the allowance must lapse entirely and finally on the death
of the present grantee. .
’ ¢ I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) A. MaLkrT,

Chief Secretary.
Bombay Castle, 27th January 1853. . .

To A. MaweT, Esq.,
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.

Sir,—I have now the honour to answer Mr. Secretary Goldsmid’s
letter to my address, No. 2173 dated the 17th May last, transmitting
copy of a letter from the Inam Commigsioner, with one from his Assist-
ant, relative to entry No. 50 in Class I. of the revised Surinjam lists of
A. p. 1847, founded on an entry of No. 2 of Class I. of the lists prepar-
ed by me in 1844, the object of the communication being that I should
have an opportunity of offering any explanation I may wish relative to
the alteration of dates noticed by the Assistant, Captaiyg Cowper.

2. The case is that of Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, grandfather of
the Raja of Sattara, who was placed on the threne by the British Govern-
ment in A. p. 1818. »

3. On the accession of the British Government three villages were
found alienated by the Peshwa in Surinjam to this person, the names of

which are,—
1. Sherusgaum,

2. Danderphul, and
3. Nimbgaum; .

a judicial attachment having been levied on ‘the first, for the recovery
of Rs. 6,000 claimed from the family of the grantee on account of the
expenses arising out of a family feud. .

4. He had also held a, fourth village, named Ghargaum, which
appears to have been resumed shortly before the conquest of the Deccan.
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5. Mr. Elphinstone continued to him the villages of Danderphul
and Nimbgaum, of the estimated actual value of Rs. 1,422-13-0.

6. The villages of which the British Surinjam was composed were
granted forty-oge years before the conquest.

7. The village of Sherusgaum, however, which did not form part of
the British Surinjam, was granted before a. p. 1751-52, as proved by
the registry of a Sunud (marked A, copy of which, with a translation
into English by the head writer of the Agent for Sirdars, is annexed, and’
which Sunud is referred to by Captain Cowper in paragraph 2 of his
letter dated the 27th of August last) conferring a grant on one Raojee
Powar, in compensation for the loss of Sherusgaum granted to Bhoslay.
This village was never permanently and politically resumed, in the
ordinary sense of that word, but it was attached by judicidl process, and
farmed out by the Government, as will be seen by reference to the
Sunud marked B, till the sum of Rs. 6,000 should have been realized
from it to reimburse two persouns (to one of whom the farm was as-
signed) who had advanced Rs. 6,000 for the payment and dlscharge of
some irregular soldiery who held two members of the family in confine-
ment at the instance of two others, there being at that time a feud in
the family to adjust which the Government interposed. How long the
village remained with this farmer is not known, but as the Purguna
Newasseh, in which it is situated, had gone greatly to waste for some
years, it is probable that the interval between 4. p. 1800 and 4. ». 1817
did not suffice to discharge the debt with which it was burdened, or the
proceeds, as in other cases, were possibly “embezzled” by the public
officers in the anarchy that immediately preceded the British conquest ;
but be that as it may, it so befell that at the British conquest the judi-
cial attachment had not been raised.

8. It is stated inthe “Remarks” in my Surinjam list, as respects
this grant,—¢ The earliest actual grant recorded in the Duftur is dated
A. . 1760; but in this it i said that it existed in the time of the Sattara
Rajas.” This appears to relate to'shares of the revenue of the village
of Ghargaum, which was released from attachment in 4. ». 1760 by a
Sunud copy and translation of the registry of which are annexed and
marked C. This Sunud, taken in conjunction with the contents of that
marked A_and the fact of the grantee being a member of the house of
Sattara, leaves it beyond debate that the grant was a Sattara grant; and as
the Honcrable the Court of Directors, in paragraph 9 of their despatch
dated October 26th, 1842, directed that all Jagheers which bear dates
anterior to A. p. 1751, together with those which are known (as this was
certainly known) to be ancient, shounld be hereditary in the fulleat
sense of the word, there is no doubt that Mr. Brown’s decision, based
on my remark, is strictly correct; and that if the grantee had: preferred
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to take the waste village of Sherusgaum, which formed part of his
ancient Jagheer, instead of the more fertile villages of Nimbgaum and
Danderphul, of which the Peshwa’s and British Surinjamns were com-
posed, Mr. Elphinstone would have gladly acceded to a request by
which the British Government would have profited.

9. I regret that I should, as in the case of Poorundhuree, reported in
my letter dated the 9th of September last, have reason to complain of
‘the manner in which these cases are put before Government by Captain
Cowper. .

10. I annex my correspondence with the Inam Commissioner on
this case, and have submitted copies of qll the Murathee documents
transmitted to me by Mr. Manson, in order that, if the Government
please,’they mfay be translated at Bombay.

11. Tt will be observed that Captain Cowper in his letter of the 7th
of March last, which was submitted to Government with that of Mr.
Hart dated the 14th of April, never once mentions the grants of the
villages of Sherusgaum and Ghargaum, from the evidence derived from
which the Surinjam found its way into Class I.; but, on the contrary,
states (paragraph 3) neither the Surinjam in question, nor any other
Surinjam in lieu of, or in commutation for which the present one was
granted, were held previous to 4. . 1751 ; while in his letter to the Inam
Commissioner dated the 27th of August last, on my-reference dated the
13th, he says (paragraph 2)—¢the village of Sherusgaum was granted
(on what tenure is not,specified) to, Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay by a
Sunud registered in . p. 1751-52” ; and again (paragraph 6)—¢Sewajee
Bhoslay appears to have héld the village up to a. ». 1799-1800, in which
year it is shown to have been resumed by a Sunud.” It follows, there-
fore, that although the grants by the Peshwa were not in lieu of| or in
commutation for others, they were held in conjunction with ancient
grants, and which was not brought to notice. .

12. Again,—the Government will observe, on perusing the Sunud
marked B sent to me by Captain CoWper in proof of his assertion that
the village was resumed in a. ». 1799-1800 (paragraph 6 of his letter
dated the 27th of August last), that the village was not thereby resumed,
but that an attachment only was levied on it, of the nature of a judicial
process, for the recovery of a sum of money, and only so lgng as that
money should remain unrecovered.

13. Itis true that the Sunud marked A does hot, as observed by
Captain Cowper in the 2nd parvapraph of the letter of the 27th of
Anugust last, specifly the tenure, but Captain Cowpér has omitted to
point out that this omission is supplied by the Sunud B, by which the
attachment referred to in the last paragraph was levied, in which the
tenure is specified as ¢ Surinjamee.”
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14. Again,—Captain Cowper tells Mr. Hart (paragraph 5) that two
viliages, Veehay and Borgaum, were granted “as a new grant, and not
in liew of, or.in réference to any previous one,” in & . 1777-78.

15. The words in italics were italicised by Captain Cowper
himself, and the object of this emphasis was, I presume, to impress on
the Government that Bhoslay’s claim as a Surinjamdar commenced in.
2.0, 1777-78, the fact being, as it appears to me, that the ancient grant
of Sherusgaum and Ghargaum was at that very time in the possessiod '
of the Surinjamdar and his family, and held, according Captain Cowper’s
own subsequent showing,—one from before a. p. 1751-52 to the British
conquest, even according to Captain Cowper himself till a. n 1800,
when it was temporarily attached in consequence ‘of the family feud ;
and the other certainly in a.p. 1752-53, and perhaps s early as a. p.
1747-48 (Captain Cowper’s letter of 27th August 1853, paragraphs
2 and 8).

16. Captain Cowper’s letter to Mr. Hart is pnnclpally composed of
the account of villages held one year and four years, and then resumed ;
and adds that in the Murathee documents recorded by the Agent he
has found nothing relating in any way to the grant of any of the villages
specified by him; and for this obvious reason, that these grants and
cxchanges were totally irrelevant to the question before me, and only
of the least importance as showing the influence of the Surinjamdar in
getting good villages exchanged for bad ones,—the point before me
being the date of the original Surinjam. «

17. Mr. Hart’s letter handing up Captain Cowper’s consists only of
the notice of a clerical error in Mr. Brown’s lists made in the transcript
of Mr. Elphinstone’s note, to which note has been joined the note on
the case immediately following it. I should have expected from Mr.
Hart, instead of .talking of the ¢ nonsensc” written (as if a clerical error
did not generally convert sense into nonsense) and of ¢ carelessness,”
he would have pointed out—what he can hardly have failed to ob-
serve—that in the process of birding Mr. Elphinstone’s Surinjam list,
part of the notes was bound in so as fo-give the two notes the appearance
of being one ;—the error of the clerk is so obvious as to have been
beneath notice.

18. Mr. Brown’s decision is, then, I believe, strictly correct.

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) J. WaRrbEN,

Late Agent for Sirdars.
Bombay, 5th November 1853.
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ToC. J. Mansox, Esq.

Sir,—In reference to your letter No. 2211 dated the 6th of this month,
I have the honour to request you will favour me with authenticated
extracts from the Peshwas’ Duftar, tracing the alienation of Sherusgaum

.and Ghargaum from their original grant to their resumption. .

I shall also be obliged by your favouring me with authenticated
topies of the Sunuds and other documents referred to in Captain Cow-
per’s letter to your predecessor, No. 114 dated March 7th, 1853.

I enclose a Murathee memorandum of these papers.

I have the honour to be, &ec.

. (Signed) J. WanrpE.
Poona, August 13th, 1853.

‘ No. 2465.
From C. J. Manson, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner,
To the Honorable J. Warpen, Esq.,
Late Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan.
Dated Kirkee, 1st September 1853.
Sir,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 13th August 1853 and, in reply, o forward an original letter
No. 411 of the 27th ultimjo, with accompaniments, from my Assistant,
Captain Cowper. *
I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) C.J. Mansox,
Inam ‘Commissioner.

No.ﬁ o.p 1853.

From Captain T. A. CowPER,
Assistant Inam Commissioner,
To C. J. Manson, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner. .
Dated Poena, 27th August 1853.
Sir,—In returning the accompaniments to your letter No. 2385, of
the 17th instant, I have the honour to transmit copies of the registry of

the undermentioned Sunudg, referred to in my letter No. 114 of the 7th
March 1853.

2c
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1st.—A Sunud, the registry of which in the diary of the 13th
Rumzan, Suman Subain (a. 0. 1778-79), is found transferred to the
ledger of that year, granting to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, as a new
grant, and not in lieu of, or with reference to any previous one, the
 Hoozoor Mamleh Umuls of the undermentioned two villages, valued
at Rs. 2,023.5-0 :—

1. Moujé Veehay, Turuf Havailee, Prant Kurrar.

2. Moujé Borgaum, Turuf Sattara.
~ 2nd.—A Sunud, the registry of which in the diary of the 8th Rubee-
ool-Awul, Sumaneen (a.p. 1779-80), is found transferred to the
ledger of that year, granting to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, in¢lied of
the vnllages above mentioned, and which were resumed, the Jagheer,
Babtee, and Surdeshmookee Umuls of the two villages 'below named,
at a valuation of Rs. 2,010:—

1. Moujé Meerzapoor, Purguna Danderphul.
2. Moujé Bukterpoor, Purguna Koombaree.
3rd.—A Sunud, the registry of which in the diary of the 15th Ru-
jub, Sulas Sumaneen (a. p. 1782-83), is found transferred to the
ledger of that year, resuming the villages named in the Sunud last
mentioned, and granting in their stead, at a valuation of Rs. 1,925,—
1. The Jagheer, Babtee, and Mokassa Umuls of Moujé Dander-
phul Khoord, Purguna Danderphul.
2. The Jagheer and Babtce Umuls of 'Vlouje Nimbgaum Khoord,
Purguna Danderphul.

* 2. The village of Sherusgaum was resumed from Ryajee Powar
and granted (on what tenure is not specifiedy to Trimbukjee Rajeh
Bhoslay, by a Sunud addressed to one Ragho Govind, and registered
in the diary of the 5th Rubce-ool-Akhir, Esunay Khumsain (a. ». 1751-52).
A copy of the registry was forwarded with Captain Cowper’s letter
No. 286 of the 5th July last.

3. The village is entered in the forthcoming accounts of Purguna
Newasseh up to the year Suman Sumaneen (a. p.1787-88), as alienated
to Trimbukjee Bhoslay.

4. The accounts for the next year (Teesa Sumaneen, a. p. 1788-89)
of Purguna Newasseh show the v111age as then alienated to Gungajee
Rajeh Bhoblay, son of Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay.

5. It appears fram the accounts, that at some period between a. p.
1788-89 and 1799-1800p the village must have passed into the hands
of Sewajec Bhoslay, the son of Gungajee Bhoslay named in the last
.paragraph; I have not deemed it necessary to delay this letter by a
search through all the accounts to ascertain the exact year in which the
son succeeded the father, as T presume it cannot affect the inquiry,
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6. Sewnjee Bhoslay appears to have held the vilage up to Myatain
(a. »: 1799-1800), in which year it is shown to have been resumed by a
Sunud, the registry (copy is herewith transmitted) of which in the dlary
of the 16th Shaban, Myatain (a. ». 1799-1800), is found transferred to
the ledger of that year.

7. The village from a. . 1799-1800 up to the latest year for whicly
accounts are forthcoming (a. p. 1816-17) is shown to have been in thg
‘hands of the Government. :

8. I have now to afford the history of the other village (Ghargaum),
which is equally clear in every respect, excepting the exact date of
grant, which I have been unable to trace.  All that I have heen able to
determine with certainty is that its Swuraj Umul, valued at Rs. 955-4-0,
was granted te Trimbukjee Bhoslay subsequently to a. ». 1746-47, and
prior to A. p. 1752-563. In the former year it is found entered in a list
of villages distinguishing those alienated in the name of the first wile
of the Sattara Raja, and in the latter, in a similar list, under the gene-
ral hdad of “Guards,” a document (an account of management of
Purguna Ranjungaum) of a still later date (a. p. 1754-55), showing it
as alienated to Trimbukjee Bhoslay, and showing, also, that he was
one of the ¢ guards,”—so that he may he considered to have held thc
Umul, certainly in a. 0. 1752-53, and perhaps as early as a. p. 1747-48.

9. The Swuraj Umul of Ghargaum is shown by a Surinjam menio-
randum dated a. p. 1771-72 (copy of which is transmitted) to have passed
into the hands of Trimbukjee’s son, Suntajee Bhoslay, in 4. p. 1761-62
(Esunay Seetain).

10. The Swuraj Umul is shown to have continued alienated until
A. . 1805-06 (Seet' Myatain), in which year it was resumed by a Su-
nud registered in the diary of the 29th Mohuruin (copy herewith trans-
mitted).

11. From a. p. 1805-06 to the latest year for which accounts are
forthcoming (a. p.1814-15), the proceeds of the Swuraj Umul are shown
to have belonged to, and to have been realised by the Government.

12. The history of Sherusgaum and of the Swuraj Umul of Ghar-
gaumn is so clear that I have thought it best to submit atonce this letter,
under the impression that it will be found to-afford all the information
the Honorable Mr. Warden requires. Should, however, a transcript of
the entry in each forthcoming account of each year, for the last seventy
years of the Peshwas’ rule, be still wanted, it shall be prepargd, but its
preparation will take a considerable time. o

I have the honour to be, &e.
(Signed) 7. A. Cowrkr, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissionct,
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" To C.J. Mansox, Esq

Sir,—In reference to the 7th paragraph of Captam Cowpers letter
of the 27th of last month, which accompanied yours to my address of
the 1st of this month, I shall be obliged by your informing me the
amount realised year by year by the Peshwa’s Government from the
year a.p.1799-1800 to a. p. 1816-17, from the village of Sherusgaum,
which in the previous paragraph is said, to have been resumed.

Your Assistant may also, perhaps, be able to inform me of the names
of the villages, the revenue of which represented the resumption, en-
tered in the name of Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, under the words
% 1,200 rupees resumed” in Mr. Elphinstone’s Surinjam lists, =+ °

I have the honour to be, &c.
10th September 1853. (Signed) J. Warbgw~. .

No. 2547.

From C. J. Manson, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner,

To the Honorable J. WarpeN, Esq.,
Late Agent for Sirdars.

Dated Kirkee, 22nd September 1853.
Sir,~I have: the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 10th instant, and to forward‘an original letter, No. 455 of yester-
day’s-date, from my Assistant, Captain Cowper, affording, as far as
practicable, the information required by you regarding the village of
Sherusgaum. \

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) C.J. Manson,

Inam Commissioner.

No. 455 or 1853.

From Captain T. A. CowpEkR,
Assistant Inam Commissioner,
To €. J. Manson, Esq.,
- Inam Commissioner.
‘ Dated Poona, 21st September 1853.
Sir,—I have the honour to aflord, as far as practicable, the information

regarding the village of Sherusgaum ¢alled for in your letter No. 2500
of the 12th instant,
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2. By the same Sunud (see paragraph 6 of Captain Cowper's letter
No. 415 of the 27th mitimo) which resumed Sherusgaum in 4. p.
1799-1800, the management (Komavis) of the village was made over to
Manajee Sinday. I have been unable to discover how long it remained
with him, neither can the results of his management be ascertained, as
there are no accounts of it forthcoming from among the Peshwas’ records,
although it is possible that some may be hereafter discovered among
the «normous number of accounts of the late Government which have
lately been collected.

3. Upto a. p. 1809-10, whether Sherusgaum remained in the hands
of Manajee Sinday or not canuot be ascertamed during either the
whole or a portion of this period, however (i. e. from 4. 1. 1800-01 to
1809-10), it is shown by forthcoming accounts to have been deserted

osar).

( 4. In the district accounts of management which are forthcoming
for a. p. 1800-01, 1806-07, 1807-08, and 1808-09, Sherusgaum is either
deducted as alienated (to whom not specified), or as a deserted village.
It is, therefore, probable that up to the lastnamed year it remained
under separate management, for which the district officer was not re+
sponsible. In the account for 1800-01 this is recorded, and it is stated
that no information could be pbtained regarding Sherusgaum.

5. In a. ». 1809-10 Sherusgaum had been incorporated with the
Government villages in the district (Newasseh), and this is the first ysar
for which accounts showing the realizations of its revenue are forth.
coming; Rs. 15 are shown as the &mount realized and credited to
Government under the hegd of ¢ Revenue of resumed villages.” From
the smallness of this amount, it seems probable that Sherusgaum
remained deserted up to A. n. 1808-09.

6. In a.p.1811-12 the amount realized from Sherusgaum is not
ascertainable, but that revenue was realized, and By Government, is
shown by an account of management of the Mokassa* Umul of the
district, in which document the following entry is found :—

% Sherusgaum has now been resumed, but the Government manager
will not pay the share of its revenue.”

7. For a. p. 1812-13 an" account of the nature specified in the last
paragraph is forthcoming, and contains a similar entry.

8. In a.p. 1812-13 it is certain, however, that the revehue of She-
rusgaum was realized by the Government manager, of the district, as in
a subsequent account of managenent of his for a. p. 1814-15; the out-
standing balance of a.p. 1812-13, amounting to Rs, 2-8-9, is shown to
have been realized and credited to Government,

® The Mokassa Umul of the district had been always leplntaly maged and lecounted
for to Government.
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~9, For a.p. 1813-14 'no dccount is forthcoming, but it is equally
certnm ‘that in this yéar Government realized the revenue ofSherus-
gaum, as in the account for a. p. 1814-15 referred to in the last para-
graph the outstanding balance for a.p. 1813-14, amounting to Rs. 25,
is shown to have been realized and credited to Government. .

10. For a. p. 181415 the account of management referred to in the
last two paragraphs is forthcoming, but as the amount realized through-
out the district is shown only in the aggregate, the sum which Sherus-
gaum paid cannot be ascertained.

"11. For a.p. 1815-16 no account showing the realizations of the
v1llage or district is forthcommg .

'12. Accounts of the management of the Peshwa’s officer for a. p.
1817~18 cannot, of eourse, be forthcoming, as, before that year terminated,
British rule had been introduced; but the records contain an account
showing the amount for which Bajee Rao farmed the district at the
commencement of the year. This document does not specify the amount
at which each village was farmed, but that Sherusgaum was one of
them is proved by a detailed memorandum, drawn up at the same time,
and showing in detail the villages deducted as alienated, Sherusgaum
not being one of them.

13. I have been unable to ascertain.the names of the villages, the
revenues of which represented the Rs. 1,200 entered as resumed from
Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay in Mr. Elphinstone’s lists, although I have
availed myself of the assistance of Raojee Pendsay in my endeavours
to discover any documents among the records of the Deccan Commis-
sion affording the information. .

I have the honour to be, &ec.

(Signed) T. A. Cowrer, Captain,
. Assistant Inam Commissioner.
(True copies)
(Signed) J. WaRbDEN,
‘Late Agent for Sirdars.

No. 31 or 1854.
From Captain T. A. CowrEr,
Assistant Inam Commissioner,

To C. J. Mansox, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner.

Dated Poona, 18th January 1854.

Sir,~In returning the Honorable Mr. Warden’s letter dated the 5th
November last (explaining the circumstances under which the date of
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original grant of the Surinjam continuned at the conquest of the Deccan
to Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay, and which date had been correclly en-
tered in Mr. Flphinstone’s list of the Jagheers, was altered in the lists
framed by the Agent, Mr. Warden, in 1844, and revised by his successor,
Mr. Brown, in 1847; such alteration, moreover, bringing the holding
into the class of those entitled to hereditary continuance), which, with
a copy of one, No. 5468 of the 20th ultimo, from the Chief Secretary
6 Government, accompanied your memorandum, No. 2845 of the 22nd
idem, I have the honour to submit the explanation called for.

2. One of the first proposals which Mr. Elphinstone, after having
in his proclamation of the 11th February 1818 declared the Peshwa’s
late dominions to have become British territory, made to the Governor
General (see Mr. Elphinstone’s despatch of the 18th June 1818, refer-
red to in paragraph 36 of Captain Cowper’s report, No. 163 of the 2nd
May 1853), was that “of providing for the Jagheerdars whom the
events of the war had deprived of their power and possessions, by
leaving them their personal Jagheers” ; and this proposal met with the
perfect concurrence and sanction of the Governor General in Council
(reply, dated the 26th September 1818, from the Chief Secretary to the
Government of India).

3. Mr. Elphinstone then laid down certain rules for the guidance of
the officers to whom he entrusted the requisite inquiry (forwarded >
the Government of India with Mr. Elphinstone’s letter of the 2ith
October 1819) ; and the 7th of these rules declared,—* No Jagheer not
actually* enjoyed up to the war to be ‘restored, unless specially directed
so to be.” .

4. At an earlier date Mr. Elphinstone had promulgated rules for the
continuance of Inams (circular to Collectors, dated the 27th June 1818),
and with regard even to these holdings of a permanent nature—the
Surinjams being for the most part grants avowedly resumable at plea-
sure—he ordered,—

“ No right to possession is ever fhtended to be recognised that was
not in force at the breaking out of the present war.”

5. A general statement of the Jagheerdars’ holdings and claims was
next prepared by Mr. Elphinstone’s Secretary, Mr. McDonnell, “ who
proceeded to compare the statements of the Jagheerdars ;with those
drawn up in the Duftur, checking both by the accounts received from
the Collectors. A complete register was framed on this comparison,
ehowmg the name of the holder of each Jagheer, the date and nature of
the grant, the situation of the lands, and the sources of the revenue
when not drawn from land, with Kumal or highest revenue, the revenue

4 Ila:licised by Captain Cowper,
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as stated by the Jagheerdar, and actual collections as reported by our
officers.” (Paragraph 5 of Mr. Elphinstone’s letter to the Government

of India dated the 25th October 1819).
6. In Mr. McDonnell’s statement the Surinjam, the subject of the
present discussion, was entered as shown below :—

# No. 11.—Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay Waweekur.

¢ JAGHEER. . p
“ Ahmednuggur.

Moujé Danderphul Khoord . . ..Rs.1,226 0 O
Moujé Nimbgaum Khoord, Purguna Danderphul 196 13 0

Total....Rs. 1,422 13 0
Shet Sunud on Kusbha Wawee ................Rs. 76 0 O

Total Jagheer....Rs. 1,497 13 0

% Note.—The Surdeshmookee of both the villages and the Mokassa
of Neemgaum amounts to Rs. 233-0-3, and belongs to Government.”

7. On the 25th October 1819 Mr. Elphinstone reported the comple-
tion of the plan (referred to in paragraph 2 of this letter) proposed in
his despatch No. 78 of the 18th June 1818, for restoring the personal
lands of the chief Ministers and other Jagheerdars of the Muratha Go-
vernment, and with his despatch submitted a Statement showing the
Jagheers, or compensation in lieu of them, to be continued in the coun-
try conquered from the Peshwa.”

8. The Surinjam under report was entered in Mr. Elphinstone’s
statement in the Class of ¢ Silledars,” No. 11, as shown below :—

- 8 | Jagheer, or Yearly Allowance |
¢ Total to be continued.
Amount of] §a :g'g
the Jagheer| :-9 g’g
Decision. asitstoodat| © Kumal, or |Estimat- “g
g the bruak-| E greatest re- | ed real Pecuni- b-E|
Els | |4 ing out off g Slcorded Collec-|Value at/2ry Pen-| & §
g CHE | 5 the War. | 8 tion, present, | sion. | &
= S =
Rs. a p.| Rs.
11 & |8 ..WGrandfather to thel 8 8 41 |1,422 13 0| 711 .
a.ls Roja of Sattara; tol ' &' 5‘
g B2 retain his Jugheer, 2 e 3
23 |@ land. o5 ®
m§ ,,:-g N 8
a o a =]
£ S8
S b - 2 2
E-ﬁ a &
] =~
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9. A “regisfer,” showing to whom the Jagheers proposed to be con-
tinued by Mr. Elphinstone were actually restored, was submitted with
Mr. Chaplin’s letter of the 28th October 1822, No. 121, and in this regis-
ter the Surinjam under report was entered as having been restored to
« Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay.”

10. 1In the lists framed by the Deputy Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Warden,
and dated the 3rd January 1834, this Surinjam was entered as No. 41 of
CTast IL., the date of ®riginal grant assigned being a. p, 1778,

11. In Mr. Marriott’s revised lists, submitied on the 6th March
1834, the number assigned to this Surinjam was 46 of Class I. Jn
other respects the entry in the Deputy Agent's lists was preserved.

12. New lists were on the 23rd October 1840 submitted by the Agent,
Mr. Mills, an8 in these the Surinjam of Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay,
as No. 48 of Class 1., continued to be shown as a grant of a. p. 1778.

13. The principles on which Mr. Mills had framed his lists were
pronounced by the Honorable the Court of Directors to be erroneous, and
at variance with their intentions. They, consequently, in a despatch,
No. 17 of the 26th October 1842, directed that new lists should be pre-
pared, under the following Rules :—

I. (Paragraph 9 of Honorable Court’s despatch.)—That ¢all Ja-
gheers in Class I. of Mr. Mills’ list, which bear dates anterior to
1751, be, as Mr. Elphinstone recommends, ¢ hereditary in the fullest.
sense of the word,” together with those of which the dates -are un-
known, but which are known to be ancient.”

I1. (Paragraph 10 of Honorable Court’s despatch.)—¢ In addition
to these ancient Jggheens, all those of more recent date which were
granted in commutation for the resumption of more ancient posses-
sions (which is known to have been the case with some) are entitled
in like manner to an hereditary tenure.” .

III. (Paragraph 12 of Honorable Court’s despatch.)—That ¢ with
regard to Surinjam grants bearing date subscquent to 1751, resump-
tion after a second generation from the conquest, making a pensionary
provision equal to half the net proceeds of the Surinjam lands for the
generation next succeeding, should be the general rule.”

IV. (Paragraph 12 of Honorable Court’s despatch.)—That ¢ cases
in which Mr. Elphinstone may have recommended a more ,cxtended
provision” should be separately and specially considered, as also any
other cases deemed to require such consideration. ® .

14. Consequent upon these orders of the Honorable Court, the Agent
for Sirdars, Mr. Warden, was directed to frame new lists in the Chicf
Secretary’s letter No. 994 dated the 9th May 1843, the 3rd paragraph
and the preamble, and the 3rd and 6th clauses of the 4th paragraph of

which are below quoted.
3¢
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«3. I am further dirccted to request, that in conformity with the
orders contained in the despatch from the Honorable the Court of
Dircctors, you will most carefully revise the amended lists of Deccan
Jagheerdars submitted to Government by your predecessor, Mr. Mills,
in 1840 and June 1841, and remodel with great care those lists on the
principles laid down in that despatch. ,

“4, 1 am desired to request, that in carrying these instructions into
effect you will insert in these new lists separat® columns containing
the following information in regard to each individual whose name is
entered in the lists:—

«3rd.—The date of the original grant, as ascertained fromSunuds
orother documents, either on the records of the Poopa Dufturor in
the possession of the family to whom the Surinjam was granted.
The utmost care should be taken to guard against any fraud or de-
ception on this point.”

“ 6th.—The tenure on which the Surinjam will be held by~the in-
cumbent, on the principles laid down by the Court in their despatch
dated 26th October last; and in any case in which you may be of
opinion that those principles should be departed from, you are re-
quested to submit to Government full information of the grounds on
which you may propose such deviation.”

15. Mr. Warden’s lists were submitted with his letter No. 225 of
the 29th December 1844, the 1Jth and 11th paragraphs of which are
as follows :—

«10. Ason the occasion of preparing Surinjam lists, the important
distinction was not made between grants by the Mahomedan Govern-
ment and Rajas of Sattara, and those by the Peshwas, I contented
myself with assigning, as the period when a grant began to take effect,
the date of the earlicst grant recorded in the Poona Duftur ; but when
I have now found these documents assign, as the motive of the grant,
that the grantee held a Surinjam in the time of the Rajas of Sattara,
I have altered the date of original grant, and placed it anterior to
A.D. 1751 ; ¢Jagheers of which the dates are unknown, but which are
knowq to be ancient, as well as those of more recent date, but which
were granted in commutation for the resumption of ancient pos-
sessions,” being treated by the Court of Directors with as much
consideration as grants actually dated before a. . 1751.

“11. T have, however, been careful not to adopt any date which
is not confirmed by the Poona Duftur. These descriptions of claim,
then, compose Class I. of Surinjamdars. whose estates are to be here-
ditary ¢in the fullest sense of the word.’”



APPENDIX C. 19

16. InMr. Warden’s lists this Surinjam was entered as shown below,

as No. 11 of Class I.:— .
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17. Mr. Warden’s lists ‘were returned for revision to his successor,
Mr. Brown, with the Chief Secretary’s letter No. 1896 of the 9th May
1846, in the 8th and 15th paragraphs of which Mr. Brown was specially
warned against assigning to even a single component portion of a Surin-
jam any other date than that on which it had been actually granted, and
his attention was still further directed in the latter paragraph (the 15th)
to this important point in the following terms :—

% Under the column headed ¢ Remarks,’ clear and detailed informa-
tion should in each case be given in regard to the proofs which exist
of the Surinjam having been granted to the family of the holder from
the date alleged. In all cases in which you are not perfeetly satis-
fied of the correctness of the alleged date of grant, you are requested
to state your reasons for entertaining such doybt.”

18. Mr. Brown’s revised lists were submitted to Government on the
26th October 1847, and in them Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay’s Surinjam
was entered, as shown on the next page, as No. 50 of Class I.
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19. Finding this Surinjam to have been erroneously shown as grant-
ed prior to a. p. 1751 in both the lists of 1844 and in those of 1847, I
submitted, under the instructions noted in paragraph 4 of the Chief
Secretary’s letter No. 4175 of the 24th September 1852, a report, No.
114 of the 7th March 1853, which is below transcribed :—

" «T have the honour, under the ipstructions contained in paragraph
_ 4 of the Secretary’s letter No. 4175 of the 24th September 1852, to
réport on the Surinjam numbered 50 of Class I. in the revised lists,
submitted to Government under date the 26th October 1847, by the

Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Brown.

e «3, This holding was entered in tke list of Surinjams recom-

mended to be declared hereditary, on the grounds of its having

existed preVious to the year a. p. 1751, and, thus designated, it was
included in the general sanction conveyed in the Honorable Court of

Directors’ despatch No. 15 dated 22nd May 1849, paragraphs 2 to 12,

“3. But the evidence afforded by the records of the Peshwas’
Government seems to me clearly to prove that the Honorable Court
have passed this decision on erroneous information, inasmuch as
neither the Surinjam in question, nor any other Surinjam in lieu of|
or in commutation for which the present one was granted, were held
previous to A. b. 1751, or for twenty-siz years afterwards.

«“4. Mr. Elphinstone’s list of Jagheers, transmitted to the Govern-
ment of India on the 25th October 1819, shows this Surinjam to have
been held for forty-ome years. This agrees with the date of original
grant as now ascertained,—i. e. A. p. 1777-78,—supposing Mr. Elphin-
stone to have calgulated up to a. o. 1819, the year in which his lists
were framed.

“5. By a Sunud the registry of which is forthcoming under date
the 13th Rumzan, Suman Subain Mya wu Ulluf (a«p. 1777-78), the
Peshwa granted to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, as @ new grant, and
not in liew of, or with reference to any previous one, the ¢ Hoozoor
Mamleh’ Umuls of the undermeéntioned two villages, valued at
Rs. 2,023-5-0 : —

1. Moujé Veehay, Turuf Havailee, Prant Kurrar.
2. Moujé Borgaum, Turuf Sattara.

“6. Ina.p.1779-80 the abovementioned grant was resugmed, and in
its stead, by a Sunud the registry of which is forthcoming under date
the 8th Rubee-ool-Awul, Sumaneen Mya wu Ulluf (a. . 1779-80),
the Jagheer, Babtee, and Surdeshmookee Umuls of the undermen-
tioned two villages were granted to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, at a
valuation of Rs. 2,010 :—

1. Moujé Meerzapoor, Purguna Dandérphul.
2. Moujé Bukterpoor, Purguna Koombaree.
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. «7. This last Sunud did not long continue in force; the villages
were resumed in A. . 1782-83, and the following grant was made, the
grounds assigned being that the villages previously granted had been
found unproductive. The registry of this third Sunud is forthcoming
under date the 15th Rujub, Sulas Sumaneen Mya wu Ulluf (a. p.
1782-83), and grants to Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, at a valuation of
Rs. 1,925,— PR

1. The Jagheer, Babtee, and Mokassa Umuls of Moujé Dander-

phul Khoord, Purguna Danderphul.

2. The Jagheer and Babtee Umuls of Moujé Nimbgaum Khoord

Purguna Danderphul .

«8. The word Surinjam is not used in any of the above Sunuds ;
in each, however, the grant is described in the same terms, the
villages being specified as alienated (Doomalla) for the support of the
family of the grantee (Kootoombaché bégmees, H2ard§ Fmisg).

«9, On referring to the Murathee documents recorded by the Agent
in this case, I have found nothing relating in any way to the grant
of any of the villages specified in my 5th, 6th, and 7th paragraphs,
neither does the claimant appear to have made any statement of his
case, nor to have furnished any proof in the shape of Sunuds—at least,
nothing of the kind is forthcoming.

«10. In the lists of Surinjams framed by Mr. Mills, the original
grant (entered in the lists as No. 48 of Class I.) to Trimbukjee Rajeh
Bhoslay is stated to have been made iz a. p. 1778,—the correct date,
and the one which agrees with Mr. Elphinstone’s list.

«11. In Mr. Warden’s lists of 1844 the Surinjam (entered in
the list as No. 11 of Class I.) is stated to have been granted before
A.D.1751, and the column of remarks contains the following entry :—

% ¢The earliest actual grant recorded in the Duftur is dated

A.D.1760; but in this it is said that it existed in the time of the

Sattara Rajas.’

«12. In Mr. Brown’s revised lists of 1847, the entry of 1844,
described in the last paragraph, is preserved intact.*

%13. Under the circumstances above reported, this Surinjam,
which is shown by the revised lists to be of the estimated annual
value of Rs. 1,497-5-3, should, apparently, have been, according to the
Rules laid down by the Honorable Court, included in the class of

. Surinjaims entitled to continuance for two generations, and a moiety
- of the net proceeds in money to the third, and should not have been

. entered as an hereditary holding.”
* This requires correctmn, which) bas been made in the 56th paragraph of this letter.

(Signed) “T. A. CowpER, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissioner.
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%0. The Tnam Commissioner, Mr. Hart, submitted my report to
Government with the following letter, No. 1929 of the 14th April
1853 :—

«] have the honour of submitting a letter, No. 114 dated 7th
March 1853, from my Assistant, Captain Cowper, reporting on the
Surinjam entered as No. 50 of Class I. in the revised Surinjam lists.

«2. In the absence of Kyfeeuts, &c. noticed in Captain Cowper’s

“™th paragraph, it is impossible to tell whether it was {rom the fraud
or carelessness of the servants of the Agent’s establishment that the
erroneous information given in the list was admitted into it; but
¢hat, carelessness had something to do with its preparation is evident
from the fact that in the column of the revised list which professes
to give Mr* Elphinstone’s reasons for the grant, is found the following
entry :—

«¢Class Silledars, No. 11.—Grandfather to the Raja of Sattara.

" To retain his Jagheer land at Hyderabad ceded to the Nizam.

Hereditary.’

“This entry, which is of course nonsense, I find to be made up of
two of Mr. Elphinstone’s entries relating to distinct cases, one the
Jagheer of Bhoslay, the other one of a person named Kowree, No. 12
of the same class in Mr. Elphinstone’s list.

“3. Whether Government decide on continuing Bhoslay’s Sur‘u-
jam according to Mr. Elphinstone’s recommendation, or according to
the Honorable Court’s recent Ruleg, it is right that they should do so
with a knowledge of actual facts. I have, therefore, considered it
necessary to submit Captain Cowper’s letter with the above observa-
tion on a point not noticed by him.”

21. The orders of Government were received in the Political Secre-
tary’s letter No. 2171 of the 17th May 1853, below quoted :—

« I am directed by the Right Honorable the Governor in Council to
acknowledge the receipt of your letter No. 1929 dated the 14th ultimo,
forwarding one from your Assistant, Captain Cowper, reporting on the
Surinjam entered as No. 50 of Clase T.in the revised Surinjam lists.

¢2. You do not appear to have been aware, when addressing the
above letter to Government, that Parushram Rajeh Bhoslay, the last
holder of the Surinjam in question, having died withont leaving any

male issue, orders were issued by Government on the 9th March 1852

for the resumption of the above grant. ° .

“3. In making this intimation I am desired to forward to you copies
of two letters from this department to the Collectdr of Ahmednuggur
and the Commissioner at Sattara, the former dated the 9th March,

No. 1008 of 1852, and the latter dated the 27th January, No. 418 of
1853.
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«4, A copy of your communication has been forwarded to the
Agent for Sirdars in the Deccan, in order that there may be a record
in his office of the erroneous nature of the information contained in
the revised Surinjam lists of 1844 and 1847 relative to this grant.”
22. The Inam Commissioner’s report and my own were forwarded

to Mr. Warden, who was requested in the Chief Secretary’s letter
No. 2173 of the 17th May last to afford explanation relative to the
alteration of dates noticed by me. *

23. To this call the Honorable Mr, Warden, having meanwhile
become a member of the Government of Bombay, has replied in a letter
dated the 5th November last, which has been now referred for my
explanation.

24. The Honorable Mr. Warden's 2nd paragraph defines the case
under discussion as ‘“that of Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, grandfather
of the Raja of Sattara, who was placed on the throne by the British Go-
vernment in a. ». 1818.” I would explain that Trimbukjee’s son,
Shahoo, had been adopted by the Raja of Sattara, and thus it was that
Trimbukjee’s grandson occupied the throne in 1818.

25. The 3rd paragraph of the Honorable Mr. Warden’s letter de-
scribes the village of Sherusgaum as having been on the accession of the
British Government found alienated to Trimbukjce Rajeh Bhoslay; but
this seems to me an incorrect description of the state in which the vil-
lage was found, as the Honorable Mr. Warden in the same paragraph
has explained that it (Sherusgaum) had been placed under “a judicial
attachment” seventeen years before the war with the Peshwa broke out,
and that “at the British conquest the judicial “attachment had not been
raised” (concluding portion of paragraph 7 of the Honorable Mr.
Warden'’s letter).

26. Under these circumstances I should describe the village as one
which had been alienated, but which, having been placed under attach-
ment many years before the Peshwa’s fall, was found by the British
authorities no¢ alienated, but in ‘the hands of the Government, and
managed by Government officers.

27. The Honorable Mr. Warden has described the attachment of
Sherusgaum as a “judicial” one; I am not aware that the attachments
made during the reign of the last Peshwa, Bajee Rao, admit of such a
distinction as this being drawn; but however this may be, I would
particulaely solicit attention to the fact that Mr. Elphinstone did not even
make the attempt; he laid down as a general rule—¢ No Jagheer not
actually enjoyed up to the war to be restored, unless specially directed
so to be” (see paragraph 3 of this letter) ; and he still more explicitly
explained it to be his intention to allow no jinquiry into the why or the
wherefore of the state of things which existed when the war with the



APPENDIX C. 95

-Peshwa broke oul; wiren ke informed all his subordinates—* No right of
possession is ever intended to be recogaisedithat was not in force at the
breaking out of the present war.” (See paragraph 4 of this letter.)

28. .In my repory No 493 of the 19th October last, I had occasion
to refer to a very striking illustration of the working of Mr. Elphia.
stone’s orders on this subject; a portion of the remarks I then offered
exacfly meet the present case, and are below transcribed :—

“«8. 1 have thought it necessary thus specially to allude to the
village of Jowkerreh, which Mr. Elphinstone did not restore, be-
cause the case is one proving, it appears to me, beyond doubt, 'that
either the Peshwa’s title, nor the Peshwh's acts, nor anything else,
were held to confer a right to the restoration "of that which was not
¢ actually enjoyed up to the war.

©9. 'TL requires no great search to discover a motive for this
arrangement, which was not more simple than equitable. Thé late
rulegs and magnates of the conquered country, whatever they might
expect from the generosity of the victors, could not suppose that the
British Government would place them in possession of that which
they did not hold when the war broke out; while, on the other hand,
Mr. Elphinstone must have known the pre-existing state of affairs too
well not to be aware that to attempt an inquiry into the acts of the
Peshwa’s Government, ot into the acts of others which that Gévern-
ment tolerated, would have been a simple impossibility; ‘and it is
not, therefore, difficult to understand why he should have based his
arrangements on @ broad rule which was just in principle, intelligible
to the people, and easily “carried out in practice.”

29. Government will perceive, then, that I have considered Mr.
Elphinstone’s orders as conclusive, and that I have, in consequence, not
hithétto attempted to ascertain or to discuss the éircuinstances under
which the Peshwas' dttachments were made ; I have looked merely to
the condition of the holding at the lnu'oducuon of the British Govern-
ment, supposing this to have been the only point which Mr. Elphlnstone
deemed it necessary to ascertain, the only point which was allowed to
influence his decision, and the only pom’t, thérefore, which it can now
be necessary to refer to.

30. With this explanation I proceed to afford all the information I
have been able to obtain, elucidatory of the circumstances which i inter-
vened between the attachment of the village of Sherusgaum in 1798-1800,
and its being ‘found in ‘the hands of the late Peshwa's managers at the
intréduction of the British rale.

31. The Bunud ordering the attachment of Shemsga"um directed
that it should be fasmed oyt “till the sum of Rs. 6,000 should have been

realized from it, to reimburse two persons (to one of whom the farm
4c
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*was assigned) who had advanced-Rs. 6,000 for"the!payment end dis-
charge of some irreguler soldiery who held two members of the:damily
in confinement at the' instance of two others; there being at thiit'time
a feud in the family, to adjust which the Government- mterfercd ”: tﬂee
paragraph 7 of the Honorable Mr. Warden’s letter.)

.32. Such was the origin of the attachment: the circumstances wluch
followed it, and lasted till- the end of the Peshwas’ rule, are thus -de-
scribed in the paragraph of the Honorable Mr. Warden'’s letter (the "'15)
from which I have just quoted :—

'« How long the village rémained with this farmer is not known ;
but as the Purguna Newasgseh, in which it is situated, had gone.greatl'y
to waste for some years, it is probable that the interval between'A. D.
1800 and a. p. 1817 did not suffice to discharge the débt with which

_.it was burdened, or the proceeds, asin other cases, were ‘possibly “ém-
bezzled’ by the public officers in the anarchy that immediately pre-

. ceded the British conquest ; but be that as it may, it so befell that at
the British conquest the judicial attachment had not been raised.”

I am not aware on what authority this statement has been made, but
I must explain that it is not borne out by the Peshwas’ records, and
that I pointed this out as clearly as I could, in my letter of the 2lst
September last, No. 445, a copy of which the Honorable Mr. Warden
has submitted to Government. In that letter (paragraphs 5 to 12) I
stated that in 1808-09 Sherusgaum was regularly incorporated with the
Government villages in the distriot ; that it thus remained up to the war in
1817 ; that during this period its revenues were realized by Government,
and not by the person for the payment of a sum due to whom it had
been originally attached ; and lastly, that at the commencement of the very
year at the close of which the Peshwas’ rule terminated, it was farmed,
with the rest of the district, on account of Government. The following are
the paragraphs of my letter in which this information was afforded :—

“5. Ina.p.1809-10 Sherusgaum had been .mcorporated with the
. Government villages in the district (Newasseh), and this is the first
year for which accounts showing the realizations of its revenue are
. forthcoming. Rs. 15 are shown as the amount realized and credited

to Government under the head of ¢Revenue of resimed villages.’
From the smallness of this amount it seems probable that Shems-

. gaum remained deserted up to A. o. 1808-09. :

“6. -In a.p.1811-12 theé amount realized from Sherusgaum is not
. ascertainable, but that revenue was realized, and by Government, is
shown by an’ account of manfigement of the Mokassa* Umul’of the
. district, in° which‘document the followmg entry is found :—¢Sherus-

® « Tho Mokassa Umul of the district had been alwaya separately mmlgedmd wmtcd
for to Government.”
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« gewm hesmmew; bean reswmed, but the vaernment ~mano.ger wnll not
' Pﬂy«wm share of its revepue.”:

e 47 For s 0.-1812:13 an account of the nature speclﬁedmthe last
»wagmph is forthcoming, and 'contains:a similar entry. -

«8. ' In a.p. 1818-13:it isveertain, however, that the revenue -of
.-BSherusgaum was realized by the Government manager of the district,

.as.in-a subsequent account of management of his for a. n. 1814-15,
. the -outstanding balance. of A. p..1818-13, amounting to Rs. 2-3-9, is

shown to have been realized gnd credited to Government.

%9, : For a. 0..1813-14 np account is fortheoming, but it is equally
‘gertajn that.in this year Government realized the revenue of Sherus-
' gaum, as in the account for a. p. 1814-15, referred to in the last

paragraph, the. ontstanding balance for a. o, 1813-14, amounting to

Rs. 25, is shown to have been realized and credited to Government.

“10. For a. p. 1814-15, the account of management referred to in
the last two paragraphs is forthcoming, but as.the amount realized
throghout the district. is shown only in the aggregate, the sum
which Sherusgaum paid cannot be ascertained.

“11. For a.p.1815-16, noaccount showing the realizations of ¢he
village or district is forthcoming.

«12. Accounts of the management of the Peshwa’s officers for

A, p. 1817-18 cannot, of course, be forthcoming, as before.that. yea:

terminated British rule had been introduced ; but the records centain

an account showing the amount for, which Bajee Rao farmed the dis-
trict at the commencement of the year. This document does not
specify the amount at which each village was farmed, but that Shergs-
gaum was one of them is proved by a detailed memorandum drawn
up at the same time, and showing ,m,detanl the villages deducted as

alienated, Sherusgaum #o¢ being one of them.” .

33. Surely I can scarcely be wrong in considering this. conclusive

proof that at the British conquest not only had the attachment not. been
raised, but that the village had.been completely and finally taken posses-
sion of by and on account of the Government.
.34. The 8th paragraph of the, Honorable Mr. .Wardens letter . is
gwen below entire. It explams the Honorable Mr. Wayrden’s reasons
for believing the entry in the lists of 1847, based upon that i Jn the lists
of 1844, to be « strictly correct,” and it is, therefore, neeessa.ty for me to
state, as clearly and succinctly as possnble, the grounds upon avhich I
amved ata dlﬁ'erent opinion :—.

: 8. Itis stated in the ‘Remarks'in my. Sunnphl hst, as respects
this grant—¢ The earliest actual grant recorded: isv tho Dnftur is dated

. A. 0. 1760; but in this it i said that it existed in me time of the Sat-
"tara Ra;as
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_ % This appears tarreluate to.shamss of the revenwe of thesillnge of
. Ghargaum, which. was :seleased:flom attachment-in «..». 1760.by a
.,Sunud, copy and translation: ef the registey, of which are annexed-and
marked C. This Sunud, teken in conjunction with the.contenss of
that marked A and the fact of the grantae being a member of the shouqe
of Sattara, leaves it beyond debate that the grant-was a Sattare glult :
,and as the Honorable the Court of Directors, in paragraph 9 of their
. despatch dated Oetoher26th, 1342, directed . that.all Jagheers which

bear dates amterior, to ... 1751, fpgether with those which are
. known (as. this was certainly known} to be ancient, should be
hereditary in the fullest sense of the word, there is no doubt :that
Mr. Brown’s decision, based -on my remark, is strictly oerrect; and
that if the grantee had preferred to take the waste village of Sherus-
gaum, which formed part of his ancient Jagheer, instead of the more
fertile villages of Nimbgaum and Danderphul, of which the Peshwa’s
and British Surinjams were composed, Mr.- Elphinstone would have
gladly acceded to a-request by swhich the British Government would
have profited.”

. @5. The entry in the hsts of 1844 fra.med by the Agent, Mr. Warden
(see paragraph 16 of this letter), appears to me to have been elther incor-
rect or incomplete in thefollowing: instanees :— -

1st.—No allusion was anywhere made to the alwratxon df the date
- of original grant, o. p. 1778 (see paragraphs 8, 10; 11, 12, and 16 of
this letter), assigned by Mr. Elphinstone ‘dnd preserved in the lists
of 1834 and 1840, although in other ‘cases, where such alteration was

* made, the requisite explanation was afforded. - ,
2nd:—The only explanation afforded in the lists was the rervark,—

« The earliest actual grant recorded in the Duftur is dated a. ». 1760 ;

but in this it iseaid that it existed in the time of the Battara Rajas”;

and this would certainly be supposed #o refer to the items entered
in the lists and which it was proposed to gentinue, or tomore ancient

.holdings in commutation for: whick the i’tems entered in the lists had

been granted ; but it referred to neither the one nor the other, but to a

small share of the revenue of a village (Ghargaum) whieh had been

resumed many years before the introduction of the British Govern-
. ment. (See'paragraph 8 of the Henorable Mr. Warden's letter.)
. 8rd~—The remark in the lists of 1844 just referred to was in itself
. incorzect, inasmuch as the Peshwas’ Duftur contained the record of

a_ grant (Sherusgeum) made as early-as a. 0. 1751.52. This record,

howevar, would have been equally inapplicable,. referring as it did to

. @ village which, also, had been resumed many. years befm the close

. of the Reshwgs’ rule, - c

4th.~—It was nowhere stated, exther in the hats ox: m m Agem’s
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mmy*m that: m twe &@ﬂmm& in the Hets were new

- granté; made Jdong afier. % 9:1751.> Hnd this been shown, it mpuld

have beveme atonce apparent:that they did not fulfil any ose of :the

conditions required by ‘the. Honordble Court to confer an heréditary

-titler.. :They wmere not grants made before s, p. 1751 { they were not

Ancient grants ; and:they wese not graats. made in commutation for

anything.held before a. . 1751,

-~ 5th~~No attempt: appears to have heeu made to asoertam, as di-
rected by Government, the date of original grant from Sunuds and
other documenta in the possessign of.the family to whom the Surin-

~jam was granted. {(See paragragh 14 of this letter.)

« Bth.—The Agent in his transmittory letter had-informed govern-

ment,— o y

¢ Wherever I have now found these documents (the Poona Duf-
tur) assign, as the motive of the grant, that the grantee held a Surin-
jam in the time of the Rajas of Sattara, I have altered the date of

tle original grant, and placed it anterier to a. n. 1751.?

Batin the present case the documents making the grant of the hold-
ings entered inthe lists assigned ne such motive. (8ee paragraph:19
of this letter, and paragraphs 5 to 7 of the report therein quoted.)

7th.—It would appear that the date of grantef the Surinjam which

Mr. Elphinstone continued, and which was the one enterad in the
lists of 1844, was not ascertained from either the Poona Buftur or
from any other soureg (see paragraph 9 of the report quoted in para-
graph 19 of this letter) ; at least, such seems the inference to be drawn
from the fact of there not being a single Murathee document relating
in any way whatever to this Surinjam to be found émongst the
papers recorded in the case.

8th.—In other cases (Nos. 3 and 46 of Class I.) where the ancient
date of original grant of g portion of the Surinjam held from the Bri-
tish Government had bean assigned to the rest of the holding which
was not ancient, the fact was clearly stated ; whereas, in the. present
case, not only was such information not afforded, but the date of ori-

. ginal grant.of that which had never been held at all from the British
Government, nor for many years previous to its introduetion, was
assigned to a Surinjam which was neither an ancient holding nor yet
a grant made in commutation for any ancient holding, but* a new
grant of a..n, 1778,—the date agsigned to it by Mr: Elphinstone.

36. The apparent ‘errors and omissions in the lists of 1844, which
have been specified.in the last paragraph, and the most serious of ‘which
had been specially pointed out ser-Mr. Browa by the Goverament (see
paragraph 17 of this, letter), remained uncorrecteddn theitists of 1847,
which geem to have been additiongily defective as shown below.



! ]st.~—The age. of ilie/Burinjamdar had been weritereduin'1844 as
vgixty-seven yearh; andao alitvation was made in the list prépared three
‘yéars afterwards. } ‘Thisappears to have been the ease wuh mgiwd to:
neuiyevery entry.in the revised lists. . ' . e

-2nd.—Mr.-Elphinstomé’s recommendation was mclm'eoﬁy enwmi T
not:only wese'two sepsrate entries in. Mr.:Blphinstone’s lists . éntérdd
as one; but a.word+— at”—mnot to be found in either of the two original
entries, was added;tol endeavour to «conneat the two : sentenoes &See
pnragraphs 8, 18, 83, and 54 of this letter.) -
¢+ 1 §rd.~The only explanation afforded in regardt to the date of grant
was a remark—¢The earliest actual. grantrecorded in ths Dufiar

+:i8-dated Esunay Khumsain or a: 0..1751 ; bat in this it is said that it

‘existed in the time of the Sattara Rajas.”. But the record of a. ». 1761
to which Mr. Browa referred makes no such allusion:er .statement
whatever.

Ath.~—The remstk just referred to was the only explanation or
authority under which a Surinjam granted nearly thirty years subse-
guently to x. o. 1751, anad then' granted not in commutation for any-
thing held previously, was entered in the revised lists as a grant made
«hefore o. . 1751”; and this remark referred to a village (Sherusgaum)
not held at the introduction of the British Government, not continued
by Mr. Elphinstone, and not, of course, entered in the revised lists, It
‘was not possible that Goverament could suppose this to have taken
place, when they had especially desired Mr. Brown to assign to each
item composing a Surinjam the actual date of grant of that item, and

.-when. they had still farther enjoined attentiom to this point in the
following terms :— )

« Under the column headed ¢ Remarks,’ clear-and detailed infor-
mation should in each case be given in regard to the proofs: which
exist-of the Surinjam having been grapted to the family of the
holder from the date alleged. In all. eases in which you are- not
perfectly satisfied of the correétness of the alleged date of grant, you
are requested to state your reasons for entertaining such doubt.”

' 87. Such were the circumstances under which I reported (see those
stated in the two preceding paragraphs—35 and 36)'6n the 7th March
last, that Bnrushram Rajeh Bhoslay’s SBurinjam appeared to have been
incorrectly entered in the revised lists, and these facts ‘do' not'appear
to be’in iny way affected by the- Honorable Mr. Werden’s letter.

', 88 It is proper that I'should advert to some of the. more important
casediin: which the rule so emphatically  reiterated for “Mr. Brown’s
guidaxice: hasbeen acted upon. (See paragraph 17 of thislesers) v -
89:.-The Burinjsth of the Rastia family, consisting of thirty-nine vil-
lages,of .-the annual value of Rs: 62,212-14-3, and thie bulk of which
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had been granted ina. o 1768, owasrqntesed  (No.3 of Class I.).in the
listgof. 1844 a# o grantaade before «:9.1751, becanse twonillages, gf the
anrual- valne of dbout Rs.1,200; bed*been granted at this:-early:..date.
Government, however, specifically noticed this error (see paragraphs 7
atid 8 of Chief Secretary’s letter-in the Politieal Department, No.:1896
of the 9th May.1846); and: the correction was made in the revised lists.
. 4. The otber.case which Lshall here notice is that of the Vinchoor
Cth, whose Surinjam:was valued (No. 6 of Class IIL.) in the revised
list¥ at Rs. 53,436, only a very small proportion of it having been,
however, granted prior to.a. p. 1751. Such being the case, the' Honor-
able Cgurtand the Governmenthave.decided (see paragraph 5 of Honor-
able -Court's despatch of the 4th February 1852, No.-10) that the early
date of granteof this small portion ¢an convey no heredltary title to the
large remainder granted after a. p. 1751. b

41. Itis worthy of remark that in the case of both thes&Chxefs,mnd
in other cases which I have not thought it necessary to specify, the
smallportion of the Surinjam, in consideration of the antiquity of which
it was erroneously proposed to continue on hereditary tenure the lazge
remainder of modern date, consisted of villages held from.the British
Government, and not, as in the case new reported on,. of villages or
portions. of villages never thus held at all but lost years before th.:
termination of the Peshwas’ rule. . L

42. I have now, I believe, stated the case completely, in.so far as
the correctness or otherwise of the enries in the lists of 1844 and 1847
is. concerned, but the remaining paragraphs of the Honorable Mr.
Warden’s letter, whlch impugn the completemess of my. report of the 7th
March last, remain fo be noticed.

43. The Honorable Mr. Warden in his 11th paragraph states

¢ It will be observed that Captain Cowper, in his letter of the 7th

of March last, which wgg submitted to Government with that of Mr.

Hart dated the 14th of April, never once mentions the grants of the

villages of Sherusgaum and Ghargaum, from the. evidence derived

from which the Surinjam found its way into Class I., but, on the

contrary, states (paragraph 3)—¢ neither the Surinjam in question, nor
..any other Surinjam in lieu of, or in commutation for which,the pre-

sent one was granted, were held previous to a. . 1751,” .
With reference to this I would explain,~—

Ist.—~That I did not refer. to either Sherusgawm or to .Ghargaum

. because I.found, after.a careful inquiry, that both had been resumed

long before the. fall of the Peshwa ; that nothing hdd been granted in

commutption’ for them; that Mr. Elphinstone had aeither comtinued

nor_adluded to them; and that, consequently, they. had, under the

ordexs upon which'the lists;of 1844.and 1847 were prepared, nothing
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:'whatever to do w;wm mm mmmncd hy,wand hekd from ithe
... Bxitish Govesnroemt, s ;- <., | S

. - 2nd.—That the graut oi Sbemsgaum recordcd in A. D, 1?51~59

" could not, apparently, bave been the evidence derived from which the

. Surinjam grenied im ~i9:.1778 found its way into Class I. of the lists

of 1844; for in.those lists it was distinctly stated—<‘The earliest

actual grant reeordedin the Duftur és dated 4. D. 1760% ; but in this it

is said that it existed in the time of the Sattara Rajas.” g

44. The eonclusion drawn at the end of th¥ same (the 11th) para-
graph of the Honorable Mr. Warden’s letter is thus expressed :—<¢ It
follows, therefore, that althongh the grants by the Peshwa: werernotéin
lieu of, or in commutation for others, they were held in conjunction with
ancient grants, and ' which was not brought to netice.” " With merely
the orders of the Honorable Court and those of the Government to
guide me (see paragraphs 13, 14, and 17 of this letter), I should undoubt-
edly have arrived at the conclusion that modern grants, held “in conjunc-
fion with” ancient ones, were, nevertheless, to be considered and treated
as modern, but I could be at no loss to determine this with the remark-
able illustrations on record to which I have referred in paragraphs 38
to 41.of this letter. Such being the case, I should not have referred to
Sherusgaum and Ghargaum, even if they had been at the introduction of
British rule held in conjunction with the Surinjam granted in a..p. 1778,
but I have explained that they were not thus held. (See paragraph 35 of
this letter.) ; ‘

* 45, The 12th paragraph of the Honorable Mr. Warden's letter ob-
jeets to my havmg described the village of 8herusgaum as one which
was resumed in a.p. 1799.1800, and substitutes for ¢ resumed” the
words “a judicial attachment.” I am not aware that the substitution,
would have affected the case as reported by me in the slightest degree,—

-1st.—Because, for the reasons exp]am‘ in paragraphs 27 to 29 of
this letter, all that I looked to was whether the village, or anything
granted in commutation for it, was held at the close of the Péshwas’

government and continued by Mr. Elphinstone or not. .

2nd.—Because the village had been, as T have heréinbefore ex-
plained (see paragraphs 32 and 33 of this letter), completely and

finally resumed long before the close of the Peshwas’ rule; and I

would further solicit attention to the entry in Mr. Elphinstone’s-tist
1 (see phragraph S%of this letter), which shows that in alluding to this

b&’illage he described it, as I have done, to be one which had been

‘sresumed by Bajee Rao.”

&B Whe next (the 13th) paragraph of the Honotable Mf‘“’Waﬁen ®

R 'IlalimcdbyCuptunCowm
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letter refers to my having omitted to point out, when affording him
some required infofmation, that although the Sunud granting Sherus-
gaum did not npecify the tenure, the Sunud resuming it did so. I cer-
tainly did not specially point out this latter fact, but I furnished o
copy of the documen{ which contained it (see paragraph 6 of Captain
Cowper’s letter No. 411 of the 27th August last), and it did not occur
to me to do more, because the nature of the tenure had not been previ-
ously questioned, nor did I then question it. It must have been either
Inam or Surinjam, and the least favourable position in which it could
be placed was that in which I found and left it. Had there been any
reason ,to suppose the tenure an Inam one, I should assuredly never
intentionally have omitted to draw attention to the fact.

47. The 14th and 15th paragraphs of the Honorable Mr. Warden’s
letter are below transcribed :—

“14. Again, Captain Cowper tells Mr. Hart (paragraph 5) that two
villages, Veehay and Borgaum, were granted as a new grant, and
not in liew of, or in reference to any previous one, in A.o. 1777-78.

“15. The words in italics were italicised by Captain Cowper
himself, and the object of this emphasis was, I presume, to impress
on the Government that Bhoslay’s claim as a Surinjamdar com-
menced in A.Dp. 1777-78; the fact being, as it appears to me, tha.
the grant of Sherusgaum and Ghargaum was at that very time in the
possession of the Surinjamdar and his family, and held, according to
Captain Cowper’s own subsequent showing, one from beforc a.p.
1751-52 to the British conquest, or, even acording to Captain Cowper
himself, till a. . ,1800," when it was temporarily attached in conse-
quence of the family feud; and the other certainly in a.n. 1752-53,
and perhaps as early as A. p. 1747-48.—(Captain Cowper, paragraphs
2 and 8, August 27th, 1853).” .

If I correctly understood the above, the Honorable Mr. Warden lays
down, that because Bhoslay once held something granted before a. p.
1751, but lost before the close of the Peshwas’ rule, therefore the Surin-
jam found in the possession of his descendant at the introduction of the
British Government is, although granted long after a. p. 1751, and not
in commutation for, or with reference to anything held previously,
properly continuable on hereditary tenure.

48. But the Government and the Honorable Court have already de-
cided, not only in general but also in distinct and specific ternss, to the
contrary ; and they have gone further,—they have decided that such
ancient grants, even if held at the introduction of the British Govern-
ment (see paragraphs 17, 38, 39, 40, and 41 of this letter),—those to which
the Honorable Mr. Warden*has referred were not thus held—can give

no hereditary title to other and modern grants made to the same family.
5¢c
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49, The Honorable Mr. Warden, in his 16th paragraph, has adverted
to the fact of my report of ‘the 7th March last having principally con-
sisted of an account of villages, the grant of which was totally irrelevant
(the Honorable Mr. Warden thinks) to the question—the date of the
original Surinjam, which was before the Agent for Sirdars when the
Surinjam lists were framed. But this was the very point which in my
report I endeavoured to lay before Government (see paragraphs 3, 5,
and 13 of the report quoted in paragraph 9 of this letter), because it
was the only point on which it seemed to me that any real question
could be raised, or on which error appeared to have been committed.

50. 'The object of my report of the 7th March last may be described
in a few words. The Surinjam lists were framed under orders which
explicitly declared (see paragraphs 13 and 14 of this letter)ihat Surinjams
bearing dates prior to A. . 1751; or bearing no precise dates, but known
to have been granfcd before that year; or granted in commutation for
any Surinjam held before that year; should be considered entitled to
hereditary continuance ; and it was further laid down (see paragraph
17 of this letter) that each portion of a Surinjam continued by the
Honorable Mr. Elphinstone must fulfil the above conditions to be enti-
tled to the consideration,—i. e. hereditary continuance conceded to anti-
quity of grant; but I found the Surinjam of Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay
composed of shares of the revenue of two villages (Danderphul and
Nimbgaum) which had been continued by Mr. Elphinstone as a grant
of a.p. 1778, and erroneously entered in the lists of 1844 and 1847 as
granted before a. p. 1751 ; the fact, which I at once brought to notice,
being that ¢ neither the Surinjam in question, nor any other Surinjam
in lieu of, nor in commutation for which the present one was granted,
were held previous to a. o. 1751, or for twenty-six years aflerwards.”

51. This brings me to the close of the objections which have occur-
red to the Honorable Mr. Warden, and, having afforded all the expla-
nation in my power, I can only express a hope that I may be found
not to have omitted, in the first instance, anything material to the sub-
ject-matter of my report. It has certainly been my endeavour not to do
so, and [ have conceived it to be equally my duty to carefully abstain
from encumbering reports necessarily voluminous with any irrelevant
matter. .

52. Government have not called for my explanation regarding a
remark anade in Mr. Hart’s letter, submitting my report of the 7th
March last, and to which remark the Honorable Mr. Warden has allud-
ed in his 17th paragraph in the following terms :—

«“17. Mr. Hart’s letter handing up Captain Cowper’s consists
only of the notice of a clerical error in-Mr. Brown’s lists made in
the transcript of Mr. Elphinstone’s note, to which note has becn



APPENDIX C. 35

joined the note on the case immediately following it. I should
have expected from Mr. Hart, instead of talking of the ¢nonsense’
written (as if a clerical error did not generally convert sense into
nonsense) and of ¢ carelessness,” he would have pointed out,—~what he
can hardly have failed to observe,—that in the process of binding Mr.
Elphinstone’s Surinjam list, part of the notes was bound in so as to
give the two notes the appearance of being one ;—the error of the clerk
is so obvious as to have been beneath notice.”

But Mr. Hart’s remark was made under circumstances which can
only be disclosed by an inspection of Mr. Elphinstone’s draft list of
Jagheers, which is in my charge. These circumstances do not appear
to me to admit of the construction which the Honorable Mr. Warden
has placed updn them, and it seems, therefore, my duty to submit them
for consideration.

63. Adopting the Honorable Mr. Warden’s opinion that “in the
process of binding Mr. Elphinstone’s Surinjam list, part of the notes
was bound in so as to give the two notesethe appearance of being one,”
there still can be nothing to account for the fact of the word ¢“at” having
been added (see paragraphs 8, 15, and 36 of this letter).

64. But the process of binding Mr. Elphinstone’s draft list, which is
the one referred to, does not scem to me to have destroyed the ®briginai
appearance and position of these t®o entries, which are below transcribe.d
exactly as they now stand, the pencil lines never having been rubled
out, and the two sheets being joined or bound together at BB :—

B
* Jaghoer, or Yearly Allowance
to be continued.
. . For what
M 2 viai TR e Period re-
£ Namo. B £ Decision. gff:;:l:;]t’ r(():l- £5 E.‘_' .g & |commended.
! R corded Colloc-| 5 _ % §| & &
“ (S tion. 58 g éf: .
Rs. a. p. Rs.
11{Trimbukjee Rajch Bhos-| Do. |. . || Grandfather to} 1,422 13 0| 711 | .. | Teredi-
lay Waweckur, Rs. the Raja of] tary.
1,497 ; 41 years ; Rs. Sattara; to
1,200 resumed. retain his Ja-
gheer land.
[ ]
12{Muhiput Rao Kowree,| Do. |.. ||(Hyderabad), eeee - .
Rs. 3,000; 70 years; ceded to the y
Rs. 4,986 resumed. Nizam.
R

55. I have felt myself csPecially called upon to submit this explana-
tion, because, if my memory serves me, Mr. Hart had not Mr. Elphin-
stone’s draft list with him, or within his rcach, when he wrote his
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transmittory report, but I had it at hand, and I was furnished at once by
Mr. -Hart with a copy of his letter. I, therefore, was in a position to
point out anything in the draft list at all incompatible with, or required
to complete Mr. Hart’s statement ; but nothing of the sort occurred to me,
and I would here add that the whole of Mr. Elphinstone’s draft list is
bound precisely in the same way as the two leaves on which this entry
stands.

56. I beg to correctan errorin the 12th paragraph of my report of the
7th March last, in which, instead of stating that the remark made in the
lists of 1844 remained intact in the revised list of 1847, I should have
said that in the latter the date was altered from a. p. 1760 to a. ». 1351.
This alteration does not, however, seem materially to affect or alter the
case as originally submitted by me, and it has been adverted to in its
proper place in this letter. (Marginal note now added to paragraph 12
of report quoted in the 19th paragraph of this letter.)

I have the honour to be, &c. ¢

‘(Signed) T. A. CowrEr, Captain,
Assistant Inam Commissioner.

No. 2966.

*

From C. J. Manson, Esq., °
Inam Commissioner,
To A. Maver, Esq., e .
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.
Dated Belgaum Districts, Keroor, Ind February 1854.

Sir,—I have the honour to acknowledge the reccipt of your letter
No. 5468 dated 20th December last, desiring me to call upon my
Assistant, Captain Cowper, to submit any remarks he may have to offer
on an accompanying communication from the Honorable Mr. Warden,
dated 5th November 1853, in respect to entry No. 50 in Class L. of the
revised Surinjam lists of 1847.

2. Captain Cowper was without delay furnished with all the papers
in the case, and his reply, No. 31 dated 18th January 1854, herewith
submitted, which is very clearly drawn up, appears to me to afford a
complete cefutation of the Honorable Mr. Warden’s objections. The
conclusion, therefqre, at which I must arrive is, that Captain Cowper’s
first letfer, bringing to light the erroneous entry in the lists, is in no way
affected by the Honorable Mr. Warden’s explanation.

3. I beg to return the Honorable Mr. Warden’s letter and its accom-
paniments, received with your letter under reply.

I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) C. J. Manson, Inam Commissioner.

Powritical DEPARTMENT.
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No. 523 or 1854,

. PoriticaL DEPARTMENT.
From Captain T. A. CowpER,

Inam Commissioner,

To H. L. Anperson, Esq.,
Secretary to Government, Bombay.

Dated Poona, 7th October 1854.

Bir,e—With reference to the previous reports of mine which are

Paragraphs 25t0 29 of enumerated in the margin, T have the honour to
M t] . . .

Captain Cowper'8 report,  gyhmit, for the consideration of Government, the

No. 31 of the 18th Janu-

ary 1854, submitted by following transcript of one dated the 30th July

the Inam Commissioner
on the 2nd February 1854,
No. 2966.

Paragraphs 116 to 120 of
do. do do., No. 535 of
the 30th November 1853,
submitted by the Tnam
Commissioner on the 3rd
December 1853, No. 2786.

1844, from the Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Warden,
on a claim preferred by Rughoonath Rao Nim-
bajee to hold in Inam certain Umuls of the
village of Rajapoor, in the Dindoree Purguna of
the Nassick Sub-Collectorate, and which claim the
Agent pronounced inadmissible ¢ on the princi-

ples which regulated the settlement of the Deccan,”—i. €. non-possessio.s
at the breaking out of the war with the Peshwa :—

“The records of the Poona Duftur show that in a. p. 1802 the vil-
lage of Rajapoor, Putguna Dindoree, with the exception of Surdesh-
mookee and Mokassa, was granted to petitioner’s father as Surin-
jam; that in a. . 1809 the Surdeshmookee and Mokassa, as well
as the Babtee of the village, were granted to petitioner’s father as
‘Inam by thc Punt Prithee Nidhee of Kurrar; that in 1813 the Mo-
kassa was in the hands of the Government ; and that on the accession
of the British Government petitioner’s father acknowledged that the
three items of revenue mentioned had not been in his possession for
five years, and, consequently, on the principles which regulated the
settlement of the Deccan, that he had no right to them.

Moreover, he only held them as Inam of the Prithee Nidhee, whose
own tenure was no more than Surinjam, and who, consequently, was

not authorised to alienate them as Inam.

I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) T. A. Cowrkr, Captain,
Inam Commissioner.
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No. 2605 or 1856.

o

Povriticar DEPARTMENT.
From H. L. Axperson, Esq.,
: Secretary to Government, Bombay,

To Captain T'. A. CowrEg,
Special Commissioner, in charge Alienation Department.

Dated the 20th May 1856.

Sir,—Referring to Mr. Manson’s letter No. 2966 dated the 2nd Feb-
ruary 1854, transmitting remarks on a communication from the Honor-
able Mr. Warden in respect to entry No. 50 in Class I. of the revised
Surinjam lists of 1847, I am dirccted to transmit to you copy of a
resolution passed thercon by the Right Honorable the Governor in
Council under date the 9th instant, and to inform you that the question
involved in this correspondence will be submitted for the decision
of the Honorable the Court of Directors.

¢ . I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) H. L. AnbpErson,
Bombay Castle, 20th May 1856. Sceretary to Government.

Resolution by the Board, dated 9th May 1856.

Resonvenp,—The Surinjam of Purushram Rajeh B.hoslay havinglapsed
from failure of heirs, it will only be necessary to forward the correspond-
ence to the Honorable the Court of Dircctors; but in taking this course,
it is proper that the Right Honorable the Governor in Council should
briefly notice the points at issue betwcen Mr. Warden and Captain
Cowper, in order that no incorrect precedent may be established.

2. The Honorable Mr. Elphinstone, by his settlement, continued two
villages, Danderphul Khoord (the greater) and Nimbgaum Khoord, to the
decscendant of Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay, and recommended that the
possession, which had existed for forty-one ycars, should be hereditary.

3. By the operation of the Honorable Court's order of 1842, the
Surinjay would have beenincluded in Class I1., as being granted since
A. p. 1751, unless upon special grounds, approved by the Honorable
Court, it had bcen retained in Class I.

4. Mr. Warden in his lists included it in Class I., on the ground
¢“that the carliest actual grant recorded in the Duftur was dated a. 0. 1760,
but that in that grant it was stated that it existed in the time of the
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Rajas.” There were two propositions involved in this assertion,—1s¢, the
principle laid down by the Honorable Court, that 4 grant of a laterdate
than 1751, if given in lieu of a grant of an earlier date than 1751, should
be regarded as hereditary,—thatis, should operate asa grant of the earlier
date; 2nd, that if a portion of a Surinjam were granted before 1751,
that would make hereditary those parts of the Surinjam which were
granted after 1751. The firstof these propositions is correct, the second
is quite incorrect. ‘

5. Mr. Brown’s entry of this Surinjam was to the same effect as Mr.
Warden’s, but the date of the earliest actual grant was stated to be not
1760 but 1751.

6. Captain Cowper, when he submitted his report on this case,
stated that the two villages had been granted in a.p. 1778, which
agreed with Mr. Elphinstone’s statement in 1819 that they had been
held by Trimbukjee Rajeh Bhoslay’s family for forty-one years. He
also stated that the villages were not given in lieu of any former grants
of an earlier date than a. p. 1751. These two statements are admitted
to be correct, although the entry of the Surinjam in Class I. has been
defended on other grounds. o

7. Mr. Warden’s argument in support of the entry of the Surinjam
in Class I. may be thus bricfly stated. Besides the two villages con-
tinued by Mr. Elphinstone, the Surinjamdar possessed a third village,
Sherusgaum, at the accession of the British rule. A fourth village,
Ghargaum, had also been formerly held by him, but resumed bcfore the
conquest ; it does not, therefore, affect the discussion, except so far as
that having been granted’before 1751, it was held to bring the whole
Surinjam into Class I. The village of Sherusgaum, at the time of the
conquest, was found to have been under * a judicial attachment” since
A.D. 1800. It had not been politically and permanently confiscated,
but merely placed under an attachment, and handed over to a farmer,
until a sum of Rs. 6,000 had been paid by the Surinjamdar. This vil-
lage of Sherusgaum had been granted by a Sunud of a. p. 1751-52, and
it was suggested that had the Surinjamdar preferred it, Mr. Elphin-
stone would have given the village to him, instead of the far more
productive possessions of Danderphul and Nimbgaum.

8. To this argument it has been objected by Captain Cowper that
Mr. Elphinstone did not continue Sherusgaum for the simple reason
that Sherusgaum was not in the actual possession of‘the Surinjamdar at
the breaking out of the war. ¢« No right of possession not actually
in force was to be recognised, unless specially ordered so to be”—was
Mr. Elphinstone’s plain rule. It was also contended by Captain
Cowper that the village had been actually®rcsumed, and its revenues
brought into the Government accounts, before the breaking out of the
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war. Mr. Warden, in his rejoinder, adhered to his view, that the
decision of Mr. Brown was ¢ strictly correct.”

Y. The Right Honorable the Governor in Council is of opinion, that
had Purushram Rajeh Bhoslay left issue, it would have been a very
proper case for reference to the Honorable Court whether, with reference
to Trimbukjee Rajeh’s connection with the royal family of Sattara, the
old date of some of his possessions, and the fact that Mr. Elphinstone
had continued the holding as hereditary, it might not, as a special case,
be continued in Class I. On the other hand, if the Rules were to be
rigidly interpreted, the Right Honorable the Governor in Council has no
doubt whatever that Captain Cowper’s and not Mr. Brown’s view was
¢ strictly correct.” The two villages had no connection with Sherus-
gaum ; they were not given in lieu of Sherusgaum ; they Wwere a distinct
holding from Sherusgaum. Mr. Elphinstone never alluded to Sherus-
gaum, which was not in the actual possession of the Surinjamdar at the
breaking out of the war. Asto the distinction between judicial attach-
ments and political confiscations, the Right Honorable the Governor in
Council would remark that, in practice,it will be found that half of the
latter we@ the result of the former. The superior power did notalways
directly resume the grants which it had made; a judicial attachment
(as Mr. Warden terms it), or some other pretext, readily afforded the
means by which the end was attained, and in the present instance the
village seems to have been for seventeen yearsin the hands of Govern-
ment. Lastly, the assumption that Mr. Elphinstone would have given
Sherusgaum, had the Surinjamdar pteferred it, is, however ingenious,
entirely gratuitous.

10. The Right Honorable the Governor in Councxl has omitted many
minor facts and arguments with which Captain Cowper’s position is
fortified, becausc the question is not now whether the Surinjam shall or
shall not be resumed. But the point on which it is emphatically neces-
sary he should remarlk is this,—let it be conceded that Mr. Wardcn’s
view, as now stated, is correct—that officerand Mr. Brown would still be
liable to censure for not having submitted the reasoning on which they
arrived at the conclusion set forth in their lists for the consideration of
Government. No human ingenuity or acumen could have surmised the
alleged fpcts, which were not stated, but on which the  strict correct-
ness” of the entry is said to have been founded. Let all be conceded
that Mr. Warden' wishes—it is still obvious that several questions of
principle must have been decided tacitly by the two Agents without
reference to Government, before that entry could be established. No
subordinate officer has a right to submit conclusions which the Go-
vernment must naturally fmagine to be founded on a certain class of
facts and principles, and then, when the conclusions are discovered to
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be inconsistent with those facts and principles, to justify the conclu-
sions as obtained from other facts which had never been presented for
the consideration of Government. If Mr. Warden's argument be cor-
rect, it ought, for his justification, to have been substantially conveyed
in the entry regarding the Surinjam which he submitted to Govern-
ment in 1844.

9th May 1856.

6c
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No. 102 or 1853.

Fram Captain T. A. Cowrer,
Assistant Inam Commissioner,
L ]
To W. Harr, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner.

Dated Poona, 28th February 1853.

Str,—1 have the honour, under the orders conveyed in the Chief®ecretary’s
letter No. 4175 of the 24th September 1852, to sub-

1. Moujé Chugaum. o . . .
Moujé Chugaum mit, for your consideration, the circumstances under

2. Ditto Nugaum.

'l‘hle lxlf{i;kasnn}3 Umul of,—  which the two villages, and the Mokassa Umul of

. jé¢ Buhad . : : = :

o it lc\;m;:)z?oor the five others spef:lfied in the margin, were mcll.lded
3. Ditto Qomertee. in the revised Surinjam lists as part of the hereditary

4. Ditto Boree.

£ Jifto Surinjain of Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree, and
5. Ditto Sangvee.

were subsequently restored to him on that tenure
under the orders from the Honorable Coutt of Directors passed on the ahove
Jists (despatch No. 15 of the 22nd May 1849, paragraphs 2 to 12).

2. The Honorable Court seem to have passed this decision on the errone-
ous information afforded to them in the revised lists* that “ by an oversight this
portion of the Surinjam was retained by Government when the remainder was
restored to the present Surinjamdar in A. p. 1840.—Sunuds and Chor Chittees
are in the possession of this person”; whereas, so far from the above portion
of the Surinjam having been retained by CGovernment-through any oversight,
its restoration had been fully discussed, on the Agent’s representation, in 1841
(see paragraphs 14 to 21 of this letter), and had been decisively negatived by
the Government of India, which decision had been communicated to the
Agent for Sirdars on the 7th October 1841, in the Political Secretary’s letter
No.2775. (See paragraph 22 of this letter.)

3. When Mr. Elphinstone settled the Deccan in A. ». 1818 ands 1819, a
Surinjam in the Deccan, stated to have been held at the breaking out of the
war by Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree (the father of the present holder,

* In Mr. Warden’s lists of 1844, No. 29 of Class I., and No. 2 of Class V.

In Mr. Brown’s revised lists of 1837, No. 19 of Class I, and No. 2 of statement No. I. of

List No. 5.
lp
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Chimnajee Vittul), was restored to him, and subsequently Mr. Chaplin (Mr.
Elphinstone’s successor) addressed the authorities in Nimar with a view to the
restoration of a portion of the Surinjam claimed in that qdarter (the villages
and Umuls specified in paragraph 1).

4. A good deal of correspondence took place consequent on this requisi-
tion, as the Nimar authorities on various grounds at first declined to restore
thevillages. The only portion of this correspondence which it is of importance
here to notice is the fact pointed out by Sir John Malcolm to Mr. Chaplin,
in a letter dated the 27th March 1820, that one of the villages claimed
(Chugaum) had been abandoned by Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree long
prior to its occupation by the British Government; that the other village
(Nugaum) had been completely abandoned, “and had been uninhabited by
any human creature for a period of fifteen or twenty years”; and that the five
villages, the Mokassa Umuls of which were claimed, were “in a state of
desolation,” four of them belonging to Iolkar.

5. It thus appears that Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree was not in posses-
sion of these villages at the breaking out of the war, and that under these
circumstances Mr. Elphinstone’s arrangements did not contemplate their
restoration, as he most distinctly instructed all subordinate officers to this
effect. Indeed, one village in the Nuggur Collectorate (the village of Bowha-
nuggur, Chimnajec Vittul Poorundhuree’s claim to a portion of which was
finally rejected in the Chief Secretary’s letter No. 3482 of the 1st August 1851),
which was exactly in the position of the Nimar enes, having been deserted
and waste for many years nrior to the conquest, was not restored to Vittulrao
Mulhar Poorundhuree, and is at present Khalsat.

6. Sir Jchn Malcolm subsequently restored the Nimar villages, and on the
14th June 1822 the Government of India ordered, through Sir David Ochter-
lony, that Mr. G« Wellesley, then Resident at Indore, should investigate * the
claims by which the Poorundhur Chief ” held them.

7. Mr. Wellesley obtained from Mr. Chaplin, the Deccan Commissioner,
from the Political Agent at Schore, and from the Acting Agent at Mund-
laisur, all the information they could supply on the subject, and on the 2lst
October 1822 reported as follows :—

“The Poorundhur’s claim on Chugaum and Nugaum appears to be, from
the accotapanying documents, clearly a tenure for his personal life, and no
longer, and Sir John Malcolm’s letter of restitution I find restores it only
on the same tenure as it was held by him of the Peshwa ; but as, perhaps,

. he may be reckoned to have a constructive claim to consideration from long
possession of the villages of his family, I would, in such case, suggest it as
an eligible compromise of the matter, that, the Sunud of Government, to
be given in conformation of the cwrrent tenure, should contain a prospec-
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tive provision for continuing the villages to his heirs in lineal descent as

perpetual tenants in rent, or proprietors subject to payment of the assessed

revenues of Government.”

8. Sir David Ochterlony concurred in the above, and submitted Mr. Wel-
lesley’s propositions for the consideration of the Government of India, who
on the 28th December 1822 replied as follows :—

“The Governor General in Council concurs entirely with the Resident
at Indore, in viewing the grant of Chugaum and Nugaum to the Poorun-
dbur Chief to be simply a lifc-tenure, of the nature of Zat Surinjamee.
Both .the testimony of Mr. Chaplin'and still more the translations of Sunuds
and extracts from the Poona archives, which accompanied his despatch of
the 15th August last, dre conclusive on this Licad, and Government is unable
to understand on what principle Sir John IMalcolm should have bestowed
these ¢ villages’ in free gift or Inam. The qualifying passage in the Sunud,
indeed, which follows the latter words—* the villages of Chugaum and Nu-
gauni are bestowed-on him in free gift, and the village of Sangvee, Purguna.
Kanapoor, is given up as Mokassa, the whole being thns restored on the:
terms formerly granted’—shows that whilst intending to restore them only
on the former tenure, an essential misapprehension existed as to the nature
of that tenure. With this error apparent on the face of the transaction, and
as it is very doubtful whether Vittulrao fulhar was entitled to resume pos-
session of the villages on axy footing aficr many years’ total abandonment of
them, Government conceives that it willbamply have fulfilled any obligations
which the proceedings of the late Agent may have imposed by acknowledg-
ing the tenure in question to be a life Jagheer. On the same principle,
the share of the revenue of the village Sangvee, called Mokassa, must be
allowed whenever that village may have been brought into a productive state.

“12. Under these instructions, it will be necessary that the Resident at
Indore should demand back the former grant by Sir J. Malcolm for the
purpose of cancelling the same, and that the draft of a fresh one should be
prepared as above, and submitted, both in Englishand Persian, for approval
and signature by the Governor General in Council.”

9. On the 30th April 1823 Mr. Wellesley sent the following letter to
Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree, through Mr. Chaplin, the Commissioner at
Poona, and in doing so he observed,— ¢

“The resolution of Government in the case being conclusive, 1 beg you
will repress any attempts of the Poorundhuree to renew negotiations upon it.”

“ Substance of « Letter to ViTruLrao MuLnar PoORUNDHUREE.

“ By direction of Governipent, I have to acquaint you that the Governor
General in Council having resolved, after a full consideration of the case,



i APPENDIX D:

on granting you a Sunud under seal and signature, confirming to you the
possession of the villages of Chugaum and Nugaum, and the Mokaasa :of
Sangvee during the term of your life, the tenure under which these posses-
.-sions have been hitherto held by you, the said Sunud will be accordingly
prepared and transmitted to you, when your acknowledgment will be
required in return ; and you will now be pleased to return the letter of resti-
tution received by you from Sir J. Malcolm and Colonel Smith, the same
being only a provisional deed on their part, subject to the tonfirmation of the
Governor General in Council, whose Sunud, under his seal and signature,
: you are now about to receive instead.”

' 10. To the foregoing Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree gave the following
answer :— ¢ ‘

“T have had the honour and satisfaction of receiving the friendly letter
which you wrote on the 5th of Bysakh Bidee, Sumvut 1880, notifying, by
direction of His Excellency the Governor General, that the villages of Chu-
gaum Mukan and Nugaum, with the Mokassa of the village of Sangvee', would

" be continued to me on the same condition as heretofore, viz. as Zat Surin-
jamee, or allowance for my personal expenses during the period of my life,
desiring that I would transmit to you the deeds in my possession granted
by General Sir J. Malcolm and Colonel Smith for the above villages, and
that Sunuds, under the seal and signature of the Governor General, would
be given to me in exchange. This was the purport of the letter, and, in
compliance with the orders of &overnment, I have delivered the deeds
granted by General Malcolm and Colonel Smith to Mr. Chaplin, the Com-
missioner of Poona, and they will accordingly reach your presence through
that channel.”

11. The following is a draft of the Sunud which Mr. Wellesley proposed
in lieu of the document granted by Sir J. Malcolm, which he had cancelled :—

“ Draft of @ Sunud to ViTTuLRAO MULHAR POORUNDHUREE.

“ Whereas, the Governor General in Council, after full consideration of
the case, has resolved on confirming to Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree
the possession of the .village of Chugaum, Purguna Kundwah, and Nugaum,
Purguna Murdana, and of the Mokassa of Sangvee, Purguna Kanapoor,—
all the places situated in the Zilla of Nimar,—for the term of his life, as
hitherto held by him; after which they will revert to and be resumed by
Government : This Sunud, under the seal and signature of the Governor
General in Council, is accordingly issued to him in testimony of the same,
and his acknowledgment will be taken in return.”

12. On the 7th November 1823 Mr. Wellesley was informed that this
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draft of Sunud had been adopted by Government, and that it would be returned
to him from the Persian Office duly signed and sealed.

13. On the 24th December 1823 Mr. Chaplin forwarded the above Sunud
“under the seal aud signature of His Excellency the Governor General
in Council” to the Collector of Poona, and in requesting that officer to deliver
it to Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree, added,—

“ As this incumbent resides within your jurisdiction, it is desirable that, on
the occurrence of his decease, early notice thereof should be communicated
to me, with a view to the resumption of the Jagheer in question.”

14.  Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree died on the 12th January 1840, leav-
ing one son, Chimnajee Vittul, to whom the Surinjam in the Deccan was, by
order of the Bombay Government, continued. The Nimar villages were,
according to the tenure of the Governor General’s Sunud, resumed by the
Government of India.

15. Chimnajec Vittul Poorundhuree, on the 11th July 1840, addressed
the Bczmbay Government, begging that the Nimar villages might be restored to
him. His letter was forwarded for the report of the Acting Agent for Sirdars,
Mr. Mills, who, on the 13th October 1840, informed Government as follows :—

“ The Acting Agent begs leave to forward an original letter, dated 23rd
instant, and enclosure, from the Resident at Indore, from which it will
appear that petitioner has no claim whatever to the villages he alludes to,
the Governor General in Council having decided that they were merely
life-grants to petitioner’s father. ¢

¢ Under these circumstances, the petitioner may be informed that his title
to the villages he claims is inadmissible.

16. The request of Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree was then, in the Poli-
tical Secretary’s letter No. 2490 of the 14th November 1840 negatived in
the following terms :—

“ I am desired to signify to you that, on inquiry, it appears that the vil-
lages in question having been merely life-grants, lapsed to Government on
the demise of your father, and that the Governor in Council cannot, there-
fore, comply with your petition.”

17. A copy of the Political Secretary’s reply to Chimnajee Vittul (Politi-
cal Secretary’s letter No. 2491 of the 14th November 1840)°was on the
same date forwarded to the Acting Agent for Sirdars, with a requegf that he
would “be pleased to report, for the information of Government, the tenure
under which the villages situated in the Poona and Ahmednuggur territory
were held by the petitioner’s father.”

18. The Agent, in a letter No. 101 dated the 14th April 1841, afforded
the information called for in regard to the Deccan villages, and added a
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recommendation that those in Nimar should be likewise continued, assigning,
as ‘ﬂe grounds on which he had arrived at an opinion opposite to the one
expressed in his previous report to Government of the 30th October 1840
(see paragraph 16), the fact of the revenues of the Nimar wllages having been
included in Mr. McDonnell’s statement of Surinjams, and also in those of Mr.

Marriott submitted to Government on the 1st August 1834. Mr. Mills
thought that the application of the rules framed by Mr. Marriott, and promul-
gated for observance by the Bombay Government pendihg the decision of
the Court of Directors, annulled the previous decision of the Governor General
in Council.

19. Mr. Mills seems, however, to have completely overlooked the grounds
on which the decision of the Supreme Government had been based (see para-
graph 8), and the important fact that the Nimar villages had not been held by
Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree at the breaking out of the war, and that on
this account it had seemed to the Supreme Government “very doubtful
whether Vittulrao Mulhar was entitled to resume possession of the villages on
any footing after many years’ total abandonment of them.” They were includ-
ed, it is true, in Mr. McDonnell’s statement, but subject to inquiry, which was
afterwards made by Mr. Chaplin, and which proved that they did no¢, like
the Deccan villages, fulfil the terms on whick alone Mr. Elphinstone had con-
templated the restoration of any holding, whether Surinjam or Inam.

20. On the 29th July 1840, the Bombay Government, through their Poli-
tical Secretary, forwarded to the Gpvernment of India copies of the under-
mentioned correspondence, ¢ for such notice as the Right Honorable the
Governor General in Council might deem it to deserve”,:—

The petition from Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree dated the 11th July

1840, referred to in paragraph 15 of this letter.

The report by the Acting Agent for Sirdars dated the 30th October- 1840,
referred to in paragraph 15 of this letter.

The reply of Government to Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree dated the
14th November 1840, referred to in paragraph 16 of this letter.

The letter from Government tothe Acting Agent for Sirdars dated the
14th November 1840, referred to in paragraph 17 of this letter.

The Agent’s reply dated the 14th April 1841, referred to in paragraph 18
of this letter.

21. The reply of the Supreme Government, conveyed in their Political
Secretary’s letter No. 2334 of the 25th August 1841, was accompanied by a
memorandum (the substance of which is given in paragraphs 6 to 12 of this
letter) of previous proceedings in regard to the Nimar villages, and the tenure
on which they had been held was explained as having been “ by the resolution
of the Governor General in Council limited to the life of Vittulrao.”
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22. The foregoing decision of the Government of India was communicated
in the following terms to the Agent for Sirdars, in the Political Secrefify’s
letter No. 2775 of the 7th October 1841 :—

“ With reference to your letter dated the 14th April, No. 101 [the letter
recommending the restoration of the Nimar villages, referred to in para-
graph 18], I am directed by the Honorable the Governor in Council to
transmit, for your information, copy of a communication from Mr. Secretary
Maddock, dated the 23rd August last, No. 2334, from which you will per-
ceive the grounds on which the villages of Nugaum and Chugaum were
resupied by the Government of India on the death of the late Vittulrao
Mulhar Poorundhuree.”

23. Thus stood the case, as far as [ have been able to learn, when the
Agent for Sirdars, Mr. Warden, on the 29th December 1844, submitted classi-
fied lists of Surinjams, in which, as No. 29 of Class I. and No. 2 of Class V.,
the Nimar villages were entercd as part of a Surinjam which Chimnajee Vittul
Poorundhuree was entitled, under the Rules, to hold on hereditary tenure,
the column of “ Remarks ” containing the following explanation :—

“ By an oversight this portion of the Surinjam was retained by Govern-
ment when the remainder was restored to the present incumbent.”

24. Mr. Warden’s lists were subsequently revised by Mr. Brown, who
succeeded him as Agent for Sirdars, and in whose revised lists the above
entry was preserved ; the Nimar village® being entered as, together with the
Deccan ones, forming one Surinjam, held on one and the same tenure. In nei-
ther of the lists was any allusion whatever made to the previous decision of
1822, nor to the reconsideration of the case which took place subsequent to the
resumption in 1840, nor to the Supreme Government’s final enunciation on the
23rd August 1841 of their previous decision of 28th Decegnf)er 1822.

25. The revised Surinjam lists were sanctioned generally by the Honor-
able Court of Directors (Honorable Court’s despatch No. 15 of the 22nd May
1849, paragraphs 2 to 12), and it was with reference to this sanction that, on
the 18th December 1849, the Acting Agent, Mr. Hunter, solicited the orders
of Government as to whether or not he should convey the instructions of the
Honorable Court in respect to the Nimar villages to the authorities in the
Bengal Presidency. ’

26. Consequent on this application, Government called upon the Acting
Agent (Political Secretary’s letter No. 88 of the 8th January 1850) to furnish
authenticated extracts from the Surinjam lists relating to the Nimar villages,
which were, together withan extract, paragraphs 2 to 12 of the Honorable
Court’s despatch of the 22nd May 1849, No. 15, forwarded tp the Government
of India (Political Secretary’s letter No. 36 of the 15th March 1850), with &
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request that instructions might be issued for restoring the villages on hereditary
temi¥e to Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree.

27. The Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department
replied on the 9th April 1850, No. 973, and intimated that the requisite orders
had been issued for the restoration of the villages, which Chimnajee Vittul
was accordingly placed in possession of, and now holds.

28. 1 have thought it advisable to report on these villages separately,
leaving the title under which the Surinjam in the Deccan is held by Chim-
najee Vittul - Poorundhuree for inquiry, if requisite, hereafter; the question
for ‘decision in this case appearing to me simply to be whether the Honorable
Court of Directors sanctioned the restoration of the Nimar villages on heredi-
tary tenure, under the impression that they had been previously held on the
same tenure as the Deccan portion of the Surinjam, and had been through
oversight retained by Government when the Deccan portion was restored ip
1840; or whether the Honorable Court were aware that the Nimar villages
had not been held by Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree at the breaking out of
the war; that they had been under peculiar circumstances, and as an act of
grace, restored to him, under the Governor General’s Sunud, as a life-grant ;
and that they had been in 1841, after Vittul Mulhar’s death, formally declared
by the Supreme Government, on a reconsideration of the case, to have lapsed
to the State.

I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) T. A’ Cowpkr, Captain,
Assistant Inain Commissioner.

No. 1883.

From W, .H"ART, Esq.,
Inam Commissioner,
To A. Maver, Esq.,
Chiet Secretary to Government, Bombay.
Dated Belgaum, 5th April 1853.

Sip,—1I have the honour to submit a report, No. 102 dated 28th February
1853, from ‘my Assistant, Captain Cowper, Showing that it was on imperfect
information that the Honorable the Court of Directors were induced to sanction
the relmqmshment to Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree, and the continuance
to him on heredltary tenure of certain villages and Umuls in Nimar, which,
under the deliberate and final orders of the Government of India, declared after
reference to the Gommissioner in the Deccan, ought to have finally lapsed to
Gavernment at the death of Chlmnajees father, the late Vittulrao Mulhar,
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2. It does not appear necessary to add anything to what Captain Cowper
has stated in his clear report on this case. But with regard to the impertant
fact that the villsges in Nimar had not been held by Vittulrao Poorundhuree
at the breaking out of the war, as shown in Captain Cowper’s 19th paragraph,
it may be as well to recall the attention of Government to the Honorable Mr.
Elphinstone’s letter of the 25th October 1819, which contains the following
description of a rule observed by him, and sanctioned by the Supreme

Government :—

“ No Surinjam ceded to the British Government by the Treaty of 1817,
and no Jagheer not actually enjoyed up to the war, to be restored, unless
speclally directed so to be.”

This rule wduld appear to be doubly fatal to any claim by Poorundhuree
to any part of his former Surinjam in Nimar, as, besides not having been
enjoyed at the breaking out of the war, it would appear to have been included
among the cessions made by the Treaty of Poona, the position of which is thus
explained- by Mr. Elphinstone, in the 5th paragraph of his despatch No. 78
dated 18th June 1818, to the Governor General :—

“ The Peshwa’s whole revenue, before the last Treaty, amounted to
Rs. 2,15,00,000, of which Rs. 95,00,000 was paid into the treasury,
and Rs. 1,20,00,000 allotted to Jagheerdars ; of this last sum Rs. 26,50,00t
was produced by land in Hindoostan, which had greatly declined in value,
and fromn which the Peshwa derived no benefit whatever.

“This last Rs. 26,50,000, with Rs. 32,00,000 of the emount payable into
the treasury, was ceded by the Treaty of Poona, concluded in June last.”
3. Enough, however, has, I think, been stated by Captain Cowper, to

enable Government to come to a decision on the question submitted in the
last paragraph of his report, and to judge how any reply which can be given
to it ought to affect, in this particular case, the general.sanction given by the
Honorable Court of Directors to the settlements proposed by the revised

Surinjam lists of 1847,
I have the honour to be, &c.

(Signed) 'W. Harr,
Inam Commissioner.
®
Office No. 2750.] No. 89 or 1863.
PorrricaL DEPARTMENT,
To. C. Avvren, Esq,

Officiating Secretary to the Government of India, Fort William.

Sir,—With reference to the correspondence noted in Jthe margin, I am
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directed to transmit to you, for submission to the Most Noble the Governor
: Geleral of - India in Council, copy of a letter and of
g.,&’,,ﬁ",,fc,?f ‘:;fetf.%,t? IEJ};G its enclosure from Mr. Hart, the late Inam Commis-
‘ligﬁgf‘ted the 15th Mareh  gioner, No. 1883 dated the 5th April last, showing that

From ditto, No. 973 it was on imperfect information that the Honorable
dated Jth April 1850. the Court of Directors were induced to authorise the
continuance on hereditary tenure to Chintamun . Vittul Poorundhuree of cer-
tain villages and Umuls in Nimar, which, under the orders contained in Mr.
Secretary Swinton’s letter dated the 28th December 1822, ought to have been
resumed.

2. In forwarding these documents, I am desired to add thereto copy of a
Minute thereon by the Right Honorable the Governor, concarred in by the
Honorable Mr. Blane, dated the 14th instant, and to request that, with refer-
ence to the 16th paragraph of the latter document, you will have the goodness
to submit to the Most Noble the Governor General in Council the suggestion
of this Government that immediate steps may be taken to resume the villages
and Umuls in question.

3. The Resident at Indore has been addressed on the subject, in order that
any portion of the income which may possibly be in his hands may be with-
held, pending further orders from the Government of India.

I have the honour to be, &c.

. (Signed)  A. MavLer,
Bombay Castle, 23rd June 1853, . Chief Secretary.

Extract Paragraphs 15 to 17 of a Minute dated the 14th June 1853, by the
Right Honorable the GovErNor IN CouNciy, concurred in by the Honor-
able Mr. BLANE.

16. 'The fact of both Mr. Warden and Mr. Brown having in their revised
Surinjam lists of 1844 and 1347 made no allusion whatever to the correspond-
ence which bad passed in 1840-41 between Government and their predecessor,
Mr. Mills, which terminated in the refusal of the Government of India to con-
tinue these villages to Chimnajee Vittul Poorundhuree, appears wholly unac-
countable, as does also the statement made by -both those gentlemen that
these v1llages through “an oversight,” had® not been continued with the re-
maindere of the Surinjam in the year 1840. Mr. Warden should, I am of
opinion, be afforded the opportunity of submitting any explanation upon this
subject which may be in his power.

'16. I would further propose that copies of Mr. Hart s and Captain Cowper’s
letters, accompanied by a copy of this Minute,cbe transmitted to the Govern-
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ment of India, in order that immediate steps may be taken to resume the
villages in question, .

17. The Resident at Indore, also, should receive a copy of our communica-
tion to the Government of India, in order that any portion of the revenue
which may possibly be in his hands may be withheld, pending further ordet‘s
from the Government of India.

No. 3233.

. Fore1aN DEPARTMENT,

From the OFFICIATING SECRETARY To THE GOVERNMENT oF INDIA,
[ ]
To the CHIEF SECRETARY TO THE GOVERNMENT oF BoMBbay.

Dated Fort William, 22nd July 1853.

Sir,—I have the honour to acknowledge the receipt of your despatch dated
the 23rd ultimo, No. 89, forwarding copies of a letter and of its enclosure from
Mr. Hart, the late Inam Commissioner, and of a Minute recorded thereupon
by the Right Honorable the Governor, pointing out that it was on imperfect
information that the Honorable the Court of Directors were induced to autho-
rise the continuance, on hereditary tenure, to Chintamun Vittnl Poorundhuree,
of certain villages and Umuls in Nimar, which onght to have been resumed.

2. Inreply, I am directed to acquaint you that as the recommendation of
the Government of Bombay, which was generally approved by the Court of
Directors, and which, under that approval, led the Government of Iudia in
1850 to restore the Nimarvillages that had been resumed, and properly re-
sumed, after full consideration by the Government of India in 1840-41, was
founded upon a mistaken statement of the facts of the case, His Lordship
in Council agrees with the Government of Bombay in thinking that the error
should be at once corrected by the recall of the order of 1850, and the imme-
diate recovery of the villages in question.

3. The Resident at Indore has been directed accordingly.

4. A copy of this correspondence will be duly forwarded for the informa-
tion of the Honorable the Court of Directors.

I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) J. P. G.RANT,
Officiating Secretary to the Government of India.

Fort William, 22nd July 1853.
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No. 3676 or 1853.
PovriticAL, DEPARTMENT.

[

From A. Mavner, Esq,
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay,

To C. J. Manson, Esq.,

Inam Commissioner.
Dated 18th August 1853.

Sir,~With reference to your predecessor’s letter and its enclosure, No. 1883
dated the 5th April last, I am directed by the Right Honorable the Governor
in Council to inform you that, at the recommendation of this governmént, the
Government of India has directed the immediate resumption of the villages
and Umuls therein alluded to, and that instructions have this day been issued
to the Agent for Sirdars to erase them from the Surinjam lists.

I have the honour to be, &c.
(Signed) A. MALET; '
Bombay Castle, 18th August 1853. Chief Secretary.

PoriticAL DEPARTMENT.

To A. Maver, Esq,,
Chief Secretary to Government, Bombay.

‘ Poona, Ith September 1853.

S1r,—My unexpected departure to Bombay to-take my seat in the Council
prevented my completing my inquiries, in view to ansv;'ering your Jetter No.
2752 dated the 23rd of May last, transmitting one with enclosure from the
Inam Commissiongr, in which he has attempted to show thattwo villages, and
portions of the revenue of others, were continued on imperfect information to
Chimun Rao Vittul Poorundhuree ; and adding a précis of the proceedings
of the Government in respect to them, with the remark that the Government
has no means of accounting for the fact of both Mr. Brown and myself having,
in our Surinjam lists, made no allusion whatever to a correspondence on the
subject between Government and my predecessor, Mr. Mills, which terminated
in the refusal of the Government of India to continue these villages, nor for
the statement made by both of us that these villages, through an oversight,
had not been continued with the remainder of the Surinjam in a. ». 1840.

2. There is only one way of accounting for my silence in respect to the
particular correspondence between Mr. Mills and the Government,—viz. that I
had not seen it. From A. p. 1834 to A. p. 1842, I had no official connec-
tion with the Deccan ; during this interval, the ‘two Native officials, who had
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aided in the preparation of the Surinjam lists submitted by Mr. Marriott in
1833, had been exchanged for two strangers, so that memory could ot aid
any of us; and having, since I have been at Poona, referred to the original
papers without discovering any mark indicating my having seen them.(and
I seldom read an important official paper without leaving a mark on it which
I can afterwards recognise as mine), I have not the smallest doubt that I
had never seen this correspondence when I prepared the Surinjam lists in A. .
1844; that I ought to have seen this correspondence there is no doubt, and
I could not have avoided seeing it if Mr. Mills had compiled his records,
as records are now universally preserved, instead of dividing his correspondence
into v8lumes of “Inward and Outward Letters,” bound up according to
their dates, and quite irrespective of the subjects to which the letters severally
related.

3. It does not, however, follow, as it appears to me, that any fraud or
wilful suppression took place on the part of the Native servants of the Agent’s
Officeron that occasion, for although on the lists there is only the brief note
(I quote from Captain Cowper’s copy of it)—* By an oversight this portion of
the Surinjam was retained by Government when the remainder was restored
to the present incumbent,”—if you will do me the favour to refer to paragraph
19 of my letter to Government dated December 29th, 1844, to which that
note was only an accompaniment, you will find me entering into the follow-
ing detail :—“ I have the honour to state that the family of Vittulrao Poo-
rundhuree has produced {wenty-one Sunpds or title-deeds, of which fourteen
relate to his Surinjam in Poona and Ahmednuggur, and seven to his estate in
Hindoostan, whichlast, Zam ihformed, has been resumed, although granted by two
Sunuds, dated, one in A. p. 1739 and the other in A. 0. 1744, and whick should,
therefore, be restored, with arrears.” While the expression in the foregoing
passage—*‘ I am informed”—satisfies me that 1 had no proof before me of what
I asserted, it also satisfies me that my subordinates in the Duftur did not con-
ceal from me their belief that the resumption had taken place ; and the most
probable solution of the difficulty is, that as the correspondence was in the
English Office of the Agent for Sirdars, and the land to be resumed in country
beyond the limits of this Presidency, and the resumption itself, consequently,
not carried into effect through the instrumentality of the Agent for Sirdars,
no official note of it was recorded, or at least remembered in- the Poona
Duftur. ' .

4. Having thus disposed of the difficulty arising from my not alluding to
the correspondence between the Government of Bombay and Mr. Mills in
1840-41, I shall now proceed to show,—1st, although, had this correspondence
been before me, I should most  certainly have alluded to it, that I should as
certainly not have deviated one point from the course I took in respect to this
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Surinjam in consequence of such correspondence, the decision of the Supreme
Government having been the decision of a totally distinct question from that
before me ; and 2nd, even if it had not been so, that the inquiry originally
proposed by me was not only not to be affected by isolated decisions, but that
it was on the apparent inconsistency of these local decisions that the Honor-
able the Court of Directors directed the general inquiry into and decision of
these claims on certain definite principles, such inquiry being entrusted to me,
though from the delay—extending to no less a period than fifteen months—that
occurred in Bombay in disposing of my report, I had quitted India before it
was even noticed by the Government which ordered my successor to test the
accuracy of my work, and I have, consequently, ever since felt myself divested
of all responsibility as to the result.

5. For perspicuity’s sake, I dispose of the last-stated point ﬁrst ,—Viz. that
it was the nature of these local decisions that led to the general inquiry, and
which was not to be affected by them. If the Right Honorable the Gover-
nor-in Council will do me the favour to refer to a letter addressed by me as
Deputy Agent for Sirdars to the Government on the 7th November 1832, No.
93, Political Department, he will find that the revision of the Surinjam lists
was originally proposed by me, because * so different had the decisions some-
times been on cases of a similar kind, that no uniform principle could be said
to have been established,” and that it was, therefore, desirable to prepare
“gstatements to serve in future years to guide decisions, which should exhibit
the antiquity of each grant, the claips and conditign of the original grantee,
and the respectability of the present representatives”; and if the Government
will refer, secondly, to the 2nd paragraph of a letter, No, 9 dated February 7th,
1838, addressed by the Honorable the Court of Directors to the Government
of India, it will be perceived that this very paragraph of mine is quoted by the
Court as explainiag the cause of the inquiry ordered ; and so far, therefore,
from the decisions passed in early years being a light to guide us, they were
often considered as beacons to warn us off,~the antiquity of the grant, the
claims and condition of the original grantee, and the respectability of the in-
cumbent at the moment, being recommended as the sole basis of the decision.

6. On this communication of mine the Honorable the Court of Directors
ultimately issued direct to the Government of Bombay their benevolent
instructions contained in their letter dated the 26th of October 1842, directing,
irrespective of an “arrangement” proposed by the Bombay Government, which
it was admitted “ would not have violated any pledge”—irrespective of a “note”
by Mr. Secretary Maddock and a Minute by Lord Auckland, advocating 2
much more extensive resumption than the  Directors contemplated”—irrespec-
tive, in short, of all that had gone before,—the I{ome Government directed that
all.- Jugheers which bore dates anterior to A, . 1751, “ as well as.those of which
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the dates ate unknown, but which are known to be ancient, and those of more
recent date which were granted in commutation for the resumption of ahcient
possessions, shovld be hereditary in the fullest sense of the word; resumption
after a second generation, with reversionary pecuniary provision, being the
rule” in respect to Surinjams bearing dates subsequent to A. p. 1751, and the
accession of the last Peshwa, whose grants were, as a rule, resumed.

. 7. From the foregoing it results that my only business was to test every
claim by these principles, and so far from the decision of the Supreme Govern-
ment in respect to Poorundhuree’s Nimar possessions being the only one a
modification of which in favour of the claimant I proposed, it will be observed
that it Yorms but one of a list of no less than twenty-two decisions by the Go-
vernment resuming Surinjams which I said should be altered.

8. I proceed to show, secondly, that the question before the Supreme Go-
vernment and that before me in respect to these lands in Nimar was different.

9. The Inam Commissioner has kindly placed at my disposal a com-
pilation of the correspondence on this case, from which I make the following
extracts :—On the 10th December 1819, Mr. Chaplin, the Commissioner in the
Deccan, wrote to Sir John Malcolm, who was then Agent to the Goverrier
General in Central India, enclosing a “ Murathee list of two villages and the
Mokassa of five others, in Nimar, which were held in personal Jagheer by
Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree, which it was desirable should be continued
to him.” Sir John Malcolm answered, January 15th, 1820, that the Supreme
Government had appropriated the villagas in the belief that they were Surin-
jam, not Tnam.

10. Mr. Chaplin replied that the villages were granted in personal Jagheer
seventy years before the time he was-writing,—before even Holkar’s possession
of Nimar, to whose authority they wecre never subjected, but held of the
Peshwa up to the war, though they may have been subject t6 interruption from
Holkar and Sindia, as well as other lands of the Peshwa in Nimar. Mr. Chaplin
added, .that the claims of those who held their personal Jagheers of the
Peshwa were quite distinct from such as held Jagheer grants, as in the case of
Holkar alluded to in the letter of the 17th July from Mr. Elphinstone, whose
proceedings had been sanctioned by the Supreme Government. Sir John
Malcolm next enclosed a letter from Colonel Smith, mentioning that the local
authorities maintained that Nugaum and several other villages were given as a
service Jagheer, and not as a personal one, whichhe the more readily believed
from Poorundhuree having had a considerable body of horse in the service of the
Peshwa ; and that these people said Poorundhuree seldom derived any advantage
from the revenues of the village, as it was eternally beset by Pindarees and
other predatory Chieftains, and abandoned, till, at the particular request of the
village authorities, the British Government took charge of it. Colonel Smith
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thought Poorundhuree’s claima preposterous, because the village df Nugaum
bad been uninhabited by any human creature for fifteen or twenty years, until
improved by the industry of an opulent Gosavee, to whom Colonel Smith
gave it

11. Mr. Chaplin now proceeded (April 8th, 1820) to state that Poorun-
dhuree had Sunuds bearing the Peshwa’s seal for all the villages mentioned in
Colonel Smith’s letter, in personal Jagheer (Z&t Surinjam), dated in A. .
1786-87, and that they remained in his name in the Duftur accounts, and were
considered o be in his possession up to the war, though Nugaum had been desert-
ed fifteen years. Mr. Chaplin added these important words,—* Vittul Mulhar
never had any Fouj Surinjam, nor kad ke any troops with the Peshwa. I ap-
prehend his rights will not be affected by the circumstance .of one or more
villages having been deserted. Itis a common practice for Inamdars to reclaim
their lands when they find them to be worth holding.”

12. The Supreme Government, on this (July 22nd, 1822) ordered a local
inquiry to be made into the claims, with the view principally (says the Resident
at Indore) of clearing up the doubts whether the Poorundhuree held the villages
ON A SURINJAMEE OR INAMEE TENURE; and the Assistant in charge of
Nimar reported (August 8th, 1822) the information obtained by an examina-
tion of Wutundar Patels and Putwarees, who were fifty and fifty-five years
of age, to the effect that thirty-six years had elapsed since the gift was made
in Surinjamee tenure, which reserved the just right of the British Government
to the two villages upon the lapse of| the proprietor’s life.

13. The village officers assured the Assistant that, from their earliest recol-
lection, the two villages had been in the possession of the Poorundhuree family,
to whose local Collector they had duly paid the revenues.

14. Possession had been twice interrupted for about one year, once by
His Highness Dowlut Rao Sindia, and afterwards by Trimbukjee Denglia,
six years before the British accession, though the villagers were unable to
explain on what plea, other then force, Sindia could have interfered.

16. As regards the Mokassa of Sangvee, which is the third item held of
the British Government, the Assistant said it had not been sanctioned, “ as
the village was but partially reclaimed to tillage, and the rent-free period had
not expired.”

16. On this local inquiry, the Resident at Indore adopted the opinion ex-
pressed from the beginning, and throughout the inquiry by Mr. Chaplin; and
the Governor General in Council (December 28th, 1822) concurred entirely
with b in viewing the grant of Chugaum and Nugaum to be simply a life-
tenure of the nature of Zdt Surinjamee. The Supreme Government added to
the expression of this opinion, that of its inability to understand on what prin-
ciple Sir John Malcolm should have bestowed these villages in free gift or
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Iiain, though a qualifying’ passage in the Sunud showed that' he'essentially
misapprehended the nature of that tenure (Inam); concluding with the rectark
that it was very doubtful whether Poorundhurée was entitled to receive pds-
session on any foc-tmg after many years’ total abandonment of themj
conceiving that Government amply fulfilled any obligations which the pro-
ceedings of the late Agent may have imposed, by acknowledging the tenure in
question to be a life Jagheer, instead of Inam ; and the villages were granted,
accordingly, as “ hitherto held,” viz. on Zit Surinjam, or official tenure for life.

17. 1If the Government shall be able to follow me through the foregoing
sketch of the manner in which Poorundhuree obtained possession of these
two vn]lages, it will be apparent that they were first thought by Sir John
Malcolm to be service Jagheer, and then Inam, though even by Sir John Mal-
colm this tenure was not correctly apprehended. Mr. Chaplin having shown
that they could not be service Jagheer, for the conclusive reason that Poorun-
dhuree never served, and having consistently persisted that they were personal
Surinja?n (Z&t Surinjam), the Governor General ordered a local inquiry as-to
whether the villages were Inam or Zit Surinjam, and pronounced the decision
(his doubts as to whether he should receive possession on any footing in con-
sequence of allezed abandonment of the villages notwithstanding) ‘that his -Z4t
Surinjamee tenure,~in other words, an oﬂiclal tenure for life,—~should be
acknowledged. '

18. T leave it to the Government to say, after the perusal of the foreo'mng
précis of a volume sent to me from Captain Cowper’s own office, whether he
was justified in telling Mr. Hart, the late Inam Commissioner (paragrapt 3),
that the only portion of the correspondence between the Nimar authorities
which it was of importance to notice was “ that one of the villages claimed
(Chugaum) had been abandoned by Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree long.
prior to its occupation by the British Government, as contdined in a private
letter from Colonel Smith” to Sir John Malcolm ; for it was not even (as
Captain Cowper alleges) a fact pointed oat by Sir John Malcolm himself to
Mr. Chaplin, but hearsay on what Sir John Malcolm himself calls a “ private
letter,” written two years and a half before the local inguiry "undertaken by
order of the Government to clear up doubts; the facts elicited by that local
inquiry being, not, as this private hearsay has it, that the village of “ Chugaum
had been abandoned by Vittulrao Poorandhuree long prior to its occupation
by the British Gov;emment ” byt that from tlié edrliest recollection of the local
authorities, and who had attained ‘the’ age of fifty, the two villages had
the possession of the Poomndlmree famly, to whose local tollector ¢, had
paid the revenues.

19. In other words, Poorundhuree enjoyed till the British accession all

that the ;‘etemal” ravages of the Pindarees left any one to enjoy of the
D
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Surinjam ‘granted to him by the Peshwa under two Sunuds before evén Hol-
kar ever went to Hindoostan.,

20. I have thus, I think, established that which I undertook to prove,—viz.
that the question before the Supreme Government and that before me in respect
to these lands in Nimar were different; and even if it had not been so, the
inquiry by me was not to be affected by isolated local decisions.

21.. The question "before the Governor General in Council was—* Is
this an Inam or a Zit Surinjam?” The question before me was—* Was
this, which has been acknowledged a Zat Surinjam or official tenure for life,
as hitherto held, attended, in its origin and continuance, by such circumstances
as, according to the concessions made to the Surinjamdars by the home
authorities, subsequently to the general settlement of the country, by which ALL
were restored as life-grants only, and subsequently to the orders of the Govern-
ment of India on this particular claim, to entitle the Surinjamdar’s family to
more than the Supreme Government gave him ?”

22. Losing sight altogether of the important circumstance that the ques-
tion, and the only question, before the Supreme Government, was, whether
the grant was a free hereditary gift or an official life-grant, great stressis laid,
throughout the whole of the recent discussion, on the fact that the Supreme
Government pronounced it to be the latter, overlooking that it was so pro-
nounced in contradistinction only to its acknowledgment as an hereditary free
gift by Sir John Malcolm ; and, above all, overlooking that, in so limiting the
alienation, the Governor General in» Council only placed this Zat Surinjam on
the precise footing of every other Surinjam in the Peshwa’s late dominions,—
on the precise footing of every man whose name is borae on the Surinjam list ;
and that to have conceded to Poorundhuree anything except a life-grant
would have been to do more for him than had at that time (A. ». 1822) been
done even for the Surinjamdars whom the Honorable Court of Directors have
since declared to be entitled, by the respect yielded to prescription, to * inherit-
ance in the fullest sense of the word ’; for although Mr. Elphinstone left notes
for future guidance in the words “ Hereditary”—* For life,” &c. he told" the
Governor General that the decision had in no case been communicated, and
the Governor General ordered that every fair opportunity should be taken to
reduce the Surinjams which in each case of lapse were to be resumed, and, if
continued, to be so as an act of grace.

23._ In my apprehension, the moment the Supreme Government rejected
Poorundhuree’s claim to be an Inamdar, and declared him a Z4t Surinjamdar, -
he Ws placed on precisely the same footing as all other ZAt Surinjamdars, and
entitled to share in all the privileges thereafter conceded to that class of land-
‘holders ; and as Mr. Elphinstone originally intended that his Surinjam, includ-
ing the Nimar villages, should be hereditary, unless -it can be shown that it
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will not stand the test under which it has found its way into its present place
on the lists, I consider him as much entitled to the indulgences of a. p. 1842
as the twenty .other Surinjamdars whose ‘Surinjams had been not merely
pronounced to be lifc-grpnts, but actually resumed by the Government before
1 entered on the mquiry, but whichare now in the quiet possession of the heirs.

24, This brings me to the grounds ‘on which Mr. Hart and Captain’
Cowper have attempted to show that the: Nimar Surinjam was differently-
eircumstanced from that in the Deccan.

25. These reasons are—lst, that the villages had not been held at the
breaking out of the war, or; as Captain Cowper expresses it, not in possession
at the breaking out of the war; and that, under thesé circumstances, Mr.
Elphinstone’s arfangements did not contemplate their restoration.

26. It is very remarkable that both these officers of the Inam- Commission
have abstained from inviting the attention of the Government to the best
evidence as to possession, viz. the evidence obtained on the spot by the
Assistant five years after the war; and how these gentlemen can have over-
looked that the Assistant in Nimar reported, on the evidence of two village
officers upwards of fifty years of age, that from their earliest recollection the
two villages had been in the possession of the Poorundhuree family, to whose
local collector they had duly paid the revenues; possession having been twice
interrupted only, and that for but one year each time, and by usurpation,—the
first having been on the “ plea of force” by Sindia, and the last as long as six
years before the British acdession, at the Nands of Trimbukjee Denglia; Mr.
Chaplin, with the Peshwa’s Spnudsin his hand, and Poona Duftur before him,
declaring at the same®time that the villages remained in Poorundhnrec’s
name in the Duftur accounts, and were considered to be in his possession up
to the war.

27. And if not in Poorundhurec’s possession, in whose possession were
they ?—for the Government will observe, from the annexed extract of a letter
from Captain Cowper to the new Inam Commissioner, Mr. Manson, which
ke has. just sent me, that the villages were not in the- possession of the:only
other party entitled to possess them, viz. the Peshwa, to whom they belonged :—

“The Peshwas’ records do not, as far as I am aware, contain any order
for the resumption of the villages and Urnnls in Nimar, which.were continued
for life to Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree by order of the Supreme Go-
vernment ; mdeed I have no reason to ‘believe that they were thus resmed.”
¢Captain Cowper, August 9th, 1853. } ‘ »

28. As to the interruptionof possesswn, if the Peshwa himself was so
little able to maintain his own supremacy over Sindia as that he withheld, till
the Peshwa had ceased to reign, villages ceded through the instrumentality.
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of the Duke of Wellington, by the Treaty of Surjé Anjungaum, so long before
as 803, does it weaken Poorundhuree’s claim to consideration that he was
the victim of this powerful Chieftain, and of the Minister whose hands were
stained by the blood of an ambassador to his master’s court? But even this
usurpation was short, and did not, so far as I can discover, last till the war,
as asserted by Mr. Hart and Captain Cowper, but ceased, as testified on the
spot by Colonel Smith, six years before the British conquest.

29. 1t is true that the Governor General in Council of that day speaks of
the total abandonment of the villages for many years; but, judging from the
evidence that was before him, I conclude this abandonment‘referre,d to the
deserted village of Nugaum only, for the “local collector” duly received the
revenues of Chugaum, this “local collector” having been (a% I am informed
by the last of the hereditary Duftur Karkoons,—whose father and grandfather
were in the Duftur, and who was himself employed on the Surinjam settlement
under Mr. Elphinstone,—Raojee Pendsay, who is now employed under the
Inam Commissioner) a Gosain, to whom Poorundhuree was largely indebted,
and to whom, therefore, he assigned the revenues of these two villages.

30. Poorundhuree has informed me that Raojee Pendsay’s statement is
true, and has given me, as the name of the Gosain, Futtehgeer’s Chela or disci-
ple, Sumbhoogeer ; and the Government, from the note set out at the foot of
this page,* addressed on the 17th of last month to the Resident at Indore,
will see that it was to the Gooroo of this very person to whom Poorundhuree
says he assigned his villages in liquidation of his @ebts, that it was made over
by Colonel Smith, and that Sumbhoogeer was Poorundhuree’s general agent
in Nimar,—thus satisfactorily explaining how it came*to pass that the revenue
of the villages, though alienated in Surinjam to Poorundhuree, was never
remitted to Poona.

31. That he'abandoned Nugaum, in the sense in which a man abandons
his own house when set on fire by an armed banditti, is quite true: the land
was wasted, the dwellings were desolated, and the village « without a light,”
as the Natives express it; but not because Poorundhuree ubandoned them,

* Mundlasir, August 17k, 1853.
My pear MR. HaMILTON,~Our letter books here only commence in 1821, 8o I could not
find the letter you allude to, dated March 1820, but Colonel Smith settled Nogawa through
“ Futtehgeer Mhunt,” and his family has continued ever since to be the leading people and
bankery of the village ; his son (¢) Sumbhaogeer is the person the Poorundhuree put in charge
of Nogawa, and appointed his general agent in Nimar. I propose continuing the village in

Sumbhoogeer’s management.
Yours most sincerely,
(Signed) R. H, KEATINGE.

(a) Disciple? Gosnins have no.“ sons.”—(8igned) J. W.
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but becauyse hordes of Pindarees carried. fire and sword, over the plains of
India; and it would be a miserable subterfuge, unworthy. of the Bm:sh Go-
vernment of A. . 1817, still more of that of 4. p. 1853, reigning over an em-
pire, stretching, u der the genius and energy of the present Goovernor General,
from the confines of China.to. those of Affghanistan, to. tell one whom Mr.
Elphinstone described as  paor.and in debt, and who left the Peshwa early”—
“You could not hold your.own against those freebooters, the extermination
of whom was only effected through the instrumentality of a confederacy of all
the Muratha powers and of the united armies .of the British in India, com-
manded by the Governor General in person ; and you should, therefore, be
treatel as one who abandoned his post, and be stripped of the indulgence con-
ceded to all agher Surinjamdars except yourself.”

32. Captain Cowper next asserts that the village of Boorhanuggur—
Poorundhuree’s claim to which was rejected—was exactly in the position of
the Nimar ones. What this position was I have shown, and in Captain
Cowper’s own book, already referred to, I find evidence, certainly bearing no
better authority than my own signature,—but still what must be taken to be
true till proved to be false,—as to the condition of Boorhanuggur. It is a re-
port addressed by me, as Agent for Sirdars, to the Government, so long ago
as May 4th, 1843 ; it is as follows :—

“ On reference to the records of the Peshwas’ Government, it appears.ghu.t
the portions of the revenue of the village of Boorhanuggur claimed by tue
petitioner were restored to his gramtfather about A. p. 1759, and again
entered in the following year as public property, in consequence.of its being
deserted ; and thi# was the state in which, according to the Duftur accounts,
it continued till the accession of the British Government, and the Collector
of Ahmednuggur reports that the village has been deserted for one hundred
and fifty years, and that there is no record of the petitioner ever having enjoyed
what he claims, and, in fact, there is nothing to enjoy, for the village being
deserted, its land must be waste.

(Signed) “ JorN WARDEN.”

 33.. I leave the Government to determine whether Captain Cowper’s
assertion is borne out by his own record.

34. CaptainCowper’s next assertion, paragraph 19, is—“The Nlmar villages
were included, it is true, in Mr. McDonnell's statement, but subjgct to in-
quiry, which was afterwards made by Mr. Chaplin, and which proved that they
did not, like the Deccan villages, fulfil the terms on which alone Mr. Elphin-
stone had contemplated the restoration of any holding, whether Surinjam or
Inam” ;—the truth being, so far as I have been able to discover it, that the
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amount. of Rs. 10,832-0-64 which M. Elphinstone actaally grapted* (as
proved, by ‘the annexed. gxtraet, not from Mr. McDonnell’s. statement, .but:
from Mr, Elphmstonen owa Sam:gam list) .was composed of the items
specified below :— . . .
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And so far from any inquiry having been left to be made by Mr. Chaplm, he,
in his second letter to Sir John Malcolm on this subject, dated January 26th,
1820 says :—* It was therefore decided that they (the Nimar villages) should be
restored to'him (Poorundhuree) by our Government, in commor with the person-
al Jagheer.of ‘all persons eonsidered deserving of this indulgence throughout the

® « Almost the whole of those grants have now been issued ” —he, as Governor i in Councxl,
m‘éWﬁa Goveﬂlment of India as early as May 11th, 1820,
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whole “of the late Peshwa’s ptmamm‘ You' will obsérve that the ‘claims bf
those who held their personsl Jagheers of the Peshwa are quite dtstmet' from
such as held Jagheet grants from foreign “princes, as iil the casé’ of Holkar
alluded to in Mr. Elphmstone 8 letter of the 17th July. As the Supreme Go-
vernment has diready semctioned the Honorable the late Commissioner's  prdceed-
ings on these points, you mll not, perhaps, under this: explanutton, coustﬂer a
further reference necessary.”

35. The foregomg extracts speak for themselves, and [ abstain from
remark.

36. Captain Cowper’s next assertion which it falls to me to notice is that
contained in his 25th-and 27th paragraphs, that the revised Surinjam lists were
sanctioned gemerally, and that it was with reference to this sanction that Poo-
rundhuree was placed in possession.

37. . If you will do me the favour to refer to the 20th paragraph of the
letter from the Honorable the Court of Directors dated October 26th, 1842,
you Will observe that THEY originated the question as to whether Vittulrao
Poorundhuree had been treated sufficiently liberally by the Government,—
“The original grant (i. e. the Deccan estate) being (they said) of the early date
of A. . 1741, it must, under the principles laid down in the present despatch,
be hereditary, and we direct it to be so considered.”

38. On this, instructions were issued to me as Agent for Sirdars, to ascertgin
whether the family of the late Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree possessed
any documentary proof of the estate held by the deceased having been granted
to his family in the year 1741

39. In answer tosithe requisition, I wrote as follows (Agent for Slrdars
Government, dated December 20th, 1844, paragraph 19) :—

“In reply to your last paragraph, I have the honour to state that the
family of Vittulrao Mulhar Poorundhuree has produced twenty-one Sunuds
or title-deeds, of which fourteen relate to his Surinjam in Poona and Ah-
mednuggur, and seven to kis estate in Hindoostan, which last, I am informed,
has been resumed, although granted by two Sunuds, dated, one in A. p.
1739, and the other in 4. p. 1744, and which should, therefore, be restored
with arrears. The Poona and Ahmednuggur possessions are secured by
Sunuds bearing dates from A. p. 1719 to A. ». 1768. Of these seven are
dated subsequently to A. ». 1751; but as all these refer to older grants,
and Mr. Elphinstone declares the estate to have existed seventy-eight years
in 1819, which gives the year a. p. 1741 as that of the original grant, as
set down by me in the list of 1834, I think no mistake can have been
made on this point.”

40. This order from the pourt of Directors was made just one year after
the resumption of the Nimar estate, arid if anybody had then understood there
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Whs ariy” distinetion t be'mide between different portions of the Poorundhures
estate"the Niimar estaté Wm:ost anciefrt, my disregatd of this distinction
would have been observed By the Government of the ddy, seeing they scru-
tinided my Hsts for t’bd"lmg period of fifteen monthis, and ‘would riot have
fuiled: to refer to- the order of the Government of Tndia dated the 7th of Octo-
ber 1841 regarding the Hindoostan estate, which order was then recent and
in recolléction, or, if this trad escaped the Bombay ‘Government, it would not
have been overloocked by the Court of Directors, whose despatches on this
subject areé drawn up with an accuracy and care which forbids the supposition
that the existence of two distinct estates was not observed by them. Besides,
I begin by telling the " @overnment that Poorundhuree had ‘availed him-
self of the opportunity given him to open out his whole case :—* He has
produced (I say) twenty-one Sunuds, of which seven r#late to his estate in
Hindoostan.” Translations of these Sunuds were laid before the Government by
Mr. Brown, and were, as I presume, handed on to the Court of Directors ; and
it is, therefore, the very opposite of the fact, as regards- this case, that the
revised Surinjam lists were sanctioned generally by the Honorable the Court
of Directors, as alleged in Captain Cowper's 24th paragraph, for this was one
of twenty-two declaredly ‘exceptional cases, regarding each of which it had
been advanced by me that a wrong decision had been passed ; and as regards
this' case, no less than twenty-one title-deeds were deliberately considered
before the Court released the two estates.
" 41, After all that has been said, I need not notice separately Captain
Cowper’s concluding assertion that the Nimar estate had been held under
peculiar circumstances, and was restored tp Poorundhuree as an act of grace,
the circumstances being ordinary circumstances, and the restoration of every
Surinjam on every lapse being an act of grace.

+42. It is hardl} necessary, either, that I should allude to Mr. Fart’s open-
ing assertion thut the villages and Umuls were continued on imperfect infor-
mation, and ought to have lapsed to Government on Vittulrao’s death; but I
must notice his misstatement on a point on which a misstatement is hardly
excusable,—viz. the geographical position of the villages of Poorundhuree,
and his deductions from this misstatement that the Treaty of Poona, and the
Rules based thereon by Mr Elphinstone, were doubly fatal ” to Poorun-
dhitree’s claim. '

43. By Article XIV. of the Treaty of Poona dated 13th June 1817,—or just
before the war which ended in the “conquest of all his dominions,—the Peshwa
teded, with some irrelevant exceptions, to the East India Company, generally,
all nghts and pretensions, of every denomination, which he possessed in the coun-
tr§ ‘to‘the north of the river Nerbudda ; and Mr. Hart says that the Surinjam
in Nimtar would “appear” to have been included amongst the cessions madé by
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the Treaty of Poona. On this question of geography Mr. Hart -might have
been expected to report positively. He was, however, altogether mistaken.
I have referred to the map, and to the local authorities in Nimar, and have
ascertained that th: villages are south of the Nerbudda, and have no maore to
do with the Treaty of Poona than they have with the Treaty of Paris; but
even if they had, after the abdication of the Peshwa the locality was imma-
terial. In June 1817, the British Government would not, of course, have re-
cognised alienations of territory ceded to it : if the Peshwa’s subjects held lands
there, it might have been his business, but certainly not that of the British
Government, to make compensation to them, and so diminish the value of the
cession”; but from the moment the British Governnient became rulers of the
Deccan, these people would, of course, have had the same claim on it which
the'y would have hadeon the Peshwa’s Government ; and, moreover, testing this
claim by the rule which is said to be fatal to it, we find it a good one, for the
Jagheer was actually held up to the war, and, by entering it in the Surinjam
list, Mr. Elphinstone “ especially directed it to be restored”; but, as I said
before, Mr, Hart’s deductions are drawn from a geographical error.

44. It will be observed that Mr. Mills, in his Surinjam lists, says of
Vittulrao Poorundhuree,—* He has lately, also, been deprived by the Nizam,
in spite of urgent remonstrances of the Bombay Government, of a Surinjam
yielding Rs. 11,000 ”; and I am informed by Raojee Pendsay, the hereditary
Duftur Karkoon alluded to in paragraph 29, that when Poorundhuree presier!
this loss on Mr. Chaplip’s attention, he always said,—* I have given you
your Nimar Surinjam, don’t think of that loss any more” ; and if this be true,
—which from the high chdracter and position of my informant I have no
doubt it is,—the Nimar estate was held on far stronger ground than even
that in the Deccan.

45. Besides antiquity of grant, the claim and condition of the original
grantee, and the respectability of the then present representatives, were to be
tests of the degree of consideration which a Surinjamdar was to receive at our
hands. To show that Poorundhuree stands this test, as well as that based on
records and title-deeds, I need only copy Mr. Elphinstone’s note opposite
his name in the Surinjam list—* He is of the great family of Poorundhuree.
He is poor, and in debt. He left the Peshwa early in the war, and returned to
his village of Moortemoondwah, but concealed himself to avoid waiting on
me when I passed it in April.”

46. To recapitulate :—I have shown that I had never seen, and, Therefore,
could not have alluded to the correspondence between Mr. Mills and the
Government ; that no wilful suppression of it is, however, to be suspected, as
the merits of the claim on the Nimar lands were fully discussed in conse-

quence of a specific reference from the Court of Directors ; that that correspond-
4D
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_ ence related to a question totally different from that before me; that in recom-

mendjng the manner in which effect was to be given to the Surinjam settle-
ment of the Court of Directors, it. was proposed by me to set aside twenty-
two more decisions .of the Government, the nature of such decisions
having, indced, in some sort led to the new settlement; that the Nimar
estate was held on titles bearing date anterior to A. . 1751, was in possession
up to the war, was included in Mr. Elphinstone’s Surinjam list and marked
“hereditary,” and was hereditary, by the principles of the new Surinjam
settlement, ““ in the fullest sense of the word” ; that the Assistant Inam Com-
missioner, Captain Cowper, has told (paragraph 256) his official superior, Mr.
Hanrt, that it was with reference to the general sanction of the Court of* Direc-
tors to the revised Surinjam lists that the Nimar villages were restored, a deli-
berate and final order of the Government of India having, added Mr. Hart to
the Government, decl